Katrin Knecht

Molecular mechanisms of the Hs1^{pro-1}mediated nematode (Heterodera schachtii) resistance and its potential for genetic engineering of plant disease resistance





Aus dem Institut für Phytopathologie der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Molecular mechanisms of the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii*) resistance and its potential for genetic engineering of plant disease resistance

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Agrar- und Ernährungswissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

> vorgelegt von Dipl.-Ing. agr. Katrin Knecht aus Preetz

> > Kiel, 2009

Dekan:		
1. Berichterstatter:		
2. Berichterstatter:		
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:		

Prof. Dr. Uwe Latacz-Lohmann Prof. Dr. Daguang Cai Prof. Dr. Christian Jung 30.April 2009

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Bibliografische Information der Deutschen Nationalbibliothek

Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.ddb.de abrufbar.

1. Aufl. - Göttingen : Cuvillier, 2009 Zugl.: Kiel, Univ., Diss., 2009

978-3-86955-081-7

© CUVILLIER VERLAG, Göttingen 2009 Nonnenstieg 8, 37075 Göttingen Telefon: 0551-54724-0 Telefax: 0551-54724-21 www.cuvillier.de

Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Ohne ausdrückliche Genehmigung des Verlages ist es nicht gestattet, das Buch oder Teile daraus auf fotomechanischem Weg (Fotokopie, Mikrokopie) zu vervielfältigen. 1. Auflage, 2009 Gedruckt auf säurefreiem Papier

978-3-86955-081-7

List of Abbreviations

AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphism
ATP	Adeneosine triphosphate
Avr	Avirulence
BA	6-benzylaminopurine
bp	Base pairs
BCN	Beet cyst nematode
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
°C	Celsius
CC	Coiled coil
CDPKs	Calmodulin (CaM)-like domain protein kinases
CIM	Callus induction medium
COI1	Coronatine insensitive 1
CTAB	Cetyltrimethylammoniumbromid
2,4-D	2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
dATP	2'-Desoxyadenosin-5'-triphosphate
dCTP	2'-Desoxycytidin-5'-triphosphae
DD	Differential display
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	2'-Desoxynucleotide-5'-triphosphate
Dpi	Days post inoculation
dsRNA	double-stranded RNA
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EDR1	Enhanced disease resistance 1
EDS1	Enhanced Disease Susceptibility1
EIN2	Ethylene-insensitive 2
et al.	et alii
eLRR	Extracellular LRR
ET	Ethylene
ETI	Effector-triggered immunity
ETS	Effector-triggered susceptibility
GLPs	Germin-like proteins

GUS	β-glucuronidase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HR	Hypersensitive response
IMR	Intermotif region
ILs	Interleukins
ISR	Induced systemic resistance
JA	Jasmonic acid
kbp	Kilo base pairs
Km	Kanamycin
КО	Knockout
LB-medium	Luria-Bertani-medium
LRR	Leucine rich repeat
LZ	Leucine zipper
MAMP _S	Microbial-associated molecular patterns
М	Mol
MS	Murashige and Skoog
NAA	Naphthaline acetic acid
NBS	Nucleotide binding site
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
NDR1	Non-race specific Disease Resistance
NHO1	NON HOST RESISTANCE 1
NLR	NOD-like receptor
nlRGAs	NBS-LRR-RGAs
NO	Nitric oxide
NPR1	NON-EXPRESSOR OF PR1
OA	Oxalic acid
OxO	Oxalate oxidase
PAD4	Phytoalexin Deficient4
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PCD	Programmed cell death
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDA	Potato dextrose agar
PDF	Plant defensin
PGIP	Polygalacturonaseinhibiting protein

PGPR	Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria
pН	potentia hydrogenii
PIs	Proteinase inhibitors
PR	Pathogenisis related
PRRs	Pathogen recognition proteins
PTI	PAMP-triggered immunity
RGA	Resistance gene analog
R-gene	Resistance gene
RLK	Receptor-like protein kinase
RLP	Receptor-like proteins
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
RNase	Ribonuclease
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Rounds per minute
R-protein	Resistance protein
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
RIM	Root inducing medium
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
SA	Salicylic acid
SAGE	Serial analysis of gene expression
SAR	Systemic acquired resistance
SCN	Soybean cyst nematode
SEM	Shoot elongation medium
SGT1	Suppressor of the G2 allele of skp1
SIM	Shoot induction medium
ssp.	subspecies
STS	Silver thiosulphate
TDFs	Transcript-derived fragments
TE	Tris-EDTA-buffer
TIR	Toll-Interleukin-1 receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TM	Transmembrane domain

u	Unit
v/v	Volume per volume
WA	Water agar
W/V	Weight per volume
X-Gluc	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide

Table of contents

Cha	pter I	: Introduction	1
1	Pla	ant pathogen resistance	1
	1.1	General mechanisms of plant pathogen resistance	1
	1.2	Plant susceptibility	3
	1.3	R-gene mediated resistance	4
	1.4	Non-host resistance	7
2	Pla	ant resistance responses	8
	2.1	Early recognition events	8
	2.2	Signaling components	8
	2.3	Defense related proteins	10
3	Ne	ematode resistance in plants	11
	3.1	Agricultural importance of plant pathogenic nematodes	11
	3.2	Nematode resistance genes	12
	3.3	Nematode resistance response	15
4	Ge	enetic engineering	16
	4.1	Natural resistance mechanisms	16
	4.2	Toxins and RNAi	17
5	Οι	atline of the thesis	18
6	Re	ferences	20

Chapter II

The gene BvGLP-1 encoding for a germin-like protein regulates the Hs1 ^{pro-1} -mediated	
nematode (Heterodera schachtii Schm.) resistance by its oxalate oxidase activity in sugar	
beet (Beta vulgaris L.) and Arabidopsis thaliana	28

1	Abstract		29
2	Intro	Introduction	
3	Materials and Methods		34
	3.1	Plant material	34
	3.2	cDNA-AFLP analysis	34
	3.3	Cloning, sequencing and sequence analysis	35
	3.4	Full-length cDNA isolation	35
	3.5	Transformation of Arabidopsis and sugar beet with A. tumefaciens/A. rhizogenes	36
	3.5.1	Plasmid constructs and agrobacterial cultures	36
	3.5.2	Sugar beet hairy roots transformation	36
	3.5.3	Arabidopsis thaliana root transformation	37

	3.6	DNA, Southern hybridization and PCR	37
	3.7	RNA isolation, RT-PCR and qRT-PCR	38
	3.8	Nematode infection experiments	39
	3.9	OXO enzyme activity tests	40
	3.10	ATH1-microarray analysis	40
	3.11	Analysis of A. thaliana mutant	41
4	Res	ılts	42
	4.1	Cloning of differential expressed fragments from resistant beets by use of cDNA-AFLP	
		expression profiling	42
	4.2	Isolation and characterization of full-length cDNA sequence of TDF_Car	43
	4.3	Functional analysis of BvGLP-1 in transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis thaliana	
		plants	46
	4.4	Nematode inoculation experiments	48
	4.5	Hs1 ^{pro-1} regulates the expression of GLP genes in Arabidopsis	50
	4.6	Functional analysis of Arabidopsis plants knocked out in locus of AT5G20630	55
	4.7	Determination of oxalate oxidase activity of BvGLP-1	56
	4.8	BvGLP-1 activates plant resistance response	59
5	Disc	ussion	61
	5.1	BvGLP-1 is involved in activation of nematode resistance	61
	5.2	<i>BvGLP-1</i> is a functional oxalate oxidase	62
	5.3	BvGLP-1 represents a key regulator of the Hs1 ^{pro-1} -mediated nematode resistance	63
	5.4	A possible action mode of <i>BvGLP-1</i>	65
6	Ack	nowledgments	66
7	References		67

Chapter III

Overexpression of BvGLP-1 encoding a germin-like protein from sugar beet in Arabidopsisleads to resistance against phytopathogenic fungi (Rhizoctonia solani and Verticilliumlongisporum), but does not affect the beneficial interaction with the growth-promotingendophyte Piriformospora indica72

1	Abs	stract	73
2	2 Introduction3 Material and Methods		74
3			77
	3.1	Plant material and fungal strains	77
	3.2	Generation of transgenic A. thaliana plants	77
	3.3	Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Rhizoctonia on agar plates	77
	3.4	Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Rhizoctonia in soil	78

	3.5	Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Verticillium in soil	78
	3.6	Cocultivation experiments with P. indica	78
	3.7	Determination of the degree of root colonization	79
	3.8	Staining assays and light microscopy observations	79
	3.9	Semi-quantitative and real-time PCR	80
	3.10	PCR and Southern analysis	81
4	Res	ults	82
	4.1	Transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing BvGLP-1	82
	4.2	Infection experiments of Arabidopsis plants with R. solani and P. indica on agar plates	82
	4.3	Infection experiments of Arabidopsis plants with R. solani and V. longisporum in soil	85
	4.4	Microscopic observations of Arabidopsis roots infected with the phytopahogenic fungi	87
	4.5	Analysis of the transcript levels of selected defense related genes in transgenic plants	88
	4.6	Co-cultivation of Arabidopsis with the growth promoting fungus P. indica in soil	90
5	Disc	sussion	92
6	Ack	nowledgments	94
7	Ref	erences	95
Cha	untar II	7	
T		DD a maximum providence of the providence $(DC A_2)$ and involved in Alex H_2 D^{pro-1}	
1 WC) INBS-1	<i><i>CRK carrying resistance gene analogs (RGAs) are involved in the Hsr</i></i>	•
mea	liated n	ematode (Heterodera schachtii Schm.) resistance in sugar beet	
(Bei	ta vulgo	uris L.)	99
1	Abs	tract	100
2	Intr	oduction	101
3	Mat	erial and Methods	104
c	3.1	Plant material	104
	3.2	Generation of transgenic plants	104
	3.2.1	Plasmid constructs and Agrobacteria cultures	104
	3.2.2	Arabidopsis thaliana root transformation	104
	3.3		105
		PCR and Southern analysis	102
	3.4	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR	105
	3.4 3.5	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments	103 105 107
	3.4 3.5 3.6	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments <i>A. thaliana</i> mutants	105 105 107 108
4	3.4 3.5 3.6 Res	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments <i>A. thaliana</i> mutants	105 105 107 108 109
4	3.4 3.5 3.6 Res 4.1	PCR and Southern analysis Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments <i>A. thaliana</i> mutants Ilts Sequence, structure and transcript analysis of 3 sugar beet RGAs	105 105 107 108 109 109
4	3.4 3.5 3.6 Res 4.1 4.2	PCR and Southern analysis Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments <i>A. thaliana</i> mutants alts Sequence, structure and transcript analysis of 3 sugar beet RGAs Generation of transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing each of the RGAs	105 105 107 108 109 109 110
4	3.4 3.5 3.6 Res 4.1 4.2 4.3	PCR and Southern analysis Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments A. thaliana mutants ults Sequence, structure and transcript analysis of 3 sugar beet RGAs Generation of transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing each of the RGAs Nematode resistance tests with transgenic Arabidopsis plants	105 105 107 108 109 109 110 111
4	3.4 3.5 3.6 Res 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	PCR and Southern analysis Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR Nematode infection experiments A. thaliana mutants alts Sequence, structure and transcript analysis of 3 sugar beet RGAs Generation of transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing each of the RGAs Nematode resistance tests with transgenic Arabidopsis plants Functional analysis of <i>A. thaliana</i> mutant plants	105 105 107 108 109 110 111 115

	4.5	Determination of RGA-mediated signaling pathways	117
5	Disc	ussion	119
6	Ack	nowledgments	121
7	Refe	erences	122

Chapter V

A two-step protocol for improving shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) and its application for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation 125

1	A	Abstract						
2	Introduction							
3	ľ	Materials and methods	129					
	3.1	Plant materials	129					
	3.2	Explant preparation	129					
	3.3	Plant tissue culture	129					
	3.4	Shoot regeneration protocol	129					
	3.5	Plant transformation	130					
	3.6	Histochemical GUS assays	130					
	3.7	PCR and Southern analysis	131					
4]	Results						
	4.1	Optimization of shoot regeneration medium from hypocotyl explants	132					
	4.2	Improvement of shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants by use of a two-step						
		protocol	133					
	4.3	Improvement of shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants by addition of STS	134					
	4.4	Application of two-step regeneration protocol for generation of transgenic oilseed rape plants	135					
5]	Discussion	138					
6	I	Acknowledgements						
7]	References						
Cha	pter	· VI: General discussion	141					
1	1 BvGLP-1 represents a new class of oxalate oxidase-like genes and plays a role in pla							
	resistance	141						

2	NBS-LRR containing RGAs are involved in the Hs1 ^{pro-1} -mediated resistance	143
3	A possible function model for the <i>Hs1^{pro-1}</i> -mediated resistance response	145

4 A possible signaling pathway leading to the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated resistance response 147

5	Prac	149		
	5.1	The potential of RGAs and BvGLP-1 in genetic engineering	149	
	5.2	Importance of specific inducible promoters	152	
6	Con	154		
7	Refe	156		
Sum	162			
Zus	164			
Appendix				
Danksagung			173	
Lebenslauf				

Chapter I: Introduction

1 Plant pathogen resistance

1.1 General mechanisms of plant pathogen resistance

Plants are haunted by various diseases caused by phytopathogenic fungi, bacteria, viruses, insects and nematodes. In agriculture, severe damage is especially caused by rust and mildew fungi, *Fusarium* spp., Barley yellow dwarf virus (BYDV) as well as cyst and root knot nematode species. Rice is mainly attacked by *Xanthomonas, Fusarium* spp. and *Magnaporthe* causing bacterial blight, root rot and stem rot disease. The lack of genetic diversity within the genomes of cultivated crop species as well as changes in cultivation techniques such as large-scale cropping of genetically uniform plants, reduced crop rotation and the expansion of crops into less suitable regions, resulted in an increasing susceptibility to different pests. For crops, the total global actual loss due to pests varies between about 26% in soybean and more than 40% in potato production (Table 1).

Table 1. Overall summary of the loss potential and the actual losses due to fungal and bacterial pathogens,
viruses, animal pests and weeds in wheat, rice, maize, potatoes, soybean and cotton, in 2001-03. According to
Oerke et al. 2006.

Table 1: Overall summary of the loss notential and the actual losses due to fundal and bectarial nother

	Crop losses due to in %									
	Pathogens		Viruses		Animal pests		Weeds		Total	
	Potential	Actual	Potential	Actual	Potential	Actual	Potential	Actual	Potential	Actual
Wheat	15.6	10.2	2.5	2.4	8.7	7.9	23	7.7	49.8	28.2
Rice	13.5	10.8	1.7	1.4	24.7	15.1	37.1	10.2	77.0	37.4
Maize	9.4	8.5	2.9	2.7	15.9	9.6	40.3	10.5	68.5	31.2
Potatoes	21.2	14.5	8.1	6.6	15.3	10.9	30.2	8.3	74.9	40.3
Soybeans	11	8.9	1.4	1.2	10.7	8.8	37	7.5	60	26.3
Cotton	8.5	7.2	0.8	0.7	36.8	12.3	35	8.6	82	28.8

One of the most important ways of protecting plants against harmful organisms and of improving agricultural production is the use of plant protection products. The use of pesticides has increased dramatically since the early 1960s. Even though pesticides may provide a certain control level, their use may also involve risks and hazards for humans, animals and the environment. Despite crop protection, about 32%, 29% and 40% of attainable

maize, cotton and potatoe production is still lost to pests (Table 1). Therefore, breeding for disease resistance in plants is a promising alternative for controlling plant diseases.

To counter pathogen attacks plants have evolved sophisticated and multi-faceted defense mechanisms. In essence, two branches of the plant immune system do exist. The older, basal MAMP-/PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) (Figure 1), that is reminiscent of innate immunity in vertebrates, uses transmembrane pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that respond to slowly evolving microbial- or pathogen-associated molecular patterns (MAMPS or PAMPs) (Figure 1). The second one, the effector-triggered immunity (ETI) (Figure 1) relying on resistance (R) proteins confers a pathogen-specific resistance that is often associated with a form of programmed cell death around the infection site termed the hypersensitive response (HR). PTI activates a MAP kinase signaling cascade and an extensive transcriptional reprogramming leading to downstream defense responses as production of reactive oxygen species, accumulation of phenolics, production of phytoalexins, papilla formation, induction of PR genes and callose deposition to reinforce the cell wall at sites of infection (Chisholm et al. 2006; Truman et al. 2007; Zipfel et al. 2004).

The best characterized szenario complementing our understanding of the plant response to PAMPs relates to flagellin, the major protein of flagella which is recognized by a receptor like protein kinase (RLK) from Arabidopsis thaliana, FLS2, carrying extracellular leucinerich repeats (LRRs), a transmembrane domain (TM) and a cytoplasmic serine/threonine protein kinase domain (Gomez-Gomez and Boller 2002). Other examples of MAMPs include lipopolysaccharides, fungal chitin, oomycete Pep-13 or heptaglucosides. Immune responses induced by the interaction of bacterial flagellin (elicitor) with the plasmamembrane-localized FLS2 receptor restrict the growth of the virulent Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato strain DC3000, whereas *fls2* mutant plants are more susceptible to bacterial infection (Nürnberger et al. 2006). Sheen and colleagues identified a complete MAP kinase cascade and WRKY transcription factors that function downstream of flg22 perception (Kovtun et al. 2000; Tena et al. 2001). Even though this signaling machinery was identified in response to a bacterial PAMP, activation of defenses by WRKY overexpression decreased symptoms caused by both bacteria and fungi, indicating that the resistance mechanisms induced are not specific to bacteria (Asai et al. 2002). Interestingly, PAMP perception in animals is also predominantly mediated by pattern recognition receptors carrying extracellular LRR domains (Toll-like receptors, TLR) (Nürnberger et al. 2004).



Figure 1: Simplified model for the evolution of resistance in plants according to Chisholm et al. 2006 and Bent 2007. Left to right, recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) by extracellular receptor-like kinases (RLKs) triggers basal immunity, which requires signaling through MAP kinase cascades and transcriptional reprogramming mediated by plant WRKY transcription factors. Effector proteins target multiple host proteins and suppress basal immune responses. Plant R- proteins (CC-NB-LRR and TIR-NB-LRR) recognize effector activity and restore resistance through effector-triggered immune responses. LRR, TIR, NB, CC.

1.2 Plant susceptibility

Pathogens can overcome basal immune systems and colonize the plant successfully by the delivery of effector proteins into the plant cell, which can interfere directly with components of PTI or lead to changes in the transcritption of PTI genes (Li et al. 2005; Thilmony et al. 2006) resulting in effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS) (Murray et al. 2007; Truman et al. 2006) (Figure 1). Effectors, such as toxins and effector proteins, are virulence factors that interact with the host. Thus, the *P. syringae* effectors AvrPto and AvrRpt2 inhibit defense responses elicited by PAMP recognition (Hauck et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2005b). Several effector proteins from *P. syringae* pathovars are known to inhibit the HR localized to infection sites (Nomura et al. 2006). Fungal pathogens deliver their effectors; most of them are small proteins of unknown function containing a signal for secretion, via a specialized infection structure, the haustorium into the plant intercellular space (apoplast). Cyst nematodes secrete their parasitism proteins that often function in syncytium induction and

maintenance, through a stylet into the cytoplasma (Fuller et al. 2008). The secretions of interest originate from three pharyngeal (oesophageal) glands, one located dorsally and two subventrally (Lilley et al. 2005).

1.3 R-gene mediated resistance

Once the pathogen succeeded in suppressing the insufficient basal defenses, plants evolve Rproteins which directly or indirectly interact in a specific manner with microbial effector proteins and thereby trigger plant immune responses. This is referred to as ETI and is synonymous to pathogen race-plant cultivar-specific host resistance or gene-for-gene resistance (Jones et al. 2004, 2006) (Figure 1). The recognized effector is termed an avirulence (Avr) protein. Pathogens evolve further and suppress ETI, which again results in new R-gene specificities so that ETI can be triggered again (Jones et al. 2004, 2006). To date numerous R-genes have been cloned which confer resistance to several classes of pathogens, including viruses, bacteria, fungi, oomycetes, insects, and even nematodes. R-gene products can be categorized into two main classes based on conserved structural features (Dangl et al. 2001; Chisholm et al. 2006). The largest class of R-proteins possessess, in addition to a leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain implicated in signal perception, a central nucleotide binding site (NBS) domain shared by plant disease R-proteins, mammalian NLR (NOD-like receptor or CATERPILLER) proteins, and animal apoptotic proteins, such as mammalian Apaf-1 and C. elegans CED-4 (Chisholm et al. 2006; DeYoung and Innes 2006; Jones and Dangl 2006; Ting et al. 2005). There is considerable evidence that plant and animal innate immune systems are conserved as a consequence of convergent evolution suggesting that common signaling events are the basis of defense cascades (Palma et al. 2007; Afza et al. 2008). In mammals, two families of soluble pathogen recognition proteins (PRRs) called NOD1 and NOD2 are intracellular sensors of pathogenicity that recognize molecules derived from pathogens as well as from the host itself (Inohara et al. 2002; Ryan et al. 2007). The NBS-LRR class of R-proteins is further subdivided into coiled-coil (CC) NB-LRR and Tollinterleukin-1 receptor (TIR) NB-LRR according to their amino-terminal domain (Burch-Smith et al. 2007).

LRR domains are located at the carboxy termini of plant NBS-LRR R-proteins and are composed of tandem LRRs, thought to be involved in effector binding and maintenance of regulatory functions (DeYoung et al. 2006). The NBS domain (also called the NB, NB-ARC, Nod or NACHT domain) contains blocks of sequence that are conserved in both plant and

animal proteins. Those include the nucleotide-binding kinase 1a or P-loop and kinase 2 motifs (also called Walker's A and B boxes) and the kinase 3a motif, as well as several blocks of conserved motifs of unknown function (RNBS-A, RNBS-C, GLPL, RNBS-D and MHD) (Traut et al.1994; Aravind et al. 1999). ATP binding coordionnating by the histidine residue of the MHD motif is necessary for signaling in plant NBS-LRR R-proteins because binding of ATP initiates a conformational change in plant NBS-LRR proteins, resulting in their activation. The amino-terminal domain also seems to mediate the physical association between R-proteins and pathogen effector targets, at least for those R-proteins that use an indirect recognition mechanism.

A second major class of R-genes encodes extracellular LRR (eLRR) proteins. Three subclasses of eLRRs have been classified according to their domain structures (Fritz Laylin et al. 2005). These subclasses include RLP (receptor-like proteins; extracellular LRR and TM domain, RLK (extracellular LRR, TM domain, and cytoplasmic kinase) and PGIP (polygalacturonaseinhibiting protein; cell wall LRR). RLPs, for example, are represented by the tomato *Cf* genes, which confer resistance to infection by the biotrophic leaf-mold pathogen *C. fulvum* carrying the elicitors Avr2, Avr4, and Avr9 (Jones et al. 1994). The nematode resistance gene *Hs1*^{pro-1} from sugar beet (Cai et al. 1997) encodes for a protein that forms a LRR-TM structure as well.

Many R-genes are located in clusters that comprise several copies of homologous R-gene sequences arising from a single gene family (simple clusters) or colocalized R-gene sequences derived from two or more unrelated families (complex clusters). Intergenic unequal crossover has the potential to place R-genes in new structural contexts that may alter expression, whereas intragenic mispairing generates chimeric genes that may encode novel functions. In the absence of pathogen pressure, recombination and transposon activity at R-gene clusters are expected to be inhibited presumably by chromatin modification. This is also described by the Birth and Death Model (Michelmore and Meyers 1998). Although a very limited number of R-proteins are functionally characterized in detail there is now evidence that plants use both direct and indirect mechanisms of pathogen detection (DeYoung et al. 2006). Although there is evidence that some plant NBS-LRR R-proteins have been under diversifying selection, the direct detection hypothesis for pathogen recognition fails to explain how a relatively limited number of plant R-proteins can specifically recognize the vast diversity of potential pathogens and their effectors. Not only this apparent disparity but also the lack of substantial evidence for direct Avr-R-protein interaction led to the 'guard hypothesis' (Van der Biezen and Jones 1998), which proposes that the Avr-protein induces a

change in a host protein that is normally recruited by the pathogen via its Avr-protein to establish a successful infection, and that this change sensed by the R-protein (guard) leads to the activation of the R-protein and subsequent defense signaling (Dangl and Jones et al. 2001; Bent and Mackey 2007; van der Hoorn 2008). For instance, in rice, Xa-21 protein requires XB3 a ubiquitin ligase that is phosphorylated by Xa-21 for complete *Xa-21*-mediated disease resistance (Wang et al. 2006). In Arabidopsis, the host protein RIN4 is structurally modified by Avr elicitors AvrRpm1 or AvrB from the bacterial pathogen *P. syringae* which in turn leads to the activation of *RPM1*-mediated resistance (Axtell and Staskawicz 2003; Mackey et al. 2002; Kim et al. 2005b; Coaker et al. 2005; Day et al. 2005). This model may provide a good explanation for resistance response networks triggered by other R-genes which for example has been proven for the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode resistance. Additional support for the guard hypothesis comes from the tomato protein *Prf* involved in the indirect detection of *P. syringae* effectors AvrPto and AvrPtoB (Tang et al. 1999; Xiao et al. 2003).

As it is generally known, a large number of sequences with similarity to R-genes exist in plant genomes, which are referred to as RGAs (resistance gene analogs, Leister et al. 1996). The common motifs within the NBS domain are sufficient for PCR amplification of resistance gene analogs (RGAs) from a wide variety of plant species using degenerated primers, for example from soybean (Kanazin et al. 1996), potato (Leister et al. 1996), lettuce (Meyers et al. 1999), cereals (Pan et al. 2000), sugar beet (Tian et al. 2004), rape (Tanhuanpaa 2004) and cotton (He et al. 2004). The cloned RGAs have been found to cluster in plant genomes and some are located in close genetic distance to known resistance loci thus suggesting their possible role in disease resistance response in plants (Kanazin et al. 1996; Collins et al. 1998; Aarts et al. 1998; Ashfield et al. 2003; Radwan et al. 2005). RGAs not only provide a source for new R-gene species, but also represent candidates for putative interacting partners for functional R-genes according to the guard hypothesis described above. Van Hoorn (2008) describes an improved system of plant-pathogen interactions, the Decoy Model. In the absence of a functional R-gene, natural selection is expected to drive the guardee to decrease its binding affinity to the effector. However, in the presence of a functional R-gene, natural selection is expected to favor guardees with improved interaction with an effector to enhance pathogen perception. These two conflicting selection pressures result in an evolutionarily unstable situation that could be relaxed upon the evolution of a host protein, termed here "decoy," that specializes in perception of the effector by the R-protein but itself has no function either in the development of disease or resistance.

1.4 Non-host resistance

Potentially phytopathogenic microorganisms incapable of infecting any cultivar of a given plant species are referred to as heterologous pathogens, while plants that are resistant to all isolates of a given pathogen species are called non-host plants (heterologous plant–microbe interaction; basic incompatibility) (Nürnberger et al. 2005). Preformed physical or chemical barriers (passive defense mechanisms) at the plant surface, such as wax layers, cell walls, antimicrobial compounds and other secondary metabolites are the first obstacle a pathogen faces before invading the plant. The second obstacle is the inducible plant defense response (active defense mechanisms), such as de novo synthesis of phytoalexins, antimicrobial reactive oxygen species or several signaling components as well as localized reinforcement of the plant cell wall and programmed cell death (Thordal-Christensen et al. 2003; Nürnberger et al. 2005).

Mysore (2004) proposes that non-host resistance against bacteria, fungi and oomycetes can be classified into two types. During type I non-host resistance no visible symptoms occur and multiplication and penetration of the pathogen into the plant cell is completely abolished. In contrast, within the type II non-host resistance, that is always associated with a HR and is phenotypically more similar to an incompatible gene-for-gene interaction, an elicitor is recognized by the plant and a defense reaction is activated.

Non-host resistance in Arabidopsis against the non-adapted barley pathogen, B. graminis f. sp. hordei (Bgh) normally involves the rapid production of cell wall appositions (physical barriers) and antimicrobial metabolites at the site of pathogen entry, but no HR. Arabidopsis penetration mutants PEN1 (syntaxin) (Collins et al. 2003), PEN2 (peroxisomal glucosyl hydrolase) (Lipka et al. 2005) and PEN3 (plasma membrane ABC transporter) (Stein et al. 2006) are partially compromised in this response suggesting that cell wall structures play an important role as physical barriers. Syntaxins belong to the superfamily of SNARE (soluble N-ethylmaleimide- sensitive fusion protein attachment protein receptor) proteins representing key mediators of membrane fusion events in yeast and animal cells (Nürnberger et al. 2005). Even though significant similarities exist between non-host and gene-for-gene resistance such as HR, production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), lignification and ubiquitin ligaseassociated protein SGT1, there are also differences between the two. Recent studies suggest that non-host cell death requires caspase-like activity (Christopher-Kozjan and Heath 2003). In these experiments, two caspase inhibitors significantly impaired cell death kinetics exclusively in several non-host combinations, but not in incompatible host interactions. Resistance conferred by single dominant R-genes is specific to a particular pathogen race that

can express the corresponding Avr-gene(s). Pathogen Avr-genes can be easily mutated or eliminated and hence protection conferred by R-genes is not durable. By contrast, non-host resistance can be more durable (Mysore et al. 2004).

2 Plant resistance responses

2.1 Early recognition events

When a plant and a pathogen come into contact, close interaction occur, whereby the plant is able to recognize the invading pathogen and to initiate defenses, while successful pathogens cause disease by suppressing host defense (Hammond-Kosack et al. 1997). In the simplest interaction plants contain dominant R-genes that specifically recognize the corresponding Avr-gene within the pathogen in a direct or indirect manner. Specific recognition results in the induction of signaling cascades and defense gene expression. The activation of plant defense leads to immediate responses at the point of infection that include protein phosphorylation, ion fluxes across the plasma membrane, ROS production, nitric oxide (NO), in some cases a HR and accumulation of phenolic compounds (Garcia Brugger et al. 2006; McDowell et al. 2003). The activation of MAPK families but also other PKs like CDPKs (calmodulin (CaM)-like domain protein kinases) is one of the earliest induced events after elicitor perception (Garcia Brugger et al. 2006), but also serves to mediate interaction between pathways (Rojo et al. 2003).

Next to local tissue responses, there are also systemic responses as the synthesis of pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins, accumulation of phytohormones, and cell wall strengthening, that prime uninfected parts of the plant against potential pathogen attack (systemic acquired resistance, SAR) in a long lasting and effective manner.

2.2 Signaling components

Both PTI and ETI are controlled by a complex signaling network that includes three major endogenous signals, the hormones salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene (ET) (De Vos et al. 2005; Bodenhausen et al. 2007). The ET and JA-dependent defense responses seem to be activated by necrotrophic pathogens such as *Alternaria*, *Botrytis*, *Septoria*, *Phytium*, *Erwinia*, *Plectosphaerella*, whereas the SA-dependent response is triggered by viruses like tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) and biotrophic bacteria and fungi such as *Pseudomonas*, *Peronospora*, *Erisyphe* and nematodes (Thomma et al. 1998, 2002; Rojo et al. 2003) (Figure 2). Most of the studies indicate that ET or JA and SA responses inhibit each other suggesting that events of cross-talk among the pathways exist (Spoel et al. 2003; Pieterse et al. 2001). But also cases of synergistic interactions between SA and JA or ET in defense responses to pathogens have been reported (Rojo et al. 2003).

Elicitor perception is often followed rapidly by a Ca^{2+} influx and intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling as well as anion effluxes that initiate plasma membrane depolarization which, in turn, activates voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} channels (Romeis et al. 2001; Sanders et al. 2002). Modifications of plasma membrane potential allow signal integration triggering events as oxidative burst and MAPK activation (Ward et al. 1995; Garcia Brugger et al. 2006). ROS, highly reactive and toxic oxygen species, such as superoxide anion ($O_2 \bullet -$), hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂ \bullet), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and hydroxyl radical (OH \bullet) are produced by plant cells because of the enhanced enzymatic activities of plasma-membrane-bound NADPH oxidases, cell-wallbound peroxidases and oxidases in the apoplast (Laloi et al. 2004). In a wide range of incompatible plant-pathogen interactions a biphasic ROS production has been observed, with a first phase peaking after 20 min and a second phase occurring 4 to 6 h later (Lamb and Dixon 1997; Laloi et al. 2004). ROS are thought to be general cell death effectors; they play an important role in modification of the cellular redox state, activation of MAPK as well as in reinforcing plant cell walls via oxidative cross-linking and increasing lignifications (Kawasaki et al. 2006; Laloi et al. 2004). In plants, the redox state regulates NPR1 (NON-EXPRESSOR OF PR1), an essential regulator of SAR (Figure 2). NPR1 accumulates in the cytosol as an inactive oligomer maintained by disulfide bridges. During a SAR response, its reduction releases monomeric units that accumulates in the nucleus and interact with the reduced TGA1 (TGACG-sequence-specific binding-protein1) transcription factor which activates the SA-dependent defense gene expression (Mou et al. 2003; Laloi et al. 2004). In a simplified model, two different R-gene-mediated signaling pathways have been described in Arabidopsis thaliana (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003). The first one involves the TIR-NBS-LRR type of R-genes (e.g. RPP1 and RPP5) and requires EDS1 (Enhanced Disease Susceptibility) and PAD4 (Phytoalexin Deficient) function to attain full resistance. The second one involves the CC-NBS- LRR type of R-genes (e.g. RPM1 and RPS2) and requires functional NDR1 (Non-race specific Disease Resistance), RAR1 and SGT1 (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Simplified model of the signaling networks controlling defense responses according to Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003. Three main signaling cascades for resistance against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens are shown. COI1, coronatine insensitive 1; EDR1, enhanced disease resistance 1; EIN2, ethylene-insensitive 2; NDR1, non-race specific disease resistance 1; PAD4, phytoalexin-deficient 4; PDF1.2, plant defensin 1.2; RAR1, required for Mla-dependent resistance 1; SGT1, suppressor of G2 allele of SKP1; EDS1, enhanced disease susceptibility 1; NPR1, non-expressor of PR1; SSI2, fatty acid biosynthesis 2; JAR1, jasmonate resistance 1; SA, salicylic acid; JA, jasmonic acid; ET, ethylene; HR, hypersensitive response; OB, oxidative burst; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase.

2.3 Defense related proteins

In the end, microbe- or elicitor-induced signal transduction pathways lead to the production of antimicrobial metabolites (phytoalexins), PR-proteins such as glucanases, chitinases, defensins and enzymes of oxidative stress protection. PR-proteins have been defined as a set of extracellular proteins encoded by the host plant, but induced by various types of pathogens and were originally divided into 5 groups (Pieterse et al. 2001). PR-1 has been extensively used as a marker for SA-mediated SAR defense, PR-5 proteins are thaumatin like proteins, the pathogen-inducible *PR-3* gene encodes a basic chitinase, and *PR-4* a hevein-like protein (Pieterse et al. 1998, 1999). PDF1.2 and PDF2.3 are members of the group of plant defensins with antimicrobial activities but their expression level is not influenced by SA. The SA-dependent defense signaling pathway regulates the expression of acidic PR-proteins such as PR-1, PR-2, and PR-5 whereas the ET/JA-dependent signaling pathway regulates the expression of basic PR-proteins such as PR-3, PR-4, and PDF1.2 (Penninckx et al. 1998; Thomma et al. 1998; Pieterse and van Loon 1999). Recent evidence indicates that in Arabidopsis SA-dependent expression of PR-1, PR-2 and PR-5 is required for increased

protection against biotrophic pathogens, while SA-independent but JA dependent induction of the plant defensin gene PDF1.2 is associated with the induced resistance against necrotrophic pathogens (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003; Figure 2). PR and PDF proteins could be used commonly as marker genes for SAR/ISR (Induced systemic resistance) and provide therefore a promising tool for characterizing signal transduction pathways in plant resistance.

3 Nematode resistance in plants

3.1 Agricultural importance of plant pathogenic nematodes

Root-knot nematodes of *Meloidogyne* spp. and cyst nematodes of the genera *Heterodera* and *Globodera* are both obligate sedentary endoparasites and devastating pathogens of major crops worldwide. The estimated worldwide losses due to plant parasitic nematodes are about \$125 billion US dollars world wide annually (Chitwood 2003). Agronomically important species of cyst nematodes, mainly active in temperate regions of the world, are *G.rostochiensis* and *G.pallida* on potato and *H.glycines* on soybean. In addition, more than 80% of the Chenopodiaceae and Brassicaceae species are hosts of *H. schachtii* (Steele 1965) including economically important crops like sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*), spinach (*Spinacea oleracea*) radish (*Raphanus sativus*) and rape seed (*Brassica napus*). Today *H. schachtii* is spread over 40 other sugar beet-growing countries throughout the world (McCarter et al. 2008).

Root-knot and cyst nematodes completely penetrate main and lateral roots in the elongation or root hair zones of a susceptible plant as motile infective second-stage juveniles (J2) which hatch in the soil from eggs contained within a protective cyst (cyst nematodes) or egg sac (root-knot nematodes). They penetrate the plant cell walls using their robust stylet. However, before the stylet penetrates, cell walls are degraded by a number of enzymes released from the nematodes subventral glands. These include β -1, 4-endoglucanases (cellulases) (Gao et al. 2001), a pectate lyase (Doyle and Lambert 2002) and an expansin (Qin et al. 2004). J2s migrate within the root cortex towards the vascular cylinder and induce remarkable changes in a number of host cells to establish highly metabolically active feeding cells sustaining the nematodes) (Davis et al. 2004, 2008; Fuller et al. 2008). After three additional molts, adult males emerge from the root and are attracted to the females where fertilization occurs. At maturity, the females of cyst nematodes die, and their body is transformed into a light brown cyst where eggs and juveniles survive and remain dormant until root exudates stimulate

juveniles to hatch and emerge from the cyst. By contrast, eggs of Meloidogyne are released on the root surface in a protective gelatinous matrix.

Chemical control of the beet cyst nematode is more or less restricted; most of the nematicides are withdrawn from the market due to high costs and environmental risks. Another way to control nematodes is the use of rotations with non host plants including wheat, barley, corn, beans, and alfalfa as well as nematode-resistant radish and mustard. These so called trap crops can be used to reduce the soil population of *H. schachtii*, but usually a rotation of three to five years is required, which is often not economically practical. In this context, resistant sugar beet cultivars are the most promising alternative to control *H. schachtii*. So far, no agronomically desirable nematode resistant cultivar is available.

3.2 Nematode resistance genes

In the last years, several nematode R-genes have been cloned from plants, the most of them from several species of crop wild relatives. The first nematode R-gene to be cloned was *Hs1*^{pro-1} from sugar beet, which confers resistance against the sugar beet cyst nematode *H*. *schachtii* (Cai et al. 1997). The encoded protein has no homology to known R-proteins and in addition it has an unusual structure. However, other cloned nematode R-genes closely resemble known plant R-genes in their domain structure. Four of these genes, *Mi-1*, *Hero*, *Gpa2* and *Gro1-4*, all cloned from tomato or potato relatives, fall into the NBS-LRR class of R-genes (Williamson et al. 1996, 2006) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Structure of plant nematode resistance gene products. Cloned nematode resistance genes encode for proteins with conserved motifs; a leucin zipper (LZ), a nucleotide binding side (NBS), a leucine rich repeat region (LRR), a protein kinase (kinase), a transmembrane domain (TM), coiled coil (CC), a toll- interleukin receptor-like domain (TIR). Modified according to Willliamson et al. 2006.

The tomato genes *Mi-1* and *Hero*, originated from the wild relatives *Lycopersicon pimpinellifolium* and *L.peruvianum*, confer broad-spectrum resistance to several root-knot nematode species (Milligan et al. 1998; Vos et al. 1998) and to several pathotypes of the potato cyst nematodes *G. rostochiensis* and *G. pallida* (Ernst et al. 2002), respectively. The *Mi* resistance was first transferred into commercial tomato cultivars in the 1950s (Gilbert et al. 1956). *Mi* also confers resistance to two totally unrelated parasites, the potato aphid *Macrosiphum euphorbiae* and the white fly, *Bemisia tabaci* (Rossi et al. 1998; Nombela et al. 2003), whereas the potato genes *Gpa2* and *Gro1-4* mediate resistance to a narrow range of pathotypes of the potato cyst nematode *G.pallida* (van der Vossen et al. 2000; Paal et al. 2004). *Mi*, *Gpa2* and *Hero* all belong to the cytoplasmically located NBS-LRR class of R-genes that does not contain an N-terminal TIR domain, whereas *Gro1-4* encodes a member of the TIR-NBS-LRR subclass of R-proteins (Williamson et al. 2006) (Figure 3). *Gpa2* is highly similar in predicted amino acid sequence to the *Rx* gene, which confers resistance to potato virus X (Bendahmane et al. 1999, 2002); both genes are in the same gene cluster on chromosome 12 in potato with a high degree of homology and seem to have a common

ancestor, although they confer resistance to unrelated pathogens (Rouppe van der Voort et al. 1999; van der Vossen et al. 2000). In contrast, Gro1 and Hero share little sequence similarity although both genes trigger resistance against pathotype Ro1 of G.rostochiensis (Grube et al. 2000). Recently a putative root-knot nematode R-gene (*CaMi*) was isolated from resistant pepper Capsicum annuum by a degenerated primer based PCR approach (Chen et al. 2007). Rhg1 and Rhg4 cloned from soybean and conferring resistance to H.glycines both encode proteins with extracellular LRRs, a TM and a cytosolic serine-threonine kinase domain (Meksem et al. 2001; Ruben et al. 2006) (Figure 3). So far, little is known about the action mode of the cloned nematode R-genes. It is generally believed that these genes recognize nematode effectors triggering specific signaling pathways that lead to resistance response (Williamson et al. 2006). More agronomically important nematode R-genes are likely to be cloned in the near future, including the H1 gene that confers resistance to G.rostochiensis in potato (Bakker et al. 2004) and the Me gene of pepper for resistance to Meloidogyne species (Djian-Caporalino et al. 2007). The wheat nematode R-genes Cre1 and Cre3 co-localize with clusters of NBS-LRR genes, but functional confirmation has not been completed (Ayliffe et al. 2004; Fuller et al. 2008).

The complete resistance against *H. schachtii* mediated by $Hs1^{pro-1}$ was found in *B. Procumbens*, a species of the section *Procumbentes* and was transferred into sugar beet by conventional breeding methods resulting among others in an euploid (2n=18) line carrying a translocation from the wild beet chromosome 1 encompassing $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (Cai et al. 2003). Finally, a YAC based cloning approach led to the isolation of the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ gene (Cai et al. 1997). The predicted mature protein of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ of 282 amino acids forms a LRR-TM structure suggesting that $Hs1^{pro-1}$ is located at the plasma membrane and functions as a receptor recognising putative elicitors released from nematodes (Cai et al. 2003) (Figure 3). Hs1 promoter analysis showed that the transcript of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ was specifically induced after nematode infection (Thurau et al. 2003).

Recently, an extended version of the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (DQ148271) protein which includes an additional 176 amino acid N-terminal extension has been reported by McLean et al. 2007, which confers resistance to *H. glycines* the soybean cyst nematode additionally confirming the role of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ in nematode resistance. In Arabidopsis, which is also a host for *H. schachtii*, a series of sequence homologues of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ have been detected, but none of these confers resistance and only the wild beet $Hs1^{pro-1}$ variant was able to efficiently protect Arabidopsis upon transformation (Zhang et al. 2008; Cai et al. 1997, 2003). However, as no complete resistance could be observed by transgenic sugar beet plants so far, it is proposed

that a second gene may be required for the resistance expression (Schutle et al. 2006). A putative cation transporter gene linked to $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (Oberschmidt et al. 2003) as well as a gene encoding a protein with homology to phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase X-box domain from the food-borne human pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes* were isolated from nematode-resistant sugar beet by cDNA-AFLP fingerprinting (Samuelian et al. 2004). Both genes were suggested to be used for inducing cyst nematode resistance in plants. However, focussing the search on NBS-LRR type of RGAs cZR-1, cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 were identified from a nematode resistant line. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated nematode resistance remains largely unknown.

3.3 Nematode resistance response

Resistance to nematodes in plants is generally characterized by a delayed response occurring several days after initiation of the feeding systems resulting in disintegration of established feeding structures and stagnation of nematodes (Williamson et al.1996, 2006; Cai et al. 1997). Another principle is the failure of nematodes to produce functional feeding sites based on a HR of the root tissue, which leads to the death of the nematode (Grundler et al. 1997). For the resistance mediated by *Hero*, the response seems to be initiated after a normal feeding site induction and leads to necrotic cells surrounding the syncytium resulting to its degradation (Sobczak et al. 2005). Resistance to root-knot nematodes of the genus *Meloidogyne* is characterized by a more rapid localized cell death and the generation of ROS resulting in a disruption of feeding site establishment and death of the nematode (Paulson and Webster 1972; Melillo et al. 2006).

It is hypothesized that *Mi* is capable of recognizing two or more elicitors or that *Mi* recognizes a plant product modified by different pest effectors (Williamson et al. 2006). A recessive mutation in tomato, termed *rme1* for 'resistance to *Meloidogyne* species' that is unlinked to *Mi*, completely and specifically abolishes *Mi*-mediated resistance (Martinez de Ilarduya et al. 2003, 2004). According to the guard model, the authors suggested that the gene product of *Rme1* acting upstream of *Mi* may be the target for the different nematode, aphid and whitefly Avr effectors, and *Mi* detects the changes in *Rme1* resulting from these interactions (Martinez de Ilarduya et al. 2004; Fuller et al. 2008). A third type of feeding cell disruption could be observed in sugar beet (*B. vulgaris*) conferring resistance to the beet cyst nematode *H. schachtii*. Syncytia do not develop regularly suffering due to formation of specific membrane aggregations filling large parts of the syncytium, consequently causing the degradation of syncytia and the death of nematode juveniles (Holtmann et al. 2000; Cai et al. 2003).

4 Genetic engineering

4.1 Natural resistance mechanisms

Although scientists gained many substantial insights into innate resistance mechanisms in plants several gaps still exist in the developed models of the defense signal transduction networks and the knowledge of the plants own defense machinery is relatively limited. However, useful applications to reduce the ongoing pathogen pressure have already been developed and others will follow in the near future.

In many cases, a single R-gene can provide complete resistance to one or more strains of a pathogen and therefore represents an attractive tool for disease control. R-genes are used in conventional resistance breeding programs as well as in transgenic approaches to achieve an efficient reduction of pathogen growth without collateral damage to the plant or adverse environmental effects. The Bs2 gene confers durable resistance to bacterial spot disease caused by the bacterium Xanthomonas campestris in pepper and works effectively in tomato after transformation (Tai et al. 1999). Also the tomato Vel and Ve2 genes can provide resistance to different Verticillium species and are functional in potato when expressed as transgenes (Gurr et al. 2005). So far intraspecific transfer of nematode resistance genes by transgenic techniques has been successful, but there has been limited success in transferring these genes to new species. Mi-mediated root-knot nematode resistance transferred from tomato to tobacco is not functional anymore (Williamson et al. 2006) and transfer of the tomato Hero gene into potato did not result in resistance to potato cyst nematodes (Sobczak et al. 2005). More promising results were achieved when *Mi* was transferred in aubergine (Goggin et al. 2006). There are, however, some potential problems with this approach. Resistances, which rely on gene-for-gene relationships, can easily be overcome by coevolving pathogens, and therefore do not provide broad-spectrum resistance or durability (McDowell et al. 2003). This is the case for nematode resistance genes used in a transgenic approach as well, however durability of R-genes to sedentary plant nematodes has been generally high (Williamson et al. 2006).

Oneway to overcome this problem is the use of multiple R-genes (pyramiding) (Jones et al. 2001); another way to achieve broad-spectrum resistance is the manipulation of different components of pathogen induced signaling pathways so-called master switch genes, such as kinases and transcription factors that activate the entire arsenal of defense responses. The Arabidopsis *NPR1* gene regulates defense gene transcription in SA-mediated resistance and its overexpression in Arabidopsis and rice leads to enhanced resistance to diverse pathogens

(Cao et al. 1998; Chern et al. 2001). PR-genes that might increase the level of pre-formed barriers against pathogen invasion and genes that are involved in the biosynthesis of hormones such as SA, JA and ET are also promising candidates for engineering increased disease resistance (Gurr et al. 2005). However, the manipulation of such master switch genes is not free from collateral effects, thus plants overexpressing a defense pathway component show reduced yield or plant vigour and increased susceptibility to other pathogens because of existing antagonism between the different defense pathways (Stuiver et al. 2001; McDowell et al. 2003).

The last resort providing useful tools for genetic engineering of pathogen resistance is the huge group of effector proteins. The overexpression of antipathogenic proteins might be the oldest but also the most wideley used strategy to engineer pathogen resistance in plants. Compared to the pathway-modulating approach described above this strategy is much more specific, the putative negative impact yield or the interference with other defense pathways is absent (Gurr et al. 2005). Most fungal and bacteria pathogens produce a diverse range of compounds playing a crucial role as key factors in the infection process and are often designated as pathogenicity factors. Thus strategies of interfering with pathogenesis by neutralizing those compounds can be designed. For example, overexpression of oxalate oxidase or oxalate decarboxylase leads to a significant high level of resistance against S. sclerotiorum by breaking down oxalic acid that serves as an important pathogenicity factor of several fungal pathogens (S. sclerotiorum, S. rolfsii, R. solani). Expression of a plant or bacterial chitinase, which is capable of degrading one major cell wall component (chitin) of most filamentous fungi, in transgenic tobacco was shown to enhance the resistance of plants to R. solani (Melchers et al. 2000). Researchers at Zeneca MOGEN were the first to demonstrate that the constitutive co-expression of tobacco chitinase and β -1,3-glucanase genes in tomato plants confers higher levels of resistance to fungal pathogens (i.e. Fusarium oxysporum) than either gene alone.

It remains a challenge to find out whether chitinases/glucanases or oxalate oxidases could have an impact on resistance to other phytopathogens such as nematodes.

4.2 Toxins and RNAi

Particularly for engeneering nematode resistance in plants, tools relying on anti-feeding strategies are a promising approach. The effective use of anti-nematode genes that cause disrupture of feeding cells to generate resistance relies on their targeted expression or non-

phytotoxicity to the host (Cai et al. 2003). Important classes of proteins with putative antinematode activity are lectins and Bt crystal proteins (Fuller et al. 2008).

Alternatively, plant proteinase inhibitors (PIs), toxic to the nematode but non-phytotoxic, harbor a great potential as anti-nematode effectors (Koritsas and Atkinson 1994; Lilley et al. 1996, 1997; Urwin et al. 1997, 1998). PIs expressed in plants reduce the rate of insect development for example, cowpea trypsin inhibitor (CpTI) on lepidopteran insect *Heliothis virens* in tobacco plants (Hilder et al. 1987), potato serine inhibitor PI (PIN2) on *Spodoptera exiguia* in tobacco (Johnson et al. 1989) and as a transgene in wheat on the cereal cyst nematode *Heterodera avenae* (Vishnudasan et al. 2005) as well as the sweet potato serine PI, sporamin on *H. schachtii* in transgenic sugar beet hairy roots (Cai et al. 2003). In the first demonstration of a transgenic technology working against root-knot and cyst nematodes, the modified rice cystatin (Oc-I) was expressed in transgenic Arabidopsis plants and uptake of the cystatin was correlated with loss of nematode cysteine proteinase activity (Urwin et al. 1997, 2003).

Many genes encoding products that are secreted from plant parasitic nematodes via the stylet into the cytoplasm of the plant cell have been identified, providing a rich source of candidate avirulence and pathogenicity genes. Stylet secretions are generally necessary for parasitism (Hussey 1989; Davis et al. 2000, 2004). The first demonstration of RNA interference (RNAi) in plant-parasitic nematodes was done by Urwin et al. 2002 and Atkinson et al. 2003 who developed a procedure that results in the uptake of double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules by J2s of cyst nematodes. Developments in the application of RNAi for gene silencing in plant-parasitic nematodes have recently culminated in the demonstration that plants expressing dsRNA targeting a nematode gene display resistance to infection (Gheysen & Vanholme 2007; Lilley et al. 2007; Fuller et al. 2008). Huang et al. (2006) determined a gene 16D10 encoding a 13-amino-acid peptide that is secreted from the gland cells of *M. incognita* being responsible for the regulation of feeding cell phenotype and possibly interacts with a SCARECROW-like plant transcription factor (Huang et al. 2006). The 16D10-RNAi plants demonstrated similar strong resistance to the different *Meloidogyne* species *M. incognita*, *M.* javanica, M. arenaria and M. hapla, suggesting a fundamental and essential role of the 16D10 peptide in plant parasitism by root-knot nematodes.

5 Outline of the thesis

The *Hs1^{pro-1}* gene conferring resistance to the beet cyst nematode *H. schachtii* was cloned from nematode resistant sugar beet (Cai et al. 1997). The *Hs1^{pro-1}* gene product shows no

homology to known R-proteins and has an unusual structure, probably representing a new resistance mechanism that remains largely unknown. Therefore, an overall goal of this dissertation is to elucidate molecular mechanisms governing the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated nematode resistance. In total, this dissertation consists of 6 chapters.

Chapter I: The general introduction presents the current knowledge about plant resistance response to pathogens and provides an insight into nematode resistance as well;

Chapter II: Presentation that *BvGLP-1* encoding for a germin-like protein regulates the *Hs1*^{pro-1} mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) resistance by its oxalate oxidase activity in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) and *Arabidopsis thaliana;*

Chapter III: Presentation that overexpression of *BvGLP-1* encoding a germin-like protein from sugar beet in Arabidopsis leads to resistance against phytopathogenic fungi (*Rhizoctonia solani* and *Verticillium longisporum*), but does not affect the beneficial interaction with the growth-promoting endophyte *Piriformospora indica*;

Chapter IV: Demonstration that two NBS-LRR carrying resistance gene analogs (RGAs) are involved in the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) resistance in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.);

Chapter V: Demonstration of a two-step protocol for improving shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) and its application for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation and

Chapter VI: The general discussion includes a summary of main findings in this thesis and concluding remarks.

6 References

- Aarts MGM, Hekkert B, Holub EB, Beynon JL, Stiekema WJ, Pereira A (1998a) Identification of R-gene homologous DNA fragments genetically linked to disease resistance loci in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. MPMI 11:251-258.
- Aarts N (1998) Different requirements for *EDS1* and *NDR1* by disease resistance genes define at least two *R* gene-mediated signaling pathways in Arabidopsis. PNAS USA 95:10306–10311.
- Abramovitch RB, Janjusevic R, Stebbins CE and Martin GB (2006) Type III effector AvrPtoB requires intrinsic E3 ubiquitin ligase activity to suppress plant cell death and immunity. PNAS U S A 103: 2851–2856.
- Afzal AJ, Wood AJ, and Lightfoot DA (2008) Plant Receptor-Like Serine Threonine Kinases: Roles in Signaling and Plant Defense. MPMI 21:507–517
- Aravind L, Dixit VM, Koonin EV (1999) The domains of death: Evolution of the apoptosis machinery. Trends Biochem Sci 24:47-53
- Asai T, Tena G, Plotnikova J, Willmann MR, Chiu WL, Gómez-Gómez L (2002) MAP kinase signaling cascade in Arabidopsis innate immunity. Nature 415: 977–983.
- Ashfield T, Bocian A, Held D, Henk AD, Fredrick Marek L, Danesh D, Peñuela S, Meksem K, Lightfoot DA, Young ND, Shoemaker RC Innes RW (2003) Genetic and Physical Localization of the Soybean *Rpg1-b* Disease Resistance Gene Reveals a Complex Locus Containing Several Tightly Linked Families of NBS-LRR Genes. MPMI16:817–826.
- Axtell MJ, Staskawicz BJ (2003) Initiation of RPS2-specified disease resistance in Arabidopsis is coupled to the AvrRpt2-directed elimination of RIN4. Cell 112:369–377.
- Aylife MA and Evans S. Lagudah (2004) Molecular Genetics of Disease Resistance in Cereals. Annals of Botany 94: 765–773.
- Bakker E, Achenbach U, Bakker J, van Vliet J, Peleman J, Segers B, van der Heijden S, van der Linde P, Graveland R, Hutten R (2004) A high-resolution map of the H1 locus harbouring resistance to the potato cyst nematode *Globodera rostochiensis*. Theoretical & Applied Genetics 109:146–152.
- Bakker EG, Toomajian C, Kreitman M. and Bergelson J (2006) A genome-wide survey of R gene polymorphisms in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 18:1803–1818.
- Bendahmane A, Farnham G, Moffett P, Baulcombe DC (2004) Constitutive gain-of-function mutants in a nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat protein encoded at the *Rx* locus of potato. Plant J 32:195–204.
- Bendahmane A, Kanyuka K, Baulcombe DC (1999) The *Rx* gene from potato controls separate virus resistance and cell death responses. Plant Cell 11:781-792
- Bent AF and Mackey D (2007) Elicitors, Effectors, and R Genes: The New Paradigm and a Lifetime Supply of Questions Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 45:399–436.
- Bodenhausen N and Reymond P (2007) Signaling Pathways Controlling Induced Resistance to Insect Herbivores in Arabidopsis MPMI 20:1406-1420
- Burch-Smith TM, Schiff M, Caplan JL, Tsao J, Czymmek K, Dinesh-Kumar PS (2007) A Novel Role for the TIR Domain in Association with Pathogen-Derived. Elicitors PLoS Biology 5:501-514
- Burrows PR, Barker ADP, Newell CA, Hamilton WDO (1989) Plant-derived enzyme inhibitors and lectins for resistance against plant-parasitic nematodes in transgenic crops. Pest Management Science 52:176-183
- Cai D, Kleine M, Kifle S, Harloff HJ, Sandal NN, Marcker KA, Klein-Lankhorst RM, Salentijn EMJ, Lange W, Stiekema WJ, Wyss U, Grundler FMW and Jung C (1997) Positional Cloning of a Gene for Nematode Resistance in Sugar Beet. Science 275:832-834
- Cai D (2003) Molecular analysis of nematode resistance genes from *Beta* species. Habilitation Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel.
- Cai D, Thurau T, Tian YY, Lange T, Yeh KW, Jung C (2003) Sporamin-mediated resistance to beet cyst nematodes (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) is depending on trypsin inhibitory activity in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) hairy roots. Plant Mol Biol 51:839- 849
- Cao H, Li X, Dong X (1998) Generation of broad-spectrum disease resistance by overexpression of an essential regulatory gene in systemic acquired resistance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95:6531–6536
- Chen RG, Li HX, Zhang LY, Zhang JH, Xiao JH, Ye ZB (2007) *CaMi*, a root-knot nematode resistance gene from hot pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) confers nematode resistance in tomato. *Plant Cell Reports* 26:895–905.
- Chern MS, Fitzgerald HA, Yadav RC, Canlas PE, Dong X and Ronald PC (2001) Evidence for a diseaseresistance pathway in rice similar to the NPR1- mediated signaling pathway in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 27:101–113
- Chisholm ST, Dahlbeck D, Krishnamurthy N, Day B, Sjolander K and Staskawicz BJ (2005). Molecular characterization of proteolytic cleavage sites of the Pseudomonas syringae effector AvrRpt2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102:2087–2092.

- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell 124:803–814.
- Chitwood DJ (2003) Research on plant-parasitic nematode biology. Pest Management Science 59:748-753.
- Christopher-Kozjan R and Heath MC (2003) Cytological and pharmacological evidence that biotrophic fungi trigger different cell death execution processes in host and nonhost cells during the hypersensitive response Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 62:265–275
- Coaker G, Falick A, Staskawicz B (2005) Activation of a Phytopathogenic Bacterial Effector Protein by a Eukaryotic Cyclophilin. Science 308:548-550
- Collins NC, Webb CA, Seah S, Ellis JG, Hulbert SH and Pryor A (1998) The isolation and Mapping of Disease Resistance Gene Analogs in Maize. MPMI 11:968–978
- Collins NC, Thordal-Christensen H, Lipka V, Bau S, Kombrink E, Qiu JL, Hückelhoven R, Stein M, Freialdenhoven A, Somerville SC and Schulze-Lefert P (2003) SNARE proteinmediated disease resistance at the plant cell wall. Nature 425:973-7.
- Dangl JL and Jones JDG (2001). Plant pathogens and integrated defense responses to infection. Nature 411:826–833.
- Davis EL, Hussey RS, Baum TJ, Bakker J, Schots A, Rosso MN and Abad P (2000) Nematode Parasitism Genes. Annu Rev Phytopathology 38:365-396
- Davis EL, Hussey RS, Baum TJ (2004) Getting to the roots of parasitism by nematodes. Trends in Parasitology 20:134–141.
- Davis EL, Hussey RS, Mitchum MG and Baum TJ (2008) Parasitism proteins in nematodeplant interactions Current Opinion in Plant Biology 11:360–366
- Day B, Dahlbeck D, Huang J, Chisholm ST, Li D and Staskawicz BJ (2005) Molecular Basis for the RIN4 Negative Regulation of RPS2 Disease Resistance. The Plant Cell 17:1292-1305.
- DeYoung BJ, Bickle KL, Schrage KJ, Muskett P, Patel K and Clark SE (2006) The CLAVATA1-related BAM1, BAM2 and BAM3 receptor kinase-like proteins are required for meristem function in Arabidopsis. Plant J 45:1–16.
- Djian-Caporalino C, Fazari A, Arguel MJ, Vernie T, VandeCasteele C, Faure I, Brunoud G, Pijarowski L, Palloix A, Lefebvre V, Abad P (2007) Root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne* spp.) *Me* resistance genes in pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) are clustered on the P9 chromosome. Theor Appl Genet 114:473–486
- De Vos M, Van Oosten VR, Van Poecke RMP, Van Pelt JA, Pozo MJ, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Metraux JP, Van Loon LC, Dicke M and Pieterse CMJ (2005) Signal signature and transcriptome changes of Arabidopsis during pathogen and insect attack. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 18:923-937.
- Doyle EA and Lambert KN (2002) Cloning and Characterization of an Esophageal-Gland Specific Pectate Lyase from the Root-Knot Nematode Meloidogyne javanica. MPMI 15:549-556.
- Ernst K, Kumar A, Kriseleit D, Kloos D-U, Phillips MS, Ganal MW (2002) The broad- spectrum potato cyst nematode resistance gene (Hero) from tomato is the only member of a large gene family of NBS-LRR genes with an unusual amino acid repeat in the LRR region. Plant Journal 31:127–136.
- Fritz-Laylin LK, Krishnamurthy N, Tör M, Sjölander KV and Jones JDG (2005) PhylogenomicAnalysis of the Receptor-Like Proteins of Rice and Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.138:611–623
- Fuller VL, Lilley CJ, Atkinson HJ, Urwin PE (2007) Differential gene expression in Arabidopsis following infection by plant-parasitic nematodes *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Heterodera schachtii*. Molecular Plant Pathology 8:595–609.
- Fuller VL, Lilley CJ and Urwin PE (2008) Nematode resistance. New Phytologist 180:27-44.
- Gao B, Allen R, Maier T, Davis EL, Baum TJ and Hussey RS (2001) Identification of Putative Parasitism Genes Expressed in the Esophageal Gland Cells of the Soybean Cyst Nematode Heterodera glycines. MPMI 14:1247-1254.
- Garcia-Brugger A, Lamotte O, Vandelle E, Bourque S, Lecourieux D, Poinssot B, Wendehenne D and Pugin A (2006) Early Signaling Events Induced by Elicitors of Plant Defenses. MPMI 19:711–724
- Gheysen G, Vanholme B (2007) RNAi from plants to nematodes. Trends in Biotechnology 25:89–92.
- Gilbert J.C and McGuire DC (1956) Inheritance of resistance to severe root-knot from Meloidogyne incognita in commercial type tomatoes. Proc. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 63:437-442.
- Goddijn OJ, Lindsey K, van der Lee FM, Klap JC, Sijmons PC (1993) Differential gene expression in nematode-induced feeding structures of transgenic plants harbouring promoter-gusA fusion constructs. Plant J 4:863-873
- Goggin FL, Jia L, Shah G, Hebert S, Williamson VM and Ullman DE (2006) Heterologous Expression of the Mi-1.2 Gene from Tomato Confers Resistance Against Nematodes but Not Aphids in Eggplant. MPMI 19:383–388
- Gómez-Gómez L, Felix G and Boller T (1999) A single locus determines sensitivity to bacterial flagellin in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J 18:277–284.
- Gómez-Gómez L and Boller T (2000) FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in Arabidopsis. Mol Cell 5:1003–1011.

- Gómez-Gómez L, Bauer Z and Boller T (2001) Both the extracellular leucine-rich repeat domain and the kinase activity of FLS2 are required for flagellin binding and signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 13:1155–1163.
- Gómez-Gómez L and Boller T (2002) Flagellin perception: a paradigm for innate immunity. Trends Plant Sci 7:251–256.
- Grennan AK (2006) Plant Response to Bacterial Pathogens. Overlap between Innate and Gene-for-Gene Defense Response Plant Physiology 142:809–811
- Grube RC (2000) Comparative genetics of disease resistance within the solanaceae. Genetics 155:873-887.
- Grundler FMW, Sobczak M, Lange S (1997) Defense responses of *Arabidopsis thaliana* during invasion and feeding site induction by the plant-parasitic nematode *Heterodera glycines*. Phys Mol Plant Pathol 50:419-429
- Gurr SJ and Paul J (2005) Rushton Engineering plants with increaseddisease resistance: what are we going to express? TRENDS in Biotechnology 23:275-282
- Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JD (1997) Plant disease resistance genes. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:575-607
- Hammond-Kosack KE and Parker JE (2003) Deciphering plant-pathogen communication: Fresh perspectives for molecular resistance breeding. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14:177-193.
- Hauck P, Thilmony R and He SY (2003) A Pseudomonas syringae type III effector suppresses cell wall-based extracellular defense in susceptible Arabidopsis plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:8577-8582
- He P, Shan L and Sheen J (2007) Elicitation and suppression of microbe-associated molecular pattern-triggered immunity in plant-microbe interactions Cellular Microbiology 9:1385–1396
- He L, Du C, Covaleda L, Xu Z, Robinson A F, Joh YZ, Kohel RJ and Zhang HB (2004) Cloning, Characterization, and Evolution of the NBS-LRR-Encoding Resistance Gene Analogue Family in Polyploid Cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum L.*) MPMI 17:1234–1241
- Hilder VA, Gatehouse AMR, Sheerman SE, Barker RF and Boulter D (1987) A novel mechanism of insect resistance engineered into tobacco. Nature 330:160–163
- Holtmann B, Kleine M, Grundler FMW (2000) Ultrastructure and anatomy of nematode- induced syncytia in roots of susceptible and resistant sugar beet. Protoplasma 211:39-50.
- Huang G, Dong R, Allen R, Davis EL, Baum TJ, Hussey RS (2006) A root-knot nematode secretory peptide functions as a ligand for a plant transcription factor. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 19:463–470.
- Huang GZ, Allen R, Davis EL, Baum TJ, Hussey RS (2006) Engineering broad root-knot resistance in transgenic plants by RNAi silencing of a conserved and essential root- knot nematode parasitism gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA* 103:14302–14306.
- Hussey RS (1989) Disease-Inducing Secretions of Plant-Parasitic Nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology Vol. 27: 123-141.
- Inohara N, Koseki T, del Peso L, Hu Y, Yee C, Chen S (1999) Nod1, an Apaf-1-like activator of caspase-9 and nuclear factor-kappaB. J Biol Chem 274:14560–14567.
- Inohara N, Ogura Y and Nuñez G (2002) Nods: a family of cytosolic proteins that regulate the host response to pathogens. Curr Opin Microbiol 5:76–80.
- Jammes F, Lecomte P, de Almeida Engler J, Bitton F, Martin-Magninette ML, Renou JP, Favery B, Abad P (2005) Genome-wide expression profiling of the host response to root-knot nematode infection in Arabidopsis. Plant Journal 44:447–458.
- Jia Y, McAdams SA, Bryan GT, Hershey HP and Valent B (2000) Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. EMBO J. 19:4004–4014
- Johnson R, Narvaez J, An G and Ryan C (1989) Expression of proteinase inhibitors I and II in transgenic tobacco plants: Effects on natural defense against Manduca sexta larvae Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:9871-9875
- Jones JDG (2001) Putting knowledge of plant disease resistance genes to work. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 4:281–287
- Jones DA, Thomas CM, Hammond-Kosack KE, Balint-Kurti PJ and Jones JDG (1994) Isolation of the tomato Cf-9 gene for resistance to Cladosporium fulvum by transposon tagging. Science 266:789–793
- Jones DA, Jones JDG (1997) The role of leucine-rich repeat proteins in plant defenses. Adv Bot Res 24:90-167 Jones JDG and Dangl JL (2006). The plant immune system. Nature 444: 323–329.
- Jones DA and Takemoto D (2004) Plant innate immunity—direct and indirect recognition of general and specific pathogen-associated molecules. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 16:48–62.
- Kanazin V, Marek LF, Shoemaker RC (1996) Resistance gene analogues are conserved and clustered in soybean. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93:11746-11750.
- Kang Li, Li J, Zhao T, Xiao F, Tang X, Thilmony R, He SY and Zhou JM (2003) Interplay of the Arabidopsis nonhost resistance gene NHO1 with bacterial virulence. PNAS 100:3519-3524
- Kawasaki T, Koita H, Nakatsubo T, Hasegawa K, Wakabayashi K, Takahashi H, Umemura K, Umezawa T and Shimamoto K (2006) Cinnamoyl-CoA reductase, a key enzyme in lignin biosynthesis, is an effector of small GTPase Rac in defense signaling in rice Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:230–235

- Kim HJ and Triplett BA (2004) Cotton fiber germin-like protein. I. Molecular cloningand gene expression. Planta 218:516-524.
- Kim HJ, Pesacreta TC and Triplett BA (2004) Cotton-fiber germinlike protein. II: Immunolocalization, purification, and functional analysis. Planta 218:525-535
- Kim MG, da Cunha L, McFall AJ, Belkhadir Y, DebRoy S, Dangl JL and Mackey D (2005). Two Pseudomonas syringae type III effectors inhibit RIN4-regulated basal defense in Arabidopsis. Cell 121: 749–759.
- Kim HS, et al. (2005) The *Pseudomonas syringae* effector AvrRpt2 cleaves its C-terminally acylated target, RIN4, from Arabidopsis membranes to block RPM1 activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:6496–6501
- Koritsas VM, Atkinson HJ (1994) Proteinases of females of the phytoparasite *Globodera pallida* (potato cyst nematode). Parasitology 109, 357–365.
- Kovtun Y, Chiu WL, Tena G and Sheen J (2000) Function analysis of oxidative stress- activated mitogenactivated protein kinase cascade in plants. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 97:2940-2945
- Kunze G, Zipfel C, Robatzek S, Niehaus K, Boller T and Felix G (2004) The N terminus of bacterial elongation PAMPs and endogenous elicitors in plant defense 1907 factor Tu elicits innate immunity in Arabidopsis plants. Plant Cell 16: 3496–3507.
- Laloi C, Apel K and Danon A (2004) Reactive oxygen signaling: the latest news. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7:323–328
- Lamb C and Dixon RA (1997) The Oxidative burts in plant disease resistance. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:251–75
- Leister D, Ballvora A, Salamini F and Gebhardt C (1996) A PCR–based approach for isolating pathogen resistance genes from potato with potential for wide application in plants. Nature Genetics 14:421-429
- Leister RT, Dahlbeck D, Day B, Li Y, Chesnokova O, Staskawicz BJ (2005) Molecular genetic evidence for the role of *SGT1* in the intramolecular complementation of Bs2 protein activity in *Nicotiana benthamiana*.Plant Cell 17:1268–1278.
- Leister D, Leister D, Kurth J, Laurie DA, Yano M, Sasaki T (1998) Rapid reorganization of resistance gene homologues in cereal genomes. PNAS USA 95:370-375.
- Li Q, Lin H, Zhang W, Zou Y, Zhang J, Tang X and Zhou JM (2005) Flagellin induces innate immunity in nonhost interactions that is suppressed by *Pseudomonas syringae* effectors Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:12990–12995
- Li Q, Wei JZ, Tan A and Aroian RV (2007) Resistance to root-knot nematode in tomato roots expressing a nematicidal *Bacillus thuringiensis* crystal protein. Plant Biotechnology Journal 5:455-464
- Li Q, Xie QG, Smith-Becker J, Navarre DA, Kaloshian I. (2006) *Mi-1* mediated aphid resistance involves salicylic acid and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling cascades. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 19: 655–664
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1996) Characterisation of intestinally active proteases of cyst-nematodes. Parasitology 113: 415–424
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ, McPherson MJ (1997) Characterisation of cDNAs encoding serine proteases from the soybean cyst nematode *Heterodera glycines*. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 89:195– 207
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, Johnston KA, Atkinson HJ (2004) Preferential expression of a plant cystatin at nematode feeding sites confers resistance to *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Globodera pallida*. Plant Biotechnology Journal 2: 3–12.
- Lilley CJ, Atkinson HJ and Urwin PE (2005) Molecular aspects of cyst nematodes. Molecular Plant Pathology 6: 577-588
- Lilley CJ, Bakhetia M, Charlton WL, Urwin PE (2007) Recent progress in the development of RNA interference for plant parasitic nematodes. Molecular Plant Pathology 8:701–711
- Lipka V, Dittgen J, Bednarek P, Bhat R, Wiermer M, Stein M, Landtag J, Brandt W, Rosahl S, Scheel D, Llorente F, Molina A, Parker J, Somerville S, Schulze-Lefert P (2005) Pre- and Postinvasion Defenses Both Contribute to Nonhost Resistance in Arabidopsis. Science 310:1180-1183
- Mackey D, Holt III BF, Wiig A and Dangl JL (2002) RIN4 Interacts with Pseudomonas syringae Type III Effector Molecules and Is Required for RPM1-Mediated Resistance in Arabidopsis Cell 108:743–754.
- Mariani C, De Beuckeleer M, Truettner J, Leemans J, Goldberg RB (1990) Induction of male sterility in plants by a chimeric ribonuclease gene. Nature 347:737-741
- Martinez de Ilarduya O, Xie QG, Kaloshian I (2003) Aphid-induced defense responses in *Mi- 1*-mediated compatible and incompatible tomato interactions. Molecular Plant– Microbe Interactions 16: 699–708.
- Martinez de Ilarduya O, Moore AE, Kaloshian I (2004) The tomato *Rme1* locus is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance to root-knot nematodes and the potato aphid. Plant Journal 27: 417–425.
- McCarter JP (2008) Molecular Approaches Toward Resistance to Plant-Parasitic Nematodes Plant Cell Monogr doi:10.
- McDowell JM, Woffenden BJ (2003) Plant disease resistance genes: recent insights and potential applications. Trends in Biotechnology 21:178–183
- Meksem KP, Pantazopoulos VN, Njiti LD, Hyten PR, Arelli DA (2001) Lightfoot Forrest' resistance to the soybean cyst nematode is bigenic: saturation mapping of the Rhg1 and Rhg4 loci. Theor Appl Genet 103:710–717
- Melillo M, Leonetti P, Bongiovanni M, Castagnone-Sereno P and Bleve-Zacheo Z (2006) Modulation of reactive oxygen species activities and H2O2accumulation during compatible and incompatibletomato–root-knot nematode interactions. New Phytologist 170:501–512
- Melchers LS and Maarten H (2000) Stuiver Novel genes for disease-resistance breeding Current Opinion in Plant Biology 3:147–152
- Meyers BC, Dickerman AW, Michelmore RW, Sivaramakrishnan S, Sobral BW, Young ND (1999) Plant disease resistance genes encode members of an ancient and diverse protein family within the nucleotidebinding superfamily. Plant J 20:317-332
- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW. Genome-wide analysis of NBS LRRencoding genes in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 2003;15:809–834.
- Michelmore RW and Meyers BC (1998) Clusters of Resistance Genes in Plants Evolve by Divergent Selection and a Birth-and-Death Process. Genome Research 8:1113-1130
- Milligan SB, Bodeau J, Yaghoobi J, Kaloshian I, Zabel P, Williamson VM (1998) The root knot nematode resistance gene Mi from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. The Plant Cell 10:1307–1319.
- Mou Z, Fan WH, Dong XN (2003) Inducers of plant systemic acquired resistance regulate NPR1 function through redox changes. Cell 113:935-944
- Müller J (1998) New pathotypes of the beet cyst nematode (Heterodera schachtii Schm.) differentiated on alien genes for resistance in beet (Beta vulgaris). Fundam. Appl. Nematol. 21:519-526.
- Murray SL, Ingle RA, Petersen LN, Denby KJ (2007) Basal resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae* in Arabidopsis involves WRKY53 and a protein with homology to a nematode resistance protein. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 20:1431–1438
- Mucyn TS, Clemente A, Andriotis VME, Balmuth AL, Giles ED, Oldroyd, Staskawicz BJ and Rathjena JP (2006) The Tomato NBARC-LRR Protein Prf Interacts with Pto Kinase in Vivo to Regulate Specific Plant Immunity. The Plant Cell 18:2792–2806
- Mysore KS and Choong-Min R (2004) Nonhost resistance: how much do we know? Trends in Plant Science 9:1360-1385
- Nombela G, Williamson VM, and Muniz M (2003) The root-knot nematode resistance gene Mi- 1.2 of tomato is responsible for resistance against the whitefly Bemisia tabaci. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 16:645–649
- Nomura K, DebRoy S, Lee YH, Pumplin N, Jones J and He SY (2006) A bacterial virulence protein suppresses host innate immunity to cause plant disease. Science 313:220–223.
- Nürnberger T, Brunner F, Kemmerling B, Piater L (2004) Innate immunity in plants and animals: striking similarities and obvious differences. Immunol Rev 198:249–266
- Nürnberger T and Lipka V (2005) Non-host resistance in plants: new insights into an old phenomenon. Mol Plant Pathol 6: 335–345.
- Nürnberger T and Kemmerling B Receptor protein kinases pattern recognition receptors in plant immunity TRENDS in Plant Science Vol.11 No.11519-522.
- Oberschmidt O, Grundler FMW, Kleine M (2003) Identification of a putative cation transporter gene from sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.) by DDRT-PCR closely linked to the beet cyst nematode resistance gene Hs1pro-1. Plant Science 165.777-784.
- Paal J,Henselewski H, Muth J, Meksem K, Menendez CM, Salamini F, Ballvora A, Gebhardt C. (2004) Molecular cloning of the potato Gro1-4 gene conferring resistance to pathotype Ro1 of the root nematode Globodera rostochiensis, based on a candidate gene approach. Plant J. 38:285–297
- Palma K, Zhao Q, Cheng YT, Bi D, Monaghan J, Cheng W, Zhang Y and Li X (2007) Regulation of plant innate immunity by three proteins in a complex conserved across the plant and animal kingdoms. Genes & Dev. 21:1484-1493
- Pan SM, Chen MK, Chung MH, Lee KW and Chen IC (2001) Expression and characterization of monocot rice cytosolic CuZnSOD protein in dicot Arabidopsis. Transgenic Res. 10:343-351.
- Pan Q, Wendel J, Fluhr R (2000) Divergent evolution of plant NBS-LRR resistance gene homologues in dicot and cereal genomes. J Mol Evol 50:203-213
- Paulson RE, Webster JM (1972) Ultrastructure of the hypersensitive reaction in roots of tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum* L., to infection by the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*. Physiology and Plant Pathology 2:227-234
- Penninckx IAMA., Thomma BPHJ, Buchala A, Métraux JP and Broekaert WF (1998) concomitant Activation of Jasmonate and Ethylene Response Pathways Is Required for Induction of a Plant Defensin Gene in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 10:2103–2113

- Pieterse Corné MJ, van Wees SCM, Hoffland E, van Pelt JA and van Loon LC (1996) Systemic Resistance in Arabidopsis Induced bY Biocontrol Bacteria 1s Independent of Salicylic Acid Accumulation and Pat hogenesis-Related Gene Expression. The Plant Cell 8:1225-1237
- Pieterse Corné MJ, van Wees SCM, van Pelt JA, Knoester M, Laan R, Gerrits H, Weisbeek PJ and van Loon LC (1998) A Novel Signaling Pathway Controlling Induced Systemic Resistance in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 10:1571–1580
- Pieterse Corné MJ and van Loon LC (1999) Salicylic acid independent plant defense pathways. Trends in plant science 4:1360–1385
- Pieterse Corné MJ, Ton J and Van Loon LC (2001) Cross-talk between plant defense signaling pathways: boost or burden? AgBiotechNet Vol. 3
- Qin L (2004) A nematode expansin acting on plants. Nature 427:30
- Radwan O, Mouzeyar S, Nicolas P and Bouzidi MF (2005) Induction of a sunflower CC- NBS-LRR resistance gene analogue during incompatible interaction with Plasmopara halstedii. Journal of Experimental Botany 56:567–575
- Ripoll C, Favery B, Lecomte P, Van Damme E, Peumans W, Abad P and Jouanin L (2003) Evaluation of the ability of lectin from snowdrop (*Galanthus nivalis*) to protect plants against root-knot nematodes. Plant Sci. 164:517–523
- Rojo E, Solano R and Sanchez-Serrano JJ (2003) Interactions Between Signaling Compounds Involved in Plant Defense. J Plant Growth Regul 22:82–98
- Romeis T, Ludwig AA, Martin R and Jones JDG (2001) Calciumdependent protein kinases play an essential role in a plant defense response. EMBO (Eur. Mol. Biol. Organ.) J. 20:5556-5567
- Rossi M, Goggin FL; Milligan SB; Kaloshian I, Ullman DE, Williamson VM (1998) The nematode resistance gene Mi of tomato confers resistance against the potato aphid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:9750–9754
- Rouppe van der Voort J, Kanyuka K, van der Vossen E, Bendahmane A, Mooijman P, Klein- Lankhorst R, Stiekema W, Baulcombe D, Bakker J (1999) Tight physical linkage of the nematode resistance gene *Gpa2* and the virus resistance gene *Rx* on a single segment introgressed from the wild species *Solanum tuberosum* subsp. *andigena* CPC 1673 into cultivated potato. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 12:197-206
- Ruben EA, Jamai J, Afzal VN, Njiti K, Triwitayakorn MJ, Iqbal S, Yaegashi R, Bashir S, Kazi P, Arelli CD, Town H, Ishihara K, Meksem DA, Lightfoot (2006) Genomic analysis of the rhg1 locus: candidate genes that underlie soybean resistance to the cyst nematode Mol Gen Genomics 276:503–516
- Ryan CA, Huffaker A and Yamaguchi Y (2007) New insights into innate immunity in Arabidopsis. Cellular Microbiology 9:1902–1908
- Samuelian S, Kleine M, Ruyter-Spira C P, Klein-Lankhorst RM and Jung C (2004) Cloning and functional analyses of a gene from sugar beet up-regulated upon cyst nematode infection Plant Molecular Biology 0: 1–10.
- Sanders D, Pelloux J, Brownlee C and Harper JF (2002) Calcium at the crossroads of signaling. Plant Cell (Suppl.) 14:401-417
- Schulte D, Cai D, Kleine M, Fan L, Wang S, Jung C (2006) A complete physical map of a wild beet (Beta procumbens) translocation in sugar beet. Mol Gen Genomics 275:504 511.
- Sobczak M (1996). Investigations on the structure of syncytia in roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* induced by the beet cyst nematode *Heterodera schachtii* and its relevance to the sex of the nematode. Dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel
- Sobczak M, Golinowski W, Grundler FMW (1999) Ultrastructure of feeding plugs and feeding tubes formed by *Heterodera schachtii*. Nematology 1: 363–374.
- Sobczak M, Avrova A, Jupowicz J, Phillips MS, Ernst K, Kumar A (2005) Characterization of susceptibility and resistance responses to potato cyst nematode (*Globodera* spp.) infection of tomato lines in the absence and presence of the broad-spectrum nematode resistance *Hero* gene. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 18:158–168
- Spoel SH, Koornneef A, Claessens SM, Korzelius JP, Van Pelt JA, Mueller MJ, Buchala AJ, Metraux JP, Brown R, Kazan K, Van Loon LC, Dong X and Pieterse CM (2003) NPR1 modulates cross-talk between salicylate- and jasmonate-dependent defense pathways through a novel function in the cytosol. Plant Cell 15:760-770
- Steele AE (1965) The host range of the sugarbeet nematode. *Heterodera schachtii* Schmidt. Journal of American Society of Sugar Beet Technology 13: 573–603
- Stein M, Dittgen J, Sánchez-Rodríguez C, Hou BH, Molina A, Schulze-Lefert P, Lipka V and Somerville S (2006) Arabidopsis PEN3/PDR8, an ATP Binding Cassette Transporter, Contributes to Nonhost Resistance to Inappropriate Pathogens That Enter by Direct Penetration. The Plant Cell 18:731-746

Stuiver MH and Jerome HHV (2001) Custers Engineering disease resistance in plants Nature 411

Tai TH, Dahlbeck D, Clark ET, Gajiwala P, Pasion R, Whalen MC, Stall RE and Staskawicz BJ (1999) Expression of the Bs2 pepper gene confers resistance to bacterial spot disease in tomato. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:14153–14158 Tang X, Xie M, Kim YJ, Zhou J, Klessig DF and Martin GB (1999) Overexpression of Pto activates defense responses and confers broad resistance. Plant Cell 11:15–30

Tanhuanpää P (2004) Identification and mapping of resistance gene analogs and a white rust resistance locus in Brassica rapa ssp. oleifera Theor Appl Genet 108:1039-1046

Thomma Bart PHJ, Eggermont K, Penninckx IAMA,Mauch-Mani B, Vogelsang R, Cammue BPA and Broekaert WF (1998) Separate jasmonate-dependent and salicylate-dependent defense-response pathways in Arabidopsis are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:15107-15111

Thomma Bart PHJ; Bruno Æ; Cammue PA, Thevissen K (2002) Plant defensins. Planta 216: 193–202

- Tena G, Asai T, Chiu WL and Sheen J (2001) Plant MAP kinase signaling cascades. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 4:392-400
- Thordal-Christensen H, Zhang Z, Wei Y and Collinge DB (1997) Subcellular localization of H2O2 in plants. H2O2 accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction. Plant J. 11:1187-1194
- Thordal-Christensen H (2003) Fresh insights into processes of nonhost resistance. Curr Opin Plant Biol 6: 351– 357
- Thurau T, Kifle S, Jung C, Cai D (2003) The promoter of the nematode resistance gene *Hs1*^{pro-1} activates a nematode-responsive and feeding site-specific gene expression in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Molecular Biology 52:643-660
- Thilmony R, Underwood W and Sheng Yang He (2006) Genome-wide transcriptional analysis of the Arabidopsis *thaliana* interaction with the plant pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000 and the human pathogen *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. The Plant Journal 46:34–53
- Tian Y (2003) PCR-based Cloning of the Second Nematode Resistance Gene *Hs1-1^{pro-1}* and Resistance Gene Analogues from Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.). Dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel
- Tian Y, Fan LJ, Thurau T, Jung C, Cai D (2004) The Absence of TIR Type Resistance Gene Analogues in the Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) Genome. J Mol Evol 57:1-14
- Tiffin P and Moeller DA Molecular evolution of plant immune system genes TRENDS in Genetics Vol.22 No.12
- Ting JPY and Davis BK (2005) Caterpiller: ANovel Gene Family Important in Immunity, Cell Death, and Diseases Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23:387–414
- Traut TW (1994) The functions and consensus motifs of nine types of peptide segments that form different types of nucleotide-binding sites. Eur J Biochem 222:9-19.
- Truman W, Bennett MH, Kubigsteltig I, Turnbull C and Grant M (2007) Arabidopsis systemic immunity uses conserved defense signaling pathways and is mediated by jasmonates. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:1075–1080
- Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ, Waller DA, McPherson MJ (1995) Engineered oryzacystatin-I expressed in transgenic hairy roots confers resistance to Globodera pallida. Plant Journal 8:121–131
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Resistance to both cyst- and root- knot nematodes conferred by transgenic Arabidopsis expressing a modified plant cystatin. Plant Journal 12:455–461
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Characterisation of two cDNAs encoding cysteine proteases from the soybean cyst nematode Heterodera glycines. Parasitology 114:605–613
- Urwin PE, Møller SG, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Continual green- fluorescent protein monitoring of cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter activity in nematode-induced feeding cells in Arabidopsis thaliana. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 10:394–400
- Urwin PE, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1998) Enhanced transgenic plant resistance to nematodes by dual proteinase inhibitor constructs. Planta 204: 472–479
- Urwin PE, Levesley A, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (2000) Transgenic resistance to the nematode *Rotylenchulus reniformis* conferred by *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants expressing proteinase inhibitors. Molecular Breeding 6:257–264
- Urwin PE, Troth KM, Zubko EI, Atkinson HJ (2001) Effective transgenic resistance to Globodera pallida in potato field trials. Molecular Breeding 8:95–101.
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, Atkinson HJ (2002) Ingestion of double-stranded RNA by pre parasitic juvenile cyst nematodes leads to RNA interference. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 15:747–752
- Urwin PE, Green J, Atkinson HJ (2003) Expression of a plant cystatin confers partial resistance to *Globodera*, full resistance is achieved by pyramiding a cystatin with natural resistance. Molecular Breeding 12:263–269
- van der Biezen EA, Jones JDG (1998) The NB-ARC domain: a novel signaling motif shared by plant resistance gene products and regulators of cell death in animals. Curr Biol 8:226–227.
- van der Biezen EA and Jones JDG (1998) Plant diseaseresistance proteins and the gene- for- gene concept. Trends Plant Sci. 23:454–456

- van der Hoorn, Renier AL and Kamounb S (2008) From Guard to Decoy: A New Model for Perception of Plant Pathogen Effectors. The Plant Cell 20:2009–2017
- van der Vossen EAG, van der Voort J, Kanyuka K, Bendahmane A, Sandbrink H, Baulcombe DC, Bakker J, Stiekema WJ, Klein-Lankhorst RM (2000) Homologues of a single resistance-gene cluster in potato confer resistance to distinct pathogens: a virus and a nematode. Plant Journal 23: 567-576
- Vishnudasan D, Tripathi MN, Rao U and Khurana P (2005) Assessment of Nematode Resistance in Wheat Transgenic Plants Expressing Potato Proteinase Inhibitor (*PIN2*) Gene 14:665-675
- Vos P, Simons G, Jesse T, Wijbrandi J, Heinen L, Hogers R, Frijters A, Groenendijk J, Diergaarde P, Reijans M, Fierens-Onstenk J, de Both M, Peleman J, Liharska T, Hontelez J, Zabeau M (1998) The tomato Mi-1 gene confers resistance to both root knot nematodes and potato aphids. Nature Biotechnology 16:1365-1369.
- WangYS,YaPi L,Chen X, Chakrabarty PK, Jiang J, LopezDeLeon A, Liu GZ, Li L, Benny U, Oard J, Ronald PC and Songa WY (2006) Rice XA21 Binding Protein 3 Is a Ubiquitin Ligase Required for Full Xa21-Mediated Disease Resistance. The Plant Cell 18:3635–3646
- Ward JM, Pei ZM and Schroeder JI (1995) Roles of ion channels in initiation of signal transduction in higher plants. Plant Cell 7:833-844.
- Williamson VM, Ho JY, Ma HM (1991) Molecular transfer of nematode resistance genes. Journal of Nematology 24:234-241
- Williamson VM, Hussey RS (1996) Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. The Plant Cell 8:1735– 1745.
- Williamson VM (1998) Root-knot nematode resistance genes in tomato and their potential for future use. Annual Review of Phytopathology 36:277–293
- Williamson VM, Kumar A (2006) Nematode resistance in plants: the battle underground. Trends in Genetics 22:396–403
- Xiao F, Lu M, Li J, Zhao T, Yi SY, Thara VK, Tang X and Zhou JM (2003). Pto mutants differentially activate Prf-dependent, avrPto-independent resistance and gene-for-gene resistance. Plant Physiol. 131:1239–1249
- Zhang CL, Xu DC, Jiang XC, Zhou1 Y, Cui J, Zhang CX, Chen DF, Fowler MR, Elliott MC, Scott NW, Dewar AM and Slater A (2008) Genetic approaches to sustainable pest management in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*) Annals of Applied Biology 152:143–156
- Zipfel C, Robatzek S, Navarro L, Oakeley EJ, Jones JDG, Felix G and Boller T (2004) Bacterial disease resistance in Arabidopsis through flagellin perception. Nature 428: 764–767
- Zipfel C, Kunze G, Chinchilla D, Caniard A, Jones JDG, Boller T and Felix G (2006) Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. Cell 125: 749–760
- Zipfel C and Rathjen JP (2008). Plant Immunity: AvrPto targets the frontline. Curr. Biol. 18:218-220

Chapter II

The gene *BvGLP-1* encoding for a germin-like protein regulates the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) resistance by its oxalate oxidase activity in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) and *Arabidopsis thaliana*

(In submission)

Katrin Knecht^{1*}, Wanzhi Ye^{1*}, Carolien P. Ruyter-Spira^{2*}, Yanyan Tian³, Christine Desel⁴, Rene M. Klein-Lankhorst², Christian Jung⁵, Daguang Cai¹

1) Department of Molecular Phytopathology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Hermann-Rodewald Str. 9, 24118 Kiel, Germany

2) Plant Research International, Postbus 16, 6700 AA Wageningen, Netherlands

3) Department of Life Science and Engineering, Harbin Institute of Technology, PR China

4) Institute of Botany, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Am Botanischen Garten, 1-9, 24098 Kiel, Germany

5) Plant Breeding Institute, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Am Botanischen Garten 1-9, 24098 Kiel, Germany

*Authors share equal contribution to this work

Key words: *Hs1^{pro-1}*, nematode resistance, Oxalate oxidase-like germin, ROS, signal transduction, transcript profiling

1 Abstract

Germins and germin-like proteins (GLPs) constitute a large and highly diverse family of plant proteins and are involved in many developmental stages and stress-related processes. The *Hs1*^{pro-1} locus confers resistance to the beet cyst nematode *Heterodera schachtii* in sugar beet (Beta vulgaris). The gene Hs1^{pro-1} had been cloned, but the resistance mechanism remains obscure. To understand the molecular mechanisms governing the Hs1^{pro-1}-mediated nematode resistance, transcript profiling was conducted on both of sugar beet with the cDNA-AFLP analysis and Arabidopsis with the ATH1 GeneChip hybridization experiments. This approach has identified the gene BvGLP-1 from sugar beet. The gene encodes for an oxalate oxidaselike germin protein that is highly upregulated in the resistant, but not in the susceptible sugar beet in response to nematode infection. Also, a homolog gene (GLP3) of BvGLP-1 was identified from the ATH1 GeneChip, which represents the highest upregulated gene in the Hsl^{pro-1} transgenic Arabidopsis genome. These data strongly suggest an active role of BvGLP-*1* in the *Hs1^{pro-1}* mediated resistance. For functional analysis, we transferred *BvGLP-1* into sugar beet roots and Arabidopsis plants and challenged the transgenic roots and plants with the beet cyst nematode. Our data demonstrate that expression of BvGLP-1 in nematode feeding cells (syncytia) of both sugar beet roots and Arabidopsis plants was sufficient to initiate nematode resistance while knockout of the homolog gene of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis significantly increased in plant susceptibility to nematode infection. Moreover, we demonstrate that BvGLP-1 exhibits oxalate oxidase activity generating hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) in plant cells and regulates the expression of the pathogenesis-related proteins in which PR-1 to PR-4 and PDF1.2 were enhanced and PDF2.1 was downregulated. These data suggest that *BvGLP-1* plays a central role in regulating plant nematode resistance, representing a promising candidate gene for genetic engineering of plant nematode resistance. A possible signal transduction pathway is discussed.

2 Introduction

Plants have evolved multi-faceted defense mechanisms to counter pathogen attacks. In addition to static defenses the PAMP-triggered innate immunity (PTI) stymies many wouldbe pathogens while an effector-triggered immunity (ETI) relying on resistance (R) proteins confers a pathogen-specific resistance that is often associated with a form of programmed cell death around the infection site termed the hypersensitive response (HR). Recent genome research revealed that each plant genome encodes hundreds of R-proteins (Meyers et al. 2003; Monosi et al. 2004).

A set of resistance (R) genes has been functionally cloned from diverse plant species for resistance against various pathogens (DeYoung and Innes 2006). A major class of the cloned R-genes belongs to the NBS-LRR gene family which carries a variable N-terminal domain, followed by a putative nucleotide-binding site (NBS) and a C-terminal tandem array of LRR motifs. These features share high homology to proteins that function in animal innate immunity and apoptosis implicating a conserved mechanism of cell death programmes in plants and animals (Saraste et al. 1990; Li et al. 1997; van der Biezen and Jones 1998; Aravind et al. 1999).

Great efforts have been made worldwide towards understanding mechanisms of R-gene mediated plant resistance. The oxidative burst, a rapid and transient production of huge amounts of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is one of the earliest events in association with the plant HR within the attacked cells (Lamb et al. 1997; Apel et al. 2004; Melillo et al. 2006). Nitric oxide (NO_x), a redox-active molecule with a critical role in the activation of mammalian defense responses also functions as an important signal in plant resistance response (Thomma et al. 2001; Hammond-Kosack and Parker 2003). Responding to pathogen infection, salicylic acid (SA) accumulates in the plant tissue and proved to be a necessary signal molecule for the induction of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) which heightens defenses in noninoculated tissues against a broad spectrum of pathogens (Ryals et al. 1996). However, the balance and cooperation between ROS, NO_x and SA produced early in the plant resistance response seem to play an imperative role in the expression of the HR (Klessig et al. 2000; Delledonne et al. 2001; Chandok et al. 2003). Consequently, accumulation of defense related gene transcripts and production of antimicrobial compounds follow these initial events in the attacked cells. Also, cellular responses rapidly occur upon pathogen perception, which include, for instance, alteration of membrane potentials, calcium influx, increase in lipoxygenase activity, activation of protein kinase, alkalinisation of the extracellular space,

formation of cell wall appositions at the site of attempted penetration often followed by collapse of lignin formation (Mehdy 1994).

In the last years, several nematode R-genes have been cloned. They include *Hs1*^{pro-1} from sugar beet against *Heterodera schachtii* (Cai et al. 1997), *Gpa2* and *Gro1* from potato against *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida* and (Van der Vossen et al. 2000; Paal et al. 2004), *Hero* and *Mi* from tomato against *Globodera* spp. and *Meloidogyne* spp., respectively (Milligan et al. 1998; Ernst et al. 2002). Recently, two major genes *Rhg4* and *Rhg1* conferring resistance to soybean cyst nematode (SCN) in soybean have been reported (Meksem et al. 2005; Ruben et al. 2006). So far, little is known about the action mode of the cloned nematode R-genes. It is generally believed that these genes recognize nematode effectors triggering specific signaling pathways that lead to resistance responses (Williamson et al. 2006). The most of these effector molecules are believed to be secreted via the nematode stylet directly into the cytoplasm of the plant cell. Stylet secretions are generally necessary for parasitism (Davis et al. 2004). The molecular nature of the nematode secretions remains largely unknown.

Germin and GLPs belong to a subgroup of plant cupin proteins. They are water-soluble, protease-resistant, heat stable and SDS-tolerant glycoproteins (Lane 1994; Woo et al. 2000), which often assemble into homohexameric complexes in vivo (Zhang et al. 1995; Vallelian et al. 1998; Christensen et al. 2004). Diverse reports have been made that germin and GLPs may be involved in plant defense responses (Thompson et al. 1995; Zhang et al. 1995; Hurkman et al. 1996; Zaghmout et al. 1997; Wei et al. 1998; Liang et al. 2001; Ramputh et al. 2002; Hu et al. 2003; Livingstone et al. 2005). Several members of the germin family contain enzymes with oxalate oxidase (OxO) activities which catalyze the degradation of oxalic acid (OA) to produce carbon dioxide and hydrogen peroxide (Chiriboga 1966; Lane et al. 1993). Because germin and GLPs accumulate in epidermal cells after pathogen attack (Wei et al. 1998), they are generally considered to have a structural role in stressed leaves by e.g. serving as crosslinking substrates for cell wall reinforcement. But, inoculation of wheat leaves with Blumeria graminis f.sp. tritici induced the germin gene expression (Schweizer et al. 1999), which is however accompanied by an increase of the germin oligomer and the OxO activity. Similarly, the OxO activity was observed to be corresponding to an accumulation of germin isoforms in powdery mildew infected barley leaves (Dumas et al. 1995). Thus, a role of germin and GLPs in plant defense response has been proposed mainly based on the capacity of the OxO to produce H_2O_2 , a reactive oxygen species. Through the generation of H_2O_2 , OxO or OxO-like proteins may catalyse cross-linking of plant cell wall proteins in papillae at the infection site

and lignification for the reinforcement of the cell wall (Olson and Varner 1993; Thordal-Christensen et al. 1997; Wei et al. 1998). On the other hand, they may act as a secondary messenger activating HR (Levine et al. 1994) which is known to be orchestrated by H_2O_2 production during oxidative burst (Lane 1994; Zhou et al. 1998). In addition, as a variety of fungal pathogens secrete OA as a pathogenicity factor into host cells (Livingstone et al. 2005); degradation of oxalate in plant cells was considered a major action mode of germin and GLPs in plant defense to fungal pathogens. Waetzig et al. (1999) proposed that both plasma membrane-bound and extracellular enzymes may involve the generation of H_2O_2 which is connected with the incompatible plant-pathogen interaction of *A. thaliana* against *Heterodera glycines*.

The $Hs1^{pro-1}$ locus was transferred from the wild beet, *Beta procumbens* into the sugar beet. The cloned $Hs1^{pro-1}$ gene has no homology to known R-proteins and an unusual structure probably representing a new resistance mechanism (Cai et al. 2003). The gene product was predicted to span the cytoplasm membrane and function as a receptor interacting with nematode effectors (Cai et al. 1997). Overexpression of the gene in sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants resulted in significant reduction of developed female nematodes (Cai et al. 1997, 2003). Recently, McLean et al. reported (2007) that a 5'-extended $Hs1^{pro-1}$ sequence showed significantly enhanced resistance of soybean against SCN after its transfer into the soybean. As no complete resistance could be observed in transgenic sugar beet plants so far, it is proposed that a second gene may be required for the resistance expression (Schulte et al. 2006).

The cDNA-AFLP and Genechips based transcript profiling proved to be efficient tools for understanding plant-nematode interaction, especially for a compatible plant-nematode interaction. Affymetrix GeneChips have been used for studying the transcriptome of syncytia induced in soybean roots by *H. glycines* (Ithal et al. 2007b; Klink et al. 2007b), the transcriptome of feeding sites induced by *H. schachtii* and *H. glycines* in Arabidopsis roots (Puthoff et al. 2003) as well as of *Meloidogyne incognita* galls on Arabidopsis roots (Jammes et al. 2005). In addition, genes encoding secretory proteins were cloned from the esophageal gland cell with cDNA libraries leading to identification of several genes crucial for parasitism (Gao et al. 2001, 2003; Wang et al. 2001). Using the cDNA-AFLP and the differential cDNA-display techniques, several candidate genes for being involved in the *Hs1*^{pro-1} mediated resistance were also identified (Oberschmidt 2000; Samuelian et al. 2004). The action mode of these genes is so far not clear.

Here, we report identification of the gene BvGLP-1 that encodes for a germin-like oxalate oxidase from sugar beet. Also, a homolog gene (*GLP3*) of BvGLP-1 was identified from the ATH1 GeneChip, which represents the highest upregulated gene in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ transgenic Arabidopsis. We demonstrate that expression of the gene in nematode feeding cells of both beet roots and Arabidopsis plants showed significant anti-nematode effect whereas knockout of the homolog gene of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis drastically increased plant susceptibility to nematode infection.

In addition, we demonstrate that BvGLP-1 is functional as an oxalate oxidase and expression of the gene resulted in generation of H_2O_2 and regulates the expression of pathogenesisrelated proteins in plant cells. These data suggest that BvGLP-1 plays a central role in regulating plant nematode resistance, representing therefore a promising candidate gene for genetic engineering of plant nematode resistance. A possible signal transduction pathway is discussed.

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Plant material

The susceptible sugar beet line 93161p and the nematode resistant line A906001 (B883) were kindly provided by the breeding company Strube-Dieckmann GmbH & Co. KG (Söllingen, Germany). Line A906001 carries a translocation from wild beet *Beta procumbens* housing the nematode resistance gene $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (Jung et al. 1992) while line 93161p used as a susceptible sugar beet control does not carry any wild beet chromatin.

The Arabidopsis ecotype C24 used in this study was purchased from Lehle Seeds, Round Rock, USA. It is highly susceptibel to *H. schachtii* (Sijmons et al. 1991).

3.2 cDNA-AFLP analysis

cDNA-AFLP was performed with cDNA of both susceptible and resistant sugar beet roots as described by Vos et al. (1995) and Bachem et al. (1996). The plants were grown in the greenhouse, from which half were infected with 2000 J2 larvae of the nematode *H. schachtii* each. Three, seven and 14 days after infection, plant roots were harvested for RNA preparation. Total RNA was extracted from the roots following the trizol protocol (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany). cDNA was synthesized using the Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturers` instruction. Synthesized cDNA (100–500 ng) was digested with 2 U *EcoRI/Mse*I restriction endonucleases in 1 x RL-buffer (1 x OPA+ buffer, 10 mg/ml BSA, 25 mM DTT).

Five pM adapter corresponding to the rare cutter (*EcoRI*, *PstI*) and 50 pM adapter corresponding to the frequent cutter (*MseI*) were ligated to the restricted fragments using 1 U T4 ligase (GE Healthcare, Chalfont St. Giles, UK). Ligated substrate (5–10 ng) was used as a template for preamplification. The reaction was performed in 23 cycles with 50 ng of the corresponding primers having no or one selective nucleotide with AmpliTaq DNA polymerase (Applied Biosystems, Darmstadt, Germany). Amplification with two selective nucleotides at the 3'-end of the corresponding primers was performed. For each reaction one primer was radioactively labelled by phosphorylating the 5' end with γ -(33P)-dATP by polynucleotide kinase. A standard touchdown program was performed for 31 cycles with the following profile: a 30 s DNA denaturation step at 94°C, a 30 s annealing step and a 60 s extension step at 72°C. The annealing temperature of the first cycle was 65°C, subsequently reduced each cycle with 0.7°C for the next 12 cycles, and was continued at 56°C for the remaining 18 cycles. The transcripts were visualized on a 6% (w/v) polyacrylamide gel at 60 W. The gels were dried on Whatman paper (Whatman, Kent, UK) at 70°C for one hour and exposed to Kodak Biomax film (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) for two to three days.

3.3 Cloning, sequencing and sequence analysis

Elution of the DNA from the polyacrylamide was performed according to Sambrook et al. (1998). The DNA was reamplified with the corresponding primers and retrieved from 1% (w/v) agarose gel with Sephaglas kit (GE Healthcare). Reamplified PCR products were ligated in pGEMTeasy vector (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Transformation of plasmids was performed in E. coli DH10B (Invitrogen) through electroporation. For this purpose 0.2 cm Gene Pulsar® Cuvettes with a Gene Pulser System II (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH, München, Germany) were used. Electroporation was performed at 2.5 kV/cm, 25 μ F and 200 Ω . Bacteria cells were recovered with SOC (2% (w/v)) Tryptone Pepton; 0,5% (w/v) Yeast extract; 10 mM NaCl₂; 2,5 mM KCl; 10 mM MgCl₂; 10 mM MgSO₄; 20 mM Glucose) at 37°C for one hour. Subsequently transformed bacteria colonies were grown on selective LB medium. Recombinant plasmids were isolated from bacterial clones with the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturers' instruction. Sequencing of positive inserts was performed on an ABI373 upgrade automated sequencer. DNA sequences were analysed with the Laser Gene software package (DNASTAR, Madison, WI, USA). DNA and protein sequences were compared with nucleotide and protein sequences databases at the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI).

3.4 Full-length cDNA isolation

The full-length cDNA clone for the *BvGLP-1* gene has been isolated from a yeast two hybrid cDNA library by PCR constructed from mRNA isolated from nematode infected roots of the sugar beet translocation line A906001. 500 seedlings have been infected with 300 J2 *H. schachtii* each and total RNA was isolated at 16 h, 48 h, one week, two weeks, three weeks and four weeks dpi from roots following the trizol protocol (Invitrogen), after which the mRNA fraction has been isolated using the Ologotex mRNA kit (Qiagen). The library has been constructed using the Clontech Matchmaker kit (Clontech, Mountain View, USA). The cDNA was cloned into the pGAD10 vector and transformed into *E. coli* DH5α resulting in approx. 25% clones containing an insert larger than 0.5 kb. Nested primers have been designed using the TDF as a template (5R13: GAACTGAATAGCTGGGTTTGCACC; 3R13:GTAATGTTGGTACAACCCCGGCTAC; 5NR13:

CCATTCAAACTAACAAACGCGGTAG; 3NR13:

GGCTACCGCGTTTGTTAGTTTGAATG). Primers located on the opposite side were based on the cDNA library vector sequence. Fragments containing the entire coding region for the *BvGLP-1* gene, together with parts of their 3` and 5` UTRs have been amplified using a proof reading polymerase and were subcloned into the pGEMTeasy vector (Promega). Eight independent colonies have been sequenced for each construct. No sequence differences have been observed within these clones.

3.5 Transformation of Arabidopsis and sugar beet with A. tumefaciens/A. rhizogenes

3.5.1 Plasmid constructs and agrobacterial cultures

BvGLP-1 was cloned as an EcoRI-fragment into the binary vector pAM194 (KWS Saat AG, Einbeck, Germany) under the transcriptional control of the 35S promoter resulting in the plant expression construct pAM194-BvGLP-1 as well as an XbaI-fragment into the binary vector pBIN121 under the transcriptional control of the Hs1^{pro1} promoter (Thurau et al. 2003) resulting in the plant expression construct pBIN121-BvGLP-1, respectively. The recombinant binary vectors were transformed into A. tumefaciens strain GV3101 (Koncz and Schell 1986) for A. thaliana root transformation as well into A. rhizogenes strain AR15834 (Kifle et al. 1999) for sugar beet transformation by using electroporation (Gene Pulser System II, Bio-Rad). The transformed Agrobacterium cells were grown on 2YT medium containing 50 µg/ml kanamycin and 100 µg/ml rifampycin (A. rhizogenes) and 50 µg/ml kanamycin and 50 µg/ml gentamycin (A. tumefaciems) overnight. A single overnight colony was used to inoculate 150 ml 2YT medium without antibiotics, grown to an OD600 of ~0.4-0.6, centrifuged at 4000 x g, 4°C for 10 min and was then resuspended in 15 ml 2YT medium ready for transformation of sugar beet leaf stalks. For transformation of A. thaliana root explants a single overnight colony was used to inoculate 5 ml 2YT liquid culture medium with 50 µg/ml kanamycin and 50 µg/ml gentamycin and was grown at 28°C, 210 rpm for 24 h. The overnight culture was used to inoculate 50 ml 2YT medium without antibiotics. Cells were harvested by centrifugation for 10 min at 4°C, 2900 x g and then resuspended in 50 ml B5 medium (Gamborg et al. 1968). The washing step was repeated. 1 ml was transferred into 20 ml fresh B5 medium ready for transformation.

3.5.2 Sugar beet hairy roots transformation

Leaf stalks of the susceptible sugar beet line 93161p were used for sugar beet hairy root transformation. Leaf stalks were sterilized by submergence in 5% (w/v) $CaCl_2O_2$ for 10 min,

followed by treatment with 70% (v/v) ethanol for 5 min. After washing with sterile water, the sterilized leaf stalks were cut into pieces of 2 cm length and incubated with *A. rhizogenes* for 10 min. The infected explants were soaked on sterilized filter paper before cultivation on solid $\frac{1}{2}$ B5 medium. After two days of co-cultivation in the dark, explants were transferred to $\frac{1}{2}$ B5 medium containing 400 µg/ml cefotaxime to eliminate *A. rhizogenes*, and incubated in a plant growth chamber (26°C, 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod). Single hairy roots 1 cm in size were excised and sub-cultured on $\frac{1}{2}$ B5 medium containing 150 mg/l cefotaxime under the same conditions.

3.5.3 Arabidopsis thaliana root transformation

Transgenic Arabidopsis plants were generated by using the root transformation protocol (Valvekens et al. 1988). C24 Arabidopsis seeds were surface sterilized for 5 min in 70% (v/v) ethanol, in 5% (w/v) CaCl₂O₂ containing 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 for 10 min, and rinsed four times with sterile distilled water. Sterile seeds were transferred into 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 100 ml liquid B5 medium and germinated for nine days by gently shaking (22°C, 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod). Roots were cut into small pieces of about 0.5 cm and transferred to a nylon membrane (100 Mikron, Hydro-Bios, Altenholz, Germany) lying on solid CIM medium for a preconditioning time of 72 h. After preconditioning the root explants were incubated with the prepared *A. tumefaciens* culture for 2 min. The infected explants were soaked on sterile filter paper before co-cultivation on fresh CIM medium for 48 h. After co-cultivation the explants were washed four times with liquid B5 medium and transferred to SIM medium. Single green shoots were excised and transferred to SEM medium for shoot elongation and then to RIM medium to form roots. Rooted plants were transferred to soil to set seeds.

3.6 DNA, Southern hybridization and PCR

Genomic DNA was extracted using the cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) method as described by Rogers and Bendich (1985). 14 days old Arabidopsis plants and 21 days old hairy root cultures were harvested for isolation of genomic DNA. PCR was carried out in a total volume of 20 µl containing 50 ng of template DNA, 10 mM PCR buffer (pH 8.3), 2 mM MgCl₂, each dNTP at 0.5 mM, each primer at 10 pmol, and 1 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) in a thermocycler (Biometra, Göttingen, Germany) under the following conditions: 5 min at 94°C, 60 s at 94°C, 60 s at 55 °C, 1 min 30 s at 72°C for 34 cycles,

followed by 10 min at 72°C. PCR products were separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and analyzed with the software Quantity One (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH).

For Southern hybridization experiments the extracted DNA was digested with two restriction enzymes (*Eco*RI, *Xho*I), electrophoretically separated on 0.75% (w/v) agarose gels and blotted on Hybond-N+ membrane (GE Healthcare) by capillary diffusion overnight using 0.25 M NaOH/1.5 M NaCl as blotting solution. Southern blots were hybridized with 32P-labelled DNA probe (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983) at 60°C, washed twice (0.5 x SSC; 0.2% (w/v) SDS) for 30 min and exposed at -70°C for 48 h. The DNA probe for Southern-hybridization was generated by PCR with *BvGLP-1* gene specific primers CTCCTAGCCTCTTGTAATTCTAGC and GAATGGAAACAAGCAACATATGATATC

using plasmid DNA as template. PCR fragments were separated on a 1.3% (w/v) low melting agarose gel ready for radio-labelling.

3.7 RNA isolation, RT-PCR and qRT-PCR

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR was used to assay the expression patterns of the genes of interest. 14 days old transgenic as well as control Arabidopsis plants and 21 days old hairy root cultures of sugar beet were used for RNA extraction following the trizol protocol (Gibco BRL Life Technologies). The total RNA was treated with RNAse-free DNAse (Fermentas) for 60 min at 37°C. Synthesis of cDNA was carried out using the Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The semiquantitative PCR amplification was performed in 50 µl reactions consisting of 2.5 µl 10 ng/µl cDNA, 5 µl 10 x buffer, 0.5 µl 10 mM dNTPs, 5 µl each of 10 pmol/µl primer, 2.5 U Tag polymerase (Invitrogen) and 31.5 µl H₂0 under the PCR programme: 25 x (94°C 50 s, 54°C 1 min and 72°C 1 min), followed by 10 min at 72°C. Amplicons were separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and analyzed with the software Quantity One (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH). The housekeeping ubiquitin gene served as a control and the mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized to the ubiquitin message RNA level (ACTCTCACCGGAAAGACAATC and TGACGTTGTCGATGGTGTCAG for Arabidopsis; ACTCTCACCGGAAAG ACAATC and TGACGTTGTCGATGGTGTCAG for sugar beet). The real-time PCR was performed using the ABI7300 Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA). The SYBR QPCR Supermix (Invitrogen) was used for PCR reactions according to the manufacturers' instruction in a final volume of 20 µl. The ABI7300 was programmed to 95°C 10 min, 35 x (95°C 30 s, 55°C 40 s, 72°C 45 s), 72°C 10 min followed by a melting curve programme (55 to 95°C in increasing steps of 0.5°C). All reactions were repeated at least twice. The mRNA

levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with respect to the *ubiquitin* message level. Fold induction values were calculated with the Δ CP equaltion of Pfaffl (2001) and related to the mRNA level of the target genes in wild type roots, which were defined as 1.0. The following primers were used in the described gene expression experiments:

Target	Accession no.	Primer 5' - 3'	Reference
PDF1.2	AT5G44420	ATGGCTAAGTTTGCTTCCA TTAACATGGGACGTAACAGATAC	Huffaker et al. 2007
PDF2.1	AT2G02120	GATGGGTCCAGTCACGGTC TTCAAGAACACACTAAACACGC	Thomma et al. 1998
PDF2.3	AT2G02130	CACACACAACTGTGCAAACG CGGAAACACACAAACCAATG	Thomma et al. 1998
PR1	AT2G14610	GGAGCTACGCAGAACAACTA AGTATGGCTTCTCGTTCACA	Huffaker et al. 2007
PR2	AT3G57260	CTACAGAGATGGTGTCA AGCTGAAGTAAGGGTAG	Uknes et al. 1992
PR3	AT3G12500	TGGATGGGCTACAGCACC CTAAATAGCAGCTTCGAGGAGG	Thomma et al. 1998
PR4	AT3G04720	CACATTCTCTTCCTCGTGTTC TAGTTAGCTCCGGTACAAGTG	Thomma et al. 1998
SGT1b	AT4G11260	ATGGCCAAGGAATTAGCAGA CGGTTTGGCAGGTGCTGCAGGA	Tör et al. 2002
NPR1	AT1G64280.1	TCAACCATAGGAATCCGAGGG CCGACGACGATGAGAGAGTTTACG	this study
EDS1	AT3G48090	ACCAGATCATGGTCAGCC TGTCCTGTGAACACTATCTGTTTTCTACT	Feys et al. 2001

3.8 Nematode infection experiments

H. schachtii was propagated on in vitro stock cultures of mustard (*Sinapis alba* cv. Albatros) roots grown on 0.2 x Knop medium supplemented with 2% (w/v) sucrose and 0.8% (w/v) Daishin agar under sterile conditions.

Fully developed cysts were harvested from the roots onto 50 μ m gauze. Hatching of juveniles was stimulated by soaking cysts in 3 mM ZnCl₂ for eight to ten days. The larvae were harvested with 10 μ m gauze, surface-sterilized, washed four times in sterile water, resuspended in 0.2% (w/v) Gelrite (Duchefa, Harlem, Netherlands) and used directly for inoculation experiments. Inoculation of hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants with nematodes was performed in vitro according to the protocol described by Sijmons et al. (1991). Sugar beet hairy roots one cm long and one week old Arabidopsis seedlings were transferred to Petri dishes and 6-well plates containing 0.2 x Knop medium under sterile conditions. Sterile infective *H. schachtii* juveniles were added to each Petri dish with one root tip and to each Arabidosis plant in a single well of 6-well plates. The number of developed females was

determined four weeks after infection under a stereomicroscope (Stemi SV 11, Carl Zeiss MicroImaging GmbH, Göttingen, Germany).

3.9 OXO enzyme activity tests

Oxalic acid wilting assay:

Seven days old wild type and transgenic Arabidopsis plants were transferred from agar plates into 4 mM oxalic acid solution at pH 4 (adjusted with HCl) for cultivation. Wild type plants in 4 mM oxalic acid solution at pH 4 (adjusted with HCl) and transgenic Arabidopsis plants without oxalic acid served as a control. The whole test was performed in a plant growth chamber at 24°C under a 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod. The plants were visually scored in respect of wilting symptoms every one hour after incubation.

DAB staining:

To visualize H_2O_2 in situ, 3.3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) staining was performed on ten days old transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings inoculated or not with *H. schachtii*. The Arabidopsis wildtype C24 served as control. The seedlings were placed in 0.5 mg/ml DAB-HCL, pH 3.8 covered only roots and incubated in the dark for at least 30 min. They were then transferred into a growth chamber under light for 60 min until brown precipitate was observed. Samples were fixed with a solution of 4:1 (v/v) ethanol/chloroform with 0.15% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid for 24 h and then placed in 10 mM citrate buffer for microscopy. The samples were stored in 96% (v/v) ethanol. DAB stained seedlings were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C over night, dehydrated through an ethanol series, and then embedded in Technovit 7100 resin following the manufacturers' instruction (Heraeus Kulzer GmbH, Wehrheim, Germany) The samples were sectioned (10 µm thickness) with a glass knife on a rotation microtome (Ultracut UCT; Leica, Wetzlar, Germany), dried on glass slides and used for microscopic observations (Zeiss).

3.10 ATH1-microarray analysis

For ATH1-microarray analysis, Arabidopsis with the C24 genetic background were used. They are transgenic line pAM194-15 carrying *Hs1^{pro-1}* and line pAM194-V transformed with the empty pAM194 vector. Arabidopsis seedlings were grown on Petri dishes containing 0.2 x Knop medium under sterile conditions. Seven days old seedlings were inoculated with 200 sterile infective nematode juveniles each plant/Petri dish. Roots were harvest three days, seven days and 14 days after inoculation, pooled and frozen for use. Total RNA was extracted from the Arabidopsis roots following the trizol protocol (Gibco BRL Life Technologies). The

total RNA was linearly amplified and biotinylated using the One-Cycle target-labeling kit (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA, USA) according to the manufacturers' instruction. Labeling, hybridization, and detection on the ATH1 Arabidopsis Chip (Affymetrix) were performed at the Affymetrix Platform at the Universitätsklinikum Tübingen and UKSH, Kiel, Germany, as described by Mueller et al. (2008). Briefly, 15 µg of labeled and fragmented copy RNA was hybridized to Arabidopsis ATH1 GeneChip arrays (Affymetrix). Arrays were scanned using the GCS3000 GeneChip scanner (Affymetrix) and GCOS 1.3 software. The Affymetrix GeneChip software MAS 5.0 was used for calculation of expression ratios of genes and generation of report files (Journot-Catalino et al. 2006). For statistical data analysis, three independent probe replicates were performed for generation of data files. The resulting data were imported into Genespring 7.1 (Agilent Technologies, Böblingen, Germany) for normalization and probe summarization (Wu et al. 2003). Genes with an at least twofold increase or decrease in average expression ratio were chosen for further analysis. Functions of differentially expressed transcripts were annotated using the NetAFFX analysis center. The data discussed in this publication have been deposited at the National Center for Biotechnology Information Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO; http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/).

3.11 Analysis of A. thaliana mutant

A. thaliana GLP3 (AT5G20630) exhibits 43% amino sequence identity to *BvGLP-1* (E-value 1e-43). The knockout (ko) Arabidopsis mutant of AT5G20630 was obtained from the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center (ABRC, Ohio State University, OH, USA), which contains a T-DNA insertion in AT5G20630 (SAIL 620_D04). After successive selfing, four homozygous ko lines were selected by PCR using the T-DNA left border-specific primer (TAGCATCTGAATTTCATAACCAATCTCGATACAC) in combination with *GLP3*-specific primers 620_D04 f (GGTCAGGGTTCTTGCAAGAGTAAC) and 620_D04 r (CTAAAATCACAAGAAGCCCATGC). Knockout of the *GLP3* transcripts in the ko line was confirmed by RT-PCR with the same *GLP3*-specific primers as described above. The ko line was designated as *glp3*.

4 Results

4.1 Cloning of differential expressed fragments from resistant beets by use of cDNA-AFLP expression profiling

Because so far no microarray/chip is available for the sugar beet genome, we applied cDNA-AFLP technology for generation of cDNA-ALFP expression patterns from nematode resistant (A906001) and susceptible (93161p) sugar beet lines upon nematode infection. In total, 156 AFLP- primer combinations (132 for *Eco*RI/*Mse*I and 24 for *Ps*tI/*Mse*I) have been tested. Each primer pair generated 50 -100 Transcript-Derived Fragments (TDFs) in the size range of 20-500 bp. In total, approximately 10,000 TDFs were generated. By comparison, 66 fragments were identified only in the nematode resistant material, from which twelve were specific for nematode infection.



Figure1: cDNA-AFLP autoradiograph representing the TDF expression pattern from 3 susceptible (sugar beet line 93161p) and 3 resistant (sugar beet line A906001) sugar beet plants subjected to nematode inoculation or not. The arrow labeled band corresponds to TDF_Car differentially expressed in the inoculated resistant material. n, not inoculated; i, inoculated.

Thus, these twelve TDFs were chosen as candidates for resistance-specific transcripts for further analysis. To get sequence information, the 12 TDFs expressed only in the resistant plans were excised from the gels, re-PCRed, subcloned into the pGEMTeasy vector and sequenced. To verify the cloning and sequencing of the correct fragments, the same cDNA-AFLP primers were used in a PCR reaction with the pGEMTeasy clones as template. The resulting products were loaded on a polyacrylamid gel next to the cDNA-AFLP reactions from which the fragments had originally been isolated. In this way, all twelve fragments have been verified (data not shown). To confirm the expression pattern of the TDFs, primers were designed from sequence information of the twelve TDFs and RT-PCR analysis was performed

with mRNA from the infected as well as non-infected resistant (A906001) and susceptible (93161p) plants. Of twelve TDFs, one fragment, TDF_Car was specifically induced to express in roots of resistant plants upon nematode infection (Figure 1). Therefore, TDF_Car was selected for further analysis. The remaining TDFs were either not expressed or were expressed in both inoculated and non-inoculated susceptible and resistant plants.

4.2 Isolation and characterization of full-length cDNA sequence of TDF_Car

The full-length cDNA clone for TDF_Car was isolated by PCR from a yeast two hybrid cDNA library made from RNA of the infected resistant roots. This approach led to the isolation of two overlapping fragments spanning the entire coding region together with 40 bp of its 5` UTR and 173 bp of its 3` UTR. Consequently, the cloned 837 bp full-length cDNA corresponding to TDF_Car contains a single open reading frame of 624 bp encoding for a 208 aa polypeptide. A blast homology search revealed high homology to several oxalate oxidase-like germin ESTs of *Beta vulgaris* (AAG36665.1, E-value 2e-109; AAG36667.1, E-value 1e-89; AAG36666.1, E-value 3e-90) and genes of diverse plant species including, Arabidopsis, maize, rice, mustard, barley and pine as well as wheat (Figure 2). Therefore, it is referred to as *BvGLP-(Wag)1* (accession number: AY243465), renamed *BvGLP-1* in this paper.

		1 A 50
BvGLP-1	(1)	MNNLVVFFAFSILVCLSHAIEVDFCVADRNLP-RGPEGYACR
BvGLP 165	(1)	MNNLVVFFSFSVLVCLSHAIEVDFCVADRSLP-RGPEGYACR
BvGLP 172	(1)	MNNLTIFFTFSLLVSLSHAIEFDFCVGDLNLP-RGPQGYACK
BvGLP 171	(1)	MNNLIIFSTFSLLVSLSHAIEFDFCVGDLSLP-RGPQGYACK
AtGLP3b	(1)	MKMIIQIFFIISLISTISFASVODFCVADPKGP-OSPSGYSCK
OsGLP 110	(1)	MAKAVMMLPVLLSFLLLPFSSMALTODFCVADLTCS-DTPAGYPCK
ZmGLP 1	(1)	MAKMVLLCVLVSFLLMPLASLALTODFCVADLTCS-DTPAGYPCK
SAGLP	(1)	MKMRTOIFFILSLESSISFASVODECVADEKGE-ONESGYSCK
HVPR	(1)	MASSCSFLLLAALLALVSWOATSSDPSPLODECVADMHSP-VRVNGEVCK
HVOXO	(1)	SDPDPI ODFCVADLDGKAVSVNGHTCK
TaGf-2.8	(1)	MGYSKTLVAGLFAMLLLAPAVLATDPDPIODECVADLDGKAVSVNGHTCK
TaGf-3 8	(1)	MGYSKNIASGMFAMILLASAVI.SSNPHPIODECVADLOGKAVSVNGHMCK
1401 0.0	(±)	51 100
ByGLP-1	(42)	DPATITTDDFVYTGFRGG-RTITNVPGNNVTLAFVDOFPALNGLGISMAR
BYCLP 165	(12)	DDATI TTDDEVVTGERCC-RTITNVFGNVVTLAEVDOEDALNCI GI SMAR
BYGLI 103	(12)	
BYGLF 172	(42)	
DVGLF 1/1	(42)	
ALGLPSD	(45)	NPDQVIENDFAFIGLGIA-GNISNIIKAAVIPAFAFAIAGINGLGVSLAR
OSGLP IIU	(46)	
ZMGLP I	(45)	SSVTANDFIFHGLAGQ-GKINPLIKAAVTPAFVGQFPGVNGLGISAAR
SAGLP	(43)	NPDQV'TENDF'AF'SGLGKA-GNT'SNV1KAAV'T'PAF'APAF'AGLNGLDVSLAR
HVPR	(50)	NPMDVNADDFFKAAALDK-PRVTNKVGSNVTLINVMQIAGLNTLGISIAR
HVOXO	(28)	PMSEAGDDFLFSSKLTKA-GNTSTPNGSAVTELDVAEWPGTNTLGVSMNR
TaGf-2.8	(51)	PMSEAGDDFLFSSKLAKA-GNTSTPNGSAVTELDVAEWPGTNTLGVSMNR
TaGf-3.8	(51)	PMSEAGDDFLFSSKLAKA-GNTSTPNGSAVTDLNVAEWPGTNTLGVSMNR
		101 B 150
BvGLP-1	(91)	LDFGVSGVIPVHSHR-TSEVLIVSRGSIIAGFIDT-NNTAYYRRL
BvGLP 165	(91)	LDFGLGGVIPVHSHR-TSEVLIVSRGSIIAGFIDT-NNTAYYRRL
BvGLP 172	(92)	LDFGVGGVIPIHSHR-TSEVIILATGSIIAGFIDT-TNTAYYRRL
BvGLP 171	(91)	LDFGVGGVIPIHSHR-TSEVIILTKGSIIAGFIDT-TNTAYYRRL
AtGLP3b	(92)	LDLAGGCVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIOGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL
OsGLP 110		
7mCTD 1	(93)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL
ZINGLF I	(93) (92)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL
SAGLP	(93) (92) (92)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL
SAGLP HvPR	(93) (92) (92) (99)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGMVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV
SAGLP SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGNVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV
SAGLP SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IMR
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IMR 151 C 200
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IMR 151 C 200 EVGDVMIFPOAMLHFOVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPALOFTMNSLFGGN-
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IMR 151 C 200 EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN-
SAGLP I SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172	(93) (92) (92) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISS-ANKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IMR 151 C 200 EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN-
SAGLP I SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171	(93) (92) (92) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV IDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGSNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGNPHIHPVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTNTLFAGN- KVGDVMIFPQSNHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTTTLFAGN-
SAGLP 1 SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (134) (136)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTKTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISSGNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGENGAPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSMLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- NDFGDSMVFPOGLHFOLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLOTUPFALFAND-
SAGLP 1 SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b OsGLP 110	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (136) (138)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- NRGDSMVFPQGLHFQLNSGKGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILFFALFAND- VACDIMVFPQGLHFQVNGKGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQITTPAIFAND-
SAGLP 1 SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b OsGLP 110 ZmGLP 1	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (137)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNTVYTKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- KVGDVMIFPQSLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- NRGDSMVFPQGLHFQVNNG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- VAGDIMVFPQGLHFQVNAG-QSAAVALVAFSGPNPGLQITDYALFAND- YAGDIMVFPQGLHYQVNAG-TGAAVCIVAFSGPNPGLQITDYALFANN-
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b OsGLP 110 ZmGLP 1	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (137) (136)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTHFQVNG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSLHFQVNG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- KGPALAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- NRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQNNG-CSAAVALVAFSGPNPGLQITDALFANN- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQNAG-QSAAVALVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFANN- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQNNG-TGAAVGLVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFANN- SPCDSMVEPOCLLHFONSCKKCPALAFVAFGSSSPGLOTUDFALFANN-
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b OsGLP 110 ZmGLP 1 SAGLP	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (138) (137) (136)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDLAGGGVIPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPIGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NGFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNFPQGLLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- KVGDVMIFPQGLLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- VAGDIVFPQGLLHFQVNG-CSAAVALVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFAND- VAGDINVFPQGLLHFQVNG-GAAVALVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFANN- SRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILDFALFAND- VAGDIVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILDFALFAND- VAGDIVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILDFALFAND- VAGDIVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILDFALFAND-
BVGLP-1 BVGLP-1 BVGLP-1 BVGLP 165 BVGLP 172 BVGLP 171 AtGLP3b OSGLP 110 ZmGLP 1 SAGLP HVPR	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (138) (137) (136) (149) (124)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSMLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQTTTAIFASN- NRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQUNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILFFALFAND- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQNAG-QSAAVALVAFSGPNPGLQITDYALFANN- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQNAG-TGAAVGLVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFANN- SRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILFFALFAND- NKGDVFVFPQGLLHFQNNPHQPAVAIAALSSQNPGAITIANAVFGSDP
BVGLP-1 BVGLP-1 BVGLP-1 BVGLP 165 BVGLP 172 BVGLP 171 AtGLP3b OSGLP 110 ZmGLP 1 SAGLP HVPR HVOXO	(93) (92) (92) (99) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (137) (136) (137) (136) (149) (124)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV NGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQSMLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- KVGDVMIFPQSMLHFQVNVG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQLTTTAIFASN- NRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILPFALFAND- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQYNAG-QSAAVALVAFSGPNPGLQITDYALFANN- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQYNAG-TGAAVGLVAFSSPNFGLQITDFALFANN- SRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILPFALFAND- NKGDVFVFVGLHHFQFNNG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGAITIANAVFGSDP RAGETFVIPRGLMHFQFNNG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGAITIANAVFGSDP RAGETFVIPRGLMHFQFNNG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGAITIANAVFGSDP
SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8 TaGf-3.8 BvGLP-1 BvGLP 165 BvGLP 172 BvGLP 171 AtGLP3b OSGLP 110 ZmGLP 1 SAGLP HvPR HvOXO TaGf-2.8	(93) (92) (92) (77) (100) (100) (134) (134) (135) (134) (136) (138) (137) (136) (149) (124) (147)	LDIAVGGVVPLHTHPAASELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPAGSELLFVTQGTVAAGFITSSSNTVYTRTL LDIEVGGVVPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISSGSNKVYLKTL IDYAPLGQNPPHTHPRATEILTVLEGTLYVGFVTSNLPAPNRNKFLSKVL VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNPPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNFPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNFPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNFPHIHPRATEIGIVMKGELLVGILGSLDSGNKLYSRVV VDFAPGGTNFPQGLLHFQVNG-TTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- EVGDVMIFPQGLLHFQVNG-KTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGN- KGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILPFALFAND- YAGDIMVFPQGLLHYQNAG-TGAAVGLVAFSSPNPGLQITDFALFANN- SRGDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSG-KGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILPFALFAND- NKGDVFVPVGLIHFQFNNPHQPAVAIAALSSQNPGAITIANAVFGSDP RAGETFVIPRGLMHFQFNVG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGIVFVPLTLFGSDP RAGETFLIPRGLMHFQFNVG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGIVFVPLTLFGSDP RAGETFLIPRGLMHFQFNVG-KTEAYMVVSFNSQNPGIVFVPLTLFGSDP

Figure 2: Comparative multiple sequence alignement of partial *BvGLP-1* nucleotide sequence with sequences of 11 germin and GLPs from sugar beet, Arabidopsis, maize, rice, mustard, barley, pine and wheat. The GenBank accession numbers of the sequences analyzed are: for GLPs: *BvGLP165*, AAG36665.1; *BvGLP172*, AAG36667.1; *BvGLP171*, AAG36666.1; *AtGLP3b*, U75195; *OsGLP110*, AB015593; *ZmGLP1*, AY394010; *SaGLP*, X84786; *HvPR*, X93171; *HvOXO*, L15737; and for true germins:*TaGf-2.8*, M63223; *TaGf-3.8*, M63224. The three conserved boxes A, B and C are framed. The inter motif region is underlined.

Germin and GLPs belong to a subgroup of cupin proteins exhibiting characteristic domains. Sequence alignment analysis reveals that *BvGLP-1* has three conserved subdomains of cupin proteins, the boxes A, B and C (Figure 2). Box A consists of conserved amino acids of QDFCVAD, but in *BvGLP-1* the first residue is V instead of Q. While Box B has the conserved motif of G--P-H-HPRATEXXXX-G, Box C has the consensus GXXHFQ-N-G, in which X corresponds to hydrophobic amino acids. In Box B and C, three histidine residues known to be involved in metal binding were found in *BvGLP-1* (Figure 2). In addition, Box B and C are separated by an intermotif region (Figure 2), which proved to be required for formation of a six-stranded beta barrel structure (Woo et al. 2000). The expression profile of *BvGLP-1* was investigated in roots of resistant and susceptible plants in response to nematode infection (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Expression profiling of *BvGLP-1* in resistant and susceptible sugar beet as investigated by qRT-PCR. Plants were inoculated with *H. schachtii* J2 juveniles and roots were harvested 1, 3 and 12 days after inoculation. Non infected roots (n) served as a control. Black columns represent the resistant sugar beet line A906001 and white columns the susceptible sugar beet line 93161p. The expression of the signals was calculated on the basis of a normalised data output as a relative ratio between the expression of the target gene and a constitutive control (ubiquitin10) according to the assumption that the expression of the ubiquitin 10 gene is constitutive for all plant assays and dates of observation.

qRT-PCR showed that the expression of the gene was upregulated in resistant plants one day after infection (Figure 3) while no upregulation was observed in susceptible sugar beet upon infection. Three days after nematode infection the transcript level in resistant plants was about ten times higher than in susceptible plants, although a slight increase in the transcript was also visible in susceptible plants upon nematode infection. Even seven days after inoculation, the gene expression still maintained at a higher level in resistant plants when compared to the susceptible plants (Figure 3).

4.3 Functional analysis of *BvGLP-1* in transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants

The potential of *BvGLP-1* in activation of nematode resistance was investigated in both transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants, respectively. To this end, two plant expression constructs were generated (Figure 4A). In the construct pAM194-BvGLP-1, the full length cDNA *BvGLP-1* was driven by the 35S promoter for a constitutive gene expression while in the construct pBIN121-BvGLP-1 the sequence was under the control of the Hs1^{pro-1} promoter for a nematode feeding site-specific gene expression (Figure 4A). For transformation into sugar beet hairy roots, both gene constructs were introduced into the susceptible sugar beet line 93161p. In total, 45 independent transgenic hairy roots for pAM194-BvGLP-1 and 36 for pBIN121-BvGLP-1 were obtained by PCR analysis with gene-specific primer (data not shown). The transgenic roots harbour one to three copies of the transgene as revealed by Southern blot analysis (data not shown) but no obvious differences with respect to growth rate and morphology of the hairy roots among the different transgenic events were observed. The 15 transgenic roots carrying a single copy of the transgene were chosen for further analysis.

Similarly, both gene constructs were transformed into the *A. thaliana* ecotype C24 by *A. tumefaciens* mediated transformation. From four transformation events 131 T0 transformants with pBIN121-BvGLP-1 were obtained, while only 30 transformants with pAM194-BvGLP-1 could be selected. The generation rate with pBIN121-BvGLP-1 was about ten times higher than that with pAM194-BvGLP-1. Obviously, a strong overexpression of *BvGLP-1* resulted in H_2O_2 stress, from which the plant regeneration suffered. The presence and the copy number as well as the expression of transgenes were determined by Southern blot analysis and PCR (Figure 4B, C). As shown in Figure 4C, a gene-specific PCR fragment of 780 bp in size was given in the selected transformants but not in the *A. thaliana* C24 control. In addition, Southern analysis of four independent transformants for each gene construct revealed that the transgene integrated in Arabidopsis varied from one to three copies (Figure 4B).

Consequently, eight independent Arabidopsis transformants carrying a single copy of the transgene for each construct were selected to propagate to T4 generation, from which eight homozygous lines of each gene construct were obtained.

The transcript levels of the transgenes were determined by semi-quantitative RT-PCR using *BvGLP-1* gene-specific primers (Figure 5). As expected, specific transcripts of 780 bp in size were detected in all transgenic plants, but an enhanced expression of the transgene responsive to nematode infection was given only in the plants transformed with the pBIN121-BvGLP-1.



pBIN121-BvGLP-1



Figure 4: Molecular characterization of *BvGLP-1* transgenic *A. thaliana* transformands by Southern blot analysis and genomic PCR. **A**: The *EcoR*I recognition site within the pAM194-BvGLP1 construct and the *Xba*I recognition site within the pBIN121-BvGLP-1 construct. **B**: Determination of copy numbers of the integrated *BvGLP-1* gene. Genomic DNA was digested with two restriction enzymes (*EcoRI*, *XhoI*), electrophoretically separated on 0.75% (w/v) agarose gels, blotted on Hybond-N+ membrane and hybridized with *BvGLP-1*. ck: *A. thaliana* C24 as a control; 1-4: *BvGLP-1* transgenic *A. thaliana*, a: pAM194-BvGLP1; b: pBIN121-BvGLP-1. Molecular length markers are indicated at left in kb. Exposure time: 48 h. **C**: Representative PCR analysis of *BvGLP-1* transgenic *A. thaliana* plants, using *BvGLP-1* gene-specific primers. ck: *A. thaliana* C24 as a control; 1-4: *BvGLP-1* transgenic *A. thaliana*; pl: plasmid DNA pAM194-BvGLP-1 as positive control; w: water control.



Figure 5: Expression of *BvGLP-1* gene in transgenic *A. thaliana* determined by semiquantitative RT-PCR with 2 independent *BvGLP-1* transgenic *A. thaliana* lines for both constructs pAM194-BvGLP1 and pBIN121-BvGLP-1 (I, II) inoculated or not with *H. schachtii. A. thaliana* wild type C24 plants served as control. The *BvGLP-1* transgenic lines and is differentially expressed in pBIN121-BvGLP-1 transgenic *A. thaliana* after nematode inoculation. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

4.4 Nematode inoculation experiments

Twenty independent transgenic hairy root cultures transformed with pAM194-BvGLP-1 and 18 for pBIN121-BvGLP-1 were subjected to a nematode resistance assay, in which the susceptible sugar beet roots transformed with the empty vector served as a control. Each nematode infection experiment was performed with 150 infective nematode juveniles and tested with seven repetitions. Four weeks after inoculation, developed nematode females were scored under the stereomicroscope. The results of nematode resistance assays are summarized in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Results of nematode resistance assays with hairy roots transformed with pAM194-BvGLP-1 (left) and pBIN121-BvGLP-1 (right). Hairy root clones obtained by transformation with the empty vector served as the susceptible control (ck). Each clone was analysed in 8 independent inoculation assays. The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a blank ended line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters calculated with t test at P < 0.05.

On the susceptible control roots, 10 to 20% of the applied J2 nematode juveniles developed into females resulting in an average number of developed females of 18 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=35). The number of developed females among transgenic hairy roots was relatively variable, ranging from three to 21. However, in 18 out of 20 pAM194-BvGLP-1, and 14 out of 18 pBIN121-BvGLP-1-transgenic root cultures, the number of developed females was significantly lower than that in the susceptible controls (Figure 6). On average, the pAM194-BvGLP-1-transgenic roots have 7 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=160) females each culture and pBIN121-BvGLP-1-transgenic roots have 5 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=144) developed females each root culture. By comparison, no difference between two gene constructs in respect to their efficiency in inhibition of female nematodes was given (Figure 6).

A similar experiment was performed with eight transgenic Arabidopsis lines selected for each gene construct. Eight individual plants per line were cultivated on 6-well agar plates and seven days old seedlings were each inoculated with 150 infective nematode juveniles. Plants transformed with the empty vector served as a susceptible control. 28 days after inoculation, females on each plant were counted as well as documented under a stereomicroscope. The results were summarized in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Results of nematode resistance assays with *A. thaliana* plants transformed with pAM194-BvGLP1 (left) and pBIN121-BvGLP-1 (right). *A. thaliana* plants obtained by transformation with the empty vector served as the susceptible control (ck). The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a blank ended line from 8 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters calculated with t test at P < 0.05.

On average, 12±4 (mean±STD, n=36) females developed on the control plants, which approx. corresponds to 10 to 15% of inoculated J2. Although the female number among transgenic lines varied from two to 15, a significant reduction in developed females on transgenic lines carrying both gene constructs was defined as revealed by statistical analysis (Figure 7). Respectively, 5 ± 3 (mean±STD, n=64) and 4 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=64) females were counted on pAM194-BvGLP-1 and on pBIN121-BvGLP-1 transgenic plants, which are significantly lower than that on the control plants 12 ± 4 (mean±STD, n=36). By comparison, two different constructs did not show significant difference in suppression of female nematode development similar to the observation made by sugar beet hairy roots. Taking together, these data demonstrate that both the constitutive and feeding cell-specific expression of BvGLP-1 in plants interferes with nematode infection leading to a significant reduction of developed females. This is consistent with our previous observation made by the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated nematode resistance in sugar beet.

4.5 *Hs1^{pro-1}* regulates the expression of GLP genes in Arabidopsis

To identify the $Hs1^{pro1}$ -regulated genes in transgenic Arabidopsis, we used the Affymetrix Arabidopsis ATH1 GeneChip, which contains >22.500 probe sets representing 24.000 genes. For this, $Hs1^{pro-1}$ was transformed into *A. thaliana* ecotype C24 under the transcriptional control of the 35S promoter by use of Agrobacteium-mediated transformation. In total, 78 independent transgenic *A. thaliana* expressing $Hs1^{pro-1}$ were selected and subsequently subjected to nematode infection experiments. Of these 65 plants showed a reduction of developed female nematodes to some degree and 12 could be selected, which showed a significant reduction of developed females, varied from 4±3 to 10±2 (mean±STD, n=22), compared to plants transformed with the empty binary vector pAM194 (pAM-V, 16±4, mean±STD, n=22) (Figure 8). Moreover, the same incompatible reactions to nematode infection could be observed in the transgenic *A. thaliana* as those in sugar beet (Figure 9). The infective J2 juveniles penetrate the roots eliciting a strong necrotic reaction around invasion and feeding sites. The nematodes cannot develop further because they are unable to induce the formation of syncytia in the vascular cylinder.



Figure 8: Results of nematode resistance assays with *A. thaliana* plants transformed with pAM194-Hs1^{pro-1}. *A . thaliana* C24 wild type plants and *A. thaliana* plants obtained by transformation with the empty vector served as the susceptible control (WT; WT+v). The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a blank ended line from 8 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters calculated with t test at P < 0.05.



Figure 9: Microscopic observation of *Hs1^{pro-1}* transgenic *A. thaliana* roots two days, four days and three weeks after nematode infection compared to *A. thaliana* roots transformed with the empty binary vector pAM194. Normal nematode development on susceptible control roots two and four days after infection (A, B) and developed nematode females three weeks after infection (C). Incompatible reactions to nematode infection on resistant transgenic *A. thaliana* roots: a strong necrotic reaction around the feeding sites 2 and 4 days after infection (D, E) and translucent females three weeks after infection (F). The bar equals 350µm in A, B, D, E and 300µm in C, F.

The *Hs1^{pro-1}* homozygous transgenic line pAM15 and the Arabidopsis C24 transformed with the empty vector pAM-V were chosen for ATH1 GeneChip analysis. Roots of 20 seedlings were harvest three, seven and 14 days after nematode infection to create RNA pools for pAM15 and pAM-V respectively. This procedure was repeated two times for generation of two biologically independent pools of RNA.

To determine the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ -regulated genes in Arabidopsis, we compared the GeneChip data between pAM15 and pAM-V. As a result, about 66% of total Arabidopsis transcripts on the ATH1 GeneChip were detectable with both samples. In total 711 transcripts were differentially expressed sequence tags between pAM15 and pAM-V from which the transcript change fold varied from +43 to -50. Genes with 2.5 change folds (P < 0.01) were considered significantly regulated. When this threshold was applied in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ transgenic Arabidopsis 217 transcripts were up- and 492 transcripts downregulated. About 65% of the differentially expressed transcripts are genes with defined functions (Table 1). We identified three germinlike genes in the upregulated genes. They are AT5G20630/ 246004_at (*GLP-3*), AT5G38910/249476_at (*GLP9*) and AT5G39100/249495_at (*GLP6*) and all showed a substantial transcript exchange fold of 21, 7.5 and 6.7, respectively (Table 1). Because AT5G20630/ 246004_at for *GLP3* showed the highest transcript change fold and an amino acid identity of 43% to *BvGLP-1* as revealed by BLAST search (blastx), it was chosen for further analysis.

To validate the microarray data, we performed qRT-PCR analysis for AT5G20630 *GLP-3*. The qRT-PCR results showed that the gene was highly upregulated in $Hs1^{pro-1}$ transgenic Arabidopsis and the transcript increased slightly in both of wild type Arabidopsis C24 and Col-0 three days after nematode infection. These results support the validity of the Arabidopsis $Hs1^{pro-1}$ -regulated transcriptome from the ATH1 GeneChip analysis and indicate that $Hs1^{pro-1}$ regulates the expression of GLP genes in transgenic Arabidopsis.

Gene Titel	Change Fold	Gene Name
245226_at	43.72	germination protein-related
246004_at	21.01	germin-like protein (GLP3)
264073_at	20.12	pseudogene, hypothetical protein
247991_at	15.87	expansin, putative (EXP14)
263809_at	15.84	GDSL-motif lipase/hydrolase family protein
253352_at	15.14	pathogenesis-related protein, putative
265486_at	14.59	expressed protein
248372_at	13.78	expressed protein
254678_at	11.99	hypothetical protein
267364_at	9.973	expressed protein
263262_at	9.648	tumor susceptibility protein-related
251472_at	9.151	RWP-RK domain-containing protein
250067_at	8.551	hypothetical protein
260753_at	7.776	zinc finger (C3HC4-type RING finger) family protein
249174_at	7.622	expressed protein
249476_at	7.493	germin-like protein (GLP9)
249539_at	7.167	methyltransferase-related
254833_s_at	7.012	copper amine oxidase family protein
260869_at	6.886	acyl-(acyl-carrier-protein) desaturase
249495_at	6.707	germin-like protein (GLP6)
265817_at	6.612	histone H1-3 (HIS1-3)
262954_at	6.478	rubredoxin family protein
260851_at	5.933	nodulin MtN21 family protein

Table 1: A part of differentially expressed (>2.5 change folds) gene transcripts with defined functions originated from ATH1 GeneChip analysis with $Hs1^{pro-1}$ homozygous transgenic Arabidopsis line pAM15 and the Arabidopsis C24 transformed with the empty vector pAM-V.

4.6 Functional analysis of Arabidopsis plants knocked out in locus of AT5G20630

To define the potential of *GLP3* in regulation of nematode resistance, we tested *glp3*-ko Arabidopsis mutant plants with the Col-0 genetic background. Because Arabidopsis Col-0 plants are more tolerant to *H. schachtii* infection, we expected an enhanced susceptibility of *glp3*-ko mutant plants. The mutant knocked out in locus AT5G20630, SAIL 620_D04 was identified from the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center (Ohio State University, OH, USA), which carries a T-DNA insertion in the locus AT5G20630. Homozygous *glp3*-ko lines were selected by PCR analysis using the T-DNA-LB-specific primer and the locus-specific primers 620_D04 f and 620_D04 r. The *glp3*-ko lines do not show obvious morphological alteration in comparison with the wild type (Figure 10B). To confirm that homozygous *glp3*ko plants did not process a functional *GLP3* transcript, RT-PCR analysis was performed with RNA of 14 days old seedlings of the *glp3*-ko and wild type plants (WT) using the same *GLP3*-specific primers as described above. As indicated in Figure 10A, no *GLP3* transcript could be detected in *glp3*-ko plants whereas WT RNA shows a 346 bp band corresponding to *GLP3* mRNA. Therefore, a complete knockout for this gene has been obtained.



Figure 10: Characterization of *A. thaliana glp3*-ko plants. **A**: RT-PCR analysis was performed with RNA of 14 days old seedlings of the *glp3*-ko and wild type plants (Col-0) using GLP3-specific primers. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level. **B**: No morphological differences were observed between *glp3*-ko and wild type plants Col-0.

The *glp3*-ko plants were subjected to a nematode inoculation experiment, in which wild type plants were used as a control. Each plant was inoculated with approx. 150 infective nematode juveniles and monitored after three weeks. The experiment was repeated three times with 20 individuals. The results were summarized in Figure 11. As indicated in Figure 11, on *glp3*-ko plants 6 cysts each plant developed and this number is significantly higher than on wild type Col-0 plants which exhibit 2 to 3 cysts each plant on average. Therefore we conclude that knockout of *GLP3* in Arabidopsis Col-0 plants resulted in super-hypersensitivity of Col-0

plants to *H. schachtii* infection, strongly supporting an active role of GLP proteins in plant nematode resistance, in general.



Figure 11: Results of nematode resistance assays with *A. thaliana glp3*-ko plants. *A. thaliana* wild type plants C24 and Col-0 served as the control. The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a blank ended line from 8 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters calculated with t test at P < 0.05.

4.7 Determination of oxalate oxidase activity of *BvGLP-1*

To determine OxO activity of BvGLP-1, we performed an oxalic acid wilting test with transgenic Arabidopsis plants transformed with pAM194-BvGLP-1 in comparison with control plants transformed with the empty vector. OA is highly toxic to most plants, and incubation of plants in oxalic acid solution results in a rapid plant cell death and consequently plant tissues became wilting (Thompson et al. 1995). However, OxO degrades OA into CO₂ and H₂O₂, therefore transgenic plants expressing BvGLP-1 with oxalate oxidase activity are expected to survive in OA solution. Following this, we placed seven days old transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings in a set of solutions with OA concentrations from 4 to 20 mM, and control plants into water and in a solution with 4 mM OA (Figure 12), respectively. The plants were visually scored each hour after infection and documented. We observed that seedlings of the control plants suffered severely from 4 mM OA, showing drastically wilting six hours after incubation. In contrast, transgenic seedlings grew regularly in the 4 mM OA solution without any obvious phenotypic alteration, and further survived in a solution with 8 mM OA over an extended 24 hours (Figure 12). The results, confirmed with four independent transgenic lines with three repetitions indicate that overexpression of BvGLP-1 in plants resulted in an increased OxO activity in plant cells, which detoxified OA in transgenic plants, consequently.



Figure 12: OA wilting assay with seven days old pAM194-BvGLP-1 transgenic *A. thaliana* seedlings. pAM194-BvGLP-1 transgenic *A. thaliana* seedlings without OA and *A. thaliana* seedlings obtained by transformation with the empty vector (ck) in 4 mM OA served as controls. In the presence of *BvGLP-1* with its OxO activity OA is degraded into CO_2 and H_2O_2 and transgenic plants expressing *BvGLP-1* survive. A: 1 hour after incubation; **B**: 24 hours after incubation.

For confirmation, we performed in situ (DAB) staining experiments to visualized H_2O_2 , generated in transgenic plants with and without nematode infection in comparison with the control. In the presence of H_2O_2 , DAB will be oxidized resulting in a specific brown-colored polymer, which intensity correlates with the amount of H_2O_2 and therefore can be qualitatively assessed under microscope. As expected, DAB-staining occurred strongly in the roots of transgenic plants in which the transgene is driven by 35S promoter with as well as without nematode infection (Figure 13A, B), whereas no or only very weak background staining was obvious in the control roots (Figure 13C, D). These data are in consistent with the results of the wilting tests, providing the evidence that the expression of *BvGLP-1* increases OxO activity in plant cells.



Figure 13: In-vivo DAB (3.3-diaminobenzidine) staining was performed on *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings with and without nematode infection. Arabidopsis wild type C24 plants served as control. In the presence of H_2O_2 , DAB will be oxidized resulting in a specific brown-colored polymer. **A**, **C**, **E**: without nematode inoculation; **B**, **D**, **F**: with nematode inoculation. DAB-staining occurred strongly in the roots of transgenic plants in which the transgene is driven by 35S promoter with as well as without nematode infection (**A**,**B**); A dominant staining signal in nematode feeding structure and especially around nematode penetration site occurred in pBIN121-BvGLP-1 transgenic roots (**F**); no or only very weak background staining was obvious in C24 control roots (**C**,**D**) as well as in the non-inoculated pBIN121-BvGLP-1 transgenic roots (**E**). The bar equals 250µm.

Furthermore, we analysed transgenic plants transformed with pBIN121-BvGLP-1 in which the transgene is under the transcriptional control of Hs1^{pro-1} promoter. As shown in Figure 13, we detected dominant staining signal in nematode feeding structure and especially around

nematode penetration site of transgenic roots (Figure 13F), but not of control roots. In addition, we conducted a microtome sectioning experiment with DAB stained roots and observed that the H_2O_2 staining signal was restricted mainly in the developed syncytium (Figure 14A). These results demonstrate that a syncytium-specific expression of *BvGLP-1* resulted in an increase in the H_2O_2 level in the syncytium, locally. Therefore, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* is an OxO and *BvGLP-1* regulates nematode resistance via its OxO activity by adjusting H_2O_2 levels in plant cells attached.



Figure 14: Microtom sections of DAB stained pBIN121-BvGLP-1 transgenic roots. The H_2O_2 staining signal was restricted mainly in the developed syncytium (**A**), whereas no DAB staining signal was present in the non inoculated control (**B**). The bar equals 250 μ m.

4.8 *BvGLP-1* activates plant resistance response

Well known is that H_2O_2 can act as a secondary messenger activating plant resistance responses. To define whether *BvGLP-1* involves the signaling for activation of plant defense mechanisms, we analysed the transcript levels of a set of key regulators as well as defenserelated proteins in transgenic Arabidopsis plants and compared them with those in control plants by semi-quantitative RT-PCR (Figure 15, Figure 16). Included are genes, *NPR1* and *EDS1*which are key regulators for resistance responses triggered by TIR-NBS-LRR-Rproteins as well as *SGT1* which is critically positioned in resistance responses mediated by non-TIR-(CC) NBS-LRR-R- proteins (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003), and genes for PR- and PDF proteins. Four and two independent transgenic lines were analysed, respectively. Unexpected, no significant change in the transcript levels of *NPR1* and *EDS1* as well as *SGT1* was detectable in transgenic plants when compared to the control (Figure 15). However, abundant transcripts for the *PR-1* to *PR-4* genes were detectable in the transgenic plants but not in the control. While the expression of *PDF1.2* was strongly upregulated in transgenic plants, the expression of *PDF2.3* and *PDF2.2* was not changed and the expression of *PDF2.1*
was in contrast downregulated (Figure 16). Thus, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* may play an active role in activation of expression of defense related proteins in downstream to a signaling pathway leading to resistance response.



Figure 15: Expression of *BvGLP-1* activated defense related genes in transgenic Arabidopsis. *EDS1, SGT1b, NPR1* gene expression levels were determined by semiquantitative RT-PCR with four independent *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis lines and Arabidopsis wild type C24 plants served as control. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.



Figure 16: Expression of *BvGLP-1* activated defense related genes in transgenic Arabidopsis. PR and PDF gene expression levels were determined by semiquantitative RT-PCR with 2 independent *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis lines and Arabidopsis wild type C24 plants served as control. The *BvGLP-1* transcript is present in all transgenic lines (first lane) and the housekeeping *ubiquitin* gene served as a control (last lane). The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

5 Discussion

5.1 *BvGLP-1* is involved in activation of nematode resistance

Transcript profiling techniques and mutant analysis have been successfully applied for identification of a wide array of genes which are involved in both signaling pathways and plant resistance responses. This approach allows the molecular dissection of the signaling networks of various resistance reactions as well as the identification of global regulators governing resistance responses, thus offering the possibility for elucidation of the mechanism underlying and genetic engineering of plant disease resistance (Stuiver et al. 2001). Because the GeneChip for sugar beet is not yet available, we applied the cDNA-AFLP technique to isolate genes from sugar beet genome, which are involved in the resistance responses. Similar to that reported by Samuelian et al. (2004) we obtained from more than 10.000 TDFs only a small number of resistance specific fragments. Of these only one, BvGLP-1 showed a clear responsive expression upon nematode infection in resistant roots. Instead, ATH1 GeneChip experiments revealed more than 700 transcripts which are differentially expressed between the *Hs1^{pro-1}* transgenic and the control Arabidopsis plants. Thus, the relatively small number of resistance-specific nematode-induced TDFs out of our cDNA-ALFP experiment reflects the limit of the cDNA-AFLP technique for detection of such time- and tissue-specific expression of genes involved in resistance response. In addition, the majority of genes involved in the resistance pathways may be expressed at very low levels and this expression is locally regulated in feeding cells. Consequently, a number of such genes and especially of syncytium-specific transcripts might have been beyond the detection level of the cDNA-AFLP technique performed in this study and therefore overlooked (Samuelian et al. 2004).

The gene *BvGLP-1* deserved our further attention because of following reasons: (1) *BvGLP-1* is an oxalate oxidase-like germin homolog. The role of germin or GLPs in plant defense has been functionally assessed recently. Transient expression of a pathogen-induced germin in epidermal wheat and barley cells reduced the penetration efficiency of *Blumeria graminis* on transformed cells therefore being more resistant (Schweizer et al. 1999a; Christensen et al. 2004). Soybean, tobacco, sunflower and rapeseed plants transformed with a wheat germin showed enhanced resistance to *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* (Zaghmout et al. 1997; Donaldson et al. 2001; Hu et al. 2003; Dong et al. 2008) whereas poplar expressing the same gene was more resistant to *Sclerotinia musiva* (Liang et al. 2001). Plant defense related proteins were also induced when a barley germin was introduced into sunflower (Hu et al. 2003) and

furthermore, expression of a wheat germin gene in corn increased the resistance against insect predation (Ramputh et al. 2002); (2) as revealed by transcript profiling experiments, the gene BvGLP-1 coding for a germin-like oxalate oxidase is transcribed in both resistant and susceptible plants at a relatively low level even without nematode attack. But, its expression is highly upregulated upon nematode infection in the resistant plants, suggesting its active role in nematode resistance response. A constitutive expression of the gene at a low level in both resistant and susceptible plants may generally imply its contribution to the plant basal resistance.

The potential of the gene in activation of nematode resistance was investigated by functional analysis in transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants. Both sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants have been widely used as reliable test systems for studying host-parasite interaction, and especially for investigation of a certain gene upon nematode attack (Urwin et al. 1995, 1997; Cai et al. 1997; Kifle et al. 1999, Cai et al. 2003, Samuelian et al. 2004). Even though a high variability in the number of developed females among the transgenic hairy roots as well as Arabidopsis plants was observed, the majority of transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants showed a significant anti-nematode effect: The number of developed female nematodes was significantly reduced and the regular development of nematodes into females was inhibited when compared to the controls. The same resistance mechanism has been described in resistant sugar beet plants (Cai et al. 1997). Moreover, a feeding cell-specific expression of the gene driven by the Hs1^{pro-1} promoter was sufficient to activate nematode resistance in both sugar beet roots and Arabidopsis plants, providing an indubitable role of the gene in activation of nematode resistance.

5.2 *BvGLP-1* is a functional oxalate oxidase

Sequence analysis of *BvGLP-1* based on the database provides the first indication that *BvGLP-1* may represent a member of a germin-like OxO. Amino acid alignment analysis revealed high homology to various plant GLPs with OxO activitiy, in which all crucial residues and subdomains (Woo et al. 2000) characteristic of a GLP-like OxO were conserved, implying its enzymatic nature. Germin and GLPs belong to a subgroup of plant cupin proteins, in which several members contain enzymes with OxO activities which catalyze the degradation of OA to produce carbon dioxide and hydrogen peroxide (Chiriboga 1966; Lane et al. 1993). Inoculation of wheat leaves with *Blumeria graminis* f.sp. *tritici* induced the germin gene expression (Schweizer et al. 1999), accompanied by an increase of the OxO

activity. Similarly, the OxO activity was observed to be corresponding to an accumulation of germin isoforms in powdery mildew infected barley leaves (Dumas et al. 1995). Thus, a role of germin and GLPs in plant defense response has been proposed mainly based on the capacity of the oxalate oxidase to produce H_2O_2 , a reactive oxygen species. The Arabidopsis genome contains at least twelve GLP genes (Carter and Thornburg 1999; Carter et al. 1998), similar to barley (Druka et al. 2002; Wu et al. 2000) and rice (Membré and Bernier 1998). The role of the enzymes encoded by GLPs in dicots is still being debated. It is therefore of great interest to find out the functional relationship and divergence between/among various subgroups. In the wilting experiment, transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing the gene were able to survive in a culture solution with a relatively higher concentration of OA than the control plants. This can be explained by a higher OxO activity due to the overexpression of the gene in plant cells, which let to detoxification by degradation of OA into CO₂ and H₂O₂ (Thompson et al. 1995). In consistence, strong DAB staining signals were observed either in whole transgenic roots when the 35S promoter was applied or majorly restricted in feeding cells when the gene expression was driven by the Hs1^{pro-1}-promoter. This is in consistence with the observation reported previously that the Hs1^{pro-1}-promoter activates a nematode-induced and syncytium-specific gene expression as demonstrated with GUS reporter gene (Thurau et al. 2004). The H_2O_2 production can occur in cells which are mechanically destroyed by the nematodes or cells incorporated into or directly adjacent to the syncytium. It is unlikely that the detected H_2O_2 staining signal is a consequence of mechanical damage, because no or very weak signals were visible in the control cells although they were also penetrated by nematodes. When BvGLP-1 was overexpressed e.g. in case with the 35S promoter a lower regeneration rate as well as stagnation of the growth of both transgenic beet roots and Arabidopsis plants were observed, which obviously suffered from an excessive hydrogen peroxide stress produced by BvGLP-1.

5.3 *BvGLP-1* represents a key regulator of the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode resistance

Arabidopsis is susceptible to *H. schachtii* and no natural resistance has been identified, so far. A homologous sequence of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (At2g4000) is present in the Aarbidopsis genome with more than 45% amino acid identity, but the sequence was not able to trigger resistance even when the sequence was overexpressed in Arabidopsis plants (data not shown). In contrast, the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ seems to be able to activate a similar resistance mechanism in Arabidopsis plants as that observed in sugar beet. Transgenic plants expressing $Hs1^{pro-1}$ showed a significant reduction in the number of developed females. A small fraction of females developed into cysts, but they were not filled with eggs. Evidently, strong necroses occurred around the nematode penetration sites on the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ transgenic roots as revealed by microscopic observation. Thus, it is reasonable to conclude that $Hs1^{pro-1}$ initiates HR in or around nematode feeding cells, which restricts expansion of syncytium finally leading to its stagnation (Waetzig et al. 1997, Holtmann 2000). The resistance phenotype of *A. thaliana* expressing $Hs1^{pro-1}$ was stably inherited and transmitted to several generations (data not shown). Similarly, McLean et al. reported (2007) an enhanced resistance of soybean against SCN after transfer of a 5'-extended $Hs1^{pro-1}$ sequence into soybean, but also with a high variability in the cyst number of each plant. A relatively high variability in the number of females in transgenic Arabidopsis and soybean plants may reflect the "epistatic" effects caused by different genetic backgrounds. It is worth noting that so far no complete resistance could be observed either in transgenic sugar beet plants or in Arabidopsis and soybean, therefore a second house-specific "switch gene" was proposed to be crucial for a stable resistance expression (Schulte et al. 2006).

Our working hypothesis on the resistance observed in the *Hs1*^{pro-1} transgenic Arabidopsis involves a resistance mechanism conserved between sugar beet and Arabidopsis including e.g. signaling components and the signal transduction. Following this, we generated transcript profiles for the *Hs1^{pro-1}* transgenic plants using the Arabidopsis ATH1 GeneChip. Our results demonstrated that a set of genes were regulated by Hs1^{pro-1}, including 217 transcripts up- and 492 transcripts downregulated. About 65% are genes with defined functions (data in preparation). Strikingly, three GLPs, (GLP3, 6, and 9) were identified in the most upregulated first ten genes. Although the biological function of these genes remains largely unknown, their expression was reported to be related to stress or defense response (Carter et al. 1998). There are several lines of evidence suggesting that GLP3 may represent a homolog sequence of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis: (1) GLP3 shares the highest homology to BvGLP-1 of 42% at the amino acid level; (2) it gave the highest transcript change fold by transcript profiling analysis with the Hsl^{pro-1} transgenic Arabidopsis; (3) the sequence indicates a potential function as an oxalate oxidase and (4) glp3-ko Arabidopsis Col-0 plants showed a significantly enhanced susceptibility to nematode infection as compared to wild type. Therefore, we conclude that Hs1^{pro-1} activates the expression of BvGLP-1 and GLP3 in both sugar beet and Arabidopsis, respectively, which consequently lead to resistance response.

5.4 A possible action mode of *BvGLP-1*

The resistance enhancing effect could partially be uncoupled from its OxO activity. It may play a structural role in attached roots by e.g. serving as cross-linking substrate for cell wall reinforcement. Germin and GLPs were demonstrated to accumulate in epidermal cells after pathogen attack (Schweizer et al. 1999; Wei et al. 1998). Due to its OxO activity, BvGLP-1 can be considered to involve nematode resistance response at different levels: First, activation of BvGLP-1 may lead to degradation of OA in attached cells, a causal agent produced by many fungal pathogens (Hollowell et al. 2001; Zou et al. 2007). OA aids the pathogen in infection through a number of proposed routes, like reducing the pH in its environment, increasing polygalacturonase activity and sequestering calcium ions from calcium pectate (Punja et al. 1985; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Zou et al. 2007). OA suppresses the oxidative burst (Cessna et al. 2000) and serves as an elicitor signaling a PCD that is required for pathogenicity as well as for disease development of S. sclerotiorum, a necrotrophic ascomycete fungus; second, through the generation of H₂O₂, BvGLP-1 may catalyse crosslinking of plant cell wall proteins at the infection site and lignification for the reinforcement of the cell wall (Olson and Varner 1993; Thordal-Christensen et al. 1997; Wei et al. 1998), and third, activation of BvGLP-1 leads to the oxidative burst. The H₂O₂ produced can act as a signaling molecule by inducing a HR that finally leads to resistance response (Levine et al. 1994: Zhou et al. 1998).

The rapid generation of ROS, the oxidative burst, is the first plant reaction in response to an attack by avirulent or virulent pathogens. In incompatible interactions between avirulent pathogens and resistant plants this non-specific weak and transient ROS production is followed by a second burst with massive and prolonged ROS accumulation finally inducing the HR (Bestwick et al. 1997; Melillo et al. 2006). A possible involvement of H_2O_2 was demonstrated by Waetzig et al. (1999). They proposed that both plasma membrane-bound and extracellular enzymes may take part in the generation of H_2O_2 which is directly connected to the defense response of *A. thaliana* against *H. glycines*.

To test whether Arabidopsis plants overexpressing *BvGLP-1* induce a specific pathway leading to activation of defense genes, we analyzed the expression of genes, *NPR1* and *EDS1* as well as *SGT1*, and a set of PR and PDF genes, representative for different signaling pathways (Thomma et al. 1998; Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003). When *BvGLP-1* was overexpressed in Arabidopsis, none of *NPR1* and *EDS1* as well as *SGT1* was found to be regulated in transgenic plants. Therefore, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* does not participate in

the early signaling events in activation of the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated resistance. In contrast, transgenic plants expressing the gene exhibited enhanced transcripts for *PR-1*, *PR-2*, *PR-3*, *PR-4* and for *PDF1.2* as well. Hence, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* expression in Arabidopsis leads to the activation of both the SA dependent as well as the pathogen-induced ET/JAdependent pathways, upregulating genes encoding proteins with known antimicrobial properties (e.g. *PR-2*, *PR-3*, *PR-4* and *PDF1.2*). These data strongly suggest that *BvGLP-1* may involve the second oxidative burst in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated incompatible interaction, thus representing a major "switch" signaling component of defense mechanisms by directly regulating the expression of defense-related genes. In support of this, we found recently that overexpression of *BvGLP-1* in Arabidopsis leads to a broad resistance against the phytopathogenic fungi *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Verticillium longisporum* (Knecht et al. submitted).

6 Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (grants No. CA 220/2-3, SFB617- A19) and the EU (FAIR6-CT08-4235).

7 References

- Apel, K. and Hirt, H. 2004. Reactive oxygen species: Metabolism, Oxidative Stress, and Signal Transduction. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55:373-99
- Aravind, L., Dixit, V.M., Koonin, E.V. 1999. The domains of death: Evolution of the apoptosis machinery. Trends Biochem Sci 24:47-53
- Bachem, C.W.B., van der Hoeven, R.S., de Bruijn, S.M., Vreugdenhil, D., Zabeau, M. and Visser, R.G.F. 1996. Visualization of differential gene expression using a novel method of RNA fingerprinting bbased on AFLP: analysis of gene expression during potato tuber development. Plant J. 9: 745–753.
- Bestwick, C.S., Brown, I.R., Bennett, M.H.R., and Mansfield, J.W. (1997) Localization of Hydrogen Peroxide Accumulation during the Hypersensitive Reaction of Lettuce Cells to Pseudomonas syringae pv phaseolicola The Plant Cell 9:209-221.
- Cai, D., Kleine, M., Kifle, S., Harloff, HJ., Sandal, NN., Marcker, KA., Klein-Lankhorst, RM., Salentijn, EMJ., Lange, W., Stiekema, WJ., Wyss, U., Grundler, FMW. and Jung C. 1997. Positional Cloning of a Gene for Nematode Resistance in Sugar Beet. Science 275:832-834
- Cai, D. 2003 Molecular analysis of nematode resistance genes from Beta species. Habilitation Christian Albrechts-Universität, Kiel.
- Carter, C., Graham, R.A., and Thornburg, R.W. 1998. Arabidopsis thaliana contains a large family of germinlike proteins: characterization of cDNA and genomic sequences encoding 12 unique family members. Plant Mol. Biol. 38:929–943.
- Carter, C., and Thornburg, R.W. 1999. Germin-like proteins: structure, phylogeny and function. J. Plant Biol. 42:97-108.
- Carter, C. and Thornburg, RW. 2000. Tobacco Nectarin I purification and characterization as a germin-like, manganese superoxide dismutase implicated in the defense of floral reproductive tissues. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 275: 36726-36733
- Cessna, S.G., Sears, V.E., Dickman, M.B., and Low, P.S. 2000. Oxalic acid, a pathogenicity factor for *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* suppresses the oxidative burst of the host plant. The Plant Cell 12:2191-2199.
- Chandok, M.R., Ytterberg, A.J., van Wijk, K.J. and Klessig, D.F. 2003. The pathogeninducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in plants is a variant of the P protein of the glycine decarboxylase complex. Cell 113:469 482
- Christensen, A.B., Thordal-Christensen, H., Zimmermann, G., Gjetting, T., Lyngkjær, M.F., Dudler, R., and Schweizer, P. 2004. The germin-like protein GLP4 exhibits superoxide dismutase activity and is an important component of quantitative resistance in wheat and barley. MPMI 17:109-117.
- Chiriboga, J. 1966. Purification and properties of oxalic acid oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 116:516-523.
- Davis, E.L., Hussey, R.S., Baum, T.J. 2004. Getting to the roots of parasitism by nematodes. Trends in Parasitology 20:134–141
- DeYoung, B.J., Bickle, K.L., Schrage, K.J., Muskett, P., Patel, K. and Clark, S.E. 2006. The CLAVATA1 related BAM1, BAM2 and BAM3 receptor kinase-like proteins are required for meristem function in Arabidopsis. Plant J 45:1–16
- Donaldson, P.A., Anderson, T., Lane, B.G., Davidson, A.L., and Simmonds, D.H. 2001. Soybean plants expressing an active oligomeric oxalate oxidase from the wheat gf-2.8 (germin) gene are resistant to the oxalate-secreting pathogen *Sclerotina sclerotiorum*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 59:297-307.
- Dong, X., Ji, R., Guo, X., Foster, S.J., Chen, H., Dong, C., Liu, Y., Hu, Q., and Liu, S. 2008. Expressing a gene encoding wheat oxalate oxidase enhances resistance to *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) Planta 228:331–340.
- Druka, A., Kudrna, D., Kannangara, C.G., von Wettstein, D., and Kleinhofs, A. 2002. Physical and genetic mapping of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) germin-like cDNAs. PNAS USA 99:850–855.
- Dumas, B., Sailland, A., Cheviet, J.P., Freyssinet, G., and Pallett, K. 1993. Identification of barley oxalate oxidase as a germin-like protein. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. III Sci. Vie 316:793-798.
- Dumas, B., Freyssinet, G., and Pallett, KE. 1995. Tissue-specific expression of germin-like oxalate oxidase during development and fungal infection of barley seedlings. Plant Physiol. 107: 1091-1096
- Ernst, K., Kumar, A., Kriseleit, D., Kloos, D.U, Phillips, M.S., Ganal, M.W. 2002. The broad- spectrum potato cyst nematode resistance gene (Hero) from tomato is the only member of a large gene family of NBS LRR genes with an unusual amino acid repeat in the LRR region. Plant Journal 31:127–136.
- Feys, B.J., Moisan, L.J., Newman, M., and Parker, J.E. 2001. Direct interaction between the Arabidopsis disease resistance signaling proteins, EDS1 and PAD4. The EMBO Journal 20: 5400-5411
- Gao, B., Allen, R., Maier, T., Davis, E.L., Baum, T.J. and Hussey, R.S. 2001. Identification of Putative Parasitism Genes Expressed in the Esophageal Gland Cells of the SoybeanCyst Nematode Heterodera glycines. MPMI 14:1247-1254.

- Hammond-Kosack, K.E. and Parker, J.E. 2003. Deciphering plant-pathogen communication: Fresh perspectives for molecular resistance breeding. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14:177193.
- Hollowell, J.E., Smith, M.R., Shew, B.B. 2001. Oxalic acid production by nine isolates of Sclerotinia minor. Proc Am Peanut Res Ed Soc 33: 24
- Holtmann, B., Kleine, M., Grundler, F.M.W. 2000. Ultrastructure and anatomy of nematode- induced syncytia in roots of susceptible and resistant sugar beet. Protoplasma 211:39-50.
- Huffaker, A. and Ryan, C.A. 2007. Endogenous peptide defense signals in Arabidopsis differentially amplify signaling for the innate immune response. PNAS USA 104: 10732-10736.
- Hurkman, W.J. and Tanaka, C.K. (1996) .Germin Gene Expression 1s Induced in Wheat Leaves by Powdery Mildew Infection Plant Physiol. 11:735-739
- Hu, X., Bidney, D.L., Yalpani, N., Duvick, J.P., Crasta, O., Folkerts, O., and Lu, G. 2003. Overexpression of a gene encoding hydrogen peroxide-generating oxalate oxidase evokes defense responses in sunflower. Plant Physiol. 133:170-181.
- Ithal, N., Recknor, J., Nettleton, D., Hearne, L., Maier, T., Baum, T.J. and Mitchum, M.G., 2007. Parallel Genome-Wide Expression Profiling of Host and Pathogen During Soybean Cyst Nematode Infection of Soybean MPMI 20: 293–305
- Jammes, F., Lecomte, P., de Almeida Engler, J., Bitton, F., Martin-Magninette, M.L., Renou, J.P., Favery, B., Abad, P. 2005. Genome-wide expression profiling of the host response to root-knot nematode infection in Arabidopsis. Plant Journal 44:447–458.
- Journot-Catalino, N., Somssich, I.E., Roby, D., and Kroj, T. (2006) The Transcription Factors WRKY11 and WRKY17 Act as Negative Regulators of Basal Resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell 1-14
- Jung, C., Koch, R., Fischer, F., Brandes, A., Wricke, G., Hermann, RG. 1992. DNA markers closely linked to nematode resistance genes in sugar beet (Beta vulgaris, L.) mapped using chromosome additions and translocations originating from wild beets of the Procumbentes section. Molecular and General Genetics 232: 271-278
- Kifle, S., Shao, M., Jung, C., Cai, D. 1999. An improved transformation protocol for studying gene expression in "hairy roots" of sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.). Plant Cell Reports 18: 514-519
- Klessig, D.F.; Durner, J.; Noad, R.; Navarre, D.A.; Wendehenne, D.; Kumar, D.; Zhou, J.M.; Shah, J.; Zhang, S.; Kachroo, P.; Trifa, Y.; Pontier, D.; Lam, E.; Silva, H. 2000. Nitric oxide and salicylic acid signaling in plant defense. PNAS USA 97:8849-55.
- Klink, V.P., Overall, C.C., and Matthews, B.F. 2007. Developing a Systems Biology Approach to Study Disease Progression Caused by Heterodera glycines in Glycine max. Gene Regulation and Systems Biology. 2:17– 33
- Knecht, K., Seyffarth, M., Desel, C., Thurau, T., Sherameti, I., Lou, B., Oelmüller, R., Cai, D. 2009. Overexpression of BvGLP-1 encoding a germin-like protein from sugar beet in Arabidopsis leads to resistance against phytopathogenic fungi (Rhizoctonia solani and Verticillium longisporum), but does not affect the beneficial interaction with the growth-promoting endophyte Piriformsopra indica, submitted at MPMI.
- Koncz, C., and Schell. J. 1986. The promoter of TL-DNA gene 5 controls the tissue-specifc expression of chimaeric genes carried by a novel type of Agrobacterium binary vector. Mol. Gen. Genet 204:383-396.
- Lamb, C. and Dixon, RA. 1997. The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.48: 251-57
- Lane, B.G., Dunwell, J.M., Ray, J.A., Schmitt, M.R., and Cuming, A.C. 1993. Germin, a protein marker of early plant development, is an oxalate oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 268:12239-12242.
- Lane, B.G. 1994. Oxalate, germin, and the extracellular matrix of higher plants. FASEB J. 5:294-301.
- Lane, BG. 2000. Oxalate oxidases and differentiating surface structure in wheat: germins. Biochem J 349: 309-321
- Levine. A., Tenhaken, R., Dixon, R., and Lamb, C. 1994. H₂O₂ from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. Cell 79:583-593.
- Li, P., Nijhawan, D., Budihardjo, I., Srinivasula, S.M., Ahmad, M., Alnemri, E.S., Wang, X. 1997. Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of Apaf-1/caspase-9 complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell 91:479-489
- Li, J., Brader, G., and Palva, E. T. 2004. The WRKY70 Transcription Factor: A Node of Convergence for Jasmonate-Mediated and Salicylate-Mediated Signals in Plant Defense The Plant Cell 16:319–331
- Liang, H., Maynard, C.A., Allen, R.D., and Powell, W.A. 2001. Increased *Septoria musiva* resistance in transgenic hybrid poplar leaves expressing a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Mol. Biol. 45:619-629.
- Livingstone, DM., Hampton, Jl., Phipps, PM., and Grabau, EA. 2005. Enhancing resistance to Sclerotinia minor in peanut by expressing a barley oxalate oxidase gene Plant Physiology 137: 1354-1362
- McLean, M.D.; Hoover, G.J.; Bancroft, B.; Makhmoudova, A.; Clark, S.M.; Welacky, T.; Simmonds, D.H.; Shelp, B.J. 2007. Identification of the full-length Hs1pro-1 coding sequence and preliminary evaluation of

soybean cyst nematode resistance in soybean transformed with Hs1pro-1 cDNA. Canadian Journal of Botany 85:437-441.

Mehdy, MC. 1994 Active oxygen species in plant defense against pathogens. Plant Physiol 105: 467-472

- Meksem, K., Schlueter, T., Shultz, J., Jyothi, L.N., Jamai, A., Lightfoot, D.A., Henrich, J., Kranz, H., Arenz, M., Ishihara, H., Zhang, H-B., and Tebbji, F. 2005. A bacterial artificial chromosome based physical map of the Ustilago maydis genome. Genome 48:207-216
- Melillo, MT., Leonetti, P., Bongiovanni, M., Castagnone-Sereno, P. and Bleve-Zacheo, T. 2006. Modulation of reactive oxygen species activities and H2O2 accumulation during compatible and incompatible tomato– root-knot nematode interactions. New Phytologist 170: 501-512
- Membre, N., Berna, A., Neutelings, G., David, A., David, H., Staiger, D., Vasquez, J.S., Rayna, M., Delseny, M., and Bernier, F. 1997. cDNA sequence, genomic organization and differential expression of three Arabidopsis genes for germin/oxalate oxidase-like proteins. Plant Mol. Biol. 35:459-469.
- Membre N., Bernier, F., Staiger, D. and Berna, A. 2000. Arabidopsis thaliana germin-like proteins: common and specific features point to a variety of functions. Planta 211: 345-354
- Meyers, B.C., Kozik, A., Griego , A., Kuang, H., Michelmore, R.W. 2003. Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRRencoding genes in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 15: 809-834
- Milligan, S.B., Bodeau, J., Yaghoobi, J., Kaloshian, I., Zabel, P., Williamson, V.M. 1998. The root knot nematode resistance gene Mi from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucinerich repeat family of plant genes. Plant Cell 10:1307-1319
- Monosi, B., Wisser, R.J., Pennill, L., Hulbert, S.H. 2004. Full-genome analysis of resistance gene homologues in rice Theor Appl Genet 109:1434–1447
- Müller, J. 1998. New pathotypes of the beet cyst nematode (Heterodera schachtii Schm.)differentiated on alien genes for resistance in beet (Beta vulgaris). Fundam. Appl.Nematol. 21:519-526.
- Murashige, T., and Skoog, F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol. Plant 15:473-497.
- Oberschmidt, O., Grundler, F.M.W., Kleine, M. 2003. Identification of a putative cation transporter gene from sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.) by DDRT-PCR closely linked to the beet cyst nematode resistance gene Hs1pro-1. Plant Science 165.777-784.
- Olson, P.D., and Varner, J.E. 1993. Hydrogen peroxide and lignifications. The Plant J. 4:887-892.
- Paal, J.,Henselewski, H., Muth, J., Meksem, K., Menendez, C.M., Salamini, F., Ballvora, A., Gebhardt, C. 2004. Molecular cloning of the potato Gro1-4 gene conferring resistance to pathotype Ro1 of the root nematode Globodera rostochiensis, based on a candidate gene approach. Plant J. 38:285–297
- Pfaffl, M.W., 2001. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT- PCR Nucleic Acids Research 29 No. 9 00
- Pieterse, C.M.J., van Wees, S.C.M., Hoffland, E., van Pelt, J.A., and van Loon, L.C. 1996. Systemic resistance in Arabidopsis induced by biocontrol Bacteria is independent of salicylic acid accumulation and pathogenesis-related gene expression Plant Cell 8:1225-1237
- Pieterse, C.M.J., Ton, J., and Van Loon, L.C. 2001. Cross-talk between plant defense signaling pathways: boost or burden? AgBiotechNet. 3:ABN 068.
- Puthoff, D.A., Nettleton, D., Rodermel, S.R., Baum, T.J. (2003) Arabidopsis gene expression changes during cyst nematode parasitism revealed by statistical analyses of microarray expression profiles. The Plant Journal 33, 911–921
- Punja, Z.K. 1985. Biology, ecology and control of Sclerotium rolfsii. Ann Rev Phytopathol., 23: 97-127.
- Quint, M., Dusle, CM., Melchinger, AE., Lübberstedt, T. 2003. Identification of genetically linked RGAs by BAC screening in maize and implications for gene cloning, mapping and MAS. Theor Appl Genet 106:1171-1177
- Ramputh, A.I., Arnason, J.T., Cass, L., and Simmonds, J.A. 2002. Reduced herbivory of the European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) on corn transformed with germin, a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Science 162:431-440.
- Rogers, S.O., and Bendich, A.J. 1985. Extraction of DNA from milligram amounts of fresh, herbarium and mummified plant tissue. Plant Mol. Biol. 5:69-76.
- Ruben, E.A., Jamai, J., Afzal, V.N., Njiti, K., Triwitayakorn, M.J., Iqbal, S., Yaegashi, R., Bashir, S.,Kazi, P., Arelli, C.D., Town, H., Ishihara, K., Meksem, D.A., Lightfoot, D. 2006. Genomicanalysis of the rhg1 locus: candidate genes that underlie soybean resistance to the cystnematode Mol Gen Genomics 276:503– 516
- Ryals, J.A., Neuenschwander, U.H., Willits, M.G., Molina, A., Steiner, H.-Y., and Hunt, M.D. 1996.Systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 8:1809-1819
- Samuelian, S., Kleine, M., Ruyter-Spira, C.P., Klein-Lankhorst, R.M. and Jung, C. 2004. Cloningand functional analyses of a gene from sugar beet up-regulated upon cyst nematodeinfection Plant Molecular Biology 0: 1–10.

Saraste, M., Sibbald, PR., Wittinghofer, A. 1990. The P-loop- a common motif in ATP- and GTP-bindig proteins. Tr. Biochem. Sci. 15:430-434.

- Schulte, D., Cai, D., Kleine, M., Fan, L., Wang, S., Jung, C. 2006 A complete physical map of awild beet (Beta procumbens) translocation in sugar beet. Mol Gen Genomics 275:504511.
- Schweizer, P., Christoffel, A., and Dudler, R. 1999. Transient expression of members of the germin-like gene family in epidermal cells of wheat confers disease resistance. Plant J. 20:541-552.
- Sijmons, PC., Grundler, FMW., von Mende, N., Burrows, PR., Wyss, U. 1991 Arabidopsis thaliana as a new model host for plant-parasitic nematodes. Plant Journal 1: 245-254
- Sijmons, PC. 1993. Plant-nematode interactions. Plant Mol Biol 23:917-931
- Stone, H.E., and Armentrout, V.N. 1985. Production of oxalic acid by *Sclerotium cepivorum* during infection of onion. Mycologia 77:526-530.
- Stuiver, M.H. and Jerome, H.H.V. 2001. Custers Engineering disease resistance in plants Nature 411
- Tenhaken, R., Levine, A., Brisson, LF., Dixon, RA., Lamb, C. 1995. Function of the oxidative burst in hypersensitive disease resistance. PNAS USA 92: 4158-4163
- Thomma, B., Eggermont, K., Penninck, I., Mauch-Mani, B., Vogelsang, R., Cammue, B.P.A., and Broekaert,
 W.F. 1998. Separate jasmonate dependent and salicylate-dependent effense-response pathways in
 Arabidopsis are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens. PNAS USA 95:15107–15111.
- Thomma, B.P., Nelissen, I., Eggermont, K., and Broekaert, W.F. 1999. Deficiency in phytoalexin production causes enhanced susceptibility of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to the fungus *Alternaria brassicicola*. Plant J. 19:163-171.
- Thomma, B. Bruno, P.H.J., Cammue, P.A., Thevissen, K. 2002. Plant defensins. Planta 216: 193-202
- Thompson, C., Dunwell, J.M., Johnstone, C.E., Lay, V., Schmitt, M., Watson, H., and Nisbet, G. 1995. Degradation of oxalic acid by transgenic oilseed rape plants expressing oxalate oxidase. Euphytica 85:169–172.
- Thordal-Christensen, H., Zhang, Z., Wei, Y., Collinge, D.B. 1997. Subcellular localization of H₂O₂ in plants. H₂O₂ accumulation in paqpillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction. Plant J. 11:1187-1194.
- Thurau, T., Kifle, S., Jung, C., Cai, D., 2003. The promoter of the nematode resistance gene Hs1pro-1 activates a nematode-responsive and feeding site-specific gene expression in sugar beet (Beta vulgaris L.) and Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Molecular Biology 52: 643-660
- Tör, M., Gordon, P., Cuzick, A., Eulgem, T., Sinapidou, E., Mert-Türk, F., Can, C., Dangl, J.L., and Holub, E.B. 2002. Arabidopsis SGT1b Is Required for Defense Signaling Conferred by Several Downy Mildew Resistance Genes. The Plant Cell 14: 993-1003
- Uknes, S., Mauch-Mani, B., Moyer, M., Potter, S., Williams, S., Dincher, S., Chandler, D., Slusarenko, A., Ward, E. and Ryals, J. 1992. Acquired Resistance in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 4: 645-656
- Urwin, P.E., Atkinson, H.J., Waller, D.A., McPherson, M.J. 1995. Engineered oryzacystatin-I expressed in transgenic hairy roots confers resistance to Globodera pallida. Plant Journal 8:121–131
- Urwin, P.E., Lilley, C.J., McPherson, M.J., Atkinson ,H.J. 1997. Resistance to both cyst- and root-knot nematodes conferred by transgenic Arabidopsis expressing a modified plant cystatin. Plant Journal 12:455–461
- Vallelian, B.L., Mosinger, E., Metraux, J.P., and Schweizer, P. 1998. Structure, expression and localization of a germin-like protein in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) that is insolubilized in stressed leaves. Plant Mol. Biol. 37:297-308.
- Valvekens, D., Van Montagu, M., Van Lijsebettens, M. 1988. Agrobacterium tumefaciens- mediated transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana root explants by using kanamycin selection. Proc Natl Acad Sci 85:5536-5540
- van der Biezen, E.A., and Jones, J.D.G. 1998. Plant diseaseresistance proteins and the gene- for-gene concept. Trends Plant Sci. 23:454–456
- van der Vossen, E.A.G., van der Voort, J., Kanyuka, K., Bendahmane, A., Sandbrink, H., Baulcombe, D.C., Bakker ,J., Stiekema, W.J., Klein-Lankhorst, R.M. 2000. Homologues of a single resistance-gene cluster in potato confer resistance to distinct pathogens: a virus and a nematode. Plant Journal 23: 567-576
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., van de Lee, T., Hornes, M., Friters, A., Pot, J., Paleman, J., Kuiper, M. and Zabeau, M. 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Research 23:4407-4414.
- Waetzig, GH., Sobczak, M., Grundler, FMW. 1999. Localization of hydrogen peroxide during the defense response of Arabidopsis thaliana against the plantparasitic nematode Heterodera glycines. Nematology 1:681-86
- Wang, Z., Taramino, G., Yang, D., Tingey, S.V., Miao, G.H., Wang, G.L. 2001. Rice ESTs with disease resistance gene- or defense response gene-like sequences mapped to regions containing major resistance genes or QTLs. Molecular Genetics and Genomics 265:302-310

- Wei, Y.D., Zhang, Z.G., Andersen, C.H., Schmelzer, E., Gregersen, P.L., Collinge, D.B., Smedegaard-Petersen, V., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1998. An epidermis/papilla- specific oxalate oxidase-like protein in the defense response of barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Mol. Biol. 36:101-112.
- Williamson ,VM., Hussey, RS. 1996. Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. The Plant Cell 8: 1735-1745
- Williamson, VM., 1998. Root-knot nematode resistance genes in tomato and their potential for future use. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 36:277-93
- Williamson ,VM., Kumar, A. 2006 Nematode resistance in plants: the battle underground. Trends in Genetics 22:396–403
- Woo, E.J., Dunwell, J.M., Goodenough, P.W., Marvier, A.C., and Pickersgill, R.W. 2000. Germin is a manganese containing homohexamer with oxalate oxidase and superoxide dismutase activities. Nature Struct. Biol. 7:1036-1040.
- Wu, S., Druka, A., Horvath, H., Kleinhofs, A., Kannangara, C.G., and Wettstein, D. 2000. Functional characterization of seed coat-specific members of the barley germin gene family. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 38:685–698.
- Zaghmout, O.F., Dang, P.D., and Allen, R.D. 1997. Expression of oxalate oxidase in transgenic plants provides resistance to oxalic acid and oxalate producing fungi. Plant Physiol. Suppl. Plant Physiol. 114:227.
- Zhang, Z., Collinge, D.B., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1995. Germin-like oxalate oxidase, a H₂O₂-producing enzyme, accumulates in barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant J. 8:139-145.
- Zhou, F., Zhang, Z., Gregersen, .PL., Mikkelsen, J.D., de Neergaard, E., Collinge, D.B., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1998. Molecular characterization of the oxalate oxidase involved in the response of barley to the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Physiol. 117:33–41.
- Zou, Q.J., Liu, S.Y., Dong, X.Y., Bi, Y.H., Cao, Y.C., Xu, Q., Zhao, Y.D., and Chen, H. 2007. In vivo measurements of changes in pH triggered by oxalic acid in leaf tissue of transgenic oilseed rape. Phytochem. Anal. 18:341-346.

Chapter III

Overexpression of *BvGLP-1* encoding a germin-like protein from sugar beet in Arabidopsis leads to resistance against phytopathogenic fungi (*Rhizoctonia solani* and *Verticillium longisporum*), but does not affect the beneficial interaction with the growth-promoting endophyte *Piriformospora indica*

(Submitted to MPMI)

Katrin Knecht¹, Monique Seyffarth², Christine Desel³, Tim Thurau¹, Irena Sherameti², Binggan Lou⁴, Ralf Oelmüller² and Daguang Cai¹

 Department of Molecular Phytopathology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Hermann Rodewald Str. 9, 24118 Kiel, Germany
 Institute of Plant Physiology, Friedrich-Schiller-University Jena, Dornburger Str. 159, 07743 Jena, Germany
 Institute of Botany, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Olshausenstr. 40, 24118 Kiel, Germany
 Institute of Phytopathology, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310029, China

Key words: Oxalate oxidase-like germin, ROS, *Rhizoctonia solani, Verticillium longisporum, Piriformospora indica,* disease resistance.

1 Abstract

BvGLP-1 from sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*) regulates the HsI^{pro-1} -mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii*) resistance. Because BvGLP-1 functions as an active oxalate oxidase producing hydrogen peroxide in plant cells, we assume that the gene can also be involved in plant resistance against fungal phytopathogens. We transferred BvGLP-1 into Arabidopsis and challenged the transgenic plants with the pathogenic fungi, *Verticillium longisporum* and *Rhizoctonia solani*, as well as with the beneficial endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica*. Expression of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis results in significant resistance to the two pathogens, but does not affect the beneficial interaction induced by *P. indica*. However, in older plants on soil, the antifungal activity of BvGLP-1 restricts growth of *P. indica* and thus abates the benefits for the plants to some extent, without causing any harm. Molecular analysis demonstrated that expression of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis activates the expression of the pathogenesis-related proteins PR-1 to PR-4 and PDF1.2, but not of PDF2.3. In contrast, the PDF2.1 mRNA level was down-regulated. These data suggest a central role of BvGLP-1 in regulating plant defence responses following a specific signaling route that diverges from that induced by the beneficial fungus *P. indica*.

2 Introduction

Plant genomes encode a subgroup of cupins called germin and germin-like proteins (GLPs), water soluble, protease resistant, heat stable and SDS-tolerant glycoproteins (Lane 1994, Woo et al. 2000), which assemble into homohexameric complexes *in vivo* (Zhang et al. 1995; Vallelian et al. 1998; Christensen et al. 2004). Several members of the germin family contain enzymes with oxalate oxidase (OxO) activities which catalyze the degradation of oxalic acid (OA) to produce carbon dioxide and hydrogen peroxide (Chiriboga 1966; Lane et al. 1993). OxO have been proposed to play an important role in several aspects of plant development or stress tolerance, and especially received considerable attention for their possible contribution to plant defense against pathogens. Through the generation of H_2O_2 , OxO or OxO-like proteins may catalyse cross-linking of plant cell wall proteins in papillae at the infection site and lignifications for the reinforcement of the cell wall (Olson and Varner 1993; Thordal-Christensen et al. 1997; Wei et al. 1998). On the other hand, OxO may act as a signaling molecule by inducing a hypersensitive response (HR) in a direct or indirect manner (Lane 1994; Zhou et al. 1998) which is known to be orchestrated by H_2O_2 production during oxidative burst (Levine et al. 1994).

A wide variety of fungal pathogens produce OA in the plant cells following infection (Bateman and Beer 1965; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Bennett and Hindal 1989; Ritschkoff et al. 1995; Liang et al. 2001; Hollowell et al. 2001; Zou et al. 2007). OA aids the pathogen in infection through a number of proposed routes, like reducing the pH in its environment, increasing polygalacturonase activity and sequestering calcium ions from calcium pectate (Punja et al. 1985; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Zou et al. 2007). Also OA suppresses the oxidative burst (Cessna et al. 2000) and disturbes the guard cell function (Guimaraes and Stotz 2004). Kim et al. (2008) demonstrate that OA acts as an elicitor and a signaling molecule for inducing a programmed cell death (PCD) that is required for pathogenicity as well as for disease development of *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*, a necrotrophic ascomycete fungus. Activation of OxO leads to the degradation of OA and this may represent an important aspect of plant resistance mechanism against fungal pathogens.

Transgenic technology has been used for demonstration of the function of OxO in enhancing plant resistance to various pathogens. Transgenic oilseed rape expressing a barley OxO gene can degrade exogenously applied OA (Thompson et al. 1995). Soybean, tobacco, sunflower and rapeseed plants transformed with a wheat OxO gene showed enhanced resistance to *S. sclerotiorum*, by OA detoxification (Zaghmout et al. 1997; Donaldson et al. 2001; Hu et al.

2003; Dong et al. 2008) whereas poplar expressing the same gene was more resistant to *S. musiva* (Liang et al. 2001). In sunflower overexpression of a barley OxO gene induced plant defense related proteins (Hu et al. 2003) suggesting an active role of OxO in plant defense reactions. Similarly, epidermal wheat and barley cells transiently overexpressing GLP genes are more resistant against powdery mildew *Blumeria graminis* (Schweizer et al. 1999; Christensen et al. 2004), and furthermore, expression of a wheat OxO gene in corn increased the resistance against insect predation (Ramputh et al. 2002).

Recently, we cloned the gene BvGLP-1 from the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ nematode (*Heterodera schachtii*) resistant sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*). BvGLP-1 is a GLP exhibiting OxO activity which plays a central role in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ -mediated nematode (*H. schachtii*) resistance in sugar beet (Knecht et al., in preparation). Because the BvGLP-1 is an active OxO producing H_20_2 in plant cells, we assume that the gene could also be involved in plant resistance mechanisms against fungal phytopathogens.

The *Rhizoctonia solani* complex and *Verticillium* spp. represent two economically important groups of soil-borne pathogens with a great diversity of host plants. R. solani infects primarily roots and stems (Keijer 1996; Weinhold and Sinclair 1996). Within the cortex, the rapid hyphal growth ultimately results in the collapse of the infected plants whereas Verticillium spp. invades the vascular system of the host plants through the root and systemically spreads by conidia during the vegetation period (Zeise and Tiedemann 2002). Both R. solani and Verticillium spp. infect Arabidopsis. The endophytic fungus Piriformospora indica colonizes roots of many plant species including Arabidopsis resulting in an increase in the biomass of roots and shoots (Sahay and Varma 1999; Varma et al. 1999; Rai et al. 2001; Peskan-Berghöfer et al. 2004). The beneficial fungus promotes nutrient uptake, allows plants to survive under water and salt stress, confers resistance to toxins, heavy metal ions and pathogenic organisms as well as stimulates seed production (Oelmüller et al. 2004, 2005; Peskan-Berghöfer et al. 2004; Pham et al. 2004; Sahay and Varma 1999; Shahollari et al. 2005, 2007; Varma et al. 1999, 2001; Verma et al. 1998; Waller et al. 2005). In response to microbes, two distinct types of resistance are induced systemically throughout the plant: systemic acquired resistance (SAR, Ross 1961b) and induced systemic resistance (ISR, Kloepper et al. 1992). While SAR is induced by an infection with a necrotizing pathogen, ISR follows the colonization of the rhizosphere with selected non-pathogenic plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR, Pieterse et al. 1996). PGPR are present in large numbers on the root surface and protect plants from pathogen infection through induction of systemic resistance, but without provoking any symptoms themselves. Specific recognition

between protective ISR-inducing rhizobacteria and the plant activates the signaling cascade leading to ISR. The downstream signaling events in the rhizobacteria-mediated ISR pathway differ from those in the pathogen-induced SAR pathway. ISR is mainly regulated by the jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) signaling routes (Van Baarlen et al. 2007; Glazebrook 2005). JA induces the expression of genes encoding defense related proteins, such as thionins (Epple et al. 1995) and proteinase inhibitors (Farmer et al. 1992), whereas ethylene activates several members of the *PR* gene superfamily (Potter et al. 1993). Both regulators are involved in the activation of genes encoding plant defensins (Penninckx et al. 1996) and enzymes for phytoalexin biosynthesis (Gundlach et al. 1992). SAR is characterized by an early increase in salicylic acid (SA; Malamy et al. 1990) and the concomitant activation of *PR-1* gene expression (Ward et al. 1991) whereas plants expressing ISR did not, confirming that ISR and SAR are controlled by distinct signaling pathways that diverge in their requirement for SA. PR-1 has been extensively used as a marker for SA-mediated SAR defense, whereas the expression level of PDF1.2 and PDF2.3 is not influenced by SA (Pieterse et al. 1998, 1999).

Here we demonstrate that expression of *BvGLP-1* confers resistance to two fungal pathogens, *R. solani* and *V. longisporum*, but does not affect the beneficial interaction induced by *P. indica* in transgenic Arabidopsis even though the antifungal activity of *BvGLP-1* seems to restrict growth of *P. indica* in older plants without causing any harm. Furthermore, *BvGLP-1* activates expression of a set of defense-related proteins in Arabidopsis. These data suggest that *BvGLP-1* establishes plant resistance following a signaling route diverging from that induced by *P. indica*.

3 Material and Methods

3.1 Plant material and fungal strains

Arabidopsis thaliana C24 (Lehle Seeds, Round Rock, USA) was used for generation of transgenic plants. The *Rhizoctonia solani* strain AG2-1, kindly provided by Dr. Jianrong Guo (Institut für Phytopathologie, Kiel), was grown on potato dextrose agar for seven days at 24°C with a 12 h photoperiod according to Keijer et al. (1996). The *Verticillium longisporum* isolate 43, kindly provided by Dr. Elke Diederichsen (Institut für Biologie, Angewandte Genetik, FU Berlin, Germany), was cultured on potato dextrose agar (PDA) for 14 days in the dark and further cultivated every two to three weeks according to Eynck (2007).

3.2 Generation of transgenic A. thaliana plants

BvGLP-1 was cloned into the binary vector pAM194 (KWS Saat AG, Einbeck, Germany) under the transcriptional control of the 35S promoter resulting in the plant expression construct pAM194-BvGLP-1. The recombinant binary vector was transformed into *A*. *tumefaciens* strain GV3101 (Koncz and Schell 1986). Transgenic Arabidopsis plants were generated by using the root transformation protocol (Valvekens et al. 1988). Transgenic plants were propagated under selective condition to the T3 generation. The homozygous phenotype was selected by kanamycin resistance. The presence of the transgene was confirmed by GUS assay, transgene-specific PCR amplification and Southern hybridization.

3.3 Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Rhizoctonia on agar plates

Transgenic as well as wild type Arabidopsis seeds were sterilized with 5% $CaCl_2O_2$ for 10 min and then in 70% ethanol for further 5 min. After washing with sterile water, seeds were germinated on 0.2 x Knop medium for 5 days in a plant growth chamber (22°C, 16/8h light/dark photoperiod). Seedlings were transferred to new 0.2 x Knop agar plates for infection experiments in which the non-transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings served as a control. The seedlings were incubated with 1 cm diameter mycelium plaques from seven days old potato dextrose *R. solani* culture. The plates were incubated in the growth chamber (22°C, 16/8h light/dark photoperiod). Three, six, nine and 12 days after inoculation, the plant survival ratio was scored.

3.4 Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Rhizoctonia in soil

Sterile soil was infected by placing a 1 cm diameter disc of mycelium isolated from seven days old potato dextrose broth culture of *R. solani* at 1 cm depth in each pot 10 days before planting. Arabidopsis seeds were sterilized as described before and grown at 22°C with a 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod on agar plates containing 0.2 x Knop medium for seven days. One week old Arabidopsis seedlings were transferred to infected pots, and grown in a growth chamber at 22°C with a 16/8h light/dark photoperiod. Based on the symptoms, scored seven, 14 and 21 days after planting, plants were classified either to healthy (no or scarce disease symptoms) or diseased (severe wilting or dead plants) groups.

3.5 Infection assay of Arabidopsis plants with Verticillium in soil

Arabidopsis plants were cultivated in soil in small pots (diameter 35 mm) under short day conditions (8h/16h light/dark photoperiod) for 14 days. Infection with *V. longisporum* was conducted using 1 ml of conidia (4 x 10^7 conidia ml⁻¹) obtained from liquid CZAPEK-DOX medium. Plants were weekly scored (7, 14, 21, 28 dpi) based on the developed disease symptoms and classified into nine classes (Zeise 1992) with following modifications: 1, no symptoms; 2, slight symptoms on oldest leaf (yellowing, black veins); 3, slight symptoms on next younger leaves; 4, about 50% of leaves show symptoms; 5, >50% of leaves show symptoms; 6, up to 50% of leaves are dead; 7, >50% of leaves are dead; 8, only the apical meristem is still alive; 9, plants are dead.

3.6 Cocultivation experiments with P. indica

Arabidopsis seeds were surface sterilized and placed on petri dishes containing MS nutrient medium (Murashige and Skoog 1962). The plates were incubated for seven days at 22°C under continuous illumination (100 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹). *P. indica* was cultured as described previously (Peškan-Berghöfer et al. 2004). After inoculation with the fungus the plates were kept at room temperature in the dark for one to two weeks. Nine days old *A. thaliana* seedlings were transferred to nylon discs (mesh size 70 μ m) placed on top of a modified PNM culture medium (Peškan-Berghöfer et al. 2004). One seedling was used per Petri dish. After 24 h, fungal plugs of 5 mm in diameter were placed at a distance of 1 cm from the roots. Plates were then incubated at 22°C under continuous illumination from the side. Plants were assayed 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14 days after co-cultivation. The experiments on soil were followed the protocol described by Peškan-Berghöfer et al. (2004). Arabidopsis seedlings were

germinated on MS medium before transfer to sterile soil mixed with the fungus (0.6 %, w/w). Cultivation occurred in multi-trays with Aracon tubes in a plant growth chamber at 22°C under continuous illumination and long day conditions. For the exposure of Arabidopsis seedlings to a loan of *P. indica*, the fungus was inoculated in liquid KM media until an OD_{650} of 0.5 and 3.5 ml of this suspension was distributed on top of a petri dish containing 20 ml of the modified PNM culture medium. The plates were then incubated at 22°C under continuous illumination (80 µmol m⁻² sec⁻¹) for 72 h. During this time, the fungal hyphae started to develop a loan. Nine days old Arabidopsis seedlings were then transferred to the loan.

3.7 Determination of the degree of root colonization

Roots of two months old plants co-cultivated with *P. indica* were used for the determination of colonization. The colonized (and control) roots were removed from the soil, intensively rinsed with an excess of sterile water (50 ml each) to remove the soil and the loosely attached fungal hyphae, and were then frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA or DNA extraction. *P. indica* was monitored with a primer pair for the translation elongation factor 1 (*Pitef1*; Bütehorn et al. 2000): ACCGTCTTGGGGTTGTATCC and TCGTCGCTGTCAACAAGATG. The degree of the root colonization was determined based on the amount of DNA or RNA of the fungus relative to the *actin* DNA or RNA from the plant.

3.8 Staining assays and light microscopy observations

Lactophenol blue as well as safranin red /anillin blue staining were used to analyse hostpathogen interaction (Perl-Treves et al. 2004). To monitor fungal association with Arabidopsis roots, seedlings were removed from agar plates and washed under running tap water for 2 min to remove non-associated hyphae. The lactophenol blue staining was carried out in small petri dishes with gentle shaking, and seedlings were cleared using hot 10% (w/v) KOH for 10 min. The seedlings were subsequently stained using lactophenol blue solution for 5 min and destained with water for at least 20 min until no more blue colour came out. In addition, seedlings were immersed for 1 to 2 min in 0.25% (w/v) safranin red, then for 1 to 2 min in aniline blue (25% (w/v) lactic acid, 50% (w/v) glycerol, 0.5% (w/v) aniline blue), followed by 1 min of destaining in the same solution without dye. Stained seedlings were examined and documented under the bright field microscope (Zeiss Jena, Germany).

Chapter III

3.9 Semi-quantitative and real-time PCR

Semi-quantitative and real-time RT PCR were used to assay the expression patterns of the genes of interest. Transgenic as well as control Arabidopsis roots were removed from the soil or plates, rinsed 12 times with an excess of sterile water (50 ml each) and frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA or DNA extraction. Extraction of total RNA from Arabidopsis roots was performed following the trizol protocol (Gibco BRL Life Technologies). The total RNA was treated with RNAse-free DNAse (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) for 60 min at 37°C. Synthesis of cDNA was carried out using a Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The semi-quantitative PCR amplification was performed in 50 µl reactions consisting of 2.5 µl 10 ng/µl cDNA, 5 µl 10 x buffer, 0.5 µl 10 mM dNTPs, 5 µl each of 10 pmol/µl primer, 2.5 U of Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 31.5 µl H₂0 under the PCR programme: 94°C for 50 s, 54°C for 1 min and 72°C for 1 min for 25 cycles, followed by 10 min at 72°C. Amplicons, separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel were visualised under UV-light. The housekeeping *ubiquitin* gene served as a control and the mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized to the *ubiquitin* message RNA level (ACTCTCACCGGAAAGACAATC and

TGACGTTGTCGATGGTGTCAG). The real-time PCR was performed using the iCycler iQ Detection System (Bio-Rad). The iQ SYBR Supermix (Bio-Rad) was used for PCR reactions according to the manufacturer's instructions in a final volume of 20 μ l. The iCycler was programmed to 95°C 2 min, 35 x (95°C 30 s, 55°C 40 s, 72°C 45 s), 72°C 10 min followed by a melting curve programme (55 – 95°C in increasing steps of 0.5°C). All reactions were repeated at least twice. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with respect to the *actin* message level. Fold induction values were calculated with the $\Delta\Delta$ CP equaltion of Pfaffl (2001) and related to the mRNA level of the target genes in wild type roots, which were defined as 1.0.

Primer	Primer sequence 5'-3'				
PR-1f/r	GGAGCTACGCAGAACAACTA/ AGTATGGCTTCTCGTTCACA				
PR-2 f/r	CTACAGAGATGGTGTCA/ AGCTGAAGTAAGGGTAG				
PR-3 f/r	TGGATGGGCTACAGCACC/ CTAAATAGCAGCTTCGAGGAGG				
PR-4 f/r	GGCCGGACAACAATGCGGTCGTCAAGG/ CAAGCATGTTTCTGGAATCAGGCTGCC				
PDF1.2 f/r	ATGGCTAAGTTTGCTTCCA/ TTAACATGGGACGTAACAGATAC				
PDF2.1 f/r	GATGGGTCCAGTCACGGTC/ TTCAAGAACACACTAAACACGC				
PDF2.3 f/r	CACACACAACTGTGCAAACG/ CGGAAACACACAAACCAATG				
BvGLP-1 f/r	CTCCTAGCCTCTTGTAATTCTAGC/ GAATGGAAACAAGCAACATATGATATC				

The following primers were used in the described gene expression experiments:

3.10 PCR and Southern analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted using the cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) method as described by Rogers and Bendich (1985). PCR was carried out in a total volume of 20 µl containing 50 ng of template DNA, 10 mM PCR buffer (pH 8.3), 2 mM MgCl₂, each dNTP at 0.5 mM, each primer at 10 pmol, and 1 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) in a thermocycler (Biometra, Göttingen, Germany) under the following conditions: 5 min at 94°C, 60 s at 94°C, 60 s at 55 °C, 1 min 30 s at 72°C for 34 cycles, followed by 10 min at 72°C. PCR products were separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and analyzed with the software Quantity One (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH, München, Germany). For Southern hybridization experiments the extracted DNA was digested with two restriction enzymes (EcoRI, XhoI), electrophoretically separated on 0.75% (w/v) agarose gels and blotted on Hybond-N⁺ membrane (Amersham) by capillary diffusion overnight using 0.25 M NaOH/1.5 M NaCl as blotting solution. Southern blots were hybridized with ³²P-labelled DNA probe (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983) at 60°C, washed twice (0.5 x SSC; 0.2 % (w/v) SDS) for 30 min and exposed at -70°C for 48 h. The DNA probe for Southern hybridization was generated by PCR with BvGLP-1 gene specific primers CTCCTAGCCTCTTGTAATTCTAGC and GAATGGAAACAAGCAACATATGATATC using plasmid DNA as template. PCR fragments were separated on a 1.3% (w/v) low melting agarose gel before radio-labelling.

4 Results

4.1 Transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing BvGLP-1

Twenty two independent transgenic plants expressing *BvGLP-1* under the control of the 35S promoter were generated and propagated to the T3 generation. Southern hybridization using *BvGLP-1* as a probe revealed one to three copies of the transgene integrated in the Arabidopsis genome. No differences in growth rate and morphology between transgenic and wild type Arabidopsis plants were observed. Two transgenic plants carrying a single copy of the transgene were chosen for further propagation to generate homozygous transgenic lines. The presence of the transgene was also verified by PCR with gene-specific primers. Each homozygous line showed a PCR fragment of 780 bp in size, as expected, whereas no PCR amplification was detected in the control. Furthermore, RT-PCR with *BvGLP-1* specific primers demonstrated that the transgene is expressed in all selected homozygous lines (data not shown).

4.2 Infection experiments of Arabidopsis plants with *R. solani* and *P. indica* on agar plates

BvGLP-1 is implicated to be involved in defense responses by producing H₂O₂ in the extracellular space. To check its role in pathogenic and beneficial plant-fungus interactions, we infected the transgenic Arabidopsis plants with *R. solani* (AG 2-1) and *P. indica* on agar plates in which the wild type C24 plants served as a control. For infection with *R. solani*, wild-type and transgenic plants were transferred to agar plates, inoculated with fungal mycelium and co-cultivated in a growth chamber.



Figure 1: Survival rate of Arabidopsis plants in agar test. The plants were infected with *Rhizoctonia solani* AG2-1. Seven days old seedlings of *A. thaliana* were transfered to agar plates for infection and the plants survival rate was scored 3, 6, 9 and 12 days post inoculation (Black columns: Arabidopsis wildtype C24 and white columns: *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis). Bars represent standard errors based on three independent experiments with ten seedlings each.

Three days after infection wild type C24 plants showed clear disease symptoms and $23 \pm 3\%$ (n=30) of them suffered from the infection (Figure 1), while only a few transgenic plants (4±1%) showed visible symptoms. Twelve days after infection wild type plants suffered seriously from the fungal infection; they showed strong disease symptoms and $97 \pm 3\%$ (n=30) of the infected plants died (Figure 1, Figure 5 A). In contrast, more than $50 \pm 3\%$ (n=30) of the transgenic plants were still healthy and grew regularly. These data demonstrated that the expression of *BvGLP-1* in Arabidopsis interferes with *R. solani* infection giving rise to resistance against the pathogen.

A similar experiment was performed with *P. indica*. Wild type and transgenic plants were transferred to agar plates with a low density fungal loan (Figure 2). After ten days of co-cultivation, we observed a $24 \pm 4\%$ (n = 60 plates) increase in the fresh weight of wild type seedlings co-cultivated with *P. indica* relative to the uncolonized control. A similar result was obtained for the two transgenic Arabidopsis lines ($27 \pm 5\%$ and $23 \pm 3\%$, respectively; n = 60 plates) (Figure 3). We conclude that processes leading to *P. indica*-mediated growth promotion of Arabidopsis seedlings on agar plates are independent of *BvGLP-1* and that higher OxO levels do not prevent the beneficial effects for the seedlings.



Figure 2: Co-cultivation of wild type and transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings with *Piriformospora indica* for ten days. *A. thaliana* seedlings were transferred to nylon discs placed on top of a modified PNM culture medium. One seedling was used per Petri dish.



Figure 3: Fresh weight of wild-type and transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings which were co-cultivated with *Piriformospora indica*. The fresh weight of *P. indica*–colonized seedlings at t = 0 was set as 100% and all other values are expressed relative to it. Black columns, wild-type plants, white columns average of the two independent *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis lines, which did not differ significantly from each other. Bars represent standard errors, based on five independent experiments with 60 seedlings each.

4.3 Infection experiments of Arabidopsis plants with *R. solani* and *V. longisporum* in soil

To verify the data obtained from the agar plate experiments we assessed the resistance of the *BvGLP-1*–expressing Arabidopsis plants against *R. solani* in soil. For the *R. solani* infection assay, wild type and transgenic Arabidopsis plants were directly transferred to pots filled with *R. solani*-infected soil and co-cultivated in a growth chamber in which uninfected plants served as a control. Seven days after co-cultivation, clear differences between wild type and transgenic plants were obvious (Figure 4): strong symptoms appeared on most leaf surfaces of wild type plants and more than 40% \pm 3% of them died after *R. solani* infection. In contrast, transgenic plants grew regularly even though slight disease symptoms were visible on a few leaves (Figure 4, Figure 5B). Twenty one days after co-cultivation 87% \pm 3% of the wild type plants died after fungal infection while more than 76% \pm 3% of transgenic plants survived (Figure 4). These data are consistant with the results obtained from the agar-plate assays and demonstrate that the expression of *BvGLP-1* in Arabidopsis confers resistance against *R. solani* infection.



Figure 4: Survival rate of Arabidopsis plants infected with *Rhizoctonia solani* AG2-1 in soil. Seven days old seedlings of *A. thaliana* were transfered to soil for infection. The plant survival rate was scored 7, 14 and 21 days post inoculation (Black columns: Arabidopsis wild type C24, white columns: *BvGLP-1* transgenic Arabidopsis). Bars represent standard errors, based on three independent experiments with ten seedlings each.

A similar experiment was performed with *V. longisporum*. Wild type and transgenic Arabidopsis seedlings were grown in small pots filled with soil for 14 days before infection. The infected plants were weekly scored and classified into the categories 1-9, based on the development of the disease symptom (Table 1). **Table 1**: Disease scores on *A. thaliana* plants inoculated with *V. longisporum* in soil. Assessment for scoring disease symptoms induced by *Verticillum* sp. was performed according to Zeise (1992): **1**, no symptoms; **2**, slight symptoms on oldest leaf (yellowing, black veins); **3**, slight symptoms on next younger leaves; **4**, about 50% of leaves show symptoms; **5**, >50% of leaves show symptoms; **6**, up to 50% of leaves are dead; **7**, >50% of leaves are dead; **8**, only the apical meristem is still alive; **9**, plants are dead. Disease scores were made based on 3 independent experiments with 10 seedlings each.

	Total no.	Disease scores			
	of seedlings	Days post inoculation (dpi)			
		7	14	21	28
Non-infected C24	30	1	1	1-2	1-2
Infected C24	30	1	2	4-5	5-7
Non-infected BvGLP-1	30	1	1	1-2	1-2
Infected BvGLP-1	30	1	1	1-2	2

Clear differences in the development of the disease symptoms were observed between transgenic and wild type plants (Table 1, Figure 5 B). Fourteen days after infection the first disease symptoms appeared on wild type plants, in form of chlorosis and dark-coloured veins mainly on older leaves, but not yet on transgenic leaves, on which the first slight disease symptoms were only visible 21 days after infection (Table 1; Figure 5 B). In contrast, 21 days after infection wild type plants suffered from fungal infection and more than 50% of the leaves showed severe disease symptoms (Table 1). Twenty eight days after infection more than 50% of the leaves of wild type plants were dead, while only slight disease symptoms were detectable on the oldest leaves of the transgenic plants (Table 1). These data suggest that the expression of *BvGLP-1* in Arabidopsis significantly reduces the susceptibility of the plants to *V. longisporum* infection.



Figure 5: Examples of visual comparison between infected transgenic *A. thaliana* expressing *BvGLP-1* and wild type C24 plants in soil and on agar plates, respectively. **A**: Arabidopsis wild type C24 and *BvGLP-1*-transgenic Arabidopsis plants infected with *V. longisporum* and *R. solani* in soil 21 days post inoculation and **B**: Arabidopsis wild type C24 and *BvGLP-1*-transgenic Arabidopsis plants infected with *R. solani* on agar plates 12 days post inoculation. Non-infected plants served as control.

4.4 Microscopic observations of Arabidopsis roots infected with the phytopahogenic fungi

For microscopic observation of the *R. solani* infection process, we stained the infected roots with lactophenol blue and safranin red/anillin blue solution 72 h post inoculation. The aniline blue/lactophenol blue stained fungal hyphae, whereas safranin red stained the root meristems. Washing the root system under running tap water removed most of the unattached mycelium.

As shown in Figure 6, dramatically reduced amounts of hyphae were visible on transgenic roots compared to wild type roots, suggesting a higher penetration rate of the fungus into the wild type (Figure 6 A-C). In accordance, apart from the lower number of infection cushions, the size of the lesions on the transgenic leaves was also reduced when compared to the wild type plants (Figure 6 E, F). In conclusion, the microscopic observations support the finding from the infection experiments that *BvGLP-1* inhibits fungal infections on Arabidopsis plants.



Figure 6: Light microscopic observation of BvGLP-1 transgenic and wild type Arabidopsis plants infected with *R. solani* after washing and staining with lactophenol blue and safranin red/anillin blue solution 72 h post inoculation. **A** and **B**: safranin red/anillin blue staining, **C-F**: lactophenol blue staining; **A-D**: roots stained; **E** and **F**: leaves stained; **A** and **C**: *R. solani* growing in an undirected manner on the root surface of BvGLP-1 transgenic Arabidopsis without firm attachment; **B** and **D**: Attachment and directed-growth of *R. solani* hyphae over the root of Arabidopsis wild type C24 and formation of dome-like infection cushions. **E**: intact leaf of BvGLP-1 transgenic Arabidopsis; **F**: *R. solani* overgrowing Arabidopsis wild type C24 leading to leaf and tissue maceration; **r** = root; **m** = mycelium; **h** = hyphae.

4.5 Analysis of the transcript levels of selected defense related genes in transgenic plants

PR proteins are involved in fungal pathogenesis as well as plant resistance to fungal infection. To define whether the resistance observed in this study is correlated with the activation or increased expression of plant defense-related genes, we analysed the *PR* and *PDF* transcript levels in the transgenic Arabidopsis plants and compared them with those in wild type plants by semi-quantitative RT-PCR. As expected, all transgenic plants exhibited substantial levels of *BvGLP-1* transcripts (Figure 7, panel 1). Even without pathogen attack, abundant transcript levels for the *PR1-4* genes were detectable in the transgenic plants, but not in wild type plants, whereas no difference in the transcript levels for *PDF2.3* was visible. Furthermore, while the expression of *PDF1.2* was strongly upregulated in transgenic plants, the expression *PDF2.1* was drastically down-regulated when compared to the wild type (Figure 7, panel 6 and 8). Thus, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* may play an active role in regulating plant defense mechanisms against different pathogens by activation of plant defense-related genes.



Figure 7: Expression of *BvGLP-1* activated defense related genes in transgenic Arabidopsis. *PR* and *PDF* gene expression levels were determined by semi-quantitative PCR with 4 independent *BvGLP-1*-transgenic Arabidopsis lines and Arabidopsis wild type C24 plants served as control. The *BvGLP-1* transcript is present in all transgenic lines (first lane) and the housekeeping *ubiquitin* gene served as a control (last lane). The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

4.6 Co-cultivation of Arabidopsis with the growth promoting fungus *P. indica* in soil

To define the role of *BvGLP-1* in a beneficial plant-fungus interaction, we performed a whole life co-cultivation assay of Arabidopsis with *P. indica* in soil. To this end, we transferred Arabidopsis plants co-cultivated with or without the fungus from agar plate to pots. A growth promotion for the transgenic plants co-cultivated with the fungus was still observed over a period of 30 days, and this promotion was comparable to the wild type (Figure 8). However, while the wild type plants responded to the fungus also during later phases, flowered approximately two weeks earlier than the uncolonized control and produced more seeds, the beneficial effects for the transgenic plants became less. We observed only a slight, but not significant increase in the fresh weight before the plants set flowers, the flowering time was only a few days earlier and the seed yield was increased by only $5 \pm 2\%$ compared to the uncolonized transgenic plants. Thus, at the end of the life, the presence of *P. indica* does no longer confer significant benefits to the plants, although the fungus did not cause harm to the plant.



Figure 8: Fresh weight of wild-type and transgenic Arabidopsis plants in pots which were co-cultivated with *Piriformospora indica*. The fresh weight of *P. indica* colonized plants at t = 0 was set as 100% and all other values are expressed relative to it. Bars represent standard errors, based on two independent experiments with 60 plants each.

Because root colonization is a critical parameter for the beneficial interaction between *P*. *indica* and Arabidopsis, we checked the degree of root colonization of the transgenic plants and compared it with the wild type. We extracted DNA and RNA from the roots of 14 day-and two months old plants co-cultivated with *P. indica*. No significant difference in the degree of root colonization was detected for wild type and transgenic plants co-cultivated with the fungus for 14 days, but we observed a significant reduction in the amount of fungal DNA and RNA in the two months old transgenic plants when compared to the wild type (Figure 9). In two independent experiments with 30 plants each, root colonization was

reduced by more than 60% compared to the wild type. This indicates that *BvGLP-1* restricts root colonization during later growth phases, which subsequently leads to a decrease in the benefits to the plant.



Figure 9: Colonization of the roots of 2 month-old wild-type and transgenic Arabidopsis plants grown in the presence of *P. indica*. The transcript levels of the fungal translation elongation factor 1 mRNA (*cPitef1*) and genomic DNA (*gPitef1*) in the roots of colonized Arabidopsis seedlings was compared to the amount of the plant *actin* nucleic acids. RNA and/or DNA were isolated from the roots of the transgenic lines and the wild-type (wt). After reverse transcription *cPitef1* and *actin* were amplified (left lanes). For the right three lanes, genomic DNA was amplified with the same primers. To obtain quantitative data, real time PCR was performed. The *actin* mRNA normalized *Pitef1* transcript levels of the different lines are expressed.

5 Discussion

GLP genes are members of large multigene families exhibiting diverse patterns of expression (Bernier and Berna 2001). The Arabidopsis genome contains at least six *GLP* genes (Carter and Thornburg 1999; Carter et al. 1998), similar to barley (Druka et al. 2002; Wu et al. 2000) and rice (Membré and Bernier 1998). In sugar beet, *BvGLP-1* is induced in response to nematode infection in nematode resistance sugar beet. Here, we demonstrate that the same protein confers also a broad resistance to *R. solani* and *V. longisporum* when transferred into Arabidopsis. The exact mechanism by which GLPs with OxO activities confer enhanced resistance to these pathogens is unclear.

Signaling pathways required for plant defense responses are complex, and even members from the same gene family that are induced by a single pathogen may require different signal molecules or combinations of signaling pathways for their expression (Ferrari et al. 2003). SA, JA and ET are hormones involved in the regulation of resistance against different pathogens. SA is a key regulator of pathogen-induced SAR (Gaffney et al. 1993), whereas JA and ET regulate a largely distinct set of genes and are required for ISR (Pieterse et al. 2001). Both types of induced resistance are effective against a broad spectrum of pathogens and several lines of evidence demonstrate cross talk between the pathways (Glazebrook 2001). It appears that defense genes that are activated against necrotrophic fungi are regulated primarily by the ET and JA signal transduction pathways, whereas biotrophic pathogens are countered more efficiently by SA-controlled defense mechanisms (Thomma et al. 1998, 1999). To test whether Arabidopsis plants overexpressing BvGLP-1 induce defense genes from SAR or other defense pathways, we analyzed the expression of *PR* and *PDF* genes, representative for two different signaling pathways (Thomma et al. 1998). In Arabidopsis, induction of PR-1, PR-2, and PR-5 follows an SA-dependent pathway, whereas the induction of the plant defensin PDF1.2, the basic chitinase gene PR-3, and the hevein-like protein gene *PR-4* depends on a pathway involving at least JA as a signal molecule (Li et al. 2004). When BvGLP-1 was overexpressed in Arabidopsis, transgenic plants exhibited enhanced transcript levels for PR-1-4 and PDF1.2. Hence, BvGLP-1 expression in Arabidopsis leads to the activation of both the SA- und JA/ET-dependent pathways, since the SA-dependent PR-1 and PR-2 genes and the JA/ET-dependent PR-3, PR-4 and PDF1.2 genes are upregulated in the transgenic lines. Since activation of the respective genes in the transgenic lines occurs even in the absence of the pathogens, the plants appear to be better protected. This strongly suggests that *BvGLP-1* may be functional as a key signaling component of plant general defense

mechanisms by specifically regulating the expression of plant defense-related genes prior to pathogen attack.

Since OA appears to be a virulence factor of various pathogens (Bateman and Beer 1965; Maxwell and Bateman 1968; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Godoy et al. 1990), it is reasonable to speculate that the degradation of fungal OA may represent an important aspect of the *BvGLP-1*-mediated resistance against both fungal pathogens. OA may aid the pathogen in infection, by reducing the pH in their environment, increasing polygalacturonase activity and sequestering calcium ions from calcium pectate (Zou et al. 2007). OA also suppresses the oxidative burst (Cessna et al. 2000) and disturbs the guard cell function (Guimaraes and Stotz 2004). Kim et al. (2008) demonstrate that OA acts as an elicitor inducing a programmed cell death (PCD) that is required for pathogenicity as well as for disease development of *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*, a necrotrophic ascomycete fungus. Similarly, over-expression of an oxalate decarboxylase from *Collybia velutipes*, an OA-degrading enzyme, was found to confer resistance to infection caused by the OA-producing fungus *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* in transgenic tobacco and tomato (Kesarwani et al. 2000). Further analysis of the role of OA produced by the two fungi in their pathogenicities may shine more light on the function of *BvGLP-1* in plant defense.

Through the generation of H₂O₂, *BvGLP-1* may also be involved in catalysing cross-linking of plant cell wall proteins in papillae at the infection site and lignifications for the reinforcement of the cell (Olson and Varner 1993; Thordal-Christensen et al. 1997) which consequently leads to the protection of the cell against fungal penetration. We found in our microscopic observations a drastically reduced penetration rate of *R. solani* hyphae into transgenic roots expressing BvGLP-1 when compared to the wild type. Wei et al. (1998) originally postulated that the powdery mildew-inducible epidermal-specific barley HvGER4 may be involved in the generation of H₂O₂ which is required for crosslinking reactions during papillae formation. Subsequently, it was demonstrated that HvGER4 expressed in Arabidopsis possessed superoxide dismutase activity (Christensen et al. 2004; Zimmermann et al. 2006). Our results showed that the transgenic plants were not completely protected against infection by R. solani and V. longisporum, since they became infected and necrotic after a longer period of infection. It has been reported that overexpression of PR proteins such as chitinases (Broglie et al. 1991, Datta et al. 1999) or a ribosome-inactivating protein (Maddaloni et al. 1997) resulted in enhanced resistance to R. solani, primarily through a delay in the development of disease symptoms. However, the observed delay of the disease may give the transgenic plants enough time to induce other defense mechanisms to ward off the pathogen systemically.

Because of a broad resistance to various pathogens, BvGLP-1 provides a promising candidate gene for genetic engineering for improving crop resistance to different pathogens. Most interestingly, the presence of *BvGLP-1* does not primarily affect the beneficial interaction between *P. indica* and Arabidopsis. This clearly indicates that different signaling processes are required for the activation of the resistance against the two tested necrotrophs and the beneficial interaction with *P. indica*. With this respect, it appears that Arabidopsis distinguishes between foes and friends, since signaling processes leading to the beneficial interaction in the plants are not affected by the defense machinery controlling the growth of the necrotrophs. Also the growth of P. indica is not inhibited during the first weeks of cocultivation. However, in long-term co-cultivation experiments, the activation of defense responses such as PR gene expression in Arabidopsis plants expressing BvGLP-1 appears to have an impact on growth and development of the beneficial fungus as well, since root colonization by *P. indica* is significantly reduced in older transgenic plants on soil. Thus, long-term harmony between the two symbionts is diminished to some extent if the plants restrict hyphal growth due to the activation of defense responses. It is also conceivable that H₂O₂ production by the transgenic plant restricts growth of *P. indica*. Since the transgenic seedlings and young adult plants carrying BvGLP-1 respond to P. indica like the wild type, activation of signaling pathways leading to the beneficial interaction is not prevented in the presence of defense gene activation. It is worth noting that in spite of the reduced growth promotion during later stages of the interaction, we did not observe any harm to the plants, and the biomass and seed production was not lower for plants co-cultivated with P. indica when compared to the uncolonized control. In this context, the transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing *BvGLP-1* offer an interesting material for studying beneficial plant-fungus interactions.

6 Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (grants No. SFB167- A19 and SFB604 - A7) and the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, Germany (grant No. 03152 31B).

7 References

- Bateman, D.F., and Beer, S.V. 1965. Simultaneous production and synergistic action of oxalic acid and polygalacturonase during pathogenesis by *Sclerotium rolfsii*. Phytopathology 55:204-211.
- Bennett, A.R., and Hindal, D.F. 1989. Mycelial growth and oxalate production by five strains of *Cryphonectria* parasitica in selected liquid culture media. Mycologia 81:554-560.
- Bernier, F., and Berna, A. 2001. Germins and germin-like proteins: Plant do-all proteins. But what do they do exactly? Plant Physiol. Biochem. 39:545-554.
- Broglie, K., Chet, I., Holliday, M., Cressman, R., Biddle, P., Knowlton, S., Mauvais, C.J., and Broglie, R. 1991. Transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to the fungal pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Science 254:1194-1107.
- Carter, C., Graham, R.A., and Thornburg, R.W. 1998. Arabidopsis thaliana contains a large family of germinlike proteins: characterization of cDNA and genomic sequences encoding 12 unique family members. Plant Mol. Biol. 38:929–943.
- Carter, C., and Thornburg, R.W. 1999. Germin-like proteins: structure, phylogeny and function. J. Plant Biol. 42:97-108.
- Cessna, S.G., Sears, V.E., Dickman, M.B., and Low, P.S. 2000. Oxalic acid, a pathogenicity factor for *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* suppresses the oxidative burst of the host plant. The Plant Cell 12:2191-2199.
- Christensen, A.B., Thordal-Christensen, H., Zimmermann, G., Gjetting, T., Lyngkjær, M.F., Dudler, R., and Schweizer, P. 2004. The germin-like protein GLP4 exhibits superoxide dismutase activity and is an important component of quantitative resistance in wheat and barley. MPMI 17:109-117.
- Chiriboga, J. 1966. Purification and properties of oxalic acid oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 116:516-523.
- Datta, K., Koukolikova-Nicola, Z., Baisakh, N., Oliva, N., and Datta, S.K. 2000. *Agrobacterium*-mediated engineering for sheath blight resistance of indica rice cultivars from different ecosystems. Theor. Appl. Genet. 100:832-839.
- Donaldson, P.A., Anderson, T., Lane, B.G., Davidson, A.L., and Simmonds, D.H. 2001. Soybean plants expressing an active oligomeric oxalate oxidase from the wheat gf-2.8 (germin) gene are resistant to the oxalate-secreting pathogen *Sclerotina sclerotiorum*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 59:297-307.
- Dong, X., Ji, R., Guo, X., Foster, S.J., Chen, H., Dong, C., Liu, Y., Hu, Q., and Liu, S. 2008. Expressing a gene encoding wheat oxalate oxidase enhances resistance to *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*) Planta 228:331–340.
- Druka, A., Kudrna, D., Kannangara, C.G., von Wettstein, D., and Kleinhofs, A. 2002. Physical and genetic mapping of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) germin-like cDNAs. PNAS USA 99:850–855.
- Dumas, B., Sailland, A., Cheviet, J.P., Freyssinet, G., and Pallett, K. 1993. Identification of barley oxalate oxidase as a germin-like protein. C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. III Sci. Vie 316:793-798.
- Eynck, C., Koopmann, B., Grunewaldt-Stoecker, G., Karlovsky, P., and von Tiedemann, A. 2007. Differential interactions of *Verticillium longisporum* and *V. dahliae* with *Brassica napus* detected with molecular and histological techniques. Eur. J. Plant Pathol. 118:259-274.
- Ferrari, S., Vairo, D., Ausubel, F.M., Cervone, F., and De Lorenzo, G. 2003. Tandemly duplicated Arabidopsis genes that encode polygalacturonase-inhibiting proteins are regulated coordinately by different signal transduction pathways in response to fungal infection. The Plant Cell 15:93–106.
- Gaffney, T., Friedrich, L., Vernooij, B., Negrotto, D., Nye, G., Uknes, S., Ward. E., Kessmann, H., and Ryals, J. 1993. Requirement of salicylic acid for the induction of systemic acquired resistance. Science 261:754-756.
- Glazebrook, J. 2001. Genes controlling expression of defense responses in Arabidopsis 2001 status. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 4:301-308.
- Glazebrook, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43:205-227.
- Godoy, G., Steadman, J.R., Dickman, M.B., and Dam, R. 1990. Use of mutants to demonstrate the role of oxalic acid in pathogenicity of *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* on *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 37:179-191.
- Guimaraes, R.L., and Stotz, H.U. 2004. Oxalate production by *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* deregulates guard cells during infection1. Plant Physiol. 136:3703-3711.
- Hollowell, J.E., Smith, M.R., and Shew, B.B. 2001. Oxalic acid production by nine isolates of *Sclerotinia minor*. Proc. Am. Peanut Res. Ed. Soc. 33:24.
- Hoffland, C.M., Pieterse, J., Bik, L., and van Pelt, J.A. (1995) Induced systemic resistance in radish is not associated with accumulation of pathogenesis-related proteins. Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol. 46:309-320.
- Hu, X., Bidney, D.L., Yalpani, N., Duvick, J.P., Crasta, O., Folkerts, O., and Lu, G. 2003. Overexpression of a gene encoding hydrogen peroxide-generating oxalate oxidase evokes defense responses in sunflower. Plant Physiol. 133:170-181.
- Keijer, J. 1996. The initial steps of the infection process in *Rhizoctonia solani*. in: Rhizoctonia Species: Taxonomy, Molecular Biology, Ecology, Pathology and Disease Control. B. Sneh, S. Jabaji-Hare, S. Neate, and G. Dijst, eds. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Boston, London.
- Keijer, J., Korsman, M.G., Dullemans, A.M., Houterman, P.M., de Bree, J., and Van Silfhout, C.H. 1997. In vitro analysis of host plant specificity in *Rhizoctonia solani*. Plant Pathol. 46:659-669.
- Kim, Y.H., Kim, C.Y., Song, W.K., Park, D.S., Kwon, S.Y., Lee, H.S., Bang, J.W., and Kwak, S.S. 2008. Overexpression of sweetpotato swpa4 peroxidase results in increased hydrogen peroxide production and enhances stress tolerance in tobacco. Planta 227:867-881.
- Kesarwani, M., Azam, M., Natarajan, K., Mehta, A., and Datta, A. 2000. A Oxalate decarboxylase from *Collybia velutipes* molecular cloning and its overexpression to confer resistance to fungal infection in transgenic tobacco and tomato. J. Biol. Chem. 275:7230-7238.
- Kloepper, J.W., Tuzun, S., and Kuc, J.A. 1992. Proposed definitions related to induced disease resistance. Biocontrol. Sci. Technol. 2:349-351.
- Koncz, C., and Schell. J. 1986. The promoter of TL-DNA gene 5 controls the tissue-specifc expression of chimaeric genes carried by a novel type of Agrobacterium binary vector. Mol. Gen. Genet 204:383-396.
- Lane, B.G., Dunwell, J.M., Ray, J.A., Schmitt, M.R., and Cuming, A.C. 1993. Germin, a protein marker of early plant development, is an oxalate oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 268:12239-12242.
- Lane, B.G. 1994. Oxalate, germin, and the extracellular matrix of higher plants. FASEB J. 5:294-301.
- Levine. A., Tenhaken, R., Dixon, R., and Lamb, C. (1994) H₂O₂ from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. Cell 79:583-593.
- Li, J., Brader, G., and Palva, E. T. 2004. The WRKY70 Transcription Factor: A Node of Convergence for Jasmonate-Mediated and Salicylate-Mediated Signals in Plant Defense The Plant Cell 16:319–331
- Liang, H., Maynard, C.A., Allen, R.D., and Powell, W.A. 2001. Increased *Septoria musiva* resistance in transgenic hybrid poplar leaves expressing a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Mol. Biol. 45:619-629.
- Maddaloni, M., Forlani, F., Balmas, V., Donini, G., Stasse, L., Corazza, L., and Motto, M. 1997. Tolerance to the fungal pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani* AG4 of transgenic tobacco expressing the maize ribosomeinactivating protein b-32. Transgenic Res. 6:393-402.
- Malamy, J., Carr, J.P., Klesslg, D.F., and Raskin, I. 1990. Salicylic acid: A likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to viral infection. Science 250:1002-1004.
- Maxwell,D.P., and Bateman, D.F. 1968. Influence of carbon source and pH on oxalate accumulation in culture filtrates of *Sclerotium rolfsii*. Phytopathology 58:1351-1355.
- Membre, N., Berna, A., Neutelings, G., David, A., David, H., Staiger, D., Vasquez, J.S., Rayna, M., Delseny, M., and Bernier, F. 1997. cDNA sequence, genomic organization and differential expression of three Arabidopsis genes for germin/oxalate oxidase-like proteins. Plant Mol. Biol. 35:459-469.
- Murashige, T., and Skoog, F. 1962. A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol. Plant 15:473-497.
- Oelmüller, R., Shahollari, B., Peškan-Berghöfer, T., Trebicka, A., Giong, P.H., Sherameti, I., Oudhoff, M., Venus, Y., Altschmied, L., and Varma, A. 2004. Molecular analyses of the interaction between Arabidopsis roots and the growth-promoting fungus *Piriformospora indica*. Endocytobiosis Cell Res. 15:504-517.
- Oelmüller, R., Peškan-Berghöfer, T., Shahollari, B., Sherameti, I., and Varma, A. 2005. MATH-domain containing proteins represent a novel gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and are involved in plant/microbe interactions. Phys. Plant. 124:152-166.
- Olson, P.D., and Varner, J.E. 1993. Hydrogen peroxide and lignifications. The Plant J. 4:887-892.
- Peškan-Berghöfer, T., Shahollari, B., Giang, P.H., Hehl, S., Markert, C., Blanke, V., Varma, A.K., and Oelmüller, R. 2004. Association of *Piriformospora indica* with *Arabidopsis thaliana* roots represents a novel system to study beneficial plant-microbe interactions and involves early plant protein modifications in the endoplasmatic reticulum and at the plasma membrane. Physiol. Plant. 122:465-477.
- Pieterse, C.M.J., van Wees, S.C.M., Hoffland, E., van Pelt, J.A., and van Loon, L.C. 1996. Systemic resistance in Arabidopsis induced by biocontrol Bacteria is independent of salicylic acid accumulation and pathogenesis-related gene expression Plant Cell 8:1225-1237
- Pieterse, C.M.J., Ton, J., and Van Loon, L.C. 2001. Cross-talk between plant defense signaling pathways: boost or burden? AgBiotechNet. 3:ABN 068.
- Pham, G.H., Kumari, R., Singh, An., Sachdev, M., Prasad, R., Kaldorf, M., Buscot, F., Oelmüller, R., Peškan, T., Weiss, M., Hampp, R., and Varma, A. 2004. Axenic cultures of *Piriformospora indica*. Pages 593-616 in: Plant Surface Microbiology. A. Varma, L. Abbott, D. Werner and R. Hampp, eds. Springer-Verlag, Germany.
- Rai, M.K., Varma, A., and Pandey, A.K. 2004. Antifungal potential of Spilanthes calva after inoculation of *Piriformospora indica*. Mycoses 47:479-481.

- Ramputh, A.I., Arnason, J.T., Cass, L., and Simmonds, J.A. 2002. Reduced herbivory of the European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) on corn transformed with germin, a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Science 162:431-440.
- Ritschkoff, A.C., Marjaana, R., Buchert, J., and Viikari, L. 1995. Effect of carbon source on the production of oxalic acid and hydrogen peroxide by brown-rot fungus *Poria placenta*. J. Biotechnol. 40:179-186.
- Rogers, S.O., and Bendich, A.J. 1985. Extraction of DNA from milligram amounts of fresh, herbarium and mummified plant tissue. Plant Mol. Biol. 5:69-76.
- Ross, A.F. 1961a. Localized acquired resistance to plant virus infection in hypersensitive hosts. Virology 14:329–339.
- Ross, A.F. 1961b. Systemic acquired resistance induced by localized virus infections in plants. Virology 14:340-358.
- Sahay, N.S., and Varma, A. 1999. *Piriformospora indica*: a new biological hardening tool for micropropagated plants. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 181:297-302.
- Schweizer, P., Christoffel, A., and Dudler, R. 1999. Transient expression of members of the germin-like gene family in epidermal cells of wheat confers disease resistance. Plant J. 20:541-552.
- Shahollari, B., Varma, A., and Oelmüller, R. 2005. Expression of a receptor kinase in Arabidopsis roots is stimulated by the basidiomycete *Piriformospora indica* and the protein accumulates in Triton X-100 insoluble plasma membrane microdomains. J. Plant Physiol. 162:945-958.
- Shahollari, B., Vadassery, J., Varma, A., and Oelmüller, R. 2007. A leucine-rich repeat protein is required for growth promotion and enhanced seed production mediated by the endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 50:1-13.
- Stone, H.E., and Armentrout, V.N. 1985. Production of oxalic acid by Sclerotium cepivorum during infection of onion. Mycologia 77:526-530.
- Thomma, B., Eggermont, K., Penninck, I., Mauch-Mani, B., Vogelsang, R., Cammue, B.P.A., and Broekaert, W.F. 1998. Separate jasmonate dependent and salicylate-dependent defense-response pathways in Arabidopsis are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens. PNAS USA 95:15107–15111.
- Thomma, B.P., Nelissen, I., Eggermont, K., and Broekaert, W.F. 1999. Deficiency in phytoalexin production causes enhanced susceptibility of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to the fungus *Alternaria brassicicola*. Plant J. 19:163-171.
- Thompson, C., Dunwell, J.M., Johnstone, C.E., Lay, V., Schmitt, M., Watson, H., and Nisbet, G. 1995. Degradation of oxalic acid by transgenic oilseed rape plants expressing oxalate oxidase. Euphytica 85:169–172.
- Thordal-Christensen, H., Zhang, Z., Wei, Y., Collinge, D.B. 1997. Subcellular localization of H₂O₂ in plants. H₂O₂ accumulation in paqpillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction. Plant J. 11:1187-1194.
- Vallelian, B.L., Mosinger, E., Metraux, J.P., and Schweizer, P. 1998. Structure, expression and localization of a germin-like protein in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) that is insolubilized in stressed leaves. Plant Mol. Biol. 37:297-308.
- Valvekens, D., Van Montagu, M., Van Lijsebettens, M. 1988. Agrobacterium tumefaciens- mediated transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana root explants by using kanamycin selection. Proc Natl Acad Sci 85:5536-5540
- Van Baarlen, P., Woltering, E.J., Staats, M., and van Kan, J.A.L. 2007. Histochemical and genetic analysis of host and non-host interactions of Arabidopsis with three *Botrytis* species: an important role for cell death control. Mol. Plant Pathol. 8:41-54.
- Van Wees, S.C.M., Luijendijk, M., Smoorenburg, I., van Loon, L.C., and Pieterse, C.M.J. 1999. Rhizobacteriamediated induced systemic resistance (ISR) in Arabidopsis is not associated with a direct effect on expression of known defense-related genes but stimulates the expression of the jasmonate-inducible gene Atvsp upon challenge. Plant Mol. Biol. 41:537–549.
- Varma, A., Singh, A., Sudha, Sahay, N., Sharma, J., Roy, A., Kumari, M., Rana, D., Thakran, S., Deka, D., Bharti, K., Franken, P., Hurek, T., Blechert, O., Rexer, K.-H., Kost, G., Hahn, A., Hock, B., Maier, W., Walter, M., Strack, D., and Kranner, I. 2001. *Piriformospora indica*: A cultivable mycorrhiza-like endosymbiotic fungus. Pages 123-150. in: Mycota IX, Springer Series, Germany.
- Varma, A., Verma, S., Sudha, Sahay, N.S., Butehorn, B., and Franken, P. 1999. *Piriformospora indica*, a cultivable plant growth promoting root endophyte. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:2741-2744.
- Verma, S.A., Varma, A., Rexer, K.-H., Hassel, A., Kost, G., Sarbhoy, A., Bisen, P., Bütehorn, B., and Franken, P. 1998. *Piriformospora indica*, gen. et sp. nov., a new root- colonizing fungus. Mycologia 90:898-905.
- Waller, F., Achatz, B., Baltruschat, H., Fodor, J., Becker, K., Fischer, M., Heier, T., Hückelhoven, R., Neumann, C., Wettstein, D., Franken, P., and Kogel, K.-H. 2005 The endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica* reprograms barley to salt-stress tolerance, disease resistance, and higher yield. PNAS 102:13386–13391.

- Ward, E.R., Uknes, S.J., Williams, S.C., Dincher, S.S., Wiederhold, D.L., Alexander, D.C., Ahl-Goy, P., Métraux, J.-P., and Ryals, J.A. Coordinate gene activity in response to agents that induce systemic acquired resistance. The Plant Cell 3:1085-1094.
- Wei, Y.D., Zhang, Z.G., Andersen, C.H., Schmelzer, E., Gregersen, P.L., Collinge, D.B., Smedegaard-Petersen, V., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1998. An epidermis/papilla- specific oxalate oxidase-like protein in the defense response of barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Mol. Biol. 36:101-112.
- Woo, E.J., Dunwell, J.M., Goodenough, P.W., Marvier, A.C., and Pickersgill, R.W. 2000. Germin is a manganese containing homohexamer with oxalate oxidase and superoxide dismutase activities. Nature Struct. Biol. 7:1036-1040.
- Wu, S., Druka, A., Horvath, H., Kleinhofs, A., Kannangara, C.G., and Wettstein, D. (2000) Functional characterization of seed coat-specific members of the barley germin gene family. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 38:685–698.
- Zaghmout, O.F., Dang, P.D., and Allen, R.D. 1997. Expression of oxalate oxidase in transgenic plants provides resistance to oxalic acid and oxalate producing fungi. Plant Physiol. Suppl. Plant Physiol. 114:227.
- Zeise, K. 1992. Gewächshaustest zur Resistenzprüfung von Winterraps (*Brassica napus* L. var. *oleifera* Metzger) gegen den Erreger der Rapswelke *Verticillium dahliae*. Kleb. Nachrichtenblatt Deutscher Pflanzenschutzdienst 44:125-128.
- Zeise, K., and von Tiedemann, A. 2002a. Host specialization among vegetative compatibility groups of *Verticillium dahliae* in relation to *Verticillium longisporum*. J. Phytopathol. 150:112-119.
- Zeise, K., and von Tiedemann, A. 2002b. Application of RAPD-PCR for virulence type analysis within *Verticillium dahliae* and *Verticillium longisporum*. J. Phytopathol. 150:557-563.
- Zhang, Z., Collinge, D.B., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1995. Germin-like oxalate oxidase, a H₂O₂-producing enzyme, accumulates in barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant J. 8:139-145.
- Zhou, F., Zhang, Z., Gregersen, .PL., Mikkelsen, J.D., de Neergaard, E., Collinge, D.B., and Thordal-Christensen, H. 1998. Molecular characterization of the oxalate oxidase involved in the response of barley to the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Physiol. 117:33–41.
- Zimmermann, G., Bäumlein, H., Mock, H.P., Himmelbach, A., and Schweizer, P. 2006. The multigene family encoding germin-like proteins of barley. regulation and function in basal host resistance. Plant Physiol. 142:181-192.
- Zou, Q.J., Liu, S.Y., Dong, X.Y., Bi, Y.H., Cao, Y.C., Xu, Q., Zhao, Y.D., and Chen, H. 2007. In vivo measurements of changes in pH triggered by oxalic acid in leaf tissue of transgenic oilseed rape. Phytochem. Anal. 18:341-346.

Chapter IV

Two NBS-LRR carrying resistance gene analogs (RGAs) are involved in the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) resistance in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.)

(Manuscript in preparation)

Katrin Knecht¹, Christian Jung³, Wanzhi Ye¹, Tim Thurau¹, Yanyan Tian² and Daguang Cai¹

 Department of Molecular Phytopathology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Hermann Rodewald Str. 9, 24118 Kiel, Germany
 Institute for Biotechnology, Halbin-University, Halbin, PR China
 Plant Breeding Institute, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Olshausenstr. 40, 24118 Kiel, Germany

Key words: *Hs1*^{*pro-1*}, NBS-LRR, R-gene, nematode resistance, resistance gene analogs, signal transduction

1 Abstract

Most of plant disease resistance genes encode for proteins that share highly conserved motifs including nucleotide binding sites and leucine-rich repeats (NBS-LRR). By using degenerated primer based on the NBS/LRR-sequences conserved among Mi, Gpa2, Cre3 and Prf three expressed RGAs had been identified from the nematode resistance sugar beet line A906001, that carries the Hs1^{pro-1} gene. The RGAs, cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 all belong to the CC-NBS-LRR resistance protein family and share high sequential and structural homology to a set of recently cloned resistance proteins, suggesting their potential role in nematode resistance. To investigate this, we generated transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana plants expressing each of the RGAs, respectively and challenged the transgenic plants with Heterodera schachtii. Here we demonstrate that expression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 in Arabidopsis plants showed a strong antinematode effect resulting in a significant reduction of the number of females developed on transgenic plants when compared to the control plants. In support of this, we tested *rpm1*-ko Arabidopsis mutant plants in which the transcript of *RPM1*, a cZR-3 homolog gene is completely abolished. As indicated by nematode resistance tests, the *rpm1*-ko plants showed a significant enhanced susceptibility to nematode infection compared to the wild type plants. These results strongly support an active role of both RGAs in nematode resistance. By contrast, no significant anti-nematode effect could be observed on transgenic plants expressing cZR-9, on which females were able to develop regularly as on the control plants. We demonstrate that the expression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 in Arabidopsis strongly elevates the transcript levels of RAR1 and SGT1 but not of NPR1 and EDS1 and also upregulates the expression of PR proteins PR-1, -2, -4, -5, but not of PDF1.2, PDF2.2 and PDF2.3. Therefore, we conclude that cZR-3 and 7 may be involved in the Hs1^{pro-1} mediated nematode resistance following a signaling route specific for CC-NBS-LRR resistance proteins, which finally leads to enhanced expression of defence related proteins. Thus, interference of PR- proteins may represent an important aspect of the Hsl^{pro-1} mediated nematode resistance in sugar beet. A possible functional mode is discussed.

2 Introduction

During the evolution, plants have evolved an efficient immune system against various pathogens, which can be represented by a four-phased model (Jones and Dangl 2006). This model comprises: (1) microbial/pathogen-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs/ PAMPs) are recognized by plant pattern recognition receptors resulting in PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI); (2) pathogens evolved specialized abilities to suppress the primary defences (PTI) e.g. by secreting effector proteins into the plant cell resulting in effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS) (Nürnberger et al. 2004; Chisholm et al. 2006); (3) once the effector is directly or indirectly recognized by a plant resistance protein, the effector-triggered immunity (ETI) became activated and (4) pathogen isolates are selected that have lost the effectors and therefore gained new ones to overcome resistance again. The effector-triggered immunity (ETI) relying on resistance (R) proteins confers a pathogen-specific resistance that is often associated with a form of programmed cell death around the infection site termed the hypersensitive response (HR).

A range of disease resistance genes (R-genes) have been cloned from various plant species, which are characterized by conserved domains in their predicted protein structures. The majority of cloned R-genes fall into the nucleotide- binding site/leucine-rich repeat (NBS-LRR)-containing gene family. NBS-LRR gene products are characterized by a variable N-terminal of 200 amino acids, followed by a putative NBS domain consisting of Ploop/ kinase-1a, kinase-2, and kinase-3a motifs and by a more variable tandem array of approximately 10-40 short LRR motifs (Traut 1994; Jones and Jones 1997). NBS-LRR proteins can be further subdivided into TIR and non-TIR proteins based on the presence or absence of an amino-terminal (N-terminal) TIR domain (Perker et al. 1997). These features share high homology to the proteins that function in animal innate immunity and apoptosis implicating a conserved mechanism of cell death programmes in plants and animals (Saraste et al. 1990; Li et al. 1997; van der Biezen and Jones 1998, Aravind et al. 1999).

Plant NBS-LRR-R-proteins act through a network of signaling pathways and induce a series of plant defense responses including the activation of an oxidative burst, neutralization of reactive oxygen species, production of antimicrobial metabolites and the programmed cell death (Van Baarlen et al. 2007; Glazebrook et al. 2005). So far, only several key regulators involved in R-gene activated pathways have been described. They include e.g. *RAR1* (required for Mla12 resistance), *NPR1* (nonexpresser of PR genes), *EDS1* and *PAD4* (lipase-like proteins) as well as *SGT1* (suppressor of the G2 allele of skp1). Genetic studies showed

that CC-NBS-LRR-R-genes operate plant resistance responses dependent on *RAR1* and *SGT1*, whereas *NPR1*, *EDS1* and *PAD4* are required by resistance genes that belong to the TIR-NBS-LRR-R-gene class (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003).

Several nematode resistance genes have recently been isolated from plants, all conferring resistance against sedentary nematodes including *Cre3* (Lagudah et al. 1997), *Gpa2* (Van der Vossen et al. 2000), *Gro1* (Paal et al. 2004), *Hero* (Milligan et al. 1998), *Mi-1* (Ernst et al. 2002) and $Hs1^{pro-1}$ (Cai et al. 1997), which was the first nematode resistance gene to be cloned. Recently, two major genes *Rhg4* and *Rhg1* conferring resistance to the soybean cyst nematode (SCN) in soybean have been reported (Meksem et al. 2005; Ruben et al. 2006). By comparison, $Hs1^{pro-1}$ has no homology to known R-proteins and is therefore designated as a member of a new class of resistance genes. The gene product was predicted to span the cytoplasm membrane and function as a receptor interacting with nematode effectors (Cai et al. 1997). As no complete resistance could be observed by transgenic sugar beet plants so far, it is proposed that a second gene may be involved in the resistance expression (Schulte et al. 2006).

Recent genome research revealed that each plant genome encodes hundreds of R-proteins (Meyers et al. 2003; Monosi et al. 2004). Degenerated primer-based PCR amplification has been successfully used for isolation of resistance gene candidates (RGCs) or resistance gene analogues (RGAs) from a wide variety of plant species (Leister et al. 1996; Timmerman-Vaughan et al. 2000; Pan et al. 2000; Bai et al. 2002; Tian et al. 2004; Calenge et al. 2005). RGAs have also been identified from the sugar beet genome and several of these were found to be associated with resistance to various pathogens (Hunger et al. 2003; Tian et al. 2004; Lein et al. 2007). In our previous project, we had cloned a set of expressed NBS-LRR-containing RGAs including 4 full-length cDNAs from a nematode resistant sugar beet. Their function in nematode resistance response still remains unsolved.

The *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype C24 is a host of the beet cyst nematode *Heterodera schachtii*, and therefore has been intensively used for studying plant-parasite interaction (Sijmons et al. 1991). Here we report that expression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 in Arabidopsis plants gave rise to a strong anti-nematode effect whereas knockout of a homologue gene of cZR-3 in Arabidopsis enhanced susceptibility to nematode infection. In addition, we demonstrate that cZR-3 as well as cZR-7 upregulates the expression of *RAR1*, *SGT1* and of *PR-1*, *-2*, *-4*, *-5*. Thus we conclude that cZR-3 as well as cZR-7 are involved in the *Hs1*^{pro-1} mediated nematode resistance following a *RAR1/SGT1* dependent signaling route that is specific for

CC-NBS-LRR R- proteins, and that the interference of PR-proteins may represent an important aspect of the $Hs l^{pro-1}$ mediated nematode resistance in plants.

3 Material and Methods

3.1 Plant material

Arabidopsis thaliana C24 and Col-0 (Lehle Seeds, Round Rock, USA) were used for generation of transgenic plants and the mutant analysis, respectively.

3.2 Generation of transgenic plants

3.2.1 Plasmid constructs and Agrobacteria cultures

The full-length cDNAs of cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 were subcloned as an *XhoI*-fragment into the XhoI site of the binary vector pAM194 (KWS Saat AG, Einbeck, Germany) under the control of the 35S promoter resulting in the plant expression constructs pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7 and pAM194-cZR-9. The recombinant binary vectors were transformed into A. tumefaciens strain GV3101 (Koncz and Schell 1986) for A. thaliana transformation by using electroporation (Gene Pulser System II, Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). Electroporation was performed at 2.5 kV/cm, 25 µF and 200 Ohm. Bacteria cells were recovered with SOC (2% (w/v) Tryptone Pepton; 0.5% (w/v) Yeast extract; 10 mM NaCl; 2.5 mM KCl; 10 mM MgCl₂; 10 mM MgSO₄; 20 mM Glucose) at 37°C for 1 hour. The transformed Agrobacterium cells were grown on 2YT medium containing 50 ppm kanamycin and 50 ppm gentamycin overnight. For transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana root explants a single overnight colony was used to inoculate 5 ml 2YT liquid culture medium with 50 ppm kanamycin and 50 ppm gentamycin and was grown at 28°C, 210 rpm for 18–24 h. The overnight culture was used to inoculate 50 ml 2YT medium without antibiotics. Cells were harvested by centrifugation for 10 min at 4°C, 2900 x g and then resuspended in 50 ml B5 medium (Gamborg B5 Micro and Macro elements 3.18 g/l; Gamborg B5 vitamins 0.112 g/l; Glucose 2% (w/v)). The washing step was repeated. 1 ml was transferred into 20 ml fresh B5 medium ready for transformation.

3.2.2 Arabidopsis thaliana root transformation

Transgenic Arabidopsis plants were generated by using the root transformation protocol (Valvekens et al. 1988). C24 Arabidopsis seeds were surface sterilized for 5 min in 70% (v/v) ethanol, in 5% (w/v) NaClO containing 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 for 10 min, and rinsed four times with sterile distilled water. Sterile seeds were transferred into 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 100 ml liquid B5 medium and germinated for nine days by gently shaking (22°C, 16/8 h light/dark photoperiod). Roots were cut into small pieces of about 0.5 cm and transferred to a nylon membrane (100 Mikron, Hydro-Bios, Altenholz, Germany) lying on

solid CIM medium for a preconditioning time of 72 h. After preconditioning the root explants were incubated with the prepared *A. tumefaciens* culture for 2 min. The infected explants were soaked on sterile filter paper before co-cultivation on fresh CIM medium for 48 h. After co-cultivation the explants were washed four times with liquid B5 medium and transferred to SIM medium. Single green shoots were excised and transferred to SEM medium for shoot elongation and then to RIM medium to form roots. Rooted plants were transferred to soil to set seeds.

3.3 PCR and Southern analysis

Genomic DNA was extracted using the cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) method as described by Rogers and Bendich (1985). Kanamycin-resistant A. thaliana plants were harvested for isolation of genomic DNA after seven days. PCR was carried out in a total volume of 20 µl containing 50 ng of template DNA, 10 mM PCR buffer (pH 8.3), 2 mM MgCl₂, each dNTP at 0.5 mM, each primer at 10 pmol, and 1 U of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany) in a thermocycler (Biometra, Göttingen, Germany) under the following conditions: 5 min at 94°C, 60 s at 94°C, 60 s at 55 °C, 1 min 30 s at 72°C for 34 cycles, followed by 10 min at 72°C. PCR products were separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel and analyzed with the software Quantity One (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH, München, Germany). For Southern hybridization experiments the extracted DNA was digested with two restriction enzymes (EcoRI, XhoI), electrophoretically separated on 0,75% (w/v) agarose gels and blotted on Hybond-N+membrane (GE Healthcare, Chalfont St. Giles, UK) by capillary diffusion overnight using 0.25 M NaOH/1.5 M NaCl as blotting solution. Southern blots were hybridized with 32P-labelled DNA probe (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983) at 60°C, washed twice (0.5 x SSC; 0.2 % w/v SDS) for 30 min and exposed at -70°C for 48 h. The DNA probe for Southern-hybridization was generated by PCR with gene specific primers GGGTAAAACTGCTCTTGC and AAGCCCTCTTTCTCCATC for cZR-7(f/r), AGTTATTGATAGGGCTATGG and ATACTTGAGGCAGTCAGG for cZR-3 (f/r) as well as TGGGAAGACAACATTGGC and ACCTTTTTGGCAGGAATC for cZR-9 (f/r) using plasmid DNA as template. PCR fragments were separated on a 1.3% (w/v) low melting agarose gel before radio-labelling.

3.4 Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and qRT-PCR

Semi-quantitative RT PCR was used to assay the expression patterns of the genes of interest. Transgenic as well as control Arabidopsis were removed from the plates, rinsed 12 times with

an excess of sterile water (50 ml each) and frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA extraction. Extraction of total RNA was performed following the trizol protocol (Invitrogen). The total RNA was treated with RNAse-free DNAse (Fermentas, St. Leon-Rot, Germany) for 60 min at 37° C. Synthesis of cDNA was carried out using a Superscript III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The semi-quantitative PCR amplification was performed in 50 µl reactions consisting of 2.5µl 10ng/µl cDNA, 5µl 10 x buffer, 0.5µl 10 mM dNTPs, 5 µl each of 10 pmol/µl primer, 2.5 U of Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 31.5 µl H₂0 under the PCR programme: 94°C for 50 s, 54°C for 1min and 72°C for 1min for 25 cycles, followed by 10 min at 72°C. Amplicons, separated on a 1% (w/v) agarose gel were visualised under UV-light. The housekeeping *ubiquitin* gene served as a control and the mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized to the *ubiquitin* message RNA level (ACTCTCACCGGAAAGACAATC and

TGACGTTGTCGATGGTGTCAG for Arabidopsis).

The real-time PCR was performed using the ABI7300 Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA). The SYBR QPCR Supermix (Invitrogen) was used for PCR reactions according to the manufacturer's instructions in a final volume of 20 μ l. The ABI7300 was programmed to 95°C 10 min, 35 x (95°C 30 s, 55°C 40 s, 72°C 45 s), 72°C 10 min followed by a melting curve programme (55 to 95°C in increasing steps of 0.5°C). All reactions were repeated at least twice. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with respect to the *ubiquitin* message level (ACTCTCACCGGAAAG ACAATC and TGACGTTGTCGATGGTGTCAG for sugar beet). Fold induction values were calculated with the Δ CP equaltion of Pfaffl (2001) and related to the mRNA level of the target genes in wild type roots, which were defined as 1.0.

The following primers were used in the described gene expression experiments:

Target	Accession no.	Primer 5' - 3'	Reference
PDF1.2	AT5G44420	ATGGCTAAGTTTGCTTCCA	Huffaker et al. 2007
		TTAACATGGGACGTAACAGATAC	
<i>PDF2.1</i>	AT2G02120	GATGGGTCCAGTCACGGTC	Thomma et al. 1998
		TTCAAGAACACACTAAACACGC	
<i>PDF2.3</i>	AT2G02130	CACACACAACTGTGCAAACG	Thomma et al. 1998
		CGGAAACACACAAACCAATG	
PR1	AT2G14610	GGAGCTACGCAGAACAACTA	Huffaker et al. 2007
		AGTATGGCTTCTCGTTCACA	
PR2	AT3G57260	CTACAGAGATGGTGTCA	Uknes et al. 1992
		AGCTGAAGTAAGGGTAG	
PR4	AT3G04720	GGCCGGACAACAATGCGGTCGTCAAGG	Thomma et al. 1998
		CAAGCATGTTTCTGGAATCAGGCTGCC	
PR5	AT1G75040	CACATTCTCTTCCTCGTGTTC	Thomma et al. 1998
		TAGTTAGCTCCGGTACAAGTG	
RAR1	AT5G51700	ATGACGACAATCCTCAAGG	this study
		CTTGATCTGTTCTTTGGGTTGGG	
SGT1b	AT4G11260	ATGGCCAAGGAATTAGCAGA	Tör et al. 2002
		CGGTTTGGCAGGTGCTGCAGGA	
NPR1	AT1G64280.1	TCAACCATAGGAATCCGAGGG	this study
		CCGACGACGATGAGAGAGTTTACG	
EDS1	AT3G48090	ACCAGATCATGGTCAGCC	Feys et al. 2001
		TGTCCTGTGAACACTATCTGTTTTCTACT	
PAD4	AT3G52430	ATACGTTGCTATACCGGC	Feys et al. 2001
		GGTTGAATGGCCGGTTATCA	

3.5 Nematode infection experiments

Heterodera schachtii was propagated on in vitro stock cultures of mustard (*Sinapis alba* cv.Albatros) roots grown on 0.2 x Knop medium supplemented with 2% sucrose and 0.8% Daishin agar under sterile conditions. Fully developed cysts were harvested from the roots onto 50 µm gauze. Hatching of juveniles was stimulated by soaking cysts in 3 mM ZnCl₂ for 8 - 10 days. The larvae were harvested with 10 µm gauze, surface-sterilized, washed four times in sterile water, resuspended in 0.2% Gelrite (w/v) (Duchefa, Harlem, Netherlands) and used directly for inoculation experiments. Inoculation of *A. thaliana* plants with nematodes was performed *in vitro* according to the protocol described by Sijmons et al. (1991). One-week old Arabidopsis seedlings were transferred to 6-well plates containing 0.2 x Knop medium under sterile conditions. Two hundred sterile infective juveniles of the beet cyst nematode were added to each single *A. thaliana* plant on 6-well plates. The number of developed females was determined 4 weeks after infection under a stereomicroscope (Stemi SV 11, Zeiss, Germany).

3.6 A. thaliana mutants

The database BLAST search (blastx) revealed that the cZR-3 encoded protein is 30% identical (E-value 5e-46) to *RPM1* from Arabidopsis (AT3G07040).The knockout Arabidopsis mutants of AT3G07040 were obtained from the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center (ABRC, Ohio State University, OH, USA), which contain a T-DNA insertion in AT3G07040 (*RPM1*, CS8637). After successive selfing, 4 homozygous ko lines were selected by PCR using the T-DNA-left border-specific primer (TGGTTCACGTAGTGGGCCATCG) in combination with *RPM-1*-specific primers RPM1-f (TCCACGGTTATCGTAGCTGCGC) and RPM-r (CCGTCCGATGAGCTTTCCCTT). Knockout of the transcript in the ko line was confirmed by RT-PCR with the same gene-specific primers as described above.

4 **Results**

4.1 Sequence, structure and transcript analysis of 3 sugar beet RGAs

In our previous work, three full-length sugar beet non-TIR RGAs, cZR,-3, -7 and -9 had been identified from the nematode resistant sugar beet line A906001. The RGAs share strong sequential and structural similarity to several recently cloned NBS-LRR R-genes including e.g. *Mi* (6.5e-75, rootknot nematode R-protein; Milligan et al. 1998), *Gpa2* (5.1e-31, cyst nematode R-protein; van der Vossen et al. 2000), *Rx* (1.4e-18, viral R-protein; Bendahmane et al. 1999), *I2C1* (9.8e-38, vascular wilt disease R-protein; Ori et al. 1997) and as well as *Prf* and *RPM1* (1.0e-25 and 1.9e-42, *P. syringae* R-proteins; Grant et al. 1995; Salmeron et al. 1996). Therefore, we assumed that these genes may play crucial role in the *Hs1*^{pro-1}-mediated resistance.

To get a view of transcript profiles of three RGAs, we performed a qRT-PCR analysis on resistant plants upon nematode infection and compared them with those of susceptible plants.



Figure 1: Expression profiling of cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 in roots of nematode resistant sugar beet line A906001 and of susceptible sugar beet line 93161p investigated by qRT-PCR. Nematode resistant plants (R) as well as susceptible plants (A) were inoculated with *H. schachtii* J2 juveniles and roots were harvested 12 days after inoculation (Rwi; Awi). Non-infected resistant (Rw) and susceptible (Aw) plants served as a control. The housekeeping *ubiquitin* gene served as a control and the mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized to the *ubiquitin* message RNA level. Bars represent standard errors based on 3 independent experiments with 10 plants each.

As shown in Figure 1 substantial levels of transcripts of cZR-3, 7 and 9 could be detected in both resistant and susceptible plants. However, in response to nematode attack, no significant change in transcript levels of cZR-3 and cZR-7 was observed in both resistant and susceptible

plants. A strong transcriptional upregulation of cZR-9 was observed in both resistant and susceptible plants. These results indicate that cZR-3, 7, 9 are constitutively expressed in plants in consistence with most of plant R-proteins and RGAs but expression of cZR-9 is additionally enhanced in response to nematode attack.

4.2 Generation of transgenic Arabidopsis plants expressing each of the RGAs

To define the possible role of the RGAs in nematode resistance, we transferred them into Arabidopsis plants and test them for nematode resistance. Each of the RGAs was subcloned as a *Xho*I fragment into the binary vector pAM194 resulting in three plant expression constructs pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7, pAM194-cZR-9 (Figure 2A).



Figure 2: Molecular characterization of cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 transgenic *A. thaliana* plants by genomic PCR. **A**: Map of plant expression constructs pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7 and pAM194-cZR-9. LB and RB: left and right borders; *nptII*: neomycin-phosphotransferase gene giving resistance to kanamycine; GUS: GUS gene with intron. **B**: Determination of the transgene in *A. thaliana* plants transformed with pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7, pAM194-cZR-9 by genomic PCR. **I**: PCR amplifications with cZR-3 gene specific primers cZR-3f/r, **II**: PCR amplifications with cZR-7 gene specific primers cZR-7f/r, **III**: PCR amplifications with cZR-9 gene specific primers cZR-9f/r. M: 1 kb marker, cK: negative control pAM194 transformed *A. thaliana*, lines 1-5: transgenic *A. thaliana* plants harbouring pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7 and pAM194-cZR-9, p: positive control plasmid DNA harbouring the respective genes.

Subsequently, all three gene constructs were transformed into the *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype C24 by *A. tumefaciens* mediated transformation. In total, 45 independent transformants (T0) were obtained for pAM194-cZR-3, 95 for pAM194-cZR-7 and 58 for pAM194-cZR-9 (Table 1). The presence and the copy number of the transgenes were determined by PCR (Figure 2B) as well as by Southern blot analysis with 18 randomly selected transformands of each gene construct (data not shown). The number of the transgene varied from one to four, but most of the transformands harbor only one (data not shown). The expression of the transgene in transgenic Arabidopsis was also confirmed by RT-PCR using gene-specific primers. As demonstrated in Figure 3, RT-PCR fragments of the transgene cZR-

3, 7 and 9 were detected in transgenic plants carrying respective gene constructs, but not in the control plant transformed with the empty vector.

RGA	Selectable marker	Binary vector	No of T0 plants regenerated	No of T1 plants selected	No of T2 families	No of T3 families
cZR-3	Kan	pAM194	45	5	5	4
cZR-7	Kan	pAM194	95	46	8	8
cZR-9	Kan	pAM194	58	78	12	8
A <u>ck</u>	<u>1 2 3</u>	_4 B	<u>ck 1 2 3</u>	<u>4</u> C <u>ck</u>	<u>1 2 .</u>	<u>3 4</u>

Table 1: Results of the *A. thaliana* transformation experiments with pAM194-cZR-3, pAM194-cZR-7 and pAM194-cZR-9. Transgenic *A. thaliana* families were selected for nematode resistance.

Figure 3: Expression of cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 in transgenic Arabidopsis determined by RT-PCR with 4 independent transgenic Arabidopsis lines for each of the three gene constructs. **A**: PCR amplifications with cZR-3 gene specific primers cZR-3f/r, **B**: PCR amplifications with cZR-7 gene specific primers cZR-7f/r, **C**: PCR amplifications with cZR-9 gene specific primers cZR-9f/r. Arabidopsis plants transformed with the empty vector served as control (ck). The cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 transcripts are present in all transgenic lines transformed with the respective genes. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

4.3 Nematode resistance tests with transgenic Arabidopsis plants

For determination the transgene effect on nematode development, the T1 progenies from the 18 randomly selected T0 transformands of each gene construct were subjected to nematode resistance tests, in which the Arabidopsis plants transformed with the empty vector served as a control. For this, transgenic seeds (T1) were geminated on agar plates carrying 50 μ g/ml kanamycin for selection of transgenic plants (Figure 4). The surviving seedlings were transferred to 6-well agar plates for nematode infection experiments (Figure 6A), in which each plant was inoculated with 200 infective nematode juveniles and repeated three times each with 24 individual plants.



Figure 4: Selection of transgenic *A. thaliana* plants on kanamycin containing medium (**A**); green healthy plants were used for nematode inoculation experiments. Selection of transgenic *A. thaliana* plants by histochemical GUS staining (**B**).

Four weeks after inoculation, females on each plant were counted as well as documented under a stereomicroscope. The results were summarized in Figure 5. The number of developed females on12 cZR-3 transgenic plants varies between 3 ± 1 and 8 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=72), on 14 cZR-7 transgenic plants between 3 ± 1 to 9 ± 3 (mean±STD, n=20) which are significantly less than those counted on the control plants (Figure 5A, B). On cZR-9 transgenic plants the number of developed females varies between 8 ± 4 and 14 ± 2 (mean±STD, n=72), thus no significant reduction of developed females was given on the transgenic plants expressing cZR-9 when compared them to the control plants (Figure 5C). The development of nematodes on cZR-3 or cZR-7 transgenic plants was observed under the microscope and documented weekly. On control plants developed females could be easily counted under the microscope 4-5 weeks after nematode infection, whereas the majority of females were not able to develop regularly and remained smaller and translucent on transgenic plants (Figure 6B-E).





Figure 5: Results of nematode resistance assays with transgenic *A. thaliana* plants transformed with pAM194-cZR-3 (A), pAM194-cZR-7 (B) and pAM194-cZR-9 (C). *A. thaliana* plants obtained by transformation with the empty vector pAM194 served as the susceptible control (ck). The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a line from 24 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters (a and b) calculated with additive t test at P < 0.05.



Figure 6: Visual comparison of transgenic *A. thaliana* plants and susceptible control plants in nematode resistance tests. **A**: Transgenic *A. thaliana* plants on 6-well plates one week after inoculation; **B, D**: Developed females could be easily counted under the microscope 4 weeks after nematode infection on control plants; **C, E**: Females were not able to develop regularly and no cysts were formed on transgenic plants. c: developed females. The bar equals 500µm.

By comparison, no significant difference between cZR-3- and cZR-7 in respect of inhibitory efficiency on female development in transgenic plants was observed. This observation differs from the results made by Tian (2003) with transgenic sugar beet hairy roots, in which cZR-3 gave a significant stronger effect than cZR-7 and cZR-9. To determine the stability and inheritability of the resistance mediated by cZR-3 and cZR-7 in transgenic Arabidopsis, we have chosen the four best events out of nematode resistance tests and successively propagated them to T4 generation resulting in 4 homozygous lines for cZR-3 and cZR-7, respectively. Subsequently, 24 individuals of each line were analysed by a second nematode resistance test with T1

plants (Figure 7). All selected T4 lines of each gene construct showed significant resistance to nematode infection compared to the control.



Figure 7: Results of nematode resistance test with selected transgenic *A. thaliana* T4 plants expressing cZR-3 and cZR-7. *A. thaliana* plants obtained by transformation with the empty vector pAM194 served as the susceptible control (ck). The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a line from 24 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters (a and b) calculated with additive t test at P < 0.05.

4.4 Functional analysis of A. thaliana mutant plants

To define an active role of cZR-3 in nematode resistance response, we analysed Arabidopsis knockout (ko) mutant plants with the Col-0 genetic background, in which *RPM1* a cZR-3 homologue sequence is abolished. The ko Arabidopsis mutant plants of AT3G07040 were obtained from the Arabidopsis Biological Resource Center (ABRC, Ohio State University, OH, USA) and contains a T-DNA insertion in AT3G07040 (*RPM1*, CS8637). Because Arabidopsis Col-0 plants are more tolerant to *H. schachtii* infection when compared to C24, we expected an enhanced susceptibility of *rpm1*-ko mutant plants. The mutant plants do not show any obvious morphological alterations in comparison with Col-0 wild type plants. Homozygous *rpm1*-ko lines were selected by PCR analysis using the T-DNA-LB-specific primer and locus-specific primers. As indicated in Figure 8, no *RPM1* transcript was detected in *rpm1*-ko plants while Col-0 wild type plants show a band of 247 bp in size.



Figure 8: Characterization of *A. thaliana rpm1*-ko plants by RT-PCR analysis. RT-PCR was performed with RNA of 14 days old seedlings of the *rpm1*-ko and wild-type plants (Col-0) using RPM1-specific primers. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

For nematode inoculation, seedlings were geminated on 6-well agar plates, each containing 4 Arabidopsis mutant seedlings and 2 control plants. The plates were incubated in a growth chamber (22°C, 16/8h light/dark photoperiod) for seven days and were subsequently inoculated with approximately 200 infective nematode juveniles. Four weeks post inoculation, the number of developed female nematodes was scored. These experiments were repeated three times with eight individual plants. As indicated in Figure 9, *rpm1* ko-mutant plants exhibited a clear hypersusceptibility to *H. schachtii* with seven females developed per plant. By comparison, wild type Col-0 plants exhibited one to three females per plant (Figure 9). This result strongly suggests an active role of cZR-3 homologue sequence *RPM1* in Arabidopsis defence response to nematode infection, generally.



Figure 9: Results of nematode resistance test with *A. thaliana rpm1*-ko plants. *A. thaliana* wild type plants C24 and Col-0 served as the control. The average number of developed females is presented as a bar, and the standard deviation as a line from 8 individual plants for each line. Significantly different means are indicated by different letters calculated with t test at P < 0.05.

4.5 Determination of RGA-mediated signaling pathways

To define whether expression of cZR-3 and cZR-7 activates a specific signaling pathway we analysed the transcript levels of five key genes determining distinct defense pathways in transgenic Arabidopsis plants and compared them with those in wild type plants by semiquantitative RT-PCR (Figure 10). Included are *NPR1* and *EDS1*, determinants for the TIR-NBS-LRR-R-protein activated signaling pathway and *RAR1* as well as *SGT1*, which are both positioned in the non-TIR-(CC)-NBS-LRR-R-protein mediated resistance response (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003). Three independent transgenic lines for each gene construct were employed for the analysis. As expected, transgenic lines exhibited substantially elevated levels of cZR-3 and cZR-7 transcripts, respectively. While an enhanced expression of *RAR1* as well as *SGT1* occurred in all transgenic plants as compared to the control, no clear change in *NPR1* and *EDS1* transcript levels was obvious (Figure 10). These data strongly suggest that expression of cZR-3 and cZR-7 activates a *RAR1/SGT1* dependent signaling pathway in plants, which is well-known specific for non-TIR-(CC)-NBS-LRR-R-protein mediated resistance response. This matches the predicted structure and function of all three RGAs since they are all members of a non-TIR-(CC)-NBS-LRR-R-gene family.





PR-proteins and plant defensins (PDFs) are involved in plant defense responses to different pathogens, but very little is known about their role in plant nematode resistance. To explore whether cZR-3 and cZR-7 activate signal transduction pathways regulating the expression of

defense related genes, we determined transcript levels of a set of defense-related proteins (PR and PDF proteins) in transgenic Arabidopsis plants by semi-quantitative RT-PCR and compared them with those in control plants. An enhanced transcriptional activity was given for the *PR-1*, *PR-2*, *PR-4* and *PR-5* genes in the transgenic plants (Figure 11). No clear change in the transcript levels for *PDF1.2*, *PDF2.2* and *PDF 2.3* genes was visible (Figure 11). Thus, we conclude that expression of cZR-3 and cZR-7 in Arabidopsis plants activates a *RAR1/SGT1* dependent signaling pathway leading to enhanced expression of PR-proteins. This may represent an important aspect of the *Hs1^{pro-1}* mediated nematode resistance.



Figure 11: Expression of cZR-3 and cZR-7 activated defence related genes in transgenic Arabidopsis. PR and PDF gene expression levels were determined by semiquantitative RT-PCR with 3 independent transgenic Arabidopsis lines for each gene construct and Arabidopsis wild type C24 plants served as control. **A**: PCR amplifications with *PDF1.2*, **B**: PCR amplifications with *PDF2.2*, **C**; PCR amplifications with *PDF2.3*, **D**: PCR amplifications with *PR-1*, **E**: PCR amplifications with *PR-2*, **F**: PCR amplifications with *PR-4*, **G**: PCR amplifications with *PR-5*, **H**: PCR amplifications with *ubiquitin*. The mRNA levels for each cDNA probe were normalized with the *ubiquitin* mRNA level.

5 Discussion

Due to the limitations of working with the crop plant sugar beet we used Arabidopsis as a model in this study to investigate the interaction between beet cyst nematode and RGAs isolated from sugar beet. As no complete resistance could be observed either in $Hs1^{pro-1}$ transgenic sugar beet plants or Arabidopsis plants so far, a second gene is proposed to be essential for the resistance (Schulte et al. 2006). In addition, the fact that $Hs1^{pro-1}$ exhibits an unusual structure with no homology to known R-proteins and the NBS-LRR domain proved to be essential for recognition of the pathogen and activation of resistance response provokes us to search for a NBS-LRR carrying gene, which may be involved in both recognition and activation of the signaling pathway in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated resistance. Also, evidence was given from investigations on *Pto* resistant plants. It has been demonstrated that *Pto* implicitly requires *Prf* for an active defense response upon recognition of AvrPto by *Pto* as the NBS-LRR domain of the downstream signaling pathway of *Pto*. Thereby, *Prf* is suggested as "guardee" of *Pto* (Dangl and Jones 2001).

Accordingly, NBS-LRR containing RGAs were identified from the nematode resistant sugar beet genome (Tian et al. 2004). Unexpectedly, all RGAs belong to the non-TIR-NBS-LRR R-protein family and were characterized by a potential coiled-coil structure, an NB-ARC domain and a tandem array of approximately 19-29 short LRR motifs. There are several indications that the full length RGAs cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 may be involved in nematode resistance: (1) they are constitutively expressed in resistant as well as susceptible plants as revealed by transcript profiling analysis, except for cZR-9 that shows an enhanced expression by nematode attck; (2) the homology search (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/) showed significant similarities of the predicted proteins to several NBS-LRR R-proteins identified from different species including nematode R-protein *Mi*, *Gpa2 and Hero* (Milligan et al. 1998; van der Vossen et al. 2000; Ernst et al. 2002) as well as *P. syringae* resistance proteins have shown that transgenic sugar beet hairy roots overexpressing those RGAs hampered female development.

We found that the expression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 in Arabidopsis plants gave rise to a significant anti-nematode effect: the number of developed females was drastically reduced and the regular development of nematodes was hampered as that observed in the resistant sugar beet. By contrast, the *rpm1* ko-mutant Arabidosis plants were becoming

hypersusceptibel to nematode infection. Most importantly, the resistance was stabile inherited to T4 generation. This agrees with the results made by (Tian 2003) that the two RGAs were able to confer nematode resistance in transgeic sugar beet hairy roots. Although the expression of cZR-9 seems to be strongly upregulated by nematode attack in both resistant as well as susceptible sugar beet plants, no significant nematode inhibitory effect could be observed on transgenic plants expressing cZR-9. Thus, a partial resistance in cZR-9-transgenic sugar beet roots observed by Tian (2003) may be a true reflection of the "in vitro" nature of the hairy roots.

Most importantly, we found that cZR-3 as well as cZR-7 confers nematode resistance in transgenic Arabidopsis via activation of a specife signaling pathway. Generally, signaling pathways required for plant defense responses are complex, and even members from the same gene family that are induced by a single pathogen may require different signal molecules or combinations of signaling pathways for their expression (Ferrari et al. 2003). Recenly, several plant defense key regulators involved in distinct pathways have been identified, thus offering us the opportunity to molecularly determine/dissect respective signaling pathways activated by cZR-3 and cZR-7 as well. These include *RAR1* (required for Mla12 resistance), *NPR1* (Nonexpresser of PR gene 1), *EDS1* as well as *SGT1* (suppressor of the G2 allele of skp1). Remarkably, we found that the expression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 in transgenic Arabidopsis plants strongly enhanced the expression of *RAR1* and *SGT1*, but not of *NPR1* and EDS1, clearly suggesting that both RGAs activate a *RAR1/SGT1* dependent signaling route in Arabidopsis, which is essential for disease resistance triggered by a wide range of non-TIR-NBS-LRR R-proteins (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003).

It is worth noting that cZR-3 as well as cZR-7 consequently upregulate the expression of PRproteins via the *RAR1/SGT1* dependent signaling route in Arabidopsis plants as indicated by RT-PCR analysis. While transcript levels of *PDF1.2*, *PDF2.2* and *PDF2.3* were not changed; transcriptional activities of all analysed PR-genes were strongly enhanced. Because a set of NBS-LRR R-genes upregulates genes encoding proteins with antimicrobial properties including *PR-1*, *PR-2*, *PR-4*, *PR-5*, it is therefore tempted to speculate that the interference of PR-proteins may represent an important aspect of the *Hs1*^{pro-1}-mediated nematode resistance in sugar beet. In Arabidopsis, induction of *PR-1*, *PR-2*, and *PR-5* follows a SA-dependent pathway, whereas the induction of the plant defensin *PDF1.2* and *PR-4* depends on a pathway involving at least JA as a signal molecule (Li et al. 2004).

Several scenarios are considerable to explain why expression of both RGAs in Arabidopsis can induce nematode resistance response. First, cZR-3 and cZR-7 may represent close

homolog sequences of the second nematode R-gene that resides in the translocation of the resistant line A906001 (Tian et al. 2004). Overexpression of such homologous genes triggers resistance response even though they are functionally cryptic in respect to conferring nematode resistance in sugar beet, normaly. Thus, a complete cloning of the translocation and analysis of translocation mutants recently generated by radio-irradiation will shed light on it; alternatively, cZR-3 and cZR-7 may represent RGAs evolved during the evolution in the sugar beet genome. They served as reservoir of variation for resistance specificities during the evolution. These RGAs harbour the ability to activate plant defence mechanisms when they are overexpressed in plants. Third, it is most likely that cZR-3 and cZR-7 may play an active role in regulating the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode resistance. Increasing evidence supports the guard hypothesis that NBS-LRR-containing R-proteins "guard" and protect the host defence machinery from pathogens that manipulate it. Following this, the sugar beet RGAs, cZR-3 and cZR-7 may function as host targets/components in facilitating the Hsl^{pro-1}-mediated resistance response. In this case, overexpression of cZR-3 or cZR-7 will activate a specific signal cascade finally leading to resistance response. Thus, a great challenge remains to explore the possible interactions among Hs1^{pro-1}, cZR-3, cZR-7 and other components as well as the possible impact of these interactions on nematode resistance response.

6 Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (grants No. JU 205/12-1, SFB617-A19).

7 References

- Aarts MGM, Hekkert B, Holub EB, Beynon JL, Stiekema WJ, Pereira A (1998a). Identification of R-gene homologous DNA fragments genetically linked to disease resistance loci in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. MPMI 11:251-258.
- Alonso JM, Stepanova AN, Leisse TJ, Kim CJ, Chen H, Shinn P, Stevenson DK, Zimmerman Justin, Barajas P, Cheuk R, Gadrinab C, Heller C, Jeske A, Koesema E, Meyers CC, Parker H, Prednis L, Ansari Y, Choy N, Deen H, Geralt M, Hazari N, Hom E, Karnes M, Mulholland C, Ndubaku R, Schmidt I, Guzman P, Aguilar- Henonin L, Schmid M, Weigel De, Carter DE, Marchand T, Risseeuw E, Brogden D, Zeko A, Crosby WL, Berry CC, Ecker JR. (2003). Genome-wide insertional mutagenesis of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Science 301:653-657.
- Aravind L, Dixit VM, Koonin EV (1999) The domains of death: Evolution of the apoptosis machinery. Trends Biochem Sci 24:47-53
- Austin MJ, Muskett P, Kahn K, Feys BJ, Jones JDG, Parker JE (2002) Regulatory Role of *SGT1* in early *R*-gene mediated plant defenses. Science 295:2077-2080.
- Azevedo C, Sadanandom A, Kitagawa K, Freialdenhoven A, Shirasu K, Schulze-Lefert P (2002). The RAR1 interactor SGT1, an essential component of R gene-triggered disease resistance. Science 295:2073–2076.
- Bendahmane A, Kanyuka K, Baulcombe DC (1999) The *Rx* gene from potato controls separate virus resistance and cell death responses. Plant Cell 11:781-79.
- Cai D, Kleine M, Kifle S, Harloff HJ, Sandal NN, Marcker KA, Klein-Lankhorst RM, Salentijn EMJ, Lange W, Stiekema WJ, Wyss U, Grundler FMW and Jung C (1997) Positional Cloning of a Gene for Nematode Resistance in Sugar Beet. Science 275:832-834.
- Cao H, Li X, Dong X, (1998) Generation of broad-spectrum disease resistance by overexpression of an essential regulatory gene in systemic acquired resistanc. PNAS USA 95:6531–6536.
- Chisholm ST, Coaker G, Day B, Staskawicz BJ (2006) Host-microbe interactions: Shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. Cell 124:803–814.
- Collins NC, Webb CA, Seah S, Ellis JG, Hulbert SH, Pryor A (1998) The isolation and mapping of disease resistance gene analogs in maize. MPMI 11:968–978.
- Dangl JL and Jones JDG (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defense responses to infection. Nature 411:826–833.
- Ernst K, Kumar A, Kriseleit D, Kloos DU, Phillips MS, Ganal MW (2002) The broad spectrum potato cyst nematode resistance gene (*Hero*) from tomato is the only member of a large gene family of NBS-LRR genes with an unusual amino acid repeat in the LRR region. Plant J 31:127-136.
- Ferrari S, Vairo D, Ausubel FM, Cervone F, and De Lorenzo G. (2003) Tandemly duplicated Arabidopsis genes that encode polygalacturonase-inhibiting proteins are regulated coordinately by different signal transduction pathways in response to fungal infection. The Plant Cell 15:93–106.
- Feys BJ, Moisan LJ, Newman M, and Parker JE (2001) Direct interaction between the Arabidopsis disease resistance signaling proteins, EDS1 and PAD4. The EMBO Journal 20:5400-5411.
- Glazebrook J (2005) Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 43:205-227.
- Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JD (1997) Plant disease resistance genes. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:575-607.
- Hammond-Kosack KE, and Parker JE (2003) Deciphering plant-pathogen communication: Fresh perspectives for molecular resistance breeding. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14:177-193
- Heath MC (2000) Hypersensitive response-related death. Plant Mol Biol 44:321–334.
- Holt III BF, Belkhadir Youssef, Dangl JL (2005) Antagonistic control of disease resistance protein stability in the plant immune system. Science 309:929-932.
- Huffaker A and Ryan CA (2007) Endogenous peptide defense signals in Arabidopsis differentially amplify signaling for the innate immune response. PNAS USA 104: 10732-10736.
- Jones DA, Thomas CM, Hammond-Kosack KE, Balint-Kurti PJ, Jones JDG (1994) Isolation of the tomato Cf-9 gene for resistance to *Cladosporium fulvum* by transposon tagging. Science 266:789-793.
- Jones JDG and Dangl JL (2006). The plant immune system. Nature 444:323–329.
- Jones DA, Jones JDG (1997) The role of leucine-rich repeat proteins in plant defenses. Adv Bot Res 24:90-167.
- Jung C, Koch R, Fischer F, Brandes A, Wricke G, Hermann RG (1992) DNA markers closely linked to nematode resistance genes in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*, L.) mapped using chromosome additions and translocations originating from wild beets of the Procumbentes section. Molecular and General Genetics 232:271-278.
- Kanazin V, Marek LF, Shoemaker RC (1996) Resistance gene analogues are conserved and clustered in soybean. PNAS 93:11746-11750.

- Kifle S, Shao M, Jung C, Cai D (1999) An improved transformation protocol for studying gene expression in "hairy roots" of sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.). Plant Cell Reports 18:514-519.
- Koncz C and Schell J (1986) The promoter of TL-DNA gene 5 controls the tissue-specifc expression of chimaeric genes carried by a novel type of Agrobacterium binary vector. Mol. Gen. Genet 204:383-396.
- Lagudah ES, Moullet O and Appels R (1997) Map-based cloning of a gene sequence encoding a nucleotidebinding domain and a leucine-rich region at the *Cre-3* nematode resistance locus of wheat. Genome 40:659-665.
- Lein JC, Asbach K, Tian Y, Schulte D, Li C, Koch G, Jung C, and Cai D. (2006) Resistance gene analogues are clustered on chromosome 3 of sugar beet and co-segregate with QTL for rhizomania resistance. Genome 50:61-71.
- Leister D, Ballvora A, Salamini F and Gebhardt C (1996) A PCR–based approach for isolating pathogen resistance genes from potato with potential for wide application in plants. Nature Genetics 14:421-429.
- Leister D, Kurth J, Laurie DA, Yano M, Sasaki T (1998) Rapid reorganization of resistance gene homologues in cereal genomes. PNAS USA 95:370-375.
- Li P, Nijhawan D, Budihardjo I, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Alnemri ES, Wang X (1997) Cytochrome c and dATP-dependent formation of *Apaf-1/caspase-9* complex initiates an apoptotic protease cascade. Cell 91:479-489.
- Meksem K, Schlueter T, Shultz J, Jyothi LN, Jamai A, Lightfoot DA, Henrich J, Kranz H, Arenz M, Ishihara H, Zhang H-B, and Tebbji F (2005) A bacterial artificial chromosome based physical map of the Ustilago maydis genome. Genome 48:207-216.
- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRRencoding genes in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 15: 809-834
- Milligan SB, Bodeau J, Yaghoobi J, Kaloshian I, Zabel P, Williamson VM (1998) The root knot nematode resistance gene *Mi* from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. Plant Cell 10:1307-1319.
- Monosi B, Wisser RJ, Pennill L, Hulbert SH (2004) Full-genome analysis of resistance gene homologues in rice Theor Appl Genet 109:1434–1447.
- Nürnberger T, Brunner F, Kemmerling B, Piater L (2004) Innate immunity in plants and animals: striking similarities and obvious differences. Immunol Rev 198:249–266
- Nürnberger T and Kemmerling B (2006) Receptor protein kinases pattern recognition receptors in plant immunity. Trends in Plant Science 11:519-522.
- Paal J, Henselewski H, Muth J, Meksem K, Menendez CM, Salamini F, Ballvora A, Gebhardt C. (2004) Molecular cloning of the potato *Gro1-4* gene conferring resistance to pathotype Ro1 of the root cyst nematode *Globodera rostochiensis*, based on a candidate gene approach. Plant Journal 38:285-297.
- Pieterse CMJ and van Loon LC (1999) Salicylic acid independent plant defense pathways. Trends in Plant Science 4:1360-1385.
- Rivkin MI, Vallejos CE, and McClean PE (1999) Disease-resistance related sequences in common bean Genome 42: 41–47
- Rogers SO and Bendich AJ (1985) Extraction of DNA from milligram amounts of fresh, herbarium and mummified plant tissue. Plant Mol. Biol. 5:69-76.
- Ruben EA, Jamai J, Afzal VN, Njiti K, Triwitayakorn MJ, Iqbal S, Yaegashi R, Bashir S, Kazi P, Arelli CD, Town H, Ishihara K, Meksem DA, Lightfoot (2006) Genomic analysis of the rhg1 locus: candidate genes that underlie soybean resistance to the cyst nematode Mol Gen Genomics 276:503–516
- Saraste M, Sibbald PR, Wittinghofer A (1990) The P-loop- a common motif in ATP- and GTP-bindig proteins. Tr. Biochem. Sci. 15:430-434.
- Schulte D, Cai D, Kleine M, Fan L, Wang S, Jung C (2006) A complete physical map of a wild beet (Beta procumbens) translocation in sugar beet. Mol Gen Genomics 275:504 511.
- Shen KA, Meyers BC, Islam-Faridi MN, Chin DB, Stelly DM, and Michelmore RW (1998) Resistance gene candidates identified by PCR with degenerate oligonucleotide primers map to clusters of resistance genes in Lettuce. MPMI 11:815–823.
- Sijmons PC, Grundler FMW, von Mende N, Burrows PR, Wyss U (1991) *Arabidopsis thaliana* as a new model host for plant-parasitic nematodes. Plant Journal 1:245-254.
- Sijmons PC (1993) Plant-nematode interactions. Plant Mol Biol 23:917-931.
- Speulmann E, Bouchez D, Holub EB, and Beynon JL (1998) Disease resistance gene homologs correlate with disease resistance loci of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J. 14:467–474.
- Tameling WI, Elzinga SD, Darmin PS, Vossen JH, Takken FL, Haring MA, Cornelissen BJ (2002) The tomato R gene products I-2 and MI-1 are functional ATP binding proteins with ATPase activity. Plant Cell 14:2929-2939.
- Tian Y, Fan LJ, Thurau T, Jung C, Cai D (2003) The absence of TIR type resistance gene analogues in the sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) genome. J Mol Evol 57:1-14.

- Tao Y, Yuan F, Leister RT, Ausubel FM, Katagiri F (2000) Mutational analysis of the Arabidopsis nucleotide binding site-leucine-rich repeat resistance gene *RPS2*. Plant Cell 12:2541-2554.
- Thomma BPHJ, Eggermont K, Penninckx IAMA, Mauch-Mani B, Vogelsang R, Cammue BPA, Broekaert WF (1998) Separate jasmonate-dependent and salicylate-dependent defense-response pathways in Arabidopsis are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens. PNAS USA 95:15107–15111.
- Timmerman-Vaughan GM, Frew TJ, Weeden N (2000) Characterization and linkage mapping of R-gene analogous DNA sequences in pea (*Pisum sativum* L.). Theor Appl Genet 101:241-247.
- Tör M, Gordon P, Cuzick A, Eulgem T, Sinapidou E, Mert-Türk F, Can C, Dangl JL, and Holub EB (2002) Arabidopsis SGT1b Is Required for Defense Signaling Conferred by Several Downy Mildew Resistance Genes The Plant Cell 14:993-1003.
- Tornero P, Chao RA, Luthin WN, Goff SA, Dangl JL (2002) Large-scale structure-function analysis of the Arabidopsis RPM1 disease resistance protein. Plant Cell 14:435-450.
- Traut TW (1994) The functions and consensus motifs of nine types of peptide segments that form different types of nucleotide-binding sites. Eur J Biochem 222:9-19.
- Uknes S, Mauch-Mani B, Moyer M, Potter S, Williams S, Dincher S, Chandler D, Slusarenko A, Ward E and Ryals J (1992) Acquired Resistance in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 4: 645-656.
- Valvekens D, van Montagu M, van Lijsebettens M (1988) *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* mediated transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* root explants by using kanamycin selection. Botany 85:5536-5540.
- Van Baarlen P, Woltering EJ, Staats M, Van Kann JAL (2007) Histochemical and genetic analysis of host and non-host interactions of Arabidopsis with three *Botrytis* species: an important role for cell death control Molecular Plant Pathology 8:41-54.
- van der Biezen EA, Jones JDG (1998) The NB-ARC domain: a novel signaling motif shared by plant resistance gene products and regulators of cell death in animals. Curr Biol 8:226–227.
- van der Vossen EAG, van der Voort J, Kanyuka K, Bendahmane A, Sandbrink H, Baulcombe DC, Bakker J, Stiekema WJ, Klein-Lankhorst RM (2000) Homologues of a single resistance-gene cluster in potato confer resistance to distinct pathogens: a virus and a nematode. Plant Journal 23:567-576.
- Williamson VM, Hussey RS. (1996) Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. The Plant Cell 8:1735– 1745.
- Yu YG, Buss GR, Maroof MA (1996) Isolation of a superfamily of candidate disease- resistance genes in soybean based on a conserved nucleotide-binding site. PNAS 93:11751-11756.

Chapter V

A two-step protocol for improving shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) and its application for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation

(In press, Biologica Plantarum))

Gui-Xiang Tang¹, Katrin Knecht², Xiao-Feng Yang¹, Ye-Bo Qin¹, Wei-Jun Zhou¹ and Daguang Cai²

 Institute of Crop Science, College of Agriculture and Biotechnology, Zhejiang University, 310029, PR China
 Department of Molecular Phytopathology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Hermann-Rodewald Str. 9, 24118 Kiel, Germany

Keywords: Oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.), Shoot regeneration frequency, Two-step protocol, *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, Plant tissue culture

Abbreviations: BA: 6-benzylaminopurine; CIM: Callus induction medium; CTAB: cetyl trimethyl ammonium bromide; 2.4-D: 2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; GUS: β -glucuronidase; MS: Murashige and Skoog; NAA: Naphthaline acetic acid; SIM: Shoot induction medium; STS: Silver thiosulphate; X-Gluc: 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide.

1 Abstract

A two-step shoot regeneration protocol from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape was established and applied to Agrobacterium-mediated transformation with a semi-winter-type of oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) cultivar. An optimal medium for shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants was determined based on MS medium supplemented with different concentration combinations in BA (2-5 mg dm⁻³) and NAA (0.05~0.15 mg dm⁻³). The maximum shoot regeneration frequency (13%) was obtained on the MS medium supplemented with 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.1 mg dm⁻³ NAA. But, the shoot regeneration frequency could increase upto 24.45% when 20 μM STS was added into the medium. Based on this result, a two-step protocol for an efficient shoot regeneration from oilseed rape hypocotyl explants was established, in which the hypocotyl explants were first put on CIM medium including 2, 4-D (0.5 to 1.5 mg dm⁻³) for 3 -7 days pre-cultivation to induce embryogenesis and then transferred onto SIM medium (4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.1 mg dm⁻³ NAA with STS) for shoot regeneration via organogenesis. In this way, the shoot appearance time was 7 days earlier and the shoot regeneration frequency dramatically increased (up to 96.67%), compared to those observed by use of one-step protocol. To explore the potential of the two-step protocol for generation of transgenic oilseed rape plants, it was applied for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation experiments with the gene cZR-3, a nematode resistance gene candidate. About 14% of plants generated proved to be cZR-3-transgenic as confirmed by GUS assays, by cZR-3-specific PCR and by Southern-blot hybridization experiments as well.

2 Introduction

Brassica is the most economically important genus in the Cruciferae. It includes vegetable crops, oilseed crops, forage crops and some condiment crops, such as mustard. Oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) produces highly valuable oil for human nutrition as well as for biofuels, representing an important crop in Brassica. Many Brassica species occupy pivotal potential for plant basic research due to its close genetic relation to the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000). Oilseed rape is therefore getting more and more importance also as a model crop for genome and functional genome analysis. For instance, more than 70% gene transformation experiments reported in Brassica so far were either for identification or for functional analysis of novel genes (Sparrow et al. 2004). The Agrobacterium-mediated transformation had been widely applied for generation of transgenic plants in various Brassica species including oilseed rape (Cardoza and Stewart 2003; Lee et al. 2004; Cho et al. 2008). An efficient transformation system for oilseed rape strongly relies on shoot regeneration frequency (Akasaka-Kennedy et al. 2005), which is still an obstacle to be overcome. Generally, there are two strategies successfully leading to shoot regeneration via plant tissue culture: one is via somatic embryogenesis and the other one is via organogenesis (Hanson and Wright 1999). The organogenesis system enables to generate organs, especially shoots directly from the tip of explants while the somatic embryogenesis system generates first embryos from the explants via callus formation and then shoots from the embryos. The proliferating somatic embryos proved to be suitable targets for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation because the origin of proliferating embryogenic tissues is at or near the surface of the older embryos and thus accessible to DNA delivery. The organogenesis system has been frequently applied for shoot regeneration from many Brassica species. In case of oilseed rape, various explants of can be used for shoot regeneration via organogenesis. They include cotyledon (Narasimhulu and Chopra 1988; Tang et al. 2003), hypocotyl (Khehra and Mathias 1992; Tang et al. 2003; Jonoubi et al. 2005), flowering internodes (Klimaszewska and Keller 1985; Tang et al. 2003), stem sections (O'Neill et al. 1996), immature cotyledons (Turgut et al. 1998), leaves (Akasaka-Kennedy et al. 2005) and as well thin cell layer (Shu and Loh 1991, Ghnaya et al. 2008).

Cotyledon explants of oilseed rape were most frequently used for shoot regeneration because they are easier to regenerate (Tang et al. 2003). The transformation efficiency of cotyledon explants by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation is but extremely low. Mukhopadhyay et al. (1992) reported that 2 chimetric transformed shoots could be obtained from more than

10,000 cotyledons treated by Agrobacterium. Besides, the transformation efficiency was strongly genotype-dependent (Sparrow et al. 2004). In contrast, hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape are easily prepared and as well transformed by Agrobacterium- mediated transformation. But they often suffered from poor shoot regeneration frequency (Mukhopadhyay et al. 1992). In this paper, we report a two-step protocol for shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape, which can significantly improve shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyls explants. Its potential for generation of transgenic plants by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation is demonstrated.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Plant materials

Semi-winter type oilseed rape (*B. napus* L.) cultivar, Zheshuang 758, kindly provided by the Zhejiang Academy of Agricultural Science, PR China was used for shoot regeneration and Agrobacterium-mediated transformation experiments.

3.2 Explant preparation

The sterile hypocotyl segments (5-10 mm) from germinated 5 to 6 days old seedlings were used as explants for shoot regeneration and transformation. Seeds were first surface-sterilized in 70% ethanol for 0.5 min and then submerged in 10% calcium hypochlorite including 2 drops of Tween20 for 25 min, and then rinsed 4 to 5 times with sterilized distilled H₂O. The seeds were sowed in 150 cm³ triangular flask containing 50 cm³ half-length MS (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) phytohormone-free germination medium supplemented with 20 g dm⁻³ sucrose and 8 g dm⁻³ agar for solidification (pH 5.8). Fifteen seeds were sowed in each triangular flask.

3.3 Plant tissue culture

The basal medium for this experiment was MS medium supplemented with 30 mg dm⁻³, and solidified with 8 g dm⁻³ agar (pH 5.8). Phytohormones, MS basal salts and antibiotics were purchased from Sigma (Germany). All media were sterilized with sucrose and agar by autoclaving at 120°C for 20 min. Phytohormone, STS and antibiotics were filter-sterilized by passing through a 0.2 μ m syringe filter and added to the cooled (70°C) autoclaved media before pouring into 90 mm sterile Petri-dishes..

3.4 Shoot regeneration protocol

Shoots were regenerated by use of one- and two-step protocol, respectively. By one-step protocol, hypocotyl segments were cultured only on the MS medium supplemented with different combination concentration of BA ($2\sim5$ mg dm⁻³) and NAA ($0.05\sim0.15$ mg dm⁻³) with or without 20 μ M STS (Table 1). By two step protocol, hypocotyl segments were first pre-cultured on callus induction medium (CIM) complemented with 2.4-D ($0.5\sim1.5$ mg dm⁻³) for 3 or 7 days and then transferred onto the shoot induction medium (SIM) with 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.10 mg dm⁻³ NAA in combination with or without 20 μ M STS solution (Table 2) as well. In all cases, ten explants were placed in one 90 mm Petri-dish and at least forty explants

were prepared. Cultures were incubated in a culture room at $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C under a lighting regime of 16h/8h (light/dark; light intensity, 100 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹). After 3-4 weeks of culture, the adventitious shoots that formed on the explants were counted. Shoot regeneration frequency (number of explants with shoots / total number of explants×100%) was averaged from 3 to 4 replicates. SPSS 11.0 software (SPSS Inc. USA) was used statistically for data analysis.

3.5 Plant transformation

For plant transformation, a recombinant binary vector pAMcZR-3 was used, which contains the full-length cDNA of cZR-3 (Tian et al. 2004), a sugar beet resistance gene candidate (accession number: DQ907613). In addition, the binary vector carries the GUS reporter gene and a selectable marker, neomycinphosphotranferase gene (*nptII*) for kanamycin resistance. The plasmid DNA of pAMcZR-3 was transformed into Agrobacterium strain GV3101 by electroporation (Shen and Forde, 1989). Ten mm hypocotyl segments were directly immersed in bacterial suspension (O.D.600 0.1~0.2) with gentle shaking for 10 min. The segments were subsequently blotted on sterile filter paper and transferred in the 90 mm Petri-dish containing fresh CIM to co-culture with bacteria for 2 days. Twenty hypocotyl segments were inoculated in each Petri-dish. After 2 days co-cultivation the segments were washed 3 times with liquid CIM containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin to kill the excessive Agrobacterium on the segments. The segments blotted on the sterilized filter paper and placed on the CIM containing the antibiotic to inhibit the growth of Agrobacterium for 5 days. After it, the segments were transferred on the new SIM containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin and 50 mg dm⁻³ kanamycin for selection till the putative green shoots appeared. The whole segments including green shoots were transferred onto solid half-strength MS medium combined with 10 g dm⁻³ sucrose, 9 g dm⁻³ agar and antibiotics for selection for shoot elongation. After shoot elongation for 3 weeks the green shoots were transferred on the same shoot elongation medium to develop the roots. The plantlets were transferred to soil in greenhouse and vernalized at 4°C for 40 days. The plants were isolated with plastic bags during the flowering time.

3.6 Histochemical GUS assays

For histochemical GUS assays, 10 cm³ X-Gluc solution including 50 mM Na₃PO₄ buffer (pH 7.0), 0.2 mg cm⁻³ X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β -D-glucuronide) and two drops of Triton-100 was added in the Petri-dish which contained the putative transgenic and negative control leaves. The leaves were covered with X-Gluc solution and incubated at 37°C for 16 h.

After it, the leaves were cleared using 70% ethanol to fade the chlorophyll. The GUS staining signals were evaluated under a stereomicroscope (Stemi SV 11, Zeiss, Germany).

3.7 PCR and Southern analysis

Genomic DNA from young leaf tissue was extracted using CTAB method as described by Rogers and Bendich (1985). The gene-specific primers used for amplification are: cZR-3A: 5'-AGTTATTGATAGGGCTATGG -3' and cZR-3 B: 5'-ATACTTGAAGCAGTCAGG-3'resulting in a fragment (cZR3-A/B) of 410 bp in size (Lein et al., 2007). PCR was performed as follows: DNA denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles of 1 min at 94°C, 1 min at 53°C and 1.3 min at 72°C. A final extension cycle was at 72°C for 10 min. The PCR products were visualized by electrophoresis on a 1.2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide. For Southern blot analysis, 50 ng genomic DNA of oilseed rape leaves was restricted by restriction enzymes at 37°C for 5 hours. The digested DNA was fractioned on 0.75 % agarose gel. DNA was transferred onto a Hybond-N+ membrane (GE Healthcare, USA) by capillary diffusion blotting with 0.25M NaOH/1.5 M NaCl blotting solution, overnight. Southern blots were hybridized using ³²P-labelled cZR-3 A/B DNA fragment as probe (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983) at 62°C overnight. The blots were washed twice with 0.5xSSC, 0.2% w/v SDS for 30 min and together with the film exposed at -70°C for 48 h.
4 Results

4.1 Optimization of shoot regeneration medium from hypocotyl explants

To set up a two-step protocol for shoot regeneration from oilseed rape explants, the optimal shoot regeneration medium was first determined with one-step regeneration protocol (Tang et al. 2003). The MS medium containing was supplemented with different concentration combinations of BA (2 to 5 mg dm⁻³) and NAA (0.05 to 0.15 mg dm⁻³) (Table 1). The shoot regeneration frequencies from different media were calculated and compared (Table 1). Typically, explants began to be swollen after being cultured in the regeneration medium for 7 days and first shoots could be observed after 20 days. Callus formation from the tip of hypocotyl explants was observed in all BA and NAA concentration combinations. Although adventitious shoots could be observed from the cut-end of hypocotyl explants in most of cases 30 days after cultivation, frequencies of shoot regeneration frequency (13%) was given on the medium supplemented with 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.1 mg dm⁻³ NAA, it was therefore used as a basal medium for establishment of two-step shoot regeneration protocol further. In addition, the shoot regeneration frequency increased in all media when 20 μ M STS was added (Table 1).

Table 1: Effect of BA and NAA concentration combinations on the shoot regeneration frequency from
hypocotyl explants on SIM with one-step protocol after cultivation 30 d. Values represent the mean of three
replicates. Means \pm SE followed by the same letter indicate no significant difference (Duncan's multiple range
test, Pa0.05).

BA	NAA	Shoot regeneration frequency (%)		
(mg dm ⁻³)	$(mg dm^{-3})$	-STS	+STS	
2	0.05	1.11 ± 1.11^{a}	16.67±3.33 ^{bcd}	
3	0.05	7.22 ± 0.28^{abc}	24.45 ± 2.22^{d}	
4	0.05	3.53±0.23 ^{ab}	16.67±3.33 ^{bcd}	
5	0.05	10.42 ± 2.08^{abc}	6.67 ± 6.67^{abc}	
2	0.1	6.67 ± 1.67^{abc}	19.45±6.41 ^{cd}	
3	0.1	2.22±1.11 ^a	20.00±3.85 ^{cd}	
4	0.1	13.00 ± 1.00^{abcd}	24.45 ± 2.22^{d}	
5	0.1	0.00 ^a	13.33 ± 1.82^{abcd}	
2	0.15	7.78 ± 1.92^{abc}	15.56±2.94 ^{bcd}	
3	0.15	1.67 ± 1.67^{a}	$8.89{\pm}0.88^{\mathrm{abc}}$	
4	0.15	6.67±2.31 ^{abc}	10.00 ± 3.35^{abc}	
5	0.15	0.00^{a}	0.00^{a}	

4.2 Improvement of shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants by use of a two-step protocol

To increase shoot regeneration frequency from oilseed rape hypocotyl explants, we applied a two-step protocol for shoot regeneration, in which two media CIM and SIM were involved. Hypocotyl explants were first pre-cultured on a CIM Medium containing 2,4-D (0.5 to 1.5 mg dm⁻³) to induce callus formation for 3 or 7 days and then transferred on a SIM medium with 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.1 mg dm⁻³ NAA for shoot regeneration. As shown in Table 2, three days pre-culture of hypocotyls explants on all CIM media tested (varied 2.4-D concentration and with/without STS) did not give rise to improvement of shoot regeneration frequency (Table 2) whereas 7 days pre-culture of hypocotyls explants on CIM media resulted in a great increase in shoot regeneration frequency ranging from 21.67% to 96.67% (Table 2). Strikingly, an extremely high frequency of shoot regeneration was given in the case when hypocotyl explants have been 7 days pre-cultured on a CIM containing 2.4-D in a higher concentration of 1.5 mg dm⁻³ and subsequently cultured on a SIM supplemented with 20 μ M STS (Table 2).

2.4-D concentration	Pre-cultivation for 3days		Pre-cultivation for 7days	
$(mg dm^{-3})$	- STS	+ STS	- STS	+ STS
0.5	6.67 ± 0.77^{ab}	40.00±17.32 ^d	26.67±5.77 ^{cd}	57.33±11.01 ^e
1.0	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{a}$	22.33 ± 6.80^{bc}	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{a}$	71.33±14.43 ^e
1.5	3.33 ± 0.77^{a}	21.67 ± 2.89^{bc}	10.00 ± 0.32^{ab}	96.67 ± 5.77^{f}

Table 2: Effect of 2.4-D concentration, pre-cultivation time and supplement of STS on the shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants on MS medium containing 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.01 mg dm⁻³ NAA. Values represent the mean of three replicates. Means \pm SE, followed by the by the same letter are not significantly different (Duncan's multiple range test, P α 0.05).

4.3 Improvement of shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants by addition of STS

STS, silver thiosulphate is an ethylene inhibitor in plant tissue culture. To test its effect on shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape 20 μ M STS was added into different SIM media and the shoot regeneration frequencies were scored and compared with those from without addition of STS. As shown in Table 1 and 2 the shoot regeneration frequencies dramatically increased by addition of STS either by use of one or by use of two-step regeneration protocol. In case of one-step protocol, the shoot regeneration frequency was improved from 1.11% to 16.67% on the medium with 2 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.05 mg dm⁻³ NAA. The shoot regeneration frequency could further increase up to 24.45% when the medium was supplemented by 4 mg dm⁻³ BA and 0.1 mg dm⁻³ NAA in combination (Table 1). Strikingly, an extremely high frequency of shoot regeneration (96.67%) was given by use of the two-step protocol when hypocotyl explants have been 7 days pre-cultured on a CIM containing a higher 2.4-D concentration of 1.5 mg dm⁻³ and subsequently cultured on the SIM supplemented with 20 μ M STS (Table 2).

Furthermore, the shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants was significantly quickened by two-step protocol in combination with addition of 20μ M STS in the SIM medium. As shown in Figure 1A, the explants started to be swollen 5 days after transferring on the SIM, callus appeared clearly around the cut end of hypocotyls and potential shoots emerged about 10 days after the transferring on the SIM. In average, the shoot emerging time was 7 days earlier compared to that observed by use of one-step protocol.



Figure 1: Development of shoots regenerated from hypocotyl explants 5 days (A), 10 days (B) and 20 days (C) after cultivation on SIM following the two-step protocol. The hypocotyl explants were first pre-cultured for 3 days on the CIM medium with 1.0 mg dm⁻³ 2,4-D. The SIM was supplemented with 4 mg m⁻³ BA, 0.10 mg dm⁻³ NAA and 20 μ M STS.

4.4 Application of two-step regeneration protocol for generation of transgenic oilseed rape plants

The two-step regeneration protocol was applied for generation of oilseed rape transgenic plants with Agrobacterium-mediated transformation (Fig. 2). About 200 fresh hypocotyl segments of oilseed rape cultivar, Zheshuang 758, were incubated with 100ml Agrobacterium suspension cells carrying pAMcZR-3. Two days after co-cultivation on CIM, the segments were subject to being cultivated for shoot regeneration following the two-step protocol as described. In total, 270 shoots were regenerated, from which 43 putative transgenic plants were obtained.



Figure 2: Generation of transgenic plants from hypocotyl explants of semi-winter *B. napus* type cultivar cv. *Zheshuang758.* (**A**) Shoots regenerated from hypocotyl explants on SIM containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin and 50 mg dm⁻³ kanamycin sulphate, (**B**) The elongated shoots on SIM, (**C**) Roots developed in half-strength MS medium containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin and 50 mg dm⁻³ kanamycin sulphate, (**D**) the transgenic plantlet transferred in the soil, (**E**) Propagation of transgenic oilseed rape plants in a growth chamber (25°C /16°C, day/night).

To verify the transgenic nature, all of 43 putative transgenic plants were subject to being analysed by histochemical GUS assays, by cZR-3-specific PCR and as well by Southern-blot hybridization experiments using a cZR-3-specific probe. As a result, 6 of 43 plants (about 14 %) proved to be cZR-3-transgenic, giving a strong GUS staining, the cZR-3-specific PCR amplification and the cZR-3-specific Southern-hybridization as shown in Figure 3, 4 and 5.



Figure 3: Histochemical GUS assays with putative transgenic (2, 3, 4) leaves and negative control (1). The GUS-staining (blue) were evaluated under a stereomicroscope (Stemi SV 11, Zeiss, Germany).



Figure 4: PCR analysis with GUS positive transgenic plants. cZR-3-specific amplification of 410 bp in size was given. M: molecular size marker (1kb ladder), Lane1: positive control with a recombinant plasmid DNA, Lane 2: negative control (untransformed); Lane 3, 4 and 5: GUS-positive plants.



Figure 5: An autoradiogram of the Southern blot hybridization. *M*: molecular size marker 1 kb ladder; *lane 1*: negative control (wild type); *lane 2, 3, 4, 5*: GUS and PCR positive plants. The cZR-3A/B was used as a probe.

5 Discussion

In this study, we reported a two step shoot regeneration protocol for oilseed rape (*B. napus* L.) and demonstrated that the shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape can be greatly improved by using the two-step protocol. The maximal shoot regeneration frequency reached 96.67%, and the shoot appearance was significantly quickened. The duration of pre-cultivation on CIM and the supplementation with STS were, in addition to 2.4-D concentration, two main factors significantly influencing shoot regeneration frequency. This result is in coincidence with observation made by Tang et al. (1999). We observed that the 2.4-D concentration in medium had promoting effect on the callus quantity, but the callus quality was influenced obviously by the duration of pre-cultivation on CIM (data not shown). Application of 2.4-D into the CIM had been reported to induced excessive callus growth during the subsequent shoot regeneration phase consequently leading to increase in the frequency of gene multiple-copy by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation (Cardoza and Stewart 2003)

An important finding in this study is that supplement of STS into SIM medium gave rise to a dramatic increase of shoot regeneration frequency from hypocotyls explants of oilseed rape. A similar observation had been reported by several groups in different regeneration systems, e.g. with cotyledonary explants of *B. campestris* (Chi et al.1991), hypocotyls explants of *B. juncea* (Pua and Chi 1993), cotyledon, leaves and thin cell layer explants of *B. napus* (Tang et al. 2003; Akasaka et al. 2005; Ben Ghnaya et al. 2008). STS, silver ion, is a potential ethylene inhibitor and is considered to suppress shoot morphogenesis in vitro. In consistence with the observation by Khan et al. (2003), we observed that most of transformed shoots were becoming necrosis on the medium that was not supplemented by STS (data not shown). The fact that an extremely high frequency of shoot regeneration could be archived when hypocotyl explants had been 7 days pre-cultured on a SIM supplemented with 20 μ M STS (Table 2) strongly suggests a synergic effect of three factors on the shoot regeneration from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape. The mechanism underlying is unknown.

We demonstrated that the two step regeneration protocol can be successfully used for Agrobacterium-based transformation for generation of transgenic plants from a semi-winter type oilseed rape (*B. napus* L.) cultivar, Zheshuang 758. About 14% regenerated plants by use of this protocol proved to be transgenic, demonstrating its potential in this aspect. However, comparing to a high shoot regeneration frequency with the two step protocol, the transformation efficiency obtained in this study was still low. Only 2.2% (6 plants from 270

shoots) regenerated shoots were transgenic. We found that explants could be regenerated in the selection medium containing 50 mg l⁻¹ kanamycin (Fig. 6A), but most of these failed to develop when shoots were subjected to elongation on shoot elongation medium containing 100 mg l⁻¹ kanamycin. Obviously, they were not able to develop roots and therefore becoming vitrified (Fig. 6B). Even though the Agrobacterium-mediated transformation has been applied for rapeseed breeding and gene function analysis since 1987 (Fry et al. 1987), most of transformation experiments on *B. napus* had been restricted to spring cultivars and to a very few genotypes as well (Cardoza and Stewart 2003). Improvement of transformation efficiency for *B. napus* still remains a great challenge.



Figure 6: High frequency of shoot regeneration from oilseed rape hypocotyl explants for *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation. (A) Regenerated shoots after cultivation 25 days on the SIM containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin and 50 mg dm⁻³ kanamycin sulphate, (B) The vitrificated shoots after cultivation 30days in the shoot elongation medium containing 500 mg dm⁻³ carbenicillin and 100 mg dm⁻³ kanamycin sulfate.

6 Acknowledgements

The research was financially supported by the Scientific Research Foundation for the Returned Overseas Chinese Scholars, Zhejiang province, P R China and the German research foundation DFG (grant No. SFB617-A19). Authors thank the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) for providing a short visiting scholarship.

7 References

- Akasaka-Kennedy, Y., Yoshida, H., Takahata, Y.: Efficient plant regeneration from leaves of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.): the influence of AgNO₃ and genotype. Plant Cell Rep. **24**: 649-654, 2005.
- Ghnaya, A.B., Charles, G.: Rapid shoot regeneration from thin cell layer explants excised from petioles and hypocotyls in four cultivars of *Brassica napus* L. Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult. **92**:25-30, 2008.
- Cardoza, V., Stewart, C.N.: Increased *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation and rooting efficiencies in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) from hypocotyl segment explants. Plant Cell Rep. **21**: 599-604, 2003.
- Chi, G.L., Pua, E.C., Goh, C.J.: Role of ethylene on de novo shoot regeneration from cotyledonary explants of *Brassica campestris* ssp. *pekinensis* (Lour) Olesson *in vitro*. Plant Physiol. **96**: 178-183, 1991.
- Fry, J., Barnason, A., Horsch, R.B.: Transformation of *Brassica napus* with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* based vector. - Plant Cell Rep. 6:321-325, 1987.
- Hansen, G., Wright, M.S.: Recent advances in the transformation of plants. Trends Plant Sci. 4: 226-231, 1999.
- Khehra G.S., Mathias, R.J.: The interaction of genotype, explant and media on the regeneration of shoots from complex explants of *Brassica napus*. J. Exp. Bot. **43**:1413-1418, 1992.
- Khan, R.M., Rashid, H., Muhammad, A., Chandry, Z.: High frequency shoot regeneration and *Agrobacterium*mediated DNA transfer in canola (*Brassica napus*). - Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult. **75**: 223-231, 2003.
- Klimaszewska, K., Keller, W. A.: High frequency plant regeneration from thin cell layer explants of *Brassica napus*. Plant Cell Tiss. Organ Cult. **4**: 183-197, 1985.
- Lein, J.C., Asbach K., Tian, Y., Schulte, D., Li, C., Koch, G., Jung, C., Cai, D.: Resistance gene analogues are clustered on chromosome 3 of sugar beet and cosegregate with QTL for rhizomania resistance.- Genome 50:61-71,2007.
- Murashige, T., Skoog, F.: A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays in tobacco tissue culture. Physiol. Planta. **15**: 474-493, 1962.
- Mukhopadhyay, A., Arumugam, N., Nandakumar, P.B.A., Pradhan, A. K., Gupta, V., Pental, D.: Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of oilseed Brassica campestris: transformation frequency is strongly influenced by the mode of shoot regeneration. Plant Cell Rep. 11: 506-513, 1992.
- Narasimhulu, S.B., Chopra, V.L.: Species specific shoot regeneration response of cotyledonary explants of *Brassica*. - Plant Cell Rep. 7:104-106, 1988.
- O'Neill, C.M., Arthur, A.E., Mathias, R.J.: The effects ofproline, thioproline and methyglyoxal-bis-(guanylhydrazone) on shoot regeneration frequencies from stem explants of *B. napus*. - Plant Cell Rep. **15**:695–698, 1996.
- Pua, E.C., Chi, G.L.: De novo shoot morphogensis and plant growth of mustard (Brassica juncea) in vitro in relation to ethylene. - Physiol. Planta. 88: 467-474, 1993.
- Rogers, S.O., Bendich, A.J.: Extraction of DNA from milligram amounts of fresh, herbarium and mummified plant tissues. Plant mol. Biol. **5**: 69-76, 1985.
- Shu, W., Loh, C.S.: Secondary embryogenesis from thin cell layers of *Brassica napus* ssp. oleifera. new Phytol. **119**: 427-432, 1991.
- Sparrow, P.A.C., Dale, P.J., Irwin, J.A.: The use of phenotypic markers to identify *Brassica oleracea* genotypes for routine high throughput *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. Plant Cell Rep. **23**:64-70, 2004.
- Tang, H., Xiao, X.G., Chen, J.: High frequency plant regeneration of Brassica campestris ssp. chinensis from cotyledon segments. - J. agri. Biotech. 7: 187-191, 1999 (in Chinese).
- Tang, G.X., Zhou, W.J., Li, H.Z., Mao, B.Z., He, Z.H., Yoneyama, K.: Medium, explant and genotype factors influencing shoot regeneration in oilseed *Brassica* spp. - J. Agron. Crop Sci. 189: 351-358, 2003.
- Tian Y., Fan L.J., Thurau T., Jung C., Cai D. (2004) The Absence of TIR Type Resistance Gene Analogues in the Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) Genome. J Mol Evol, 58, 40-53.
- Turgut, K., Barghchi, M., Scott, R.: Efficient shoot regeneration and somatic embryogenesis from immature cotyledons of *Brassica napus* L. - Plant Breed. **117**:503-504, 1998. The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative: Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. - Nature **408**: 796–815, 2000.
- Zhang, F.L., Takahata, Y., Watanabe, M., Xu, J.B.: *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of cotyledonary explants of Chinese cabbage (*Brassica campestris* L. ssp. *pekinensis*). Plant Cell Rep. **19**:569–575, 2000.

Chapter VI: General discussion

1 *BvGLP-1* represents a new class of oxalate oxidase-like genes and plays a role in plant resistance

Plant genomes encode a subgroup of cupins called germin and germin like proteins (GLPs), water-soluble, protease-resistant, heat stable and SDS-tolerant glycoproteins (Lane 1994; Woo et al. 2000). Here, we analyzed the nematode inducible germin like gene BvGLP-1 which possesses an oxalate oxidase (OxO) activity and in this way might be responsible for the production of a H₂O₂ burst and/or transmission of a signal leading to resistance response. Several members of the GLP multigene family have been suggested to exhibit an OxO enzyme activity, which catalyses the degradation of oxalic acid (OA) to produce carbon dioxide and hydrogen peroxide (Chiriboga 1966; Lane et al. 1993). Through the generation of H₂O₂, OxO or OxO-like proteins may catalyse cross-linking of plant cell wall proteins at the infection site and lignifications for the reinforcement of the cell wall (Olson and Varner 1993; Thordal-Christensen et al. 1997; Wei et al. 1998). On the other hand, OxO may act as a signaling molecule involving in plant hypersensitive responses (Lane 1994; Zhou et al. 1998) which is known to be orchestrated by H_2O_2 production during oxidative burst (Levine et al. 1994). Thus, a role of germin and GLPs in plant defense response has been proposed mainly based on the capacity of the OxO to produce H₂O₂. It is very unlikely that all GLPs exhibit an enzyme activity or are related to resistance response since we know that in plants with small genomes such as Arabidopsis and rice more than 30 different GLPs exist (Dunwell et al. 2008).

However, the nematode responsive character of *BvGLP-1* was the first strong indication for its functionality in nematode resistance. As revealed by transcript profiling experiments, the gene *BvGLP-1* is transcribed in both of resistant and susceptible plants at a relatively lower level even without nematode attack. But, its expression is highly up-regulated upon nematode infection in the resistant plant, suggesting its active role in nematode resistance.

Transgenic technology has been used for demonstration of the function of OxO in enhancing plant resistance to various pathogens. Oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*), soybean (*Glycine max*), tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*), and sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) transformed with a wheat OxO gene demonstrated increased resistance to *S.sclerotiorum* by OA detoxification (Thompson et al. 1995; Donaldson et al. 2001; Hu et a.l. 2003) and a similar strategy was used to provide disease resistance in poplar (Liang et al. 2001), peanut (Livingstone et al. 2005), tomato (Walz et al. 2007) and American chestnut (Welch et al. 2007). There are also

reports of improved resistance to European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) in maize (*Zea mays*) expressing a wheat OxO (Ramputh et al. 2002).

The potential of the gene in activation of nematode resistance was investigated by functional analysis in transgenic sugar beet hairy roots and Arabidopsis plants, respectively. Using the transgenic approach, BvGLP-1 was found to encode an active OxO that activates the PR-1-dependent signaling pathway in transgenic beet roots and Arabidopsis plants leading to a strong anti-nematode effect. Finally, we could demonstrate that an enhanced expression of BvGLP-1 in feeding cells resulted in a rapid local generation of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) indicating that OxO activity of BvGLP-1 is correlated to its resistance effect. Another possible role, a structural function of BvGLP-1 in cell wall reinforcement cannot be excluded, but the propability is limited due to its confirmed enzyme activity function.

In addition, a wide variety of fungal pathogens insert OA into the plant cells following the infection (Bateman and Beer 1965; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Bennett and Hindal 1989; Ritschkoff et al. 1995; Liang et al. 2001; Hollowell et al. 2001; Zou et al. 2007). OA aids the pathogen in infection through a number of proposed routes, like pH reduction in its environment, increasing polygalacturonase activity and sequestering calcium ions from calcium pectate (Punja et al. 1985; Stone and Armentrout 1985; Zou et al. 2007). In addition OA suppresses the oxidative burst (Cessna et al. 2000) and disturbes the guard cell function (Guimaraes and Stotz 2004). OxO is found to provide a high level of quantitative resistance to fungal pathogens of wheat (Faris et al. 1999) and one GLP is speculated to be responsible for producing the penetration-associated H₂O₂ in barley and wheat after fungal attack (Wei et al. 1998; Schweizer et al. 1999; Christensen et al. 2004). This let us assume that H₂O₂ production by BvGLP-1 might be generally important for non race specific resistance, including basal resistance. The resistance enhancing effect of overexpressed *BvGLP-1* against the fungal species Verticillium longisporum and Rhizoctonia solani confirms our hypothesis. R.solani and *V.longisporum* are thought to produce OA, the substrate of OxO, as a pathogenicity factor. However there is no indication for OA production by plant parasitic nematodes, so far. The explanation may well have to do with the fact that oxalate might be formed for example from L-ascorbic acid as suggested by Lou et al. (2006) since it is required for another enzymatic reaction.

2 NBS-LRR containing RGAs are involved in the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated resistance

The degenerated primer based approach using common motifs within the NBS domain that are highly conserved is sufficient for PCR amplification of resistance gene analogs (RGAs) from a wide variety of plant species, for example soybean (Kanazin et al. 1996; Yu et al. 1996), potato (Leister et al. 1996), lettuce (Meyers et al. 1999), cereals (Pan et al. 2000), sugar beet (Tian et al. 2004), rape (Tanhuanpaa 2004) and cotton (He et al. 2004). RGAs are useful in physical mapping and as gene candidates in positional cloning (Zhang et al. 2008). However, R-gene families are large multigene families and are abundant in plants. To date, 800 RGAs have been obtained via PCR amplification from nearly 20 plant species, for example, ca. 200 RGAs are known in Arabidopsis and ca. 500 non-TIR/NBS/LRR R-genes in rice (Shen et al. 2002; Meyers et al. 2003). The most cloned RGAs are part of clusters of related sequences and are co-localized with resistance loci facilitating the identification of Rgenes suggesting their possible role in disease resistance responses in plants (Lopez et al. 2003; Graham et al. 2000). Thus, the *Rp1-D* rust resistance gene from maize was positively identified by the RGA PIC20 (Collins et al. 1998; 1999). Some clusters have been identified as regions where resistance to a pathogen was previously mapped (Decroocq et al. 2005) and cosegregation between RGAs and major genes or quantitative trait loci (QTL) involved in disease resistance has been frequently reported (Pflieger et al. 2001; Hunger et al. 2003). This indicates that components of qualitative and quantitative resistance to pathogens may be controlled by structurally and functionally similar genes or may have evolved from common ancestors. Within a cluster of RGAs, there may be more than one gene conferring resistance to different isolates of a specific pathogen or to biologically diverse pathogen taxa (Cooley et al. 2000). For instance, the Xa21 locus in rice consists of at least eight sequences spanning 230 kb (Chen et al. 2002; Yang et al. 2002), the *M* locus of flax contains 15 or more sequences spread over a distance of less than 1 Mb (Ellis et al. 1995; Anderson et al. 1997), and the Dm3 cluster of lettuce consists of at least 24 non-TIR NBS-LRR sequences that span approximately 3.5 Mb (Meyers et al. 1998; Shen et al. 2002).

As has been suggested, most RGAs do not encode a functional product and exist for relatively short periods of time probably serving as reservoirs of potential variation. Published models for the generation of novel R-gene specificities propose recombination involved in alterations in the gene copy number, gene conversion, and unequal crossing over for the generation of duplicated arrays of resistance genes as the primary mechanisms in generating haplotype

143

diversity (Shepherd and Mayo 1972; Pryor et al. 1987; Richter et al. 1995; Hammond-Kosack and Jones 1997). Incidentally, a novel RGA confers recognition of a pathogen and becomes a R-gene when it confers resistance. As described above, RGAs closely linked to R-genes may be relatively easy to find, but the identification of a functional R-gene within a complex multigene family is much more difficult and time consuming. Definitive proof that these sequences are R-genes requires transgenic complementation.

As no complete nematode resistance could be observed by *Hs1*^{pro-1} transgenic sugar beet plants, it is proposed that a second gene may be required for the resistance (Cai et al. 2003; Schutle et al. 2006). Genetic complementation experiments in Arabidopsis thaliana proved that cZR-3 and cZR-7 are able to trigger a Hs1^{pro-1}-independent and complete resistance reaction. These results strongly support an active role of both RGAs in nematode resistance. By contrast, no significant anti-nematode effect could be observed on transgenic plants expressing cZR-9, on which females were able to develop regularly as on the control plants. Within the nematode resistance experiments on transgenic plants a large number of the J2 juveniles failed to complete the penetration process and stagnated during penetration. Similar to the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated resistance reaction, strong necroses around the feeding sites and disruption of the feeding structure resulting in programmed cell death were also characteristic for cZR-3 (Tian 2003). We hypothesized that cZR-3 and cZR-7 may function in concert with Hs1^{pro-1} to activate disease resistance demonstrating that resistance activity conferred by Rgenes is not only determined by the gene itself but also largely dependent on the genetic background of the host carrying the gene. This is also suggested for RPW8.1 and RPW8.2 conferring resistance to a wide range of powdery mildew diseases of A. thaliana. RPW8 may interact with NBS-LRR R-proteins to initiate resistance responses (Xiao et al. 2001), possibly as targets for pathogen virulence factors that are guarded by NBS-LRR R-proteins as has been proposed for Pto (Xiao et al. 2003).

The identification of RGAs enlarges the use of both conventional and transgenic approaches to increase disease resistance of plants. They can be used directly as molecular markers in breeding and/or provide a good starting point for map-based cloning of potential R-genes in the corresponding clusters. The PCR based approach using degenerated primer also has some limitations. Thus, since the primers used to identify RGAs are made from a highly conserved domain, they are unlikely to seperate a functional gene from its nonfunctional paralog (Graham et al. 2000). Dissection of such complex loci will be aided by the development of oligonucleotide primers specific to individual RGA sequences.

The ratio of TIR and non-TIR/coiled-coil RGAs can vary among different plant species. Thus, Kanazin et al. (1996) in soybean and Martinez Zamora et al. (2004) in strawberry identified mainly TIR-subfamily sequences, but Donald et al. (2002), using a similar PCR strategy with degenerate primers in grapevine, found a high proportion of non-TIR sequences. Tian et al. (2004) assumed that TIR-type NBS-LRR sequences are compeletly lost in sugar beet and that this could also be the case for other dicot species. In contrast non-TIR-type RGA sequences are absent in apricot genomes (Soriano et al. 2005).

3 A possible function model for the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated resistance response

Gaining experimental support in recent years, the guard hypothesis describes the indirect recognition of pathogen elicitors by NBS-LRR R-genes through their effects on "guarded" proteins (Van der Biezen and Jones 1998; Dangl and Jones 2001; Jones and Dangl 2006). Having this hypothesis in mind we suggest a model explaining the role of *Hs1*^{pro-1} and cZR-3/cZR-7 in nematode resistance that is mainly based on results of this thesis and previously described models (Tian et al. 2004; Cai et al. 2003).

Hs1^{pro-1} encodes a plasma membrane protein with an extensive leucine-rich region, a transmembrane spanning domain and a short hydrophobic c-terminal domain. Therefore, it could be speculated that Hs1^{pro-1} resides in the plasma membrane as a receptor with its Nterminus towards the extracellular space (Cai et al. 1997). Nematode compounds injected via the stylet or released from cuticular ducts of gland cells may contain molecules which are recognised by *Hs1^{pro-1}*. In this regards, the leucine rich region may be involved in signal perception and the positively charged C-terminal region of *Hs1*^{pro-1} located in the cytosol may be responsible for the activation of signal transduction pathways leading to nematode resistance responses (Cai et al. 2003). Expression of the extracellular LRR domain of Xa21 solely in rice plants confers partial resistance to six races of X. oryzae, which suggests that the LRR domain of *Xa21* is involved in pathogen recognition (Song et al. 1995). In contrast to *Hs1^{pro-1}*, cZR-3 and cZR-7 like recently cloned nematode R-genes including *Mi* (Milligan et al. 1998), Gpa2 (Van der Vossen et al. 2000) and Hero (Ernst et al. 2002), belong to the non-TIR-NBS-LRR class of R-proteins lacking a signal sequence. This suggests that recognition of the nematode by the host would occur within the cytoplasm. Although nematodes are extracellular pathogens, they are thought to inject the secretions into the cytoplasm of living plant cells to initiate the development of feeding cells (Williamson and Hussey 1996; Davis et al. 2000, 2004).). Therefore, cZR-3 may function as a co-receptor

with *Hs1*^{pro-1} together recognizing the Avr products released by nematodes into the cytoplasm initiating signal transduction that finally leads to resistance response (Figure 4). The *Cf-9* (Jones et al. 1994) and *Cf-2* (Dixon et al. 1996) loci of tomato are composed of arrays of five or more related genes; while the *Pto* (Martin et al. 1993) locus of tomato contains five *Pto* homologous genes and an NBS-LRR gene, *Prf*, which is essential for *Pto*-mediated resistance. *Cf*-like and *Pto*-like encoded products such as *Hs1*^{pro-1} may at least constitute a two-component receptor system resembling the transmembrane LRR kinase *Xa21* (Baker et al. 1997), which is essential for recognizing *H. schachtii* effectors leading to initiation of defense responses. This activation is followed by similar physiological changes: the production of an oxidative burst and expression of several PR-proteins.

Sequence analysis of *BvGLP-1* showed that three conserved domains, germin/GLP boxes A, B and C as well as the RGD-like tripeptide motif are present in *BvGLP-1*. Amino acid alignment analysis of BvGLP-1 revealed a high homology to various plant GLPs with OxO activitiy, in which all crucial residues and sub-domains (Woo et al. 2000) characteristic of a GLP-like OxO were conserved, implying its enzymatic nature. In animal cells, the RGD motif is important for protein-protein interactions (Kim et al. 2004), therefore we suggest that these conserved residues also constitute the signal transduction activity for *BvGLP-1* in nematode resistance. Remarkably, *BvGLP-1* contains a putative auxin binding site named Box A that may reinforce the role of *BvGLP-1* as a signal transducer in the *Hs1*^{pro-1} initiated resistance reaction (Figure 4).

It has been shown that the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ orthologous Arabidopsis proteins AtHSPROI/2 are implicated in plant pathogen resistance by interacting with AKINbc subunits of SnRK1 (SNF1-related protein kinase) heterotrimeric complex through the GBD domain and that metabolic enzymes such as ACC (1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate), an auxin dependent ethylene producer are downstream targets of SnRK1 complexes (Gissot et al. 2006). Moreover, it is already proven that auxin plays a prominent role in the early stages of syncytium development (Goverse et al. 2000) in susceptible plants which let us suggest that BvGLP-1 could act as an alternative target for auxin in resistant plants. When BvGLP-1 was overexpressed in Arabidopsis, neither NPR1 and EDS1 nor SGT1 was found to be regulated in transgenic plants, therefore, we conclude that BvGLP-1 does not participate in the early signaling events in activation of the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated resistance.

In plants and animals alike LRR receptors are believed to transduce most signals through the activation of co-receptors or accessory proteins (Dievart et al. 2004). For instance, in rice, Xa-

146

21 protein requires XB3 for complete *Xa-21*-mediated disease resistance (Wang et al. 2006). Plant RLPs (receptor like proteins) perceive signals through their extracellular domain and propagate the signal through the intracellular domain (Afzal et al. 2008). The gene product of *Rme1* remains unidentified, but the authors speculated that it may be a protein kinase acting either upstream of *Mi-1* or at the same early stage of the transduction pathway raising the possibility that *Rme1* may be the target for the different nematode, aphid and whitefly Avr effectors, and *Mi-1* detects the changes in *Rme1* resulting from these interactions (Martinez de Ilarduya et al. 2004; Fuller et al. 2008).

The function of both $Hs1^{pro-1}$ and cZR-3/cZR-7 in terms of nematode resistance should be verified in whole sugar beet plants and it remains a great challenge to explore the possible direct interactions among $Hs1^{pro-1}$, cZR-3/cZR-7 and other signaling components physically. Future approaches should aim at determining all interacting components and their role and position in the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ -mediated resistance response using forward (transgenic plants) and reverse genetic experimental tools (mutant plants, RNAi) to confirm this model.

4 A possible signaling pathway leading to the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated resistance response

In a simplified model, two different R-gene-mediated signaling pathways have been described in *Arabidopsis thaliana* at present (Hammond-Kosack et al. 2003). The first one involves the TIR-NBS-LRR type of R-genes (e.g. *RPP1* and *RPP5*) and requires *EDS1* (Enhanced Disease Susceptibility) and *PAD4* (Phytoalexin Deficient) function to attain full resistance; and the second one involves the CC-NBS-LRR type of R-genes (e.g. *RPM1* and *RPS2*) and requires functional *NDR1* (Non-race specific Disease Resistance), *RAR1* and *SGT1* (suppressor of the G2 allele of skp1). It is known that *RAR1* and *SGT1* are required for the function and steady state accumulation of a subset of R-genes in monocot and dicot plant species; thus they are involved in *Mi-1.2*, *MLA1* and *MLA6* as well as in *Xa-21* mediated resistance (Azevedo et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2006). Therefore we selected several key defense signaling components representing different signaling pathways as well as a set of PR and PDF genes. In Arabidopsis, induction of antimicrobial protein genes *PR-1*, *PR-2*, and *PR-5* follows a SAdependent pathway, whereas the induction of the plant defensin *PDF1.2* depends on a pathway involving at least JA as a signal molecule (Pieterse 1999).

Our data demonstrates that cZR-3 (as well as cZR-7) requires *RAR1* and *SGT1*, whereas its function is independent of *NPR1* and *EDS1* indicating that cZR-3 (cZR-7) induces a defense pathway previously described for non-TIR-(CC) NBS-LRR R-genes. In contrast, all investigated defense signaling components were not changed after overexpressing of *BvGLP*-

1 suggesting that *BvGLP-1* may act at a further position in the signal transduction pathway in a more general manner. However, the expression pattern of all investigated defense related genes was more or less the same in all transgenic plants. *PDF 1.2, PDF 2.2* and *PDF 2.3* were not changed and all PR-gene expression levels are enhanced after overexpression of cZR-3 (cZR-7) as well as *BvGLP-1*. H₂O₂ produced by OxO members of the germin and GLP family may act as a messenger for the initiation of other defense-related genes and secondary metabolites may accumulate through H₂O₂-signaling pathways (Dunwell et al. 2008; Lou et al. 2006). With regard to our results, cZR-3 is speculated to activate a SAR pathway which functions in a SA-dependent manner and results in the production of PR-proteins.



Figure 4: A putative signaling pathway leading to the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ -mediated nematode resistance response. cZR-3 requires *RAR1* and *SGT1*, whereas *BvGLP-1* may act at a further position in the signal transduction pathway in a more general manner. H₂O₂ produced by *BvGLP-1* may act as a messenger for the initiation of other defense-related genes. HR, hypersensitive response; OB, oxidative burst; WRKY, Zn finger-type plant transcription factors, MAPK, mitogen activated protein kinase; NDR1, non-race specific disease resistance 1; RAR1, required for Mla-dependent resistance 1; SGT1, suppressor of G2 allele of SKP1. Transmembrane domain, \bigcirc coiled-coil, NBS domain, *MRR*.

Other important components of plant defense may be proteins of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) that were also found in transcript profiling experiments with nematode resistant sugar beets by using suppressive subtractive hybridisation (SSH) technique indicating their possible role in the *Hs1*^{pro-1} mediated resistance (D.Cai, unpublished results).

5 Practical relevance

5.1 The potential of RGAs and BvGLP-1 in genetic engineering

Cyst nematodes are devasting plant pathogens responsible for high yield losses. Nematicides are available but often not desired because of environmental and human health risks. In this context resistant varieties provide the most potential opportunity to prevent plants against nematode attack. Breeding a new variety requires considerable time and effort, but it is an

essential process not only because many disease causing organisms exhibit increasing insensitivity to pesticides.

Our currently used food crops were firstly domesticated from wild species about 10.000 years. During this period strong selection pressure on the genetic diversity found in the wild species would have resulted in a reduction of genetic variation in domesticated plants (Tanksley et al. 1997). The limited genetic diversity of crops makes them more vulnerable to disease and insect epidemics. Thus, the breeder's task has been to find new resistance sources and these are often found in poorly adapted more or less related wild species. Not only by simplifying the access to secondary/third genepools of wild relatives plant biotechnology will aid in the search and application for/of new R-genes.

Plant biotechnology has become a tool for crop improvement by facilitating the efficient introgression of genes into adapted genotypes and the cloning of R-genes (Michelmore 1995). Plant transformation therefore offers an efficient means to introduce specific R-genes into crop species without the introduction of deleterious 'background' genes as is sometimes the case with classical backcrossing. Techniques exist for the delivery of isolated or modified single genes into almost all cultivated species however, depending on the plant species, transformation frequencies can be low and only a few may have appropriate transgene expression levels (Pink et al. 1999; Punja et al. 2001). Genetic engineering may also allow transfer across species that are difficult or impossible to cross sexually; however the transformation of single R-genes between closely related species is morel likely to be successful than between more distantly related species (Michelmore et al. 2003). The techniques used to develop transgenic plants have improved dramatically in the last decade allowing the development of new disease resistant crops, some of which are commercially available (Dempsey et al. 1998). However, the transfer of R-genes from model to crop plants as well as between distantly related crops could be limited by a phenomenon termed 'restricted taxonomic functionality' (RTF) that might reflect an inability of the R-protein to interact with signal transduction components in the heterologous host (Michelmore et al. 2003). The lack of evidence for direct R-Avr interactions led to the development of the 'guard hypothesis' by Van der Biezen and Jones that changed our view on R-gene-mediated defense which previously had been explained by the classical receptor-ligand model (Flor et al. 1971). The divergence or absence of an appropriate guardee or the inability of the R-protein to interact with downstream signaling components lacking in a heterologous host may explain the RTF of R-genes.

There is now a variety of genes from diverse sources that might be used to enhance disease resistance. These include cloned R-genes, specific signaling components like hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), SA, genes with antimicrobial activity such as PR-proteins, antifungal proteins (osmotin- and thaumatin-like), antimicrobial peptides (thionins, defensins, lectin), and phytoalexins as well as gene products that can enhance the structural defenses in the plant such as peroxidase and lignin. The identification of global regulators of resistance response, 'master switches', offers the possibility to engineer disease resistance (Stuiver et al. 2001). Due to the variety of genes it is increasingly important to gain insight into the pathways used to induce their synthesis and the steps and mechanisms by which resistance is activated. In this way new opportunities to improve existing methods and to create novel strategies for engineering durable, broad-spectrum disease resistance in plants evolve. This study provides novel insight into the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode resistance response and leads to a better understading of the function of different components involved in the resistance response such as RGAs and OxO. Thus first steps for their use in genetic engineering of sugar beet and rapeseed with respect to reduction of nematode infection can be deduced.

The creation of durable resistance is of particular interest; in this context the deployment of genetic engineering approaches based on expression of two or more R-genes in a specific crop should provide more effective disease control than the single-gene strategy (Punja et al. 2001). It is possible to pyramid R-genes by supertransformation or sexual crosses with each gene effective against different pathotypes or against different pathogens. But also for achieving complete resistance, gene pyramiding would be a useful tool in heterologous hosts lacking the whole mechanistic network for complete resistance. In our study the simultaneous deployment of $Hs1^{pro-1}$ and a RGA sequence involved in the same nematode resistance pathway led to enhanced resistance response compared to single gene constructs (D.Cai, unpublished results).

The use of molecular markers and MAS techniques have facilitated identification, mapping, and transfer of many disease R-genes and QTLs in many crop species (Foolad et al. 2007). MAS can reduce the costs, can increase the precision and efficiency of selection and breeding and can facilitate the identification of genes or QTLs within wild species and their transfer into cultivated species. Numerous molecular markers linked to disease R-genes have been reported. RGAs are excellent molecular markers for resistance and resistance diversity. Candidate genes involved in both recognition (e.g. RGAs) and general plant defense mechanisms (e.g. OxO genes) were used as either PCR-based markers or restriction fragment

151

length polymorphism (RFLP) markers that included RGAs or putative plant defense genes from rice, barley, and maize as described by Dunwell et al. 2008.

Of particular interest would also be the establishment of transgenic plants with broadspectrum disease resistance especially for pathogens with a wide host range, such as *Rhizoctonia solani* and *Botrytis cinerea*, for which only few sources of resistance in crops are available (Punja et al. 2001). Overexpression of the *NPR1* gene, which regulates the SAmediated signaling leading to SAR, in transgenic Arabidopsis increased the level of PRproteins during infection and enhanced resistance to *Peronospora parasitica* (Cao et al. 1998). Engineering pathogen resistance by overexpression of antipathogenic proteins is much more specific than the pathway modulating approach. The impact on yield or the interference/antagonism with other defense pathways is limited or absent (Stuiver et al. 2001). Chitinases and PIs have also a great potential in conferring enhanced resistance to other phytopathogens and also additive resistance effects of effector proteins have been described (Broglie et al. 1991, Urwin et al. 2003) demonstrating the effector based strategy as the most effective.

The activation of general defense responses in transgenic plants would provide protection against viral, bacterial and fungal pathogens in addition to nematodes. Here we describe the analysis of BvGLP-1 which exhibits an OxO activity resulting in increased levels of H₂O₂. OxO led to the reduction of nematode development and fungal infection in transgenic plants indicating that BvGLP-1 enzyme activity results in the activation of general defense pathways which is useful for engineering broad spectrum disease resistance. However, there are a number of cases where transgene products such as thionins, RIP, peroxidases and H₂O₂ generating enzymes expressed at high levels induce plant cell damage or had other undesirable effects on plant growth, development, and crop yield.

5.2 Importance of specific inducible promoters

Constitutive promoters have been used to achieve high expression levels throughout most tissues of the plant. The CaMV35S promoter has been widely used in many biotechnological applications. However, it is not ideal as a promoter for delivering antinematode effectors because it is down-regulated in syncytial feeding cells induced by cyst nematodes (Goddijn et al. 1993). If only specific tissues need to be protected or if the antimicrobial compounds need to be expressed at certain targeted sites in the cell to minimise sideeffects, specific promoters are needed. In this respect, the toxic protein may be better deployed through inducible

152

Chapter VI

expression approaches by use of leaf-specific promoters (Stahl et al. 2004), storage rootspecific promoters (Oltmanns et al. 2006), wound-inducible promoters (Dimmer et al. 2004) or nematode-inducible promoters (Thurau et al. 2003).

Having these problems in mind we applied the H_2O_2 generating gene *BvGLP-1* under the control of both promoters the constitutive 35S and the nematode-inducible syncytium-restricted Hs1 promoter. As expected, the transgenic plants expressing OxO constitutively suffered from physiological stress resulting in a decreased number of transformants and we suggest that OxO expression level in completely regenerated transgenic plants must be relatively low otherwise the plants could not be regenerated. The nematode-inducible promoter restricted the *BvGLP-1* transgene expression to pathogen infection sites, limited the cost of resistance and provided a restricted and therefore enhanced resistance level without phytotoxicity to the host plant.

An alternative strategy for engineering broad-spectrum resistance is based on the coordinate expression of an R-gene and a corresponding Avr transgene, controlled by a pathogeninducible promoter (McDowell et al. 2003) as well as on synthetic promoters by combining pathogen-inducible cis-regulatory elements, the GCC-like elements (Ohme-Tagaki et al. 2000) and the W boxes (Rushton et al. 1998; Eulgem et al. 2000). An ideal promoter would respond rapidly to a wide variety of pathogens and must be inactive under disease free conditions. Particularly for cyst nematodes the disruption of feeding cells is an attractive target for transgenic resistance which would restrict nematode development (Atkinson et al. 2003). Most economically important plant parasitic nematode species are root parasites. Several root tissue-specific promoters have been identified and provide considerable potential for a range of biotechnological applications (Atkinson et al. 2003): the TUB-1 promoter (Breviario et al. 2000), RPL16A promoter (Williams et al. 1995) and the serine/threonine kinase (ARSK1) promoter (Hwang et al. 1995). Nematodes activate enzymatic processes within the feeding cells, which eventually result in the change of activity of transcription factors that bind to the Hs1^{pro-1}-promoter elements enhancing the Hs1^{pro-1} transcription supporting that an enhanced expression of *Hs1*^{pro-1} in feeding cells is required for initiation of resistance (Cai et al. 2003). The *Hs1^{pro-1}*-promoter has a great potential for engineering nematode resistance in plants consequently leading to death of the nematode juveniles shortly after initiation of the feeding structure (Thurau et al. 2003). This study is the first proof of its practical application in the whole plant; in this case A. thaliana, also indicating that the mechanisms are conserved in sugar beet and Arabidopsis.

6 Conclusions and Outlook

The current work provides insight in the *Hs1^{pro-1}*-mediated nematode resistance but future research will require the fine tuning of engineered gene expression to prevent pathogen infection. Moreover, the combination of different R-genes with different resistance mechanisms in one plant will offer the opportunity to breed varieties with a more durable and broader resistance. With respect to the protection ability of hydrolytic enzymes, signaling components or enzymes for phytoalexin synthesis in particular against pathogens that have been typically difficult to control, the regulated expression in order to prevent destruction of the plant becomes more and more important. Probably, the challenge for the future is to develop the use of associated components representing different steps in the resistance response, receptors, signaling molecules and effectors for engineering disease resistance.

It has become evident that the introduction of a single transgene is not sufficient to achieve durable and broad-spectrum disease resistance. Numerous natural R-genes and RGAs, including those identified in the current study for nematode resistance, are available for immediate deployment, but how these R-genes/RGAs are deployed in a crop determines both the durability and effectiveness of resistance response. The goal is to keep more than one R-gene and all additional components within the cultivated plant, since it is known that R-genes do not function properly in heterologous hosts, possibly because the guarded protein is absent. Transgenic approaches to achieve durable disease resistance require a supply of cloned R-genes in their naturally occurring signaling network. Thus, it is essential to clarify the different steps within the signaling pathway even thought this task is complicated.

In order to gain more insight into the complex plant resistance network global gene expression strategies are necessary for the rapid identification of candidate genes. Such approaches include differential display (DD), serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE), cDNA-amplified fragment length polymorphism (cDNA AFLP) and gene chips. Using these differential transcriptional profiling methods will allow gaining more insight into biological changes during plant response to pathogen infection.

Additionally, pathogen genomics become more and more important. In this context, whole genome high-throughput sequencing initiatives will enable scientists to better understand pathogens infectious lifestyle and genome structure. Gaining insights into pathogens evolutionary potential would help to predict the durability of R-gene-based disease control. In

154

particular, identification of parasitism genes secreted by the nematode into host cells and also including nematode Avr-genes, is a challenge for the future. This will help to determine the appropriate host targets. The identification of a nematode Avr-gene interacting with the Hsl^{pro-l} gene will provide the confirmation of its receptor function within the incompatible interaction. Moreover, characterized nematode Avr/parasitism genes will lead to the development of new control strategies for example host-derived RNA interference (RNAi).

7 References

- Afzal AJ, Wood AJ, and Lightfoot DA (2008) Plant Receptor-Like Serine Threonine Kinases: Roles in Signaling and Plant Defense. MPMI 21:507–51.7
- Anderson PA, Lawrence GJ, Morrish BC, Ayliffe MA, Finnegan EJ and Ellis JG (1997) Inactivation of the flax rust resistance gene M associated with loss of a repeated unit within the leucine-rich repeat coding region. Plant Cell 9:641–651.
- Anderson KV (2000) Toll signaling pathways in the innate immune response. Current Opinion in Immunology 12:13–19.
- Atkinson HJ, Urwin PE, McPherson MJ (2003) Engineering plants for nematode resistance. Annual Review of Phytopathology 41:615–639.
- Azevedo C, Sadanandom A, Kitagawa K, Freialdenhoven A, Shirasu K, Schulze-Lefert P. (2002) The RAR1 interactor SGT1, an essential component of R gene-triggered disease resistance. Science 295:2073–2076.
- Baker BJ, Zambryski P, Staskawicz BJ, Dinesh-Kumar SP (1997) Signaling in plant-microbe interactions. Science 276:726-733.
- Bateman DF, and Beer SV (1965) Simultaneous production and synergistic action of oxalic acid and polygalacturonase during pathogenesis by Sclerotium rolfsii. Phytopathology 55:204-211.
- Bennett AR, and Hindal DF (1989) Mycelial growth and oxalate production by five strains of Cryphonectria parasitica in selected liquid culture media. Mycologia 81:554-560.
- Broglie K, Chet I, Holliday M, Cressman R, Biddle P, Knowlton S, Mauvais CJ, and Broglie R (1991) Transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to the fungal pathogen Rhizoctonia solani. Science 254:1194-1107.
- Breviario D, Nick P (2000) Plant tubulins: a melting pot for basic questions and promising applications. Transgenic Res. 9:383–93.
- Cai D (2003) Molecular analysis of nematode resistance genes from *Beta* species. Habilitation Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel.
- Cai D, Kleine M, Kifle S, Harloff HJ, Sandal NN, Marcker KA, Klein-Lankhorst RM, Salentijn EMJ, Lange W, Stiekema WJ, Wyss U, Grundler FMW and Jung C (1997) Positional Cloning of a Gene for Nematode Resistance in Sugar Beet. Science 275:832-834
- Cai D, Thurau T, Tian YY, Lange T, Yeh KW, Jung C (2003) Sporamin-mediated resistance to beet cyst nematodes (*Heterodera schachtii* Schm.) is depending on trypsin inhibitory activity in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) hairy roots. Plant Mol Biol 51:839- 849
- Cao H, Li X and Dong X (1998) Generation of broad-spectrum disease resistance by overexpression of an essential regulatory gene in systemic acquired resistance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:6531–6536.
- Cessna SG, Sears VE, Dickman MB, and Low PS (2000) Oxalic acid, a pathogenicityfactor for Sclerotinia sclerotiorum suppresses the oxidative burst of the host plant. ThePlant Cell 12:2191-2199.
- Chen H, Wang S, and Zhang Q (2002) New Gene for Bacterial Blight Resistance in Rice Located on Chromosome 12 Identified from Minghui 63, an Elite Restorer Line. Phytopathology 92:750-754.
- Chen RG, Li HX, Zhang LY, Zhang JH, Xiao JH, Ye ZB (2007) *CaMi*, a root-knot nematode resistance gene from hot pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.) confers nematode resistance in tomato. Plant Cell Reports 26: 895–905.
- Chiriboga J (1966) Purification and properties of oxalic acid oxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 116:516-523.
- Christensen AB, Thordal-Christensen H, Zimmermann G, Gjetting T, Lyngkjær MF, Dudler R and Schweizer P (2004) The germinlike protein GLP4 exhibits superoxide dismutase activity and is an important component of quantitative resistance in wheat and barley. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 17:109-117.
- Collins NC, Webb CA, Seah S, Ellis JG, Hulbert SH and Pryor A (1998) The isolation and Mapping of Disease Resistance Gene Analogs in Maize. MPMI 11:968–978.
- Conn VM, Walker AR, and Franco CMM (2008) Endophytic Actinobacteria Induce Defense Pathways in Arabidopsis thaliana. MPMI 21:208–218.
- Cooley M, Pathirana S, Wu HJ, Kachroo P and Klessig D (2000) Members of the Arabidopsis *HRT/RPP8* family of resistance genes confer resistance to both viral and oomycete pathogens. Plant Cell 12:663-676.
- Couch BC, Spangler R, Ramos C, and May G (2006) Pervasive Purifying Selection Characterizes the Evolution of *I2* Homologs MPMI 19:288–303.
- Dangl JL, Jones JDG (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defense responses to infection. Nature 411:826-833

Davis EL, Hussey RS, Baum TJ, Bakker J, Schots A, Rosso MN and Abad P (2000) Nematode Parasitism Genes. Annu Rev Phytopathology 38:365-396

Davis EL, Hussey RS, Baum TJ (2004) Getting to the roots of parasitism by nematodes. Trends in Parasitology 20:134–141.

- Decroocq V, Foulongne M, Lambert P, Gall OL, Mantin C, Pascal T, Schurdi-Levraud V and Kervella J (2005) Analogues of virus resistance gene map to QTLs for resistance to sharka disease in *Prunus davidiana*. Mol. Genet. Genomics 272:680–689.
- Dempsey DMA, Silva H and Klessig DF (1998) Engineering disease and
- pest resistance in plants. Trends in Microbiology 6:54-61.
- Diévart A and Clark SE (2004) LRR-containing receptors regulating plant development and defense. Development 131:251-261.
- Dimmer E, Roden L, Cai D, Kingsnorth C, Mutasa-Göttgens E (2004) Transgenic analysis of sugar beet xyloglucan endo-transglucosylase/hydrolase Bv-XTH1 and Bv-XTH2 promoters reveals overlapping tissue-specific and wound-inducible expression profiles. Plant Biotechnol J.2:127-39.
- Dixon MS, Jones DA, Keddie JS, Thomas CM, Harrison K and Jones JDG (1996) The Tomato Cf-2 Disease Resistance Locus Comprises Two Functional Genes Encoding Leucine-Rich Repeat Proteins. Cell 84:451–459.
- Donaldson PA, Anderson T, Lane BG, Davidson AL, Simmonds DH (2001) Soybean plants expressing an active oligomeric oxalate oxidase from the wheat gf-2.8 (germin) gene are resistant to the oxalate-secreting pathogen *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 59:297–307.
- Donald TM, Pellerone F, Adam-Blondon AF, Bouquet A, Thomas MR, Dry IB (2002) Identification of resistance gene analogs linked to a powdery mildew resistance locus in grapevine. Theor Appl Genet 104:610–618.
- Dunwell JM, Gibbings JG, Mahmood T, and Saqlan Naqvi SM (2008) Germin and Germin like Proteins: Evolution, Structure, and Function. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 27:342–375.
- Ellis JG, Lawrence GJ, Finnegan EJ and Anderson PA (1995) Contrasting complexity of two rust resistance loci in flax. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:4185-4188.
- Ernst K, Kumar A, Kriseleit D, Kloos, D-U, Phillips MS, Ganal MW (2002) The broad- spectrum potato cyst nematode resistance gene (Hero) from tomato is the only member of a large gene family of NBS-LRR genes with an unusual amino acid repeat in the LRR region. Plant Journal 31:127–136.
- Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Robatzek S and Somssich IE (2000) The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. Trends Plant Sci 5:199–206.
- Faris JD, Li WL, Liu DJ, Chen PD, Gill BS (1999) Candidate gene analysis of quantitative disease resistance in wheat. Theor Appl Genet 98:219-225.
- Foolad MR (2007) Genome Mapping and Molecular Breeding of Tomato. International Journal of Plant Genomics. Article ID 64358.
- Flor HH (1971) The current status of the gene for gene concept. Annual Review Phytopathology 9:275-296.
- Fuller VL, Lilley CJ and Urwin PE (2008) Nematode resistance. New Phytologist 180:27-44.
- Gissot L, Polge C, Jossier M, Girin T, Bouly J-P, Kreis M and Thomas M (2006) AKINbg Contributes to SnRK1 Heterotrimeric Complexes and Interacts with Two Proteins Implicated in Plant Pathogen Resistance through Its KIS/GBD Sequence. Plant Physiology 142:931–944.
- Goddijn OJ, Lindsey K, van der Lee FM, Klap JC, Sijmons PC (1993) Differential gene expression in nematodeinduced feeding structures of transgenic plants harbouring promoter-gusA fusion constructs. Plant J 4:863-873.
- Goggin FL, Jia L, Shah G, Hebert S, Williamson VM and Ullman DE (2006) Heterologous Expression of the *Mi-*1.2 Gene from Tomato Confers Resistance Against Nematodes but Not Aphids in Eggplant. MPMI 19:383–388.
- Goverse A, Overmars H, Engelbertink J, Schots A, Bakker J and Helder J Both (2000) Induction and Morphogenesis of Cyst Nematode Feeding Cells Are Mediated by Auxin. MPMI 13:1121-1129.
- Graham LE, Cook ME, and Busse JS (2000) The origin of plants: Body plan changes contributing to a major evolutionary radiation PNAS 97:4535–4540.
- Guimaraes RL, and Stotz HU (2004) Oxalate production by Sclerotinia sclerotiorum deregulates guard cells during infection1. Plant Physiol. 136:3703-3711.
- Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JD (1997) Plant disease resistance genes. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:575-607.
- Hammond-Kosack KE, and Parker JE (2003) Deciphering plant-pathogen communication: Fresh perspectives for molecular resistance breeding. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14:177-193
- He P, Shan L and Sheen J (2007) Elicitation and suppression of microbe-associated molecular pattern-triggered immunity in plant–microbe interactions. Cellular Microbiology 9:1385–1396.
- He L, Du C, Covaleda L, Xu Z, Robinson AF, Yu JZ, Kohel RJ and Zhang H-B (2004) Cloning, Characterization, and Evolution of the NBS-LRR-Encoding Resistance Gene Analogue Family in Polyploid Cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum L*.). MPMI 17:1234–1241.
- Hollowell JE, Smith MR, and Shew BB (2001) Oxalic acid production by nine isolates of Sclerotinia minor. Proc. Am. Peanut Res. Ed. Soc. 33:24.

- Hunger S, Di Gaspero G, Mohring S, Bellin D, Schafer-Pregl R, Borchardt DC, Durel CE, Werber M, Weisshaar B, Salamini F, Schneider K (2003) Isolation and linkage analysis of expressed disease-resistance gene analogues of sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.). Genome 46:70-82.
- Hu, Bidney DL, Yalpani N, Duvick JP, Crasta O, Folkerts O and Lu G (2003) Overexpression of a Gene Encoding Hydrogen Peroxide- Generating Oxalate Oxidase Evokes Defense Responses in Sunflower. Plant Physiology 133:170–180.
- Hwang I, Goodman HM (1995) An *Arabidopsis thaliana* root-specific kinase homolog is induced by dehydration, ABA and NaCl. Plant J. 8:37–43.
- Jones DA, CM Thomas, KE Hammond-Kosack, PJ Balint-Kurti, and JD Jones (1994) Isolation of the tomato Cf-9 gene for resistance to *Cladosporium fulvum* by transposon tagging. Science 266:789–793.
- Jones JDG and Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323-329.
- Kim HJ, Triplett BA (2004) Cotton fiber germin-like protein I: Molecular cloning and gene expression. Planta 218:516–524.
- Kanazin V, Marek LF, Shoemaker RC (1996) Resistance gene analogues are conserved and clustered in soybean. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93:11746-11750.
- Lane BG, Dunwell JM, Ray JA, Schmitt MR and Cuming AC (1993) Germin, a protein marker of early plant development, is an oxalate oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 268:12239 12242.
- Laloi C, Apell K and Danon A (2004) Reactive oxygen signaling: the latest news. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7:323–328.
- Lane BG(1994) Oxalate, germin, and the extracellular matrix of higher plants. FASEB J. 5:294-301.
- Leister D, Ballvora A, Salamin F and Gebhardt C (1996) A PCR–based approach for isolating pathogen resistance genes from potato with potential for wide application in plants Nature Genetics 14:421–429.
- Leister RT (2005) Molecular genetic evidence for the role of *SGT1* in the intramolecular complementation of Bs2 protein activity in *Nicotiana benthamiana*. Plant Cell 17:1268–1278.
- Leister D (1998) Rapid reorganization of resistance gene homologues in cereal genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:370–375.
- Levine A, Tenhaken R, Dixon R, and Lamb C (1994) H₂O₂ from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. Cell 79:583-593.
- Liang H, Maynard CA, Allen RD and Powell WA (2001) Increased *Septoria musiva* resistance in transgenic hybrid poplar leaves expressing a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Molecular Biology 45:619–629.
- Livingstone DM, Hampton JL, Phipps PM and Grabau EA (2005) Enhancing Resistance to *Sclerotinia minor* in Peanut by Expressing a Barley Oxalate Oxidase Gene. Plant Physiology 137:1354–1362.
- Liu YL, Schiff M, Marathe R, Dinesh-Kumar SP (2002) Tobacco *Rar1*, *EDS1* and *NPR1/NIM1* like genes are required for N-mediated resistance to tobacco mosaic virus. Plant Journal 30:415–429.
- Lilley CJ, Bakhetia M, Charlton WL, Urwin PE (2007) Recent progress in the development of RNA interference for plant parasitic nematodes. Molecular Plant Pathology 8:701–711.
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ, McPherson MJ (1997) Characterisation of cDNAs encoding serine proteases from the soybean cyst nematode *Heterodera glycines*. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology 89:195– 207.
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, Johnston KA, Atkinson HJ (2004) Preferential expression of a plant cystatin at nematode feeding sites confers resistance to *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Globodera pallida*. Plant Biotechnology Journal 2:3–12.
- Lilley CJ, Atkinson HJ and Urwin PE (2005) Molecular aspects of cyst nematodes. Molecular Plant Pathology 6:577-588.
- Lilley CJ, Urwin PE, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1996) Characterisation of intestinally active proteases of cyst-nematodes. Parasitology 113:415–424.
- Lopez CE, Zuluaga AP, Cooke RM, Tohme DJ, Verdier V. (2003) Isolation of Resistance Gene Candidates (RGCs) and characterization of an RGC cluster in cassava. Mol Gen Genomics 269:658–671.
- López CE, Acosta IF, Jara C, Pedraza F, Gaitán-Solís E, Gallego G, Beebe S and Tohme J (2003) Identifying Resistance Gene Analogs Associated With Resistances to Different Pathogens in Common Bean. Phytopathology 93:88-95.
- Lou Y and Baldwin IT (2006) Silencing of a Germin-Like Gene in *Nicotiana attenuate* Improves Performance of Native Herbivores. Plant Physiology 140:1126–1136.
- Luterbacher MC, Asher MJC, Beyer W, Mandolino G, Scholten OE, Frese L, Biancardi E, Stevanato P, Mechelke W and Slyvchenko O (2005) Sources of resistance to diseases of sugar beet in related *Beta* germplasm: II. Soil-borne diseases Euphytica 141:49–63.
- Luterbacher MC, Asher MJC, DeAmbrogio E, Biancardi E, Stevanato P and Frese L (2004) Sources of resistance to diseases of sugar beet in related *Beta* germplasm: I. Foliar diseases Euphytica 139:105–121.
- Martin GB, Brommonschenkel SH, Chunwongse J, Frary A, Ganal MW, Spivey R, Wu T, Earle ED and Tanksley SD (1993) Map-based cloning of a protein kinase gene conferring disease resistance in tomato Science 262.1432–1436:

- Martinez de Ilarduya O, Moore AE, Kaloshian I (2004) The tomato *Rme1* locus is required for *Mi-1*-mediated resistance to root-knot nematodes and the potato aphid. Plant Journal 27:417–425.
- Martinez de Ilarduya O, Xie QG, Kaloshian I (2003) Aphid-induced defense responses in *Mi- 1-*mediated compatible and incompatible tomato interactions. Molecular Plant– Microbe Interactions 16:699–708.
- Martínez-Zamora MG, Castagnaro AP, Diaz-Ricci JC (2004) Isolation and diversity analysis of resistance gene analogues (RGAs) from cultivated and wild strawberries. Mol Genet Genomics 272:480–487.
- McDowell JM, Woffenden BJ (2003) Plant disease resistance genes: recent insights and potential applications. Trends in Biotechnology 21:178–183.
- McFadden HC, Lehmensiek A, Lagudah ES (2006) Resistance gene analogues of wheat: molecular genetic analysis of ESTs. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 113:987–1002.
- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRRencoding genes in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell 15:809-834.
- Meyers BC, Shen KA, Rohani P, Gaut BS, and Michelmore R (1998) Receptor-like Genes in the Major Resistance Locus of Lettuce Are Subject to Divergent Selection. The Plant Cell 11:1833–1846.
- Meyers BC, Dickerman AW, Michelmore RW, Sivaramakrishnan S, Sobral BW, Young ND (1999) Plant disease resistance genes encode members of an ancient and diverse protein family within the nucleotidebinding superfamily. Plant J 20:317-332.
- Michelmore R (1995) MOLECULAR APPROACHES TO MANIPULATION OF DISEASE RESISTANCE GENES Ann. Rev. Phytopatho1. 5:393-427
- Michelmore RW, Meyers BC (1998) Clusters of resistance genes in plants evolve by divergent selection and a birth-and-death process. Genome Res 8:1113–1130.
- Michelmore Richard W (2003) The impact zone: genomics and breeding for durable disease resistance. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6:397–404.
- Milligan SB, Bodeau J, Yaghoobi J, Kaloshian I, Zabel P, Williamson VM (1998) The root knot nematode resistance gene Mi from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes. The Plant Cell 10:1307–1319.
- Ohme-Takagi M and Shinshi H (1995). Ethylene-inducible DNA binding proteins that interact with an ethyleneresponsive element. Plant Cell 7:173–182.
- Ohme-Tagaki M, Suzuki K and Shinshi H (2000) Regulation of ethylene-induced transcription of defense genes. Plant Cell Physiol. 41:1187–1192.
- Olson PD, and Varner JE (1993) Hydrogen peroxide and lignifications. The Plant J. 4:887 892.
- Oltmanns H, Kloos DU, Briess W, Pflugmacher M, Stahl DJ, Hehl R (2006) Taproot promoters cause tissue specific gene expression within the storage root of sugar beet. Planta 224: 485-495.
- Pan SM, Chen MK, Chung MH, Lee KW, and Chen IC (2001) Expression and characterization of monocot rice cytosolic CuZnSOD protein in dicot Arabidopsis. Transgenic Res. 10:343-351.
- Pan Q, Wendel J, Fluhr R (2000a) Divergent evolution of plant NBS-LRR resistance gene homologues in dicot and cereal genomes. J Mol Evol 50:203-213.
- Pflieger SA, Palloix C, Caranta A, Lefebvre V (2001) Defense response genes co- localize with quantitative disease resistance loci in pepper. Theor Appl Genet 103:920–929.
- Pflieger S, Lefebvre Vand Causse M (2001) The candidate gene approach in plant genetics: a review. Molecular Breeding 7:275–291.
- Pieterse CMJ and van Loon LC (1999)Salicylic acid independent plant defense pathways TRENDS in Plant Science 4: 1360-1385
- Pink D and Puddephat I (1999) Deployment of disease resistance genes by plant transformation–a 'mix and match' approach. Trends in Plant Science 4:564-567.
- Pink DAC (2002) Strategies using genes for non-durable disease resistance. Euphytica 124:227–236.
- Pryor T (1987) The origin and structure of fungal disease resistance genes in plants. Trends in Genet 3:157-161
- Punja Z.K (1985) Biology, ecology and control of Sclerotium rolfsii. Ann Rev Phytopathol. 23:97-127.
- Punja ZK (2001) Genetic engineering of plants to enhance resistance to fungal pathogens—a review of progress and future prospects Can. J. Plant Pathol. 23:216–235.
- Ramputh AI, Arnason JT, Cass L, Simmonds JA (2002) Reduced herbivory of the European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis*) on corn transformed with germin, a wheat oxalate oxidase gene. Plant Science 162:431–440.
- Richter TE, Pryor TJ, Bennetzen JL and Hulbert SH (1995) New rust resistance specificities associated with the *Rp1 complex* in maize. Genetics 141:373–381.
- Rushton PJ and Somssich IE (1998) Transcriptional control of plant genes responsive to pathogens. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 1:311-315.
- Ritschkoff AC, Marjaana R, Buchert J, and Viikari L (1995) Effect of carbon source on the production of oxalic acid and hydrogen peroxide by brown-rot fungus Poria placenta. J. Biotechnol. 40:179-186.
- Rushton PJ, Reinstädler A, Lipka V, Lippok B, and Somssich IE (2002) Synthetic Plant Promoters Containing Defined Regulatory Elements Provide Novel Insights into Pathogen- and Wound-Induced Signaling. The Plant Cellb 14:749–762.

- Schneider M, Droz E, Malnoë P, Chatot C, Bonnel E and Métraux J-P (2002) Transgenic potato plants expressing oxalate oxidase have increased resistance to oomycete and bacterial pathogens. Potato Research 45:177-185.
- Schweizer P, Christoffel A, Dudler R (1999) Transient expression of members of the germin- like gene family in epidermal cells of wheat confers disease resistance. Plant J 20: 541-552.
- Schulte D, Cai D, Kleine M, Fan L, Wang S, Jung C (2006) A complete physical map of a wild beet (Beta procumbens) translocation in sugar beet. Mol Gen Genomics 275:504 511
- Shen KA, Meyers BC, Islam-Faridi MN, Chin DB, Stelly DM and Michelmore RW (1998) Resistance Gene Candidates Identified by PCR with Degenerate Oligonucleotide Primers Map to Clusters of Resistance Genes in Lettuce. MPMI 11:815–823.
- Shen KA, Chin DB, Arroyo-Garcia R, Ochoa OE, Lavelle DO, Wroblewski T, Meyers BC, and Michelmore RW (2002) Dm3 Is One Member of a Large Constitutively Expressed Family of Nucleotide Binding Site– Leucine-Rich Repeat Encoding Genes. MPMI 15:251–261.
- Sheperd KW, Mayo GME (1972) Genes conferring specific plant disease resistance. Science 175:375-380.
- Song WY (1995). A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, Xa21. Science. 270:1804–1806.
- Soriano JM, Vilanova S, Llacer CRG, Badenes ML (2005) Characterization and mapping of NBS-LRR resistance gene analogs in apricot (*Prunus armeniaca* L.). Theor Appl Genet 110:980–989.
- Stahl DJ, Kloos DU and Hehl R (2004) A sugar beet chlorophyll a/b binding protein promoter void of G-box like elements confers strong and leaf specific reporter gene expression intransgenic sugar beet. BMC Biotechnol. 4: 31
- Stone HE, and Armentrout VN (1985) Production of oxalic acid by Sclerotium cepivorum during infection of onion. Mycologia 77:526-530.
- Stuiver MH and Custers JHHV (2001) Engineering disease resistance in plants. Nature 411:865-868
- Tanhuanpää P (2004) Identification and mapping of resistance gene analogs and a white rust resistance locus in *Brassica rapa* ssp. *oleifera*. Theor Appl Genet 108:1039–1046.
- Tanksley SD and McCouch SR (1997) Seed Banks and Molecular Maps: Unlocking Genetic Potential from the Wild. Science 277:1063-68.
- Thordal-Christensen H, Zhang Z, Wei Y and Collinge DB (1997) Subcellular localization of H2O2 in plants. H2O2 accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction. Plant J. 11:1187-1194
- Tian Y, Fan LJ, Thurau T, Jung C, Cai D (2003) The Absence of TIR Type Resistance Gene Analogues in the Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) Genome. J Mol Evol 57:1-14.
- Tian Y (2003) PCR-based Cloning of the Second Nematode Resistance Gene *Hs1-1^{pro-1}* and Resistance Gene Analogues from Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.). Dissertation, Christian-Albrechts-Universität, Kiel
- Thompson C, Dunwell JM, Johnstone CE, Lay V, Ray J, Schmitt M, Watson H and
- Nisbet G (1995) Degradation of oxalic acid by transgenic oilseed rape plants expressing oxalate oxidase. Euphytica 85:169-172.
- Thurau T, Kifle S, Jung C, Cai D (2003) The promoter of the nematode resistance gene *Hs1*^{pro-1} activates a nematode-responsive and feeding site-specific gene expression in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Molecular Biology 52:643-660.
- Urwin PE, Atkinson HJ, Waller DA, McPherson MJ. 1995. Engineered oryzacystatin-I expressed in transgenic hairy roots confers resistance to *Globodera pallida*. Plant Journal 8:121–131.
- Urwin PE, Green J, Atkinson HJ. 2003. Expression of a plant cystatin confers partial resistance to *Globodera*, full resistance is achieved by pyramiding a cystatin with natural resistance. Molecular Breeding 12: 263–269.
- Urwin PE, Levesley A, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ. 2000. Transgenic resistance to the nematode *Rotylenchulus reniformis* conferred by *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants expressing proteinase inhibitors. Molecular Breeding 6:257–264.
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, Atkinson HJ (2002) Ingestion of double-stranded RNA by pre parasitic juvenile cyst nematodes leads to RNA interference. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 15:747–752.
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Resistance to both cyst- and root- knot nematodes conferred by transgenic Arabidopsis expressing a modified plant cystatin. Plant Journal 12:455–461.
- Urwin PE, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Characterisation of two cDNAs encoding cysteine proteases from the soybean cyst nematode *Heterodera glycines*. Parasitology 114:605–613.
- Urwin PE, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1998) Enhanced transgenic plant resistance to nematodes by dual proteinase inhibitor constructs. Planta 204:472–479.
- Urwin PE, Møller SG, Lilley CJ, McPherson MJ, Atkinson HJ (1997) Continual green- fluorescent protein monitoring of cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter activity in nematode-induced feeding cells in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 10:394–400.

- Urwin PE, Troth KM, Zubko EI, Atkinson HJ (2001) Effective transgenic resistance to *Globodera pallida* in potato field trials. Molecular Breeding 8:95–101.
- van der Biezen EA, Jones JDG (1998) Plant disease-resistance proteins and the gene-for-gene concept. Trends Biochem Sci 23:454–456.
- van der Vossen EA, van der Voort JN, Kanyuka K, Bendahmane A, Sandbrink H, Baulcombe DC, Bakker J, Stiekema WJ, Klein-Lankhorst RM (2000) Homologues of a single resistance-gene cluster in potato confer resistance to distinct pathogens: a virus and a nematode. Plant J 23:567-576.
- WangY-S, Pi LY, Chen X, Chakrabarty PK, Jiang J, DeLeon AL, Liu GZ, Li L, Benny U, Oard J, Ronald PC and Songa WY (2006) Rice XA21 Binding Protein 3 Is a Ubiquitin Ligase Required for Full Xa21-Mediated Disease Resistance. The Plant Cell 18: 3635 3646.
- Walz A, Zingen-Sell I, Loeffler M, Sauer M (2008) Expression of an oxalate oxidase gene in tomato and severity of disease caused by *Botrytis cinerea* and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. Plant Pathology 57:453-458.
- Wei Y, Zhang Z, Andersen CH, Schmelzer E, Gregersen PL, Collinge DaB, Smedegaard Petersen Vand Thordal-Christensen H (1998) An epidermis/papilla-specific oxalate oxidase-like protein in the defense response of barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Molecular Biology 36:101–112.
- Wenkai X, Mingliang X, Jiuren Z, Fengge W, Jiansheng L, Jingrui D (2006) Genome-wide isolation of resistance gene analogs in maize (Zea mays L.). Theor Appl Genet 113:63–72.
- Welch AJ. Stipanovic AJ, Maynard CA and Powell AW (2007) The effects of oxalic acid on transgenic *Castanea dentata* callus tissue expressing oxalate oxidase. Plant Science 172:488–496.
- Williams ME, Sussex IM (1995) Developmental regulation of ribosomal protein L16 genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J. 8:65–76.
- Williamson VM, Hussey RS (1996) Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. The Plant Cell 8:1735– 1745.
- Woo EJ, Dunwell JM, Goodenough PW, Marvier AC, and Pickersgill RW (2000) Germin is a manganese containing homohexamer with oxalate oxidase and superoxide dismutase activities. Nature Struct. Biol. 7:1036-1040.
- Xiao S, Ellwood S, Calis O, Patrick E, Li T, Coleman M, TurneJG (2001) Broad-Spectrum Mildew Resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* Mediated by RPW8. Science 291:118-120.
- Xiao F, Lu M, Li J, Zhao T, Yi SY, Thara VK, Tang X, Zhou JM (2003) *Pto* mutants differentially activate *Prf*dependent, *avrPto*-independent resistance and gene-for-gene resistance. Plant Physiology 131:1239-1249.
- Yang Z, Sun X, Wang S, Zhang Q (2003) Genetic and physical mapping of a new gene for bacterial blight resistance in rice. Theor Appl Genet 106:1467–1472.
- Yu YG, Buss GR, Maroof MA (1996) Isolation of a superfamily of candidate disease- resistance genes in soybean based on a conserved nucleotide-binding site. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93:11751-11756.
- Zhang Z, Collinge DB, Thordal-Christensen H (1995) Germin-like oxalate oxidase, a H₂O₂- producing enzyme, accumulates in barley attacked by the powdery mildew fungus. Plant J 8: 139–145.
- Zhang Y, Zhang S, Qi L, Liu B, Xiong B, Gao J, Chen X, Chen C, Li X and Song W (2006) Cloning and characterization of disease resistance gene analogs from poplar (Populus tremula) chromosome. Int. J. Plant Sci. 167:403–412.
- Zhang CL, Xu DC, Jiang XC, Zhou1 Y, Cui J, Zhang CX, Chen DF, Fowler MR, Elliott MC, Scott NW, Dewar AM and Slater A (2008) Genetic approaches to sustainable pest management in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*) Annals of Applied Biology 152:143–156.
- Zhou F, Zhang Z, Gregersen PL, Mikkelsen JD, de Neergaard E, Collinge DB, and Thordal Christensen H (1998) Molecular characterization of the oxalate oxidase involved in the response of barley to the powdery mildew fungus. Plant Physiol. 117:33–41.
- Zimmermann, G, Bäumlein H, Mock HP, and Himmelbach A S P (2006) The multigene family encoding germin-like proteins of barley. Regulation and function in basal host resistance. Plant Physiol. 142:181-192.
- Zimnoch-Guzowska EW, Marczewski R, Lebecka B, Flis, Schäfer-Pregl R, Salamini F and Gebhardt C (2000) QTL Analysis of New Sources of Resistance to *Erwinia carotovora* ssp. *atroseptica* in Potato Done by AFLP, RFLP, and Resistance-Gene Like Markers. Crop Sci. 40:1156–1167.

Summary

The beet cyst nematode *Heterodera schachtii* Schm. is an obligate sedentary endoparasite causing great losses in agriculture. The nematode is mainly active in temperate regions of the world attacking most of the Chenopodiaceae and Brassicaceae species including sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*), spinach (*Spinacea oleracea*) and oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). Cyst nematodes can completely penetrate the roots of susceptible plants intracellularly as motile infective second-stage juveniles (J2) and induce changes in a number of host cells to form highly metabolically active feeding cells sustaining the nematode throughout its life cycle. Nematicides are available but often not allowed because of their environmental and mammalian toxicity. In this context resistant varieties provide the most economically and environmental friendly opportunity to prevent plants from nematode attack. Furthermore, sugar beet suffers heavily from diseases like powdery mildew (*Erysiphe betae*), *Cercospora* leaf spot (*Cercospora beticola*), *Rhizoctonia* root and crown rot (*Rhizoctonia solani*) and Rhizomania (BNYVV).

The $Hs1^{pro-1}$ locus confers resistance to the beet cyst nematode *H. schachtii* in sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris*). The gene $Hs1^{pro-1}$ had been cloned from the resistant sugar beet line, but the resistance mechanism still remains obscure.

By use of transcript profiling strategy, the gene BvGLP-1 was identified from the sugar beet genome. It encodes for an oxalate oxidase-like germin protein and is highly upregulated in resistant, but not in susceptible sugar beet in response to nematode infection. For functional analysis, we transferred BvGLP-1 into sugar beet roots and Arabidopsis plants and challenged them with the beet cyst nematode. While the expression of BvGLP-1 in nematode feeding cells (syncytia) of both sugar beet roots and Arabidopsis plants was sufficient to initiate nematode resistance, knockout of the homolog gene of BvGLP-1 in Arabidopsis significantly increase plant susceptibility to nematode infection. In addition, we found that BvGLP-1 functions as an oxalate oxidase generating hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) in plant cells and regulate the expression of pathogenesis-related proteins suggesting that BvGLP-1 plays a central role in regulating plant nematode resistance.

Of great interest is the establishment of transgenic plants with resistance against a broad-spectrum of pathogens, especially these with a wide host range such as *Rhizoctonia solani*. To check the potential of *BvGLP-1* in conferring resistance against fungal phytopathogens, we analyzed *BvGLP-1* in infection assays with *V. longisporum* and *R. solani* as well as with the beneficial endophytic fungus *Piriformospora indica*. As a result, the

162

expression of *BvGLP-1* in Arabidopsis resulted in significant resistance to the two fungal pathogens, but does not affect the beneficial interaction induced by *P. indica*. Thus, we conclude that *BvGLP-1* regulates plant defense responses following a specific signaling route that diverges from that induced by the beneficial fungus *P. indica*.

In addition, three RGA sequences, cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 were investigated in respect of their potential for initiating resistance in transgenic Arabidopsis. The three RGAs all belong to the CC-NBS-LRR resistance protein family and share high sequence and structure similarity to a set of recently cloned resistance proteins, suggesting their potential role in nematode resistance. Transgenic A. thaliana plants expressing each of the RGAs were challenged with H. schachtii. We found that transgenic Arabidopsis expressing cZR-3 or cZR-7, respectively, showed a significant anti-nematode effect compared to the control plants whereas knockout of a homolog gene of cZR-3 in Arabidopsis drastically increased the susceptibility to nematode infection. These results strongly suggest an active role of both RGAs in nematode resistance. In addition, the expression of cZR-3 and cZR-7 in Arabidopsis elevates the transcript levels of *RAR1* and *SGT1* but not of *NPR1* and *EDS1* and consequently upregulates the expression of a set of PR proteins. Therefore, we conclude that cZR-3 and 7 are involved in the *Hs1^{pro-1}* mediated nematode resistance following a signaling route specific for CC-NBS-LRR resistance proteins. It is worth speculating that the interference of PR proteins may represent an important aspect of the mechanism underlying the Hs1^{pro-1} mediated nematode resistance.

An efficient transformation protocol for oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) was also established in this study. It is a two-step shoot regeneration protocol from hypocotyl explants of oilseed rape, thus providing efficient tools to transfer the gene of interest into the oilseed rape genome by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation in the future.

Taken together, the results obtained from this study provide a deep insight into the molecular mechanism of the $Hs1^{pro-1}$ mediated nematode resistance but also novel strategies for genetic engineering of plant disease resistance e.g. by use of various natural resistance mechanisms.

Zusammenfassung

Der Zuckerrübenzystennematode Heterodera schachtii Schm. führt als obligat sedentärer Endoparasit zu erheblichen Ertragsverlusten in der Landwirtschaft. H. schachtii tritt hauptsächlich in gemäßigten Klimazonen auf und befällt verschiedene Arten der Chenopodiaceae und Brassicaceae, z.B. auch wichtige Kulturpflanzen wie die Zuckerrübe (Beta vulgaris), Spinat (Spinacea oleracea), und Raps (Brassica napus). Zystennematoden dringen als infektiöse Larven des zweiten Entwicklungsstadiums in ihre Wirtspflanzen ein und richten vor allem durch die intrazelluläre Wanderung zum Zentralzylinder, wo sie ein metabolisch hoch aktives Nährzellensytem induzieren, erheblichen Schaden an (Davis et al. 2004; Fuller et al. 2008). Nematizide Wirkstoffe sind zwar verfügbar, aber aufgrund ihrer umweltschädigenden Wirkung und Toxzizität für Säugetiere häufig verboten. Daher bietet der Anbau resistenter Sorten eine ökonomisch lohnende sowie umweltfreundliche Alternative Kulturpflanzen vor parasitären Nematoden zu schützen. Neben dem Rübenzystennematoden spielen auch andere Erreger im Zuckerrübenanbau eine wichtige Rolle, wie der Rübenmehltau (Erysiphe betae), die Blattfleckenkrankheit (Cercospora beticola), Rizomania und die Wurzel- und Kronenfäule, die durch den pilzlichen Erreger Rizoctonia solani hervorgerufen wird.

Der *Hs1^{pro-1}* Locus vermittelt Resistenz gegenüber dem Rübenzystennematoden *H. schachtii* in der Zuckerrübe (*Beta vulgaris*) (Cai et al. 1997). Das *Hs1^{pro-1}* Gen wurde zwar aus resistenten Zuckerrüben kloniert, aber die zugrunde liegenden Resistenzmechanismen bleiben ungeklärt.

Durch einen *transcript profiling* Ansatz konnte das *BvGLP-1* Gen im Zuckerrübengenom identifiziert werden. *BvGLP-1* kodiert für ein funktionales Oxalatoxidaseähnliches Germinprotein, das in resistenten, aber nicht in anfälligen Zuckerrübenpflanzen nach Nematodenbefall stark hoch reguliert ist. Für die funktionale Analyse wurde das *BvGLP-1* Gen in Zuckerrüben *hairy roots* und Arabidopsis Pflanzen eingebracht und die transgenen Wurzeln/Pflanzen in Nematodenresistenztests untersucht. Während die Expresssion des *BvGLP-1* Gens in Syncytien in transgenen Zuckerrübenwurzeln so wie auch in transgenen Arabidopsispflanzen eine Nematodenresistenz hervorrief, führte das *knockout* eines *BvGLP-1* homologen Gens im Arabidopsisgenom zu einer erhöhten Anfälligkeit der Pflanzen gegenüber Nematoden. Desweiteren wurde bewiesen, dass das *BvGLP-1* Gen als funktionale Oxalatoxidase in pflanzlichen Zellen agiert und dort Wasserstoffperoxid (H₂O₂) generiert. Außerdem reguliert *BvGLP-1* die Expression der Pathogen-assoziierten Gene (PR- Gene). Dies unterstreicht, dass *BvGLP-1* eine zentrale Rolle in der pflanzlichen Nematodenresistenz spielt.

Die Erstellung und Etablierung transgener Pflanzen mit einer Resistenz gegenüber einem weiten Pathogenspektrum, besonders aber gegenüber Pathogenen mit einem weiten Wirtspflanzenkreis, wie z.B. *Rhizoctonia solani* ist von großem Interessse. Um festzustellen, ob *BvGLP-1* Resistenz gegenüber pilzlichen Pathogenen verleihen könnte, haben wir die *BvGLP-1* transgenen Pflanzen in Infektionsexperimenten mit den pflanzenpathogenen Pilzen *V. longisporum* und *R. solani*, sowie mit dem wachstumsfördernden endophytischen Pilz *Piriformospora indica* analysiert. Die Expression des *BvGLP-1* Gens in Arabidopsis resultierte in einer signifikanten Resistenz gegenüber den beiden pilzlichen Pathogenen, beeinflusste aber nicht die nützliche Interaktion mit *P. indica*. Folglich reguliert *BvGLP-1* planzliche Resistenzantworten, die auf einem spezifischen Signaltransduktionsweg basieren, der sich jedoch von einem durch den wachstumsfördernden endophytischen Pilz *P. indica* induzierten Signalweg unterscheidet.

Ein weiteres Ziel dieser Arbeit war es, drei unterschiedliche RGA Sequenzen (cZR-3, cZR-7 und cZR-9), im Hinblick auf ihre Fähigkeit Nematodenresistenz in Arabidopsis zu vermitteln, funktional zu charakterisieren. Alle drei RGA Sequenzen gehören zu der CC-NBS-LRR Resistenzproteinfamilie und weisen eine hohe Sequenz- und Strukturhomologie zu schon bekannten Resistenzproteinen auf, was eine Funktion in der Nematodenresistenz vermuten lässt. Um die Rolle der drei RGA Sequenzen in der Nematodenresistenz festzustellen, haben wir transgene A. thaliana Pflanzen erzeugt, die die RGAs exprimieren und diese in Nematodenresistenztests untersucht. Wir konnten zeigen, dass transgene Arabidopsispflanzen, die cZR-3 und cZR-7 exprimieren, einen signifikanten, den Nematodenbefall reduzierenden Effekt hervorriefen, wohingegen die Unterdrückung eines cZR-3 homologen Gens in Arabidopsis zu einer signifikant ansteigenden Anfälligkeit der Pflanzen gegenüber Nematoden führte. Diese Ergebnisse unterstützen eine aktive Rolle beider RGAs in der Nematodenresistenz. Ebenso führte die Expression von cZR-3 und cZR-7 in Arabidopsis zu einem erhöhten Transkriptniveau von RAR1 und SGT1 aber nicht von NPR1 und EDS1 und damit zu einer verstärkten Expression von PR-Genen. Daraus folgern wir, dass cZR-3 und cZR-7 in der Hs1^{pro-1} vermittelten Nematodenresistenz einen für CC-NBS-LRR Resistenzproteine spezifischen Signalweg regulieren, der schließlich in der erhöhten Expression von PR-Proteinen endet. PR-Proteinen stellen scheinbar einen wichtigen Aspekt der *Hs1*^{pro-1}vermittelten Nematodenresistenz dar.

Ein zweiphasiges Sprossregenerationsprotokoll für Rapshypokotylexplantate wurde ebenfalls in dieser Arbeit etabliert und bietet zukünftig ein hilfreiches Werkzeug für die *Agrobakterium tumefaciens* vermittelte Transformation von Targetgenen in Raps (*Brassica napus* L.).

Die in dieser Arbeit erzielten Ergebnisse liefern einen tiefen Einblick in die molekularen Mechanismen der *Hs1^{pro-1}* vermittelten Nematodenresistenz und neue Strategien zur gentechnischen Erzeugung von Krankheitsresistenz z.B. durch die Nutzung natürlicher Resistenzmechanismen auf.

Appendix

BVGLP-1 GLP3 GLP6	(1) (1) (1)	1 50 MNNLVVFFAFSILVCLSHAIEVDFCVADRNLPRGPEGYA MKMIIQIFFIISLISTISFASVQDFCVADPKGPQSPSGYS
GLP9	(1)	MTIKSLSFLAALSLFALTLPLVIASDPSPLQDFCVGVNTPADGVFVNGKF
BvGLP-1 GLP3 GLP6 GLP9	(40) (41) (1) (51)	51 IOU CRDPATLTTDDFVYTGFRGGRTITNVPGNNVTLAFVDQFPALNGLGISMA CKNPDQVTENDFAFTGLGTAGNTSNIIKAAVTPAFAPAYAGINGLGVSLA MGISLV CKDPRIVFADDFFFSSLNRPGNTNNAVGSNVTTVNVNNLGGLNTLGISLV
BvGLP-1 GLP3 GLP6 GLP9	(90) (91) (7) (101)	101 150 RLDFGVSGVIPVHSHR-TSEVLIVSRGSIIAGFIDTNNTAYYRRLEV RLDLAGGGVIPLHTHPGASEVLVVIQGTICAGFISSANKVYLKTLNR RIDYAPYGQNPPHTHPRATEILVLIEGTLYVGFVSSNQDNNRLFAKVLYP RIDYAPNGQNPPHTHPRATEILVVQQGTLLVGFISSNQDGNRLFAKTLNV
BVGLP-1 GLP3 GLP6 GLP9	(136) (138) (57) (151)	151 200 GDVMIFPQAMLHFQVNVGTTPATAFVSLNGANPAIQFTMNSLFGGNLP GDSMVFPQGLLHFQLNSGKGPALAFVAFGSSSPGLQILPFALFANDLP GDVFVFPIGMIHFQVNIGKTPAVAFAGLSSQNAGVITIADTVFGSTPPIN GDVFVFPEGLIHFQFNLGGTPAVAIAALSSQNAGVITIANTIFGSKPDVD
BvGLP-1 GLP3 GLP6 GLP9	(184) (186) (107) (201)	201 226 ADIAQQITLLSNAEVMRMKRAFGTA- SELVEATTFLSDAEVKKLKGVLGGTN PDILAQAFQLDVNIVEDLEAKFRN PNVLARAFQMDVNAVRNLQARF

Figure I: Comparative multiple sequence alignement of BvGLP-1 amino acid sequence with sequences of 3 Arabidopsis GLPs GLP3 (AT5G20630), GLP6 (AT5G39100), GLP9 (AT5G38910) which are upregulated in *Hs1^{pro-1}* transgenic Arabidopsis as identified by ATH1 GeneChips.
24 individual plants were tested with two repitions.						
A. thaliana T1	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)			
1	3,4	2,8	2,7			
2	2,8	3,7	2,5			
3	7,6	5,3	4,1			
4	4,9	5,6	4,5			
5	5,8	4,3	2,8			
6	15	13,3	13,7			
7	6	8,4	6,2			
8	5,4	6,5	11,3			
9	6,8	7	6,6			
10	9	8	11,5			
11	9,2	7,9	5,5			
12	2,9	3,8	3,0			
13	6,5	6,3	5,9			
14	9,5	8,2	10,0			
15	10,9	16,9	11,9			
16	15,3	17,3	9,7			
17	9	7,8	7,8			
18	15,3	9,4	16,9			
ck	15,5	17,9	13,9			

Table I: Results of nematode resistance tests with cZR-3 transgenic A. thaliana T1 families.

Table 1. Results of hematode resistance tests with eZR-5 transgeme *n*. *inditance*

Table II: Results of nematode resistance tests with cZR-7 transgenic *A. thaliana* T1 families.24 individual plants were tested with two repitions.

A. thaliana T1	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)
1	2,4	3	3,2
2	3	4	2,3
3	2,8	4,2	2,7
4	5,1	4,5	5,0
5	6,2	4,1	2,0
6	10,1	7,8	6,1
7	5,8	6,5	8,3
8	6,8	8,5	7,9
9	6	7,5	5,9
10	9,5	8,4	6,4
11	6	7,8	7,9
12	8	5,4	4,6
13	7,2	5,4	6,1
14	9,5	7,5	7,6
15	10,9	13,2	9,6
16	13,8	12,4	12,7
17	12	10,9	13,8
18	10,2	13,4	11,9
ck	16,2	13,8	12

-		-	
<i>A. thaliana</i> T1	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)
1	6,6	6,1	10,5
2	12,8	15,4	14,1
3	9	10,5	7,95
4	10,4	11,2	12,8
5	8,2	10,5	5,8
6	16	12,5	13,4
7	9,25	10,2	11,3
8	8,8	12,4	11,5
9	9,56	11,3	8,5
10	9,5	7,9	10,6
11	12,4	9,59	9,5
12	10	12,5	13,5
13	8,5	11,87	7,3
14	7,9	10,2	6,8
15	12,1	14,8	12,7
16	6,2	9,05	8,1
17	12,9	9,15	10,9
18	15	12,8	13,4
ck	16,4	13,9	13,3

Table III: Results of nematode resistance tests with cZR-9 transgenic *A. thaliana* T1 families.24 individual plants were tested with two repitions.

Table IV: Results of nematode resistance tests with cZR-3, cZR-7 and cZR-9 transgenic *A*. *thaliana* T4 plants. 24 individual plants were tested for each gene constructs with two repitions.

A. thalia	A. thaliana T4		mean (n=24)	mean (n=24)
cZR-3	1	0,5	0,75	1,7
	2	0,9	1,75	1,8
	3	1,2	3,5	1,7
	5	4,2	2,9	2,1
	ck	8,9	10,2	13,7
cZR-7	1	0,4	1,2	0,8
	2	1	2,3	3,1
	12	2	1,9	2,9
	5	3,2	5,2	5,9
	ck	10	8,4	8,5
cZR-9	1	6	8,4	6,2
	16	6,2	9,3	6,9
	5	9	6,5	7,2
	14	8	7,8	9,0
	ck	11,2	8,9	9,8



Figure I: Partial results of nematode resistance tests with *glp3*-ko mutant plants in comparison to Col-0 wild type plants. 20 individual plants were tested with two repitions.

Clone nr	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
ck	16	15	14	17	18	21	23	20
1	3	4	3	4	3	4	3	4
2	3	6	4	3	4	7	5	3
3	4	5	7	5	3	7	4	4
4	3	5	4	5	8	9	4	6
5	3	4	5	7	8	9	5	3
6	6	7	6	8	9	9	11	8
7	13	3	7	3	6	8	6	7
8	11	9	8	9	9	7	5	9
9	6	7	7	7	7	8	12	5
11	6	8	5	3	12	6	5	8
12	6	8	5	3	11	7	5	8
13	6	11	9	7	8	7	11	9
14	11	7	10	5	7	9	16	9
16	12	6	7	6	6	5	9	6
18	12	8	9		10	13	3	9
19	6	9	9	7	8	7	11	9
20	12	7	4	8	7	9	9	10
22	12	6	7	6	6	6	9	6
23	23	12	19	10	18	9	15	14
24	15	21	12	13	18	16	17	16

Table V: Results of nematode resistance tests with pAM194-BvGLP-1transgenic sugar beet

 hairy roots. 20 independent clones were tested with seven respitions.

nany roots. 18 independent clones were tested with seven respitions.								
Clone nr	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
ck	16	15	14	17	18	21	23	20
1	3	5	3	4	3	4	3	4
2	3	6	4	3	4	5	5	3
3	3	3	4	5	4	5	4	4
4	4	5	7	5	3	7	4	4
5	3	4	3	7	6	4	5	5
6	6	7	8	8	9	10	11	8
7	13	3	7	3	5	11	9	11
8	11	6	8	5	5	3	5	9
9	12	5	7	9	12	7	12	9
10	11	7	8	5	8	9	8	9
11	7	8	9	9	9	9	4	3
12	6	8	17	3	12	6	5	8
13	6	6	4	3	5	7	8	9
14	7	8	5	5	5	12	8	15
15	12	16	17	18	11	18	19	18
16	14	8	14	18	19	20	19	8
17	18	16	14	16	14	17	17	16
18	19	20	16	20	19	18	15	9

Table VI: Results of nematode resistance tests with pBIN-BvGLP-1 transgenic sugar beet

1	3	5	3	4	3	4	3	4
2	3	6	4	3	4	5	5	3
3	3	3	4	5	4	5	4	4
4	4	5	7	5	3	7	4	4
5	3	4	3	7	6	4	5	5
6	6	7	8	8	9	10	11	8
7	13	3	7	3	5	11	9	11
8	11	6	8	5	5	3	5	9
9	12	5	7	9	12	7	12	9
10	11	7	8	5	8	9	8	9
11	7	8	9	9	9	9	4	3
12	6	8	17	3	12	6	5	8
13	6	6	4	3	5	7	8	9
14	7	8	5	5	5	12	8	15
15	12	16	17	18	11	18	19	18
16	14	8	14	18	19	20	19	8
17	18	16	14	16	14	17	17	16
18	19	20	16	20	19	18	15	9

hairy roots 18 independent clones were tested with seven respitions

Table VII: Results of nematode resistance tests with pAM194-BvGLP-1 transgenic A. thaliana plants. Eight independent lines were tested with eight individuals each.

A. thaliana	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
ck	11	13	12	14	10	15	11	11
1	5	6	7	6	7	8	3	4
2	3	2	3	4	7	4	4	7
3	3	4	3	3	3	5	6	4
4	3	4	5	4	4	4	7	4
5	3	4	5	6	7	9	7	6
6	12	9	4	9	4	7	11	10
7	11	7	12	5	6	4	8	4
8	5	6	2	6	6	5	4	10

<i>thaliana</i> plan	nts. Ei	ght inc	lepend	lent	lines v	were	tested w	vith ei	ght individuals each.
A. thaliana	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
ck	11	13	12	14	10	15	11	11	
1	2	3	3	6	7	2	3	4	
2	3	2	3	4	7	4	4	7	
3	3	4	4	3	3	4	6	4	
4	3	2	5	4	4	2	7	4	
5	3	2	5	2	7	3	7	6	
6	12	2	4	6	5	2	6	10	
7	11	7	12	5	8	7	8	3	
8	5	2	2	3	6	5	4	10	

Table VIII: Results of nematode resistance tests with pAM194-BvGLP-1 transgenic A.

Danksagung

Ein erster und besonderer Dank geht an Prof. Dr. Daguang Cai für seine Aufwendungen und Anstrengungen für diese Arbeit. Herr Prof. Cai stand mir immer mit vielen Tipps und Ideen zur Seite. Ohne seine Bereitwilligkeit zur Diskussion und die informativen fachlichen Beratungen und Gespräche hätte diese Arbeit nie entstehen können. Dafür danke ich ihm sehr.

Auch Herrn Prof. Dr. Christian Jung danke ich für die Betreuung und Unterstützung während der ersten 2 Jahre am Institut für Pflanzenzüchtung.

Mein Dank gilt allen ehemaligen und aktuellen Mitarbeitern des Instituts für Pflanzenzüchtung, die mir mit Rat und Tat zur Seite standen. Besonders viel verdanke ich Jessica Endrigkeit, Daniela Schulte, Gina Capistrano und Tina Lange. Viele nette aber auch schwierige Stunden haben wir zusammen verbracht und gemeistert. Ich hoffe, wir bleiben in Kontakt.

Für die sehr wertvolle technische Unterstützung während meiner Arbeit möchte ich mich herzlich bei Irene Pauselius und Inga Rix bedanken. Ihr habt mir doch einiges an Arbeit abgenommen. Desweiteren bei Bärbel Wohnsen, Monika Bruisch, Erwin Danklefsen für die Unterstützung bei allen anfallenden Arbeiten im Gewächshaus, bei Hilke Jensen für die Hilfe im Labor (nicht zu vergessen die netten Gespräche) und bei Antje Jakobeit, dafür das sie immer mindestens ein offenes Ohr hatte.

Ebenfalls bedanken möchte ich mich bei Prof. Dr. Joseph-Alexander Verreet und allen Mitarbeitern des Instituts für Phytopathologie für die herzliche Aufnahme unserer Arbeitsgruppe.

Ein besonderer Dank geht an die gesamte Abteilung Molekulare Phytopathologie, an Elisabeth Petersen, Friederike Bernsdorff, Sabrina Butze, Katharina Peetz, Helga Ladehoff, Claudia Häder, Dr. Wanzhi Ye, Dr. Tim Thurau und Jan Menkhaus für die Unterstützung, die nette Zusammenarbeit und die guten Wünsche in den letzten Wochen. Einer verdient hier besondere Erwähnung: Jan, vielen lieben Dank für die notwendige Ablenkung und die aufmunternden Gespräche, trotz allem hatten wir immer viel zu Lachen.

Viel lernen konnte ich bei Dr. Christine Desel im Bereich der Mikroskopie und dem Nachweis von reaktiven Sauerstoffspezies. Vielen Dank für deine Zeit und Geduld. Prof. Dr. Gui-Xiang Tang möchte ich herzlich für die fruchtbare Zusammenarbeit im Bereich der Rapstransformation danken. Mein Dank gilt ebenfalls Prof. Dr. Ralf Oelmüller für die unterstützenden Arbeiten zu *Piriformospora indica* und Prof. Dr. Kai Wun Yeh für die sehr interessanten und lehrreichen Erfahrungen in Taipei.

Für die Durchsicht dieser Arbeit möchte ich mich bei Jens Aumann und Jan Menkhaus bedanken.

Sicherlich konnte auch diese Arbeit nicht ohne finanzielle Unterstützung erledigt werden, dafür danke ich der DFG, dem BMBF und dem Land Schleswig-Holstein.

Der letzte aber bei weitem der wichtigste Dank gilt meiner Familie.Vielen Dank Ingo für deine guten Kontakte und deine Bemühungen diese auch zu vermitteln (Danke Oliver für die gute Korrektur dieser Arbeit). Arne, Gerda und Wolfgang, euch danke ich sehr für die unendliche Geduld, Kraft und Liebe. Ihr habt immer, auch wenn ich es selber nicht mehr tat, an mich und diese Arbeit geglaubt.

Lebenslauf

Persönliche Daten						
Name	Katrin Knecht geb. Asbach					
Geburtsdatum	16.04.1979					
Geburtsort	Preetz, Schleswig-Holstein					
Geschlecht	weiblich					
Nationalität	deutsch					
Status	verheiratet					
Ausbildung						
1985 – 1989	Grund- und Hauptschule Probsteierhagen					
1989 - 1998	Heinrich-Heine Gymnasium Heikendorf					
1998 - 2004 Juli 2004	Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Studium der Agrarwissenschaften Schwerpunkt: Molekulare Pflanzenzüchtung Abschluß: Diplom Diplomarbeit: Untersuchung zur Funktion der RGA-Sequenzen cZR-3 und cZR-7 der Zuckerrübe (<i>Beta vulgaris</i>) in <i>Arabidopsis thaliana</i> hinsichtlich der Vermittlung von Resistenz gegen den Rübenzystennematoden					
Nebentätigkeiten						
Nov. 2001 – Sept. 2003	Wissenschaftliche Hilfskraft Institut für Pflanzenzüchtung Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel					
Juli 2002 - Nov. 2002	Landwirtschaftliches Praktikum Schwerpunkt: Pflanzen- und Gemüsebau					
März 2008 – April 2008	Gastaufenthalt, National Taiwan University, Taipeh					
Wissenschaftliche Laufba	hn					
Jan. 2005 - Dez. 2006	Doktorand am Institut für Pflanzenzüchtung Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel					
Jan.2007 – Apr. 2009	Doktorand am Institut für Phytopathologie, Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Abschluss: Promotion					